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THE HEARI NG OFFICER. Al right, hello, as
everybody was just infornmed, we are now going to
begin this hearing. It is now2:00 a.m. M
nanme is Hearing Oficer Novi. Good norning,
ever ybody.

The Norwal k Hospital Association d/b/a
Norwal k Hospital, the Applicants in this natter
seek a certificate of need for the term nation of
I npatient psychiatric unit services to
Connecticut Ceneral Statutes 19A-638(a)b.
Specifically, Norwal k Hospital proposes to
termnate inpatient psychiatric unit services.

Throughout this proceeding, | will be
I nt erchangeably referring to Norwal k Hospital
Associ ation as Norwal k Hospital for brevity
pur poses.

Today is Decenber 14th, 2022. M nane is
Alicia Novi. Kinberly Martone, the executive
director of OHS designated ne to serve as as
hearing officer for this matter, to rule on al
noti ons and recommend findings of fact and
concl usi ons of | aw upon conpletion of the
heari ng.

Section 149 of the Public Act No. 21-2, as

anmended by Public Act No. 22-3, authorizes an
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agency to hold a public hearing by neans of

el ectronic equi pnment. |In accordance with this

| egi sl ation, any person who participates orally
In an el ectronic neeting shall make a good-faith
effort to state your nane and title at the onset
of each occasion, that such person participates
orally during the uninterrupted dial ogue or
series of questions and answers.

W will ask all nenbers of the public to
mute the device that they are using to access the
hearing and silence any additional devices that
are around them

This public hearing is held pursuant to
Connecticut General Statutes Section 19A-639(a)?2
of the General Statutes and provides that HSP may
hold a public hearing with respect to CON
application submtted under Chapter 368Z,
al though this wll be a -- although this being a
di scretionary hearing that is not governed by
contested case provisions found under Chapter 54
of the General Statutes, also known as the
Connecticut Adm nistrative Procedure Act or UAPA
and the regul ati ons of the Connecticut agencies
are Sections 19A9 through 24, and the matter in

whi ch OHS wi Il conduct these hearings will be
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gui ded by these statutes and regul ati ons.

The O fice of Health Strategy staff is here
to assist ne in gathering facts related to this
application and wll be asking the Applicant
W t nesses questions. |'mgoing to ask each staff
person assisting with questions today to identify
t hensel ves with their name, spelling of their
| ast nanme, and OHS title.

At this point, we'll start with M. Lazarus.

MR. LAZARUS: (Good norning, Steven Lazarus.
|'' mthe supervisor of the certificate of need
program and ny last nanme is spelled
L-a-z-a-r-u-s.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER.  Ckay.

M5. Rl VAL: Jessica Rival, last nanme is
spelled R-i-v, as in Victor, a-I, and I'ma
heal t hcare anal yst.

THE HEARING OFFICER: Al l right, also
present is Maya Capozzi, staff nenber for our
agency, who is assisting wwth the hearing
| ogistics and will gather the nanmes for public
coment .

The certificate of need process is a
regul atory process, and as such, the highest

| evel of respect will be accorded to the
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Appl i cant, nenbers of the public, and our staff.
Qur priority is the integrity and transparency of
the process. Accordingly, decorumw | be
mai nt ai ned by all present during these

pr oceedi ngs.

This hearing wll be transcribed and
recorded and the video will be nmade avail abl e on
the OHS Website and its YouTube account.

Al'l docunents related to this hearing that
have been or will be submtted to the Ofice of
Health Strategy are avail able for review through
our certificate of need or CON portal, which is
accessible on the Ofice of Health Strategy's CON
web page.

In making nmy decision, I wll consider and
make witten findings in accordance with Section
19A- 639 of the Connecticut General Statutes.

Lastly, as Zoominformed us prior to the
start of this neeting, sorry, I wish to point out
that by appearing on canera in this virtual
hearing, you are consenting to being filned. |If
you wi sh to revoke your request, please, do so at
this tine.

kay, so we'll nove on fromthere.

The CON portal contains the prehearing table
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of record of this case. At the time of its
filing on Tuesday, exhibits were identified in
the table fromA to N

The Applicant is here by notice and |11
take adm nistrative notice of the foll ow ng
docunents: The Statew de Heal thcare Facilities
and Services Plan, The Facility and Services
| nventory, OHS Acute-care hospital discharge
dat abase, and the all-payer clains data --
al | -pl ayer clains database cl ai ns dat a.

| may al so take adm nistrative notice of the
hospital reporting system HRS, financial and
utilization data, and al so prior OHS deci sions,
agreed settlenments, and determ nations that may
be relevant to this matter.

Wl 1l the Counsel for the Applicants, please,
identify yourself for the -- please, unnute
yourself and then identify yourself for the
record?

ATTORNEY JENSEN. Good norni ng, Hearing
Ohficer Novi. M nane is Ben Jensen,
J-e-n-s-e-n, from Robinson & Cole representing
the Applicant, Norwal k Hospital.

Wth ne, also, is Attorney Lisa Boyle and

Conor Duffy.
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THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:. (kay, Attorney Jensen,
wll you taking -- will | be directing al
questions to you?

ATTORNEY JENSEN. Yes, please.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER  All right, thank you

Al'l right, in addition to the exhibits
listed in the table of record, a public conment
found may be added and updated fromtine to tine.

Attorney Jensen, do you have any additi onal
exhibits you wiwsh to enter at this tine?

ATTORNEY JENSEN: Not at this tinme, thank
you.

THE HEARI NG OFFICER. Al right, we'l
proceed in the order established in the agenda
for today's hearing.

| would like to advise the Applicants that
we may ask questions related to your application
that you feel have already been addressed. W
Wil do this for the purpose of ensuring that the
publ i c has know edge of your proposal and for the
purpose of clarification. | want to reassure you
that we have revi ewed your application, the
conpl et eness responses and the prefiled
testinony, and I wll do so again many tines

bef ore issuing a decision.
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As this hearing is being held virtually, we
ask that all participants, to the extent
possi bl e, shoul d enabl e the use of video caneras
when testifying or comrenting during proceedi ngs.
Al'l participants should nmute their devices and
di sabl e their canmeras when we go off record or
t ake a break.

Pl ease, be advised that, although we try to
shut off the recording -- the hearing recording
during breaks, it may continue. |If the recording
Is on, any audio or video not disabled wll be
accessible to all participants in the hearing.

Public comrent taken during the hearing wl|
likely go in order established by OHS during
during the regul ation registration process.
However, | may allow public officials to testify
out of order. | or OHS staff will call each
I ndi vidual by name when it is his or her tine to
speak. Registration for public comment will take
place at 2:00 p.m and is scheduled to start at
3:00 p.m. If the technical portion of this
heari ng has not been conpleted by 3:00 p. m,
public coment may be postponed until the
technical portion is conplete.

The Applicant's w tnesses nust be avail abl e
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after public coment as OHS may have fol |l ow up
guestions after public comment.

Al right, so, with this portion, we wll go
to the Applicant.

Attorney Jensen, would you |ike to make an
openi ng st at enent ?

ATTORNEY JENSEN: | would, but briefly,
before, Hearing Oficer Novi, there are two quick
I ssues | wanted to address, housekeeping itens.

One, in the table of record, | believe
Exhibit N, refers to Applicant's response to
prefile and issues. That was actually submtted
on Decenber 8th, 2022, which was our deadline.
It's listed as Decenber 9th in the table of
record. Just for the record, I want to make sure
that was clear, that that was tinely submtted on
Decenber 8t h.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  kay, | do note that |
did receive a copy on Decenber 8th. | believe
that was when the -- let nme just ask Ms. Rival:
Did you check to make sure it was upl oaded on the
9t h.

M5. RIVAL: No, | did not.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER°  Okay, all right, we

wi Il adjust the date on Exhibit N so that it
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reads the 8th.

ATTORNEY JENSEN:. Thank you.

The only other item| wanted to address, it
sounds |ike, fromyour introduction, that the
public coment sign-up will begin at 2:00 and the
public coment will begin at 3:00. | think one
of the notices references a 1:00 sign-up and a
2: 00 public comment, so | just wanted
confirmation on that.

THE HEARING OFFICER It will be 2:00 and
3:00. | believe -- I'"'mlooking at the hearing
agenda that | issued yesterday and it does have
comrent public sign-ups starting ago 2:00 p. m
and public coment at 3:00 p.m, so we wll go by
t he agenda that cane out yesterday.

ATTORNEY JENSEN:. Thank you.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER.  Ckay, with that, would
you like to go into your opening statenent?

ATTORNEY JENSEN. Yes, please, and good
norni ng, Hearing O ficer Novi and nenbers of the
OHS staff. On behalf of Norwal k Hospital, thank
you for the opportunity to present today in
support of the hospital's CON application.

This application is about Norwal k Hospital's

and its parent, Nuvance Health's, overall goal

10
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for evolving its behavioral healthcare nodel to
I ncrease access to nmuch-needed outpatient care
for community nmenbers in the service area.

Wil e technically designated as a
termnation of its inpatient psychiatric unit,
this application is really about expandi ng, not
limting the avail abl e behavi oral heal thcare
options to those patients.

Today, we intend to present testinony from
four witnesses who wll explain in greater detai
the hospital's assessnment of its historical and
current nodel for delivery of behavioral
heal t hcare and the hospital's plan to reall ocate
resources fromunderutilized inpatient services
in order to increase access for community nenbers
I n outpatient settings.

Dr. John Murphy president of Nuvance Health,
will testify froma systemw de perspective about
the opportunity that Nuvance sees to reinvest in
the community and expand its outpatient
behavi oral care offerings.

Dr, Murphy will also share Nuvance's pl an
for devel oping a nodern center of excellence for
I npatient psychiatric care at Danbury Hospit al

that will ensure that patients in the need of

11




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

hospitalization will continue to have access to
top-quality resources.

Pet er Cordeau, president of Norwal k
Hospital, will then testify about the hospital,
itself, and its role in the conmunity. In
particular, M. Cordeau's testinony wll address
the growi ng demand for outpatient behavioral
heal th treatnent and how the current offerings in
Fairfield County are often [imted to only those
able and willing to pay in cash, thus depriving a
significant portion of the service area for
much- needed treat nent.

M. Cordeau will further testify concerning
the existing status of Norwal k Hospital's
I npatient psychiatric unit, which has been
underutilized and understaffed for years. Those
I ssues cannot be renedi ed wi t hout significant
capital inprovenents that would affect Norwal k
Hospital's ability to invest in other prograns
that woul d provide greater access to care and
value to the community.

Next, Dr. Charles Herrick will tell you
about Norwal k Hospital's assessnent of its
hi storical and current nodel for delivery of

behavi oral healthcare and its determ nation that

12
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a new approach is needed to neet the public need
for outpatient behavioral health services. He
will also explain the various projects underway
at the hospital to address those concerns,

I ncludi ng the devel opnent of |ntensive Qutpatient
Services, or |10Ps, focused on specialized patient
popul ati ons as well as plan enhancenents to the
Norwal k Hospi tal Energency Departnent, including
speci ali zed bays for treatnent of patients
presenting in crisis.

Finally, you will hear from Stephen Merz, a
heal t hcare advi ser, that has worked w th Norwal k
Hospital and Nuvance Health to develop its
| ong-term strategic plan around behavi oral
services. M. Merz will address froman industry
perspective how the standard of care for health
systens providi ng behavi oral heal thcare has
evol ved and how historical practices of relying
on inpatient hospitalization and treatnent in the
ener gency departnent, |eading to suboptinmal care
and hi gher costs.

The testinony fromthese w tnesses and the
factual evidence presented with the application
denmonstrates that Norwal k Hospital's application

is driven by an increasing patient access to

13
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qual ity behavioral healthcare and is entirely
consistent wwth OHS's mission. After this
evidence is fully submtted and our wtness --
and our w tnesses address any questions OHS staff
may have, we respectfully submt that OHS s
statutory criteria have been net and the
application should be granted.

Thank you.

THE HEARI NG OFFICER: Al right, thank you
Att orney Jensen.

At this point, wuld you, please, identify
all individuals by nane and title who are going
to -- | know you did that in your opening, but
will you do that again? WII| you identify al
i ndi vidual s by nane and title who are going to
testify on behalf of the application, and if they
are not in the office or in the roomwth you, if
you could have themturn on their caneras and
unmut e t hensel ves.

ATTORNEY JENSEN: Sure. Al four are here
in the roomwth nme. ['ll have to allow themto
take ny seat. Do you want each one to cone up as
| introduce themor should I do introductions for
all four?

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  You coul d do

14
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i ntroductions. You could just state their nanes
and then they can cone up and state their nane
and title, as well, while | swear themin.
ATTORNEY JENSEN: Ckay, the first witness is
Dr. John Murphy, president and chi ef executive
of ficer of of Nuvance Heal t h.
THE HEARING OFFICER  Ch, | -- I'msorry,

Attorney Jensen, do you want to just state their

names first and then |I'lI|l have them each cone up?
We'll just nake it easier for you. | do
apol ogi ze.

ATTORNEY JENSEN. No probl em

After Dr. Mirphy, the next witness is Peter
Cor deau, president of Norwal k Hospital.

Next will be Dr. Charles Herrick, chair of
the departnent of psychiatry at Nuvance Health.

Finally, Stephen Merz, chief operating
of fi cer of Shepherd Prep Solutions. He has also
advi sed Nuvance Health on | ong-term strategy
around delivery of behaviorial healthcare
servi ces.

THE HEAR NG OFFI CER.  All right, thank you.
| f you want to go ahead and exit the canera,
we' |l have Dr. John Murphy cone and state his

name. | wll swear himin.

15
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DR. MJRPHY: Good nor ni ng.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER. Good nor ni ng,

Dr. Murphy. If you could, please, raise your
right hand so I could swear you in?

Actually, if you will just state your nane
for the record so that we know you are who you
say you are.

DR. MURPHY: Yeah, ny nanme is John Muirphy.

THE HEARI NG OFFICER. Al right, do you
solemly swear or solemnly and sincerely affirm
as the case may be, that the testinony you are
about to provide will be the truth, the whole
truth, and nothing but the truth, so help you god
or upon penalty of perjury?

DR. MURPHY: | do.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER°  Thank you.

kay, go ahead, | will have the next person
come in.

Hello, if you could, state nane for the
record, please.

MR. CORDEAU. Yes, ny nane is Peter Cordeau.
| am president of Norwal k Hospital.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Thank you.

Do you solemly swear or solemly and

sincerely affirm as the case may be, that the

16
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testinmony you are about to provide wll be the
truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the
truth, so help you god or upon penalty of
perjury?

MR. CORDEAU. | do.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER°  Thank you. Al right.

DR. HERRI CK: Good norning, Charles Herrick,
chair of Nuvance Health Psychiatry.

THE HEARI NG OFFICER. Al right, if you
coul d, please, raise your right hand so | can
adm ni ster the oath?

Do you solemly swear or solemmly and
sincerely affirm as the case may be, that the
testimony you are about to provide will be the
truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the
truth, so help you god or upon penalty of
perjury?

DR. HERRI CK: | do.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Thank you.

And we'll go to the | ast one.

MR. MERZ: Good norning, ny name is Stephen
Merz, chief operating officer of Shepherd Prep
Sol uti ons and advi sor to Nuvance Health.

THE HEARI NG OFFICER. Al right, if you

coul d, please, raise your right hand so | can

17
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adm ni ster the oath?

Do you solemly swear or solemly and
sincerely affirm as the case may be, that the
testimony you are about to provide will be the
truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the
truth, so help you god or upon penalty of
perjury?

MR. MERZ: | do.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Thank you.

Al right, now that we have everybody sworn
in, I would like to remnd all w tnesses that
when you give your testinony, please, nake sure
to state your full nanme and adopt any witten
testinony that you have submitted on record prior
to testifying.

The Applicants nmay now proceed with their
testinony. 1'Il ask that all wtnesses define
any acronyns for the benefit of the public and
clarity of the record that they use, okay?

ATTORNEY JENSEN:. Thank you.

We first call Dr. John Murphy.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Good nor ni ng,

Dr. Mirphy.

DR. MURPHY: Good norning, Hearing Oficer

Novi and the staff of the Ofice of Health

18
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Strategy. Thank you very nuch for the
opportunity to testify today. M nanme is John
Mur phy, again, J-o-h-n, Mu-r-p-h-y. |I'mthe
presi dent and chi ef executive officer of Nuvance
Heal th and of the Applicant in this matter,
Norwal k Hospital. I'malso a |icensed physician.
| "' m board-certified by the Anmerican Board of
Psychi atry and Neur ol ogy.

I think ny training is relevant in this
matter given that, as part of ny training, | did
significant clinical rotation in psychiatry and
had to pass an exam a witten exam nation of
that for ny boards.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER°  Thank you, Dr. Muirphy,
can | interrupt for a quick second? Do you adopt
your previously-submtted testinony?

DR. MURPHY: Yes, | do adopt ny prefile
testi nony.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Thank you. Go ahead.

DR. MURPHY: Sure.

Essentially, what | would like to do is
descri be for you and your staff the vision that
the organi zation has as it relates to behavi oral
health. | don't think it's a surprise to anyone

that the need for behavioral health services has

19
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groan exponentially over the past couple of years
and | think the pandem c has certainly
intensified that, and we feel it's incunbent upon
us to offer an integrated systemof care that
provi des a greater enphasis on outpatient access
and out patient strategies as opposed to the
current focus, which | think is nore tilted
towards provision of inpatient care.

Utimately, | think that the vision that

we're proposing here and this particul ar

application does pronote inproved access. | do
firmy believe that it will inprove the quality
of care that we provide in that it will provide

closer to the onset of the issues, and
ultimately, it will provide that care in an
envi ronnent of | ower cost.

Here at Norwal k Hospital, and I think this
Is true about many inpatient units, the unit,
itself, is tired, it's outdated, it's
underutilized. In addition to that, if you were
to wal k through this enmergency departnent, or
nost energency departnents, they're packed, and
they are often packed with patients who do have
behavi orial health issues. Sone, actually, don't

belong in the ED, but because outpatient access

20
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is so limted, they don't know where else to go.

So, typically, the ED can be overl oaded, the
| ength of stay is nuch longer than it could be,
and it is -- it can be a chaotic environnent and
| think the nodel that we are proposing is really
trying to address that in that we get patients
the care that they need before they get to the ED
or before they have to be admtted to the
I npatient unit.

Otentines, | think those adm ssions are
regrettable in that if care had been provided
earlier, perhaps, they m ght have been avoi ded.
So | firmy believe that this nodel wll provide
patients with care nuch earlier in the onset of
whatever it may be, even if it's sinply anxiety
or depression or an addiction or suicidal
I deations. This nodel allows us to provide them
care nmuch sooner before they have to wait and get
frustrated and ultinmately go to the ED in crisis.
We believe that if we can provide effective care
I n an outpatient environnment by individuals who
are particularly-specialized in the provision of
outpatient care, again, the quality wll be
better, the cost will be less, and certainly,

access will be greatly inproved.

21
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So, in sone respects, | realize that the
official |anguage in the application is a
term nation of services and | understand why we
had to use that, but perhaps a nore apt
description is, honestly, it's a relocation of
services. W don't for a nmonment believe that
I npatient care is unnecessary in this community,
when, in fact, we believe that, you know, in --
we're all where resources are finite. W want to
be as efficient as we can be in the application
and utilization of those resources. W think the
consolidation of the inpatient environnent is
actually a smart strategy, and the noney that is
saved -- for instance, we -- if we were the
noderni ze the inpatient unit here at Norwal k,
that would cost us in the nei ghborhood of $18
mllion.

We al ready have a plan to nodernize and if
this application is approved, expands the
i npatient unit at Danbury. W believe that, one,
essentially, co-located unit in Danbury wll
provide actually better inpatient care to the
residents of the Norwal k Cormunity, while at the
sane tine, the noney that woul d ot herw se have

been spent on nodernizing the inpatient unit wll
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be better spent by redirecting those funds to the
out pati ent services that we have descri bed, and
essentially, | think those dollars would be
repurposed in a nunber of ways, the first of
which is we need nore providers of behavi oral
heal th services, not only licensed psychiatrists,
but al so other -- other therapists, other
psychol ogi sts, other |icensed clinical social
wor kers, et cetera, and in addition, we believe
that if we can design prograns |ike the Intensive
Qut patient Prograns, the |IOPs, which we have
every intention of doing, particularly for those
who have dual diagnoses, a nental health
di agnosi s as well as substance abuse, and
adol escents, which are -- the need there has
expl oded, that we can actually provide better
care in those prograns in the outpatient
environnent, and as | said, doing it in a nuch
nore cost-effective, convenient, and private
environnment than in the mddle of a chaotic
enmer gency depart nment.

And as you know, we don't have an adol escent
unit here on the inpatient side.

So we believe that taking advantage of those

finite resources and redeploying themin terns of

23
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getting nore providers, creating the 10Ps, but in

addition, we want to inprove the ED experience
and environnment here at Norwal k for those
patients who do, in fact, have a crisis. Then,
you know, you will spend a lot of tinme in crisis
I ntervention situations and we believe that
Norwal k ought to have secure, private treatnent
bays for patients with nental health needs who
sonetines will be in the ED | onger than sonebody
who's coming in with chest pain, of abdom nal
pain, and that we want themto be safe
environnents, and we will build units that are,
in fact, safe and ligature-free, but also, that
it offers a degree of privacy. These patients
are in crisis and we don't want themtraipsing
around the ED if they have to use the bat hroom
and we have built that into the design of the
prograns. W want to build, actually, six ED
treatnment bays for the adult and two for
adol escent s.

But then, inportantly, in addition to the
construction and provision of outpatient
servi ces, the nodernization of the energency
departnment, we really do think that a |arger,

nore contenporary, nore aesthetically-pleasing
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inpatient facility in Danbury is also -- will be
a major asset for patients in the Norwal k
Community who can be effectively and easily
transferred, if necessary, up to the Danbury area
that will be appropriately-staffed. | think it's
easier to staff one nore than two units, and |
think we will also be able to attract nore
speci al i zed providers who actually want to
provi de inpatient care.

Then, lastly, | would |ike you to | ook at
the proposal in the context of Nuvance Health as
a system of care as opposed to this nmerely being
an out post standal one system for behaviori al
heal t hcare services in the Norwal k commnity.

Nuvance Health has started a psychiatry

residency program | think we take eight
residents a year. It started a couple of years
ago. The -- | think it's terrific. | firmy

bel i eve that having residency prograns does, in
fact, inprove the clinical care that we provide.
It also certainly inproves access, and we w ||
have the third-year residents do rotations,

again, if this is all approved in the outpatient
envi ronnment down here. | also think staff enjoys

havi ng resi dency prograns and the turnover rates
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wi | | decrease.

The second conponent of the system of care
that Nuvance Health provides here that | think is
worth nmentioning is the technol ogy sol utions that
we can provide. The pandem c has taught us, as
you know, how to use tel ehealth nmuch nore
effectively and sone of the barriers that existed
prior to the pandem c have now di sappear ed.

So we would very nmuch want to apply fellow
psychiatry solutions to this plan of care where
we would allow a rapid and effective
conmuni cations, not only fromthe outpatient
environnent to the ED, fromthe ED to the
I npatient unit, but also from Norwal k to Danbury.
So, if we think that the use and the
sophi stication of sone of the technol ogi es that
we can apply will greatly enhance the program

And then the |ast comment | would nmeke is
that, and I'msure you all realize this, but the
country needs solutions like this. As | sit here
on the tenth anniversary of the Sandy Hook
tragedy, we know the cost that society bears by
I nadequat e access to nental health services,
particul arly anongst young peopl e.

The state and its policies certainly support
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and underscore the need for these sorts of
contenporary prograns. The federal governnent
has recognized this. As a matter of fact,
Senat or Bl unent hal earmarked a couple of mllion
dollars for the construction of these outpatient
progr ans.

So | think this is the right programfor
today. | think It's well-thought out and it wl]l
ultimately serve the community of Norwal k very
well, and I would ask that you approve this
application.

So thank you very nuch for your tine.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER: Al right, thank you
very much, Dr. Murphy.

ATTORNEY JENSEN. Thank you, and next,
you' Il hear from Peter Cordeau, president of
Nor wal k Hospi tal .

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Thank you.

Hel l o, M. Cordeau. |f you could, please,
state your nane and state whether you accept
your -- whether you adopt any witten testinony
that was previously submtted, and I just want to
remnd you that if you have any acronyns, to,
pl ease, define themfor the benefit of everyone

anyone |istening in.
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MR. CORDEAU: Peter Cordeau, Co-r-d-e-a-u,
and | adopt ny prefile testinony.

Good norning, Hearing Oficer Novi and the
staff of the Ofice of Health Strategy. Thank
you for the opportunity to testify today.

As | stated, ny nane is Peter Cordeau and I
am the president of Norwal k Hospital and the
Applicant in this matter. |[|'ve also been a
regi stered nurse since 1987 and have served in a
variety of roles throughout ny career, including
as a bedside nurse, a supervisor, a nmanhager, a
director, a chief nursing officer, and a
president, and | would |like to tal k about the
needs to nodernize the provision of care here in
Nor wal K.

Norwal k Hospital is and will continue to be
an essential provider of health services for the
greater Norwal k Community. However, we've
hi storically focused behavi oral healthcare
efforts on delivering inpatient care and treating
patients in crisis out of our energency
depart nent.

As nmentioned in our application, our unit
census consistently is bel ow the nunber of

avai |l abl e beds. However, we still see patients
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stuck in our ED without safe treatnent options
for discharge into the community, which leads to
nore patients institutionalized, nore reliance on
facility care versus anbul atory care.

W' ve reviewed the specific needs and
requests of our patient popul ati ons and
determ ned that our historical approach is no

| onger the best way for the hospital to serve its

comunity. | amintimately involved in the
community. | sit on the board of the Chanber of
Commerce. | have quarterly neetings with the

Norwal k Police Departnent who just actually hired
a social worker to a bed within their PD. | have
bi -weekly neetings with the health departnent. |
have worked on creating a paid internship program
wi th Norwal k Public Schools, the superintendent
of schools, The Carver Center, Brien McMahon H gh
School in order to give access to the underserved
children in the Norwal Kk Community and provide a
gl i npse of what providing healthcare and what a
hospi tal does.

| also work with the Norwal k Community
Center, which is an FQHC, Federally-Qualified
Health Cinic, that is right down the street in

Norwal k, and our nedical residents provide free
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clinic care at the Norwal k Community Center, and
we al so have a pharnacy enbedded in the Norwal k
Community Center.

| work with Anericares free clinics in
Norwal k and al so created a joint grant with the
Norwal k Community Col | ege to provi de continuing
education for nurses who have received their
associ ates degrees so they can receive a
bachel ors degree paid for by Norwal k Hospital and
Norwal k Community Col | ege.

Qur facility is aging. It requires
significant capital investnent, as Dr. Mirphy
nmenti oned, resources that we believe can nore
effectively be depl oyed towards an expansi on of
access to services that greater neet the need of
our comunity.

So | sit here today to propose to expand
access to essential behaviorial health services
bu focusing on patient in the community where
they live versus in crisis in our ED. This neans
expandi ng our prograns and services, recruiting
new out pati ent providers, and establishing
speci ali zed outpatient prograns while ensuring to
conti nue access to inpatient care through our

affiliate, Danbury Hospital, in a to-be-expanded
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state-of-the-art unit, or at a facility of the
patient's choi ce, because, certainly, there is
patient choice in the determ nation of where they
want to go for inpatient care.

You m ght ask about the ED, then. Then what
happens to the ED? Wat happens when a patient
shows up in crisis in our ED? Wll, we have
certainly thought of that in the planning. W're
strengt heni ng our crisis safeguards in our ED.

ED Dr. Murphy nentioned about the behavi oral
health safe |igature-free beds that we will have
in our ED. Those plans have been submitted to
DPH and we are awaiting approval before we
commence construction on that once those plans
are approved. This will allow us to treat
patients in the ED and then access to those
outpatient facilities will allow us to safely

di scharge patients in our comunity.

So what are the benefits of this proposal?
Delivery of patient care where those services are
needed in the community, creating those safe beds
for patients in crisis in the ED, opening a
brand- new, beautiful $15, 000 square-foot
outpatient facility that is scheduled to open in

January of '23 that will have |1 OPs, which stand
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for Intensive Qutpatient Services, to treat both
adults and adol escent, and | think it's very
i nportant, as Dr. Mirphy nentioned, we don't have
an inpatient adol escent unit. So the benefit of
this proposal, to be able to provide services to
adol escents can't be expressed enough. As
adol escents sit in our ED, the reason they are
sitting in ore EDs is the |ack of services to
connect those patients safely and for us to
safely discharge patients in our conmunity.
Certainly, this is proposal is based on
expandi ng access, specifically for our
under served popul ati ons, Medicaid, indigent,
undocunent ed, by ensuring access regardl ess of
their ability to pay. This will result in
reduced wait tines, greater provider
availability, paired with reduced reliance on the
ED for crisis managenent, which is a higher cost
to the patient, the famlies, and the healthcare
system
W al so have resources enbedded in our
primary care offices to provide behavioral health
services at that point of service if we identify
sonmeone has a behavi oral heal th need.

This proposal, as Dr. Mirphy nentioned,
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cones with a | ot of conmunity support, support
fromnedical and state | evels, Senator Muirphy,

Bl unent hal, Representative JimH nes, with the
earmark that Dr. Murphy had nentioned as well as
recent initiatives in Norwalk to reduce the
stigma towards behavioral health treatnent and to
i ncrease awar eness.

As | previously nentioned, | amvery active
in the Norwal k conmmunity, including the school
system work force devel opnent, |ocal Chanber of
Commerce, and | received significant support from
comunity and state coalitions for this proposal
and our attenpts to expand access and progranms in
t he Norwal k area.

So | urge you to approve this and | believe
this is the best -- we'll provide the best access
and the best outcones for the Community of
Nor wal K.

Thank you.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Thank you very nuch.

ATTORNEY JENSEN. Thank you, Hearing O ficer
Novi. The next presenter will be Dr. Charles
Herri ck.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER°  Good norni ng, Dr.

Herrick. If you could, please, state your nane
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and begin by stating whether you adopt your
prefile testinony.

DR. HERRICK: Certainly, ny nane is Charles
Herrick, He-r-r-i-c-k, and | do adopt ny
pretrial testinony.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER.  Ckay.

DR. HERRI CK: Good norning, Hearing Oficer
Novi and the rest of your staff.

| -- instead of reiterating nuch of what
Pet er Cordeau and John Murphy have told you, |
want to give you sone background as a conmmunity
hospital psychiatrist because | think that can
shed sone |ight and understanding of why this
project | think is so critical.

So |I've been a psychiatrist for 30 years.
| ' ve been a comrunity hospital psychiatrist for
Danbury for the | ast going on 25 years, and in --
hi storically, community hospitals have focused
primarily on acute care. They've treated
patients in the energency room they treated
patients on the inpatient setting, and they've
l et the community essentially care for the
patients in an outpatient setting, and it worked
very well for many, many years, but with the

rising demand for psychiatric services,
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particularly in the last 10 years, and then the
escalation with Covid, the denmand has j ust
dramatically increased, and as a result, many
providers who historically have given back to the
community, they were in the community and they
provided care for patients in the community, have
become so swanped, that they don't have to work
Wi th insurance conpanies. They don't have to
work with hospitals anynore and they can
basically decide on their own which patients they
el ect to treat and which patients they don't, and
so, as a result of that, our hospitals have
becone inundated with patients for acute care
when t hey coul d have been managed nore
effectively on an outpatient basis had they had
the access to outpatient services.

So this really represents the radi cal change
for community hospitals insofar as they are now
recogni zing the fact that, hey, we've got to get
into the business of caring for patients in the
out patient setting, and we've also got to nake
sure that patients fromall insurance
backgrounds, regardl ess of what insurance they
take, that we will accept themand we will care

for them and this is really critical for the
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future of psychiatry because access to care is
the single biggest predictor in terns of reducing
suicide rates, particularly what we call
Connect-to-Care, frominpatient settings to |IOP,

I ntensi ve outpatient settings to regular
outpatient settings. So having a whole conti nuum
of care that you have sone degree of control over

and you're able to manage effectively w |

I nprove outcones, | think, quite dramatically.
Additionally, | think access inproves
t hrough -- so, right now, what we struggle with

primarily are the length of tine patients are
stuck in the energency roons because of |ack of
ability to access outpatient care or intensive
outpatient care or even inpatient care, and then,
when they get to the inpatient unit, we have

di scharge planning chal l enges that we struggle
with and we're getting pressure frominsurance
conpani es, hey, this patient is stable. They
need to be discharged, but we have a comm t nent
to these patients for a safe discharge plan, but
many tinmes, we can't find that safe discharge
pl an for them because we don't have access to
out pati ent services. Wth this plan, hopefully,

and | think -- | believe this will inprove
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dramatically in our comunity so that we can
provide that kind of care that currently is

| acking in our conmmunity. So that's really one
of the major reasons why we're enphasizing this
pl an.

Now, the inpatient services, while, again,
as they -- as they reported, it's a closure of
the services in Norwalk. 1It's an expansion of
services for the Norwal k Community because
currently, the average volunes in Norwal k are
around seven or eight patients, and historically,
for the past 15 years, it's hovered around nine
or ten because patients can access ot her
hospitals in the service area and they often
vol unteer to do that, and we have to honor their
choice. So they go to Silver HIl, they go to
Hal | - Brooke, which are freestandi ng psychiatric
hospitals in the community. They can go to
Stanford. They can go to Bridgeport. Many ask
to goto Yale and a lot of it has to do with the
envi ronment of care, and by putting all of our
resources into Danbury and expandi ng an inpati ent
setting, one of the challenges that all of our
units face is providing a confortabl e environnent

because we don't acknow edge -- we, ourselves,
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know t hat the environnment that we surround
oursel ves in has a huge inpact on our enotional
wel | - bei ng. We sonehow negl ect that because
we're focused primarily on safety on the

I npatient setting, right?

Consol i dating our resources in the inpatient
setting, what we're table to do now is provide
not only a safe environnent, but a warm and
confortable setting that will go mles for
i nproving the enotional well-being of the
patients we care for.

In addition, it becones attractive to staff,
because as we know, there's been a dramatic
decrease in hospital -based staff, and a lot of it
can be attributed not just to the overwhel m ng
vol unes, but also the environment of care, and by
I nprovi ng the environment of care, people want to
come and work here. So we have that available to
us now by -- by following through with this plan.

And then, finally, in terns of staffing,
what happened in Covid is a |ot of people said,
“I"'mdone with working in the hospital. | don't

want to work in the hospital,"” and so many of
themtransitioned to outpatient care, and even

with that, surprisingly, access to care has
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continued to be a problem W want to | everage
technology to allow staff to be able to work in a
hybrid nodel that would nmake it nore attractive
for people to cone here, and nore inportantly, we
want to | everage our educational program because
we want to build the next generation of
psychiatrists and soci al workers.

So we have a very extensive educational
programthat includes graduate nedi cal education,
under graduat e nedi cal education, education for
| i censed social workers, education for nurse
practitioners, and by, you know, allocating our
resources appropriately, we're able to provide
all of that to create the next generation of
behavi oral health staff who want to work for us,
who want to be here because they see the
comm tment we have towards behavi oral health.

So that's pretty nmuch what | have to say at
this point.

THE HEARI NG OFFICER: Al right, thank you
very nuch, Dr. Herrick.

ATTORNEY JENSEN:. Thank you, Hearing Oficer
Novi. Next, Stephen Merz. Thank you.

MR. MERZ: Good norning, Hearing Oficer
Novi . Yes.
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THE HEARI NG OFFICER: If you could, state
your nane for the record and state whether you
adopt your prefile testinony before you begin.

MR, MERZ: Sure.

Good norning. M nane is Stephen Merz,
S-t-e-p-h-e-n, Me-r-z. |'mchief operating
of fi cer of Shepherd Prep Solutions and | adopt ny
prefile testinony.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:

MR. MERZ: |'mgoing to speak this norning
in followup to the testinony provided regardi ng
sone of the state and regional factors that are
substantially inpacting the behaviorial
heal t hcare i ndustry and how this CON application
material ly addresses several of the undernet
needs that have been identified in the
appl i cation.

| have significant experience in the State
of Connecticut, regionally, and nationally,
having served in a variety of |eadership roles
both in Connecticut over the last three decades,
as well as in other organizations. The
organi zation | work with nowis the |argest
not-for-profit behaviorial healthcare system

which is based in Baltinore, Maryland and | spent
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a significant anmount of tine wth organizations
t hroughout the country that are understandi ng
their needs and how they are responding to the
significant |ack of resources for behaviori al
heal t hcar e.

Significantly, Nuvance Heal th has spent
significant energy and tinme in planning at the
very deliberate strategy to i nprove access
t hr oughout the Nuvance Health network. As part
of that planning, they' re addressing sone of the
system changes that have happened in our industry
as it has evolved.

One of the mmjor changes is how the industry
Is tackling patients who are in behavi oral
crisis, The former systemthat Dr. Herrick
menti oned of conmunity hospitals relying on an
out pati ent network that was informally organized
Is no longer sufficient. Patients are
i ncreasingly needing to find care and in an
absence of organized patient care network, they
often in crisis and in the worst tine of their
care process, overly rely on energency
departnents and for-care settings, and care teans
at enmergency departnents are often left with very

few choices for which to refer those patients,
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and then, typically, admt themto inpatient

| evel s of care, when, typically, the patient may
not need that |evel of care, but that is the only
| evel of care that's available in the community
for which patients can be treated in a safe
manner .

As a result, healthcare systens are breaking
down t hroughout the country, being overwhel ned,
as Dr. Murphy said, wth trenmendous volunes in
their energency departnents. Nuvance Health,
through this application with Norwal k Hospital,
is taking a bold step and a very innovative step
by expanding its access to outpatient services to
address this undernet need. Systens are | ooking
to find a nore cost-effective way to provide
care, including using their precious staff nore
effectively. Many systens are doing this by
i nvesting in anmbul atory | evels of care.

Wiy do you need to do that? As Dr. Herrick
noted, outpatient care is essential to avoid
people fromhaving to go to a higher |evel of
crisis care that can be provided by
psychol ogi sts, social workers, psychiatrists in
the community. Also, clinic services, which are

currently provided by Norwal k Hospital, can be
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expanded as they have continued to grow at
Norwal k Hospital over these | ast several years.
Speci al i zed outpatient treatnent, including
| ntensi ve Qutpatient Services or |OP, are really
i nportant. Let nme just pause on that a little
bit and describe that.

For those who are not aware of what an | OP
Is, it is basically a structured day treatnent
programin an outpatient basis, which is nore
structured than a traditional outpatient practice
where you will schedul e an appointnent with a
soci al worker or a doctor. This is a defined
program | ed by a psychiatrist, founded by a care
t eam whi ch di stinct care points and managenent of
care for a patient in an organized fashion in the
out patient community. Wen under the care of an
outpatient team you're less likely, the data
tells us, to seek inpatient hospitalization. You
are also able to have a network for which you can
avoi d access to energency departnents by having
the care teamin place. Hospitals and health
care systens have also relied on Intensive
Qut patient Prograns as appropriate and safe
di scharge settings and step-down settings for

patients who are di scharged froma hospital
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often |l essening the length of stay for patients
on an patient unit. This care is also nuch nore
cost-effective, while an inpatient |evel of care
can cost thousands of dollars a day. An IOP
| evel of care can cost nearly hundreds of dollars
a day, often $200 to $300 a day on average
national ly, saving the healthcare system
t remendous noney.

Lastly, in terns of staffing, an Intensive
Qut patient Program can take care of nore people
Wi th | ess caregivers by enpl oyi ng group therapy
approaches. Care teans in the outpatient basis
can serve nore people wth |less care team
menbers, which nmakes it a very effective way to
grow care. That's why the federal governnment
continues to support this |level of care in the
current health systens to devel op this resource.

Nuvance Health, in carefully studying the
needs of the Norwal k market, quickly identified a
| ack of care currently in the community, l|argely
driven by a lack of access to insurance and a
| ack of access to outpatient care.

Through the dual diagnosis popul ation are
those co-occurring with nental health and

Subst ance Use Disorder. Adults with those
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conditions without private -- the ability to pay
for their care wwth a check, and havi ng nmanaged
care coverage or the conmmercial insurance, often
are |l acking coverage. So Nuvance had identified
that and is growing that with this program

In addition, as noted before, adol escents
are just a trenendously-grow ng popul ation
nationally with need for this care and this
application nmakes trenendous enhancenents in that
care by offering IOP |l evel of care and with the
ability to accept insurance. So famlies with an
adol escent that need care now will have a place
to go in the Norwal k community.

Further, Norwalk is recognized in this
community as a health professional shortage area
designation. That nmeans that it's a federal
designation applied to a comunity in which
there's not enough providers in that community to
serve the needs by the ratios that the federal
governnents uses, HRSA. As a nental healthcare
shortage region, this inforns the community and
the planning as part of the reason that state and
federal | awmakers supported funding in this
federal earmark to grow this program as they had

identified this need and has Peter had noted in
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his testinony.

The status quo at Norwal k Hospital is
underperformng in addressing sone of these
needs. The inpatient census has been | ow and
trending lower, which is very difficult to
provi de state-of-the-art care in that type of
care nodel, where it's difficult to support al
their resources required upon an inpatient unit,
and through the reconfiguration wth Danbury
Hospital, a nuch nore supportive, caring
envi ronment can be provided wth nore robust
supports to provide a better patient care
experi ence.

The investnents in the enmergency depart nent
can substantially inprove the patients in crisis.
By creating the specialized treatnent pods in the
ener gency departnment, Norwal k Hospital gives a
chance for a patient to stabilize in their
crisis, to assess where they are, the care team
can observe what's happening with the patient.
That wll provide increased |likelihood that that
patient will not just sinply be admtted to a
hospital, but instead, can stabilize and go to an
outpatient |evel of care and avoid that

hospitalization, which is very expensive and ties
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up those beds for people who really need them

So dedi cation of these outpatient services
wi |l add substantially the care needs and the
community, bring care that doesn't exist to the
community, and the treatnent of adol escents and
those with Substance Use Di sorders and nent al
heal t hcare conditions, and provide a very
supportive inpatient unit at Danbury Hospit al
that is nore patients and fam|ly-centered focus.

In addition, | believe that this is
consistent with the national trends. There
sinply is significant need in our anbul atory
space since the 1970s, when the idea of
dei nstitutionalization canme about, and the idea
of decreasing beds and increasing community
resources, the concept is great, but the
application of it is often very difficult, and
Nuvance Health at Norwal k Hospital's application
Is making a great nove by expandi ng these |evels
of care and providing these necessary services.

Thank you.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER°  Thank you very nuch.

ATTORNEY JENSEN:. Thank you, Hearing Oficer
Novi .

ATTORNEY JENSEN: Thank you, Hearing Oficer
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Novi. That concludes the testinony of the
W t nesses for Norwal k Hospital.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER.  Ckay, at this point,
do you have any questions for your own w tnesses
before we take a quick break and have OHS get
their questions together?

ATTORNEY JENSEN. No questi ons.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  kay, so | would |ike
to propose a quick break before we -- | think
we're going to have a little bit of a -- sone
reconfiguration to do just to nmake sure we can
see who we're asking gquestions to because we have
one canera. So I'mgoing to take --

ATTORNEY JENSEN. | don't have any -- if the
gquestions want to be directed to nme, |'m happy to
bring up the right person to answer the
guestions. However you want to proceed, that's
fine.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER. (Okay, let's take a
qui ck break so that OHS can get their questions
together and then we will cone back.

Steve and Jessica, do you think we need 10
m nutes or how | ong do you think we --

MR. LAZARUS: 15 to 20 minutes would be --

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER: 15 to 20, okay.
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Ckay, so why don't we cone back at -- let's
come back at 10:15. It is now 9:59. We will
take a 15-mnute break. |If we are alittle
| ater, | do apol ogize, but we will be back as
pronptly as possible, okay? So we will take a
break until 10:15 at this tine.

Thank you.

(Recess.)

THE HEARING OFFICER:. Al right, as you were
all just -- you all should have just been
i nformed, we are recording this hearing and by --
and by remaining in this hearing, you are
consenting to being recorded. |f you choose to
not be recorded, you can | eave the hearing at
this tine.

Al'l right, now that we have -- nobody has
left, we wll go ahead and begin with the second
portion of our evidence, which is questioning by
OHS.

At this point, I wll ask Attorney Jensen if
all of his witnesses are still present?

ATTORNEY JENSEN: W are just waiting on one

nore. He should be back in just one nonent,
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pl ease.

Thank you.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER. No probl em

ATTORNEY JENSEN: Thank you, Hearing Oficer
Novi. Everyone is present.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER.  All right, great.

So, now that everybody is back, | will turn
the questioning over to M. Lazarus and M.

Ri val .

M5. RIVAL: Thank you.

Good norning, everyone. | just have a
series of questions to ask. You know, please,
feel free to determ ne who the correct person is
to address the question. 1'Il leave that up to
your discretion.

And | would like to start with: [|f you
coul d, discuss the community needs assessment
that influenced the decision to close Norwal k's
I npatient psychiatric unit and refer inpatient
services to Danbury Hospital while increasing
| nt ensi ve Qutpatient Services and energency room
servi ces.

ATTORNEY JENSEN. Dr. Murphy will take the
first stab at your question. Thank you.

DR. MURPHY: Good norning. |'ll take a stab
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at your question, if | could, Jessica.

The top priority in the Community Health
Needs Assessnent is, in fact, the nental health
needs of the community. | think, second, was, if
menory serves ne, was the burden of addiction and
subst ance abuse, and those two have largely
topped the -- the ballistics in every health
comunity assessnent, and really, that's what
we're trying to respond to, is everybody feels
this burden, you know, and as | nentioned
earlier, | think, you know, our strategy is
really designed to -- how do we get to it, to
address those issues earlier because by the tine
they are distressed enough or the issue is severe
enough that an inpatient stay is required, while
we very nuch understand that, you know, that's
our obligation to provide that inpatient
environment, and we wll.

You know, ny sense is the comrunity expects
us to try to intervene earlier, and | think that
if they could have, sinply, in the Norwal k
Community, let's say, local access that's
relatively pronpt as opposed to i nmedi ate access
to an inpatient care, and you could choose one of

those, they would nmuch prefer, | think, greater
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access. The way | look at it, just to put it in
perspective, if you could, is | think that
particularly younger people, you know, if you
| ook at the data now, | think it's -- it's 30
percent of adol escents are experiencing
significant nental health issues |argely around
anxi ety and depression. 9 percent have commtted
or have consi dered suicide, and that, we have to
figure out how, when stress arises in their lives
-- you know, the inpatient units are expensive.
They're dated and they are an intense environnent
where you basically -- | think you revive peopl e.
If you ook at it as if thisis a-- thisis a
river that people have fallen into, what we're
doing is we've got lifeguards on duty, we're
pul ling themout of the water, that they are near
drowni ng, and we are bringing themback with a
great -- great expense, great teans, and we are
basically saving their |ives.

| think if you ook at this -- this river,
if you wll, of -- of grief and stress and the
various challenges we all face, | think that when
you t hi nk about how this notion of people
drowni ng, we've got to build sone fences, and I

think that the 10Ps, for instance, and some of
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these outpatient clinics are those fences to keep
people fromfalling in that river, but nore
inmportantly, | think that, as we | ook further
upstream and recogni ze that, sooner or |ater, we
all fall in that river, that we need to teach
people howto swim and that's going to save nore
lives and that's where |'d rather spend the
nmoney, i s teaching people to swm which neans
that, whether it's in the school systemor in the
primary care offices where we inbed behavi oral
health consultants, at the first synptom through
trai ning and educati on, how to properly question
sonebody to see, is there, perhaps, an early

I ssue with substance abuse, is there anxiety and
depression, and how you ask it in a way that
doesn't stignatize them | think those are the
swi nmng | essons. That's where we need to spend
the noney instead of waiting for themto drown or
nearly drown and pull them out.

So | think if you ask the comunity of
Norwal k what is it you want, they want -- they
should | earn howto swmso that they don't end
up needing to be resuscitated six nonths down the
line when they're in acute distress, but that's a

| ong answer to your sinple question, and | think
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the sinple question is: Mntal health needs are
at the top of the Community Heal th Needs
Assessnment and | think our interpretation of that
Is: The earlier the intervention, the better.
M5. RIVAL: Thank you.
On Page 636 of Dr. Murphy's testinony,
Dr. Murphy nentions federal support for the
pr oposal .

Coul d you, please, describe this federa
support and how it was obtai ned?

ATTORNEY JENSEN. Yes, Dr. Murphy wl|
address that.

DR. MURPHY: Yes, Dr. Murphy can.

That was an earmark. | forget the
particular Senate bill that was passed. It was
one of the ones that was passed within the | ast
12 nont hs, and both Senator Bl unmenthal and Mirphy
awar ded us, Norwal k Hospital, $2.15 mllion in
federal funds and it was largely to support the
provi sion of the outpatient behavioral health
servi ces.

M5. RIVAL: Thank you.

Coul d you descri be what expanded energency
room and crisis services would | ook Iike and

conpare that with the current services offered at
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Nor wal k Hospi tal ?

ATTORNEY JENSEN: Peter Cordeau w |l address
that question. Thank you.

MR. CORDEAU:. Hi, good norni ng.

M5. RIVAL: Good norning.

MR. CORDEAU. Currently, we have two roomns
i n our energency departnent that are ligature
ri sk-free and where we currently hol d behavi oral
health patients. The new nodel to address, and
as | nentioned, the actual plans are with the DPH
now for approval, wll be to create six roons
that are ligature risk-free, two of which would
be for adol escents, so we can separate out any
adol escent behavioral health fromadults in that
ar ea.

Sonet hing el se we have in the ED is we have
the ability, through a conbinati on of in-person
and tel ehealth on the overni ght hours,

24- hour/seven days a week access to a behavi oral
health provider, and that's really inportant. As
Dr. Murphy and ot hers have nentioned, if you get
t he dual - di agnoses patients, and many cone in
under the influence, it is nice to be able to get
an eval done when the patient is ready and it's

an appropriate time for themto get an eval and
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if they can go hone or get to another |evel of
care.

The other piece of this -- this unit is to
have dedi cated behavioral health staffing the
unit. Traditionally, in enmergency departnents,
energency departnment staff are caring for these
patients in addition to the routine patient
popul ati on, taking resources away fromthe other
patients in the ED and often taking other
ancillary staff away to sit one-on-one. So it
becones a nmuch nore therapeutic environment with
case nmanagers, behavioral health nurses to be
able to actually provide treatnent versus just
nmonitoring sonebody in the ED until we can find
appropriate, safe discharge plans for those
patients, whether that's transfer to a
hi gher-1evel of care or to an Intensive
Qut pati ent Program

M5. RIVAL: Geat, thank you.

VWhat happens if an adol escent presents at
t he enmergency departnent currently?

ATTORNEY JENSEN: Dr. Herrick will address
that. Thank you.

M5. RIVAL: This is a three-part question,

just to give you a heads-up.
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THE HEARI NG OFFI CER.  Ckay.

ATTORNEY JENSEN. Stay cl ose.

DR. HERRI CK: That question can be broken
down into three parts, as well.

M5. RIVAL: G eat.

DR. HERRICK: So patients cone in to the
enmergency room and they are read and received by
a triage nurse to determ ne, you know, what sorts
of services they require, and if it's a
psychiatric service that is required, then they
are placed in one of the |igature-safe roons and
an ED doc then visits with the patient and
nmedi cally clears the patient, speaks to the
famly briefly, and then drops a consult for a
psychiatrist to see the patient. The patient is
seen by, first, a crisis intervention soci al
wor ker who collects the information and then
di scusses it with a psychiatrist who then
eval uates the patient, talks to the famly,
obtains collateral information, speaks to
out patient providers, nakes a determ nati on what
is the best (unintelligible).

M5. RIVAL: G eat.

How woul d t hat change with the proposal ?

DR. HERRI CK: So what woul d change with the
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proposal is we would have greater staff access.
We, in addition, would have nore specialized
care. So, for exanple, they are seen primarily
and managed primarily by the ED right now, and
I nstead, what we would do is use behaviori al
heal th-trained staff to care for and provide
cl earance of the patient in order to be eval uated
for, you know, the next |evel of care. So the
staff would be nore dedicated towards the
behavi oral health bay and then the environnment of
care would be less ED |ike and nore, not only
psych-safe, but also just a warnmer, friendlier
envi ronnment .

M5. RIVAL: Thank you.

If there were patients that the energency
room space will allow for, where would they go?

DR. HERRICK: Well, there's always overfl ow,
but the plan, | think you know, when we -- when
we eval uated the needs for the hospital, we
determ ned that, really, the sweet spot was six
beds and so we're not anticipating a | ot of
overflow as a result of this plan.

In addition, we will able to nove patients
out of the ED faster than previously because

havi ng I ntensive Qutpatient Services dedicated to
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adol escent care wll help with (unintelligible).
So, instead of patients waiting in the ED until
we can find an appointnent for themin the
communi ty, we have the appointnment for them

So we're hoping through -- through expanding
t he nunber of beds and al so reducing the tinme in
which they're in the ED, that should safely care
for or manage any overflow i ssues that we m ght
antici pate

M5. RIVAL: Ckay, great, thank you.

On Page 656 of M. Cordeau's prefile
testinony, it notes that there is a scarcity of
psychi atric beds for adol escents and the proposal
seeks to expands the availability of services to
adol escent s.

How does the proposal inpact services for
adol escents directly?

ATTORNEY JENSEN. Thank you, M. Cordeau
wi || address that.

M5. RIVAL: Thank you.

MR. CORDEAU. Currently, Norwal k Hospital,
and actually all the facilities w thin Nuvance,
do not have inpatient adol escent beds. So the
ability to have an adol escent |1 OP dramatically

changes the care that we could provide for
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adol escents.

As Dr. Herrick was nentioning, you know,
previously, with an adol escent, or currently,
wi th an adol escent, in the absence of those
| ntensi ve Qutpatient Prograns, the ability for a
safe discharge is really delayed significantly
until there are openings, and currently, in
our -- in our service area, we don't have an
adol escent 1OP. So we see this as a great
opportunity for adolescents, to be able to
provi de that service out of our ED, and then, you
know, direct referral into our own program
regardl ess of ability to pay, which is very
| mportant because that's another limting factor
currently in the market that we are in.

M5. RIVAL: Thank you.

Coul d you descri be what expanded | ntensive
Qut patient Services would | ook |ike and conpare
that with the current services at Norwal k
Hospi tal ?

MR. CORDEAU: 1'Il take the first half and
then I'll -- Dr. Herrick, do you want to take the
whol e thing? Ckay.

ATTORNEY JENSEN: Just bear with us nore one

monent .
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M5. RIVAL: Oh, take your tine. Thank you.

ATTORNEY JENSEN. Thank you. Dr. Herrick
wi |l speak now.

DR. HERRICK: So, currently, we have an
adult Intensive Qutpatient Program W do not
have an adol escent Intensive Qutpatient Program
W do not have a dual -di agnoses | ntensive
Qutpatient Program Qur plan is to institute
both of those Intensive Qutpatient Prograns.

M5. RIVAL: Ckay, so would there be a total
of two Intensive Qutpatient Prograns?

MR. CORDEAU: Three, there would continue to
be the adult psychiatric 10P, and then, in
addition to that, there would be the
dual - di agnoses and t he adol escent.

M5. RIVAL: kay.

THE HEARING OFFICER  I'mgoing to junp in.
| have a qui ck question.

Does the adult | OP programexist currently?

MR. CORDEAU: Yes.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Can you give us a
little bit of information on that progranf

MR. CORDEAU. So I ntensive Qutpatient
Prograns operate about three days a week, three

to four hours a day, and it includes both group
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and i ndividual therapy and nedi cati on nanagenent,
and it takes referrals fromthe community as a
preventative neasure towards hospitalization and
al so acts as a step-down fromour inpatient unit
when patients are ready to be discharged, and so
it's providing that service currently.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER.  Ckay, and | have one
foll owup question on that: Do you have a
difficult tinme finding people to staff your
current | OP?

MR. CORDEAU. So, yeah, | nean, we've been
chal | enged across the systemin finding staff for
outpatient, inpatient, and you know, it's been
driven primarily by the pandem c. There was a
| ot of burn-out, particularly in the
hospi tal - based staff, and many of themleft. [|I'm
happy to say that we, with the expansion of both
our training -- psychiatric training program and
al so training prograns for |icensed soci al
wor kers, and in additional, the staff who |eft
for telepsychiatry want to conme back

So we're in the process of recruiting and
enpl oyi ng nore staff.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER.  Ckay, thank you.

Sorry, Ms. Rival. | just wanted to grab those
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guesti ons.

M5. RIVAL: No problem

| did have one additional question: About
how many slots are there for patients in each of
the | OP prograns?

MR. CORDEAU. So, again, that's a

staffing-driven neasure because the Joint

Comm ssion requires -- or Medicare requires a --
a maxi mum nunber for -- for staff. So,
currently, we are -- | believe the plan is for 12

patients with the idea of expanding it to 16 per
| OP.

M5. RIVAL: Ckay, great, thank you.

Page 14 of the application notes that
sustained low utilization of inpatient
psychiatric services at Norwal k Hospital and
ongoi ng staffing challenges for behavioral health
clinicians and support staff.

Pl ease, discuss where staff -- where the
staff who did not want to relocate to Danbury
were offered alternatives.

ATTORNEY JENSEN: Peter Cordeau w || address
t hat .

M5. RIVAL: Thank you.

MR. CORDEAU. So |'ve been |'ve been present
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here since January of '19, and even at that tine,
you know, the census was capped at about 13 then.
You know, you know over the years, it continues
to dwindle. At the tine -- at the tinme or in an
attenpt to keep staff, we've covered retention
bonuses to maintain staff here at the hospital.
W al so have agency nurses, and all -- actually,
at the tinme of the application, all enployees
were given the opportunity to, you know, apply
for any and all positions. Geography plays a big
role inthat. W didn't |lose any froma
resignation perspective in that case, and
actually have just re-upped a retention bonus for
the current staff there on the unit today. W
didn't re-up that today; neaning they already
have a -- you know, the next series of retention
commtments fromthe -- fromthe hospital

M5. RIVAL: And how do you plan to staff the
new energency departnent with the additional
positions?

MR. CORDEAU. You know, great question.

Qur plan would be, ideally, to, if approved,
have the inpatient staff that is currently here
rel ocate down to the ED to provide those services

in the ED proper, and then recruit any additi onal
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roles that we woul d deem necessary. In -- you
know, in a holding, for extended holds,

certainly, the nurse/patient ratio is going to be
| ess need than in an acute setting. So it
certainly is going to depend on the acuity of the
patient, but our goal would be to retain the
staff that is currently here and just redepl oy
themto a behavioral health suite in the ED

M5. RIVAL: Thank you.

Page 14 of the application reads, "New
out patient and enmergency prograns will enable
earlier intervention and increase the access to
treatnent in a |lower-acuity and | ower-cost
out patient setting for residents of the service
ar ea.

How wi || you be able to intervene earlier
with the proposed new out patient progranf

MR. CORDEAU. | could start with that or
Steve or Chuck?

Well, | think, as nentioned in ny statenents
and others, we could intervene earlier because
the program actually exists, right? So -- so, by
havi ng access to two additional prograns,
dual - di agnoses and adol escent, we'll have the

ability to refer directly out of the ED
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Sone of the congestion -- a lot of
congestion is due to a |lack of services avail able
for us to refer our patients to, primarily due to
I nsurance reasons, no ability to pay, et cetera.
So |l really do believe that that is -- | do
believe that that is really the primary reason
for our ability to have access.

The other piece of this is in conjunction
with the school systens and ot hers, we have the
ability to -- so, for instance, yesterday -- we
are looking to work with the | ocal comunity and
the systens to provide those services and the
referrals, et cetera.

So it doesn't have to be directed out of the
ED. It could be directed out of our primary care
offices, referrals fromthe community, and having
that access will certainly provide a nmuch greater

early upstreamintervention

ATTORNEY JENSEN. | think Steve Miurphy is
going to speak to that, as well, please.
MR MERZ: |1'mjust going to add on to what

Pet er had shar ed.
In addition, Norwal k Hospital undertook a
systematic way through a | oggi ng process of al

the calls and inquiries that were comng in to
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the local comunity and identified that comunity
nmenbers seeking care were calling the Intensive
Qut patient Services, seeking treatnent for |evels
of care as an alternative to -- if their
situation escal ated, to enmergency departnents and
hi gher | evel s of care.

So there were -- as identified in the
certificate of need, the log indicated there were
hundreds of calls comng in for |evels of care
that were not available. The conclusion that we
reached and the pl anni ng process was that folks
that were not able to get access to care when
they needed it because the outpatient care wasn't
avail able, were left wth very little choice in
the community and those would result in the
hospitalizations and the use of energency
departnent that we were trying to avoid in this
application.

MR. LAZARUS: This is Steve Lazarus. | just
have a foll ow up question to that.

You tal ked about a planning aspect for this
proposal. Howis the -- other than those phone
calls and inquiries, howis the Norwal k comunity
engaged as part of this process?

ATTORNEY JENSEN: | think Peter Cordeau
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coul d speak to the community aspect of it.

MR. LAZARUS: Thank you.

MR. CORDEAU. Hell o, again.

We did interview stakehol ders, whether it
was clergy, the folks from Anericares, the
federally-qualified health clinic, the schools.
W al so have a Community Care Team and a group of
community participants that participate in the
Community Care Team and the planning as it
relates to the Community Health Needs Assessnent.
So we solicit the input fromall of those sources
as we proposed this plan, and if nenory serves ne
correctly, sonme letters of support cane directly
fromthose groups regarding the plan, including
conversations with the PD and the mayor's office,
al so.

MR. LAZARUS: Was this part of a study for
| ooki ng at all behavioral health access or
services in the Norwal k community, itself, or was
this nore of regional approach?

ATTORNEY JENSEN. Do you want that?

MR. CORDEAU. |I'mgoing to pass it over to
Steve Merz.

MR. MERZ: Wth respect to the Community

Care Team process that Peter noted, that's been
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an ongoing effort. Norwal k Hospital is anobng the
first hospitals in the State of Connecticut to

| aunch that process, which would invol ve these
communi ty stakeholders in an effort to provide a
nor e nmeani ngful and coordi nated care approach to
I ndi vi dual s who ot herwi se woul d nore frequently
than not utilize the energency departnent as
their primary access point.

So that effort was focused out of Norwal k
Hospital and basically grew to include the
br oader Norwal k community. At a broader |evel,
the planning for this certificate of need
approach was based on a regi onal approach based
on Nuvance Health's behavi oral heal thcare network
and trying to | everage the resources of entire
health system As Dr. Mirphy noted, having an
i ntegrated healthcare system afforded the system
the opportunity to | ook at behavi oral heal t hcare,
potentially nore strategically how to invest the
resources in the nost inpactful ways.

MR. LAZARUS: Was there sort of a study or a
report that was recomended by this comunity
cares teanl s partnership?

MR. MERZ: |'mnot aware of a specific study

t hat was requested.
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The information that was outlined in this
certificate of need involves studies fromvarious
sources, including a national resource known as
SG 2 that provides predictive studies of
particul ar volunmes. That study, for exanple,
identified that the volunme of need and out pati ent
services was four tines greater than the growth
rates anticipated in inpatient. So the team
t hought that's what -- a very needful area for
I nvest ment .

The community al so identifies key
st akehol ders. The City of Norwal k woul d pl ace an
initiative focused on nental healthcare. There
was the previous involvenent that Dr. Mirphy
noted of a federal and state |egislative support.
There's a clear need in the community for this
and that drove a ot of the strategic priority
deci si on- maki ng.

MR. LAZARUS: Ckay, howis this -- these --
all this informati on communi cated by the teanf
You know, was it sonme sort of a witten docunent?
Was it, you know, just word-of-nmouth? Was it --
|"mjust trying to understand that. How was that
I nformati on gathered and revi ewed?

MR. MERZ: The Community Care Teans are an
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ongoi ng process wth regul ar neetings anong the
key stakehol ders that Peter nentioned. | think,
in addition, there were sone stakehol der neetings
with some of those | eaders where this planning
process was nore deliberately comuni cated for

t he purposes of receiving feedback. The

i ndi vidual s involved in that involved the |eaders
in the energency departnent, the Community Care
Team as well as sone of the comunity governnent
rel ations | eaders for Nuvance Health.

MR. LAZARUS: Were there any mnutes from
t hese neetings or any kind of docunentation?

MR. MERZ: |'mnot aware of any specific
sets of mnutes; however, | know that reports on
t hose neetings were shared orally in our
strategi c planning process neeti ngs.

MR. CORDEAU. Steve, | think I can add one
nmor e t hing.

Hi, Peter Cordeau again.

This proposal al so was vetted and approved
by the Norwal k Hospital board that's represented
by every town in our service area. So, as the
pl an was shared, the information from SG 2 was
shared as well as stakeholders in the community,

whether it's the federally-qualified health
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clinic, Anericares, and those | ocal needs were
shared. That proposal was approved unani nously
by the Norwal k Board to nove forward, and there
are mnutes to that neeting.

MR. LAZARUS: kay, yeah, and so the SG 2
probably provides sone sort of a report that was
used to -- that was shared wth the board. |
guess -- which is nore reasonable, of course. |
just wondered, wth all these activity and --
related to | ocal access, was there any sort of
| ocal report that was put together by this | ocal
cares team which it doesn't appear to be?

MR. CORDEAU. | don't have the answer to
t hat --

MR LAZARUS: Okay.

MR. CORDEAU. -- currently. Dr. Herrick,
you know, perhaps will want to tal k about the
patient mgration to Danbury to you just as
Steve --

DR. HERRI CK: So, you know, | think there
are were a variety of sources that canme into
maki ng this decision and those sources included
tapping into the comunity, just asking them
questions as well as utilizing SG2 -- SG 2 dat a.

So it was -- it was really nore of an outreach as
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wel | as personal kind of experiences. You know,
we have the deflection |log. W have a variety of
services in Danbury that patients were accessing
from Norwal k and the surroundi ng community of
Norwal k. 1, personally -- just by way of
exanple, | have an outpatient practice in Danbury
and | routinely get patients comng up fromthe
Norwal k area because they cannot find anyone in
that community who will accept their insurance,
but Danbury has a nunber of providers who do
accept insurance.

So it's inclusive of a lot of pieces of
i nformation, both in terns of sophisticated
studies as well as anecdotal information from
psychiatrists, fromthe community, fromprimry
care. | can't tell you how many calls | get
regularly fromprimry care because they can't
find -- they can't find access for their patients
who have behavioral health problens. This is one
of the reasons why we have a primary behavi oral
clinician in the primary care offices.

MR. LAZARUS: Was an alternative -- other
alternatives considered to this, at |east
initially, such as increasing | OPs while

mai ntaining the inpatient to see the effects of

73




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

that on the inpatient service, as we tal ked
about, you know teaching the community to sw nf

ATTORNEY JENSEN. Yeah, one second.

Wul d you repeat question for the w tness,
pl ease?

MR. LAZARUS: | just wondered if there were
any alternatives to this approach such as
i ncreasing local I OP services prior to
termnating access for inpatient services to the
| ocal Norwal k community?

DR. MJRPHY: Sure, and again, this is John
Murphy. | think, actually, for the past couple
of years, that that is the line of thinking that
we pursued, particularly since it was -- you
know, we nerged with Norwal k Hospital, as you
know, several years ago. W weren't anxious to
do any cl osures or relocations too soon after
that nerger largely because | think that the
community was sensitive about what's going to
happen now?

So we have been trying to run both prograns
si mul taneously. W have been paying, you know,
for staffing at both prograns, but then we
confront the reality that the facility, itself,

at least in Norwalk, is over 80 years old. 1've
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wal ked through it. |'ve talked to the docs.

It's -- |'ve seen patients there. It's tired.
It needs -- it needs to be nodernized. |t needs
a contenporary and attractive aesthetic. | think

patients deserve that and it would cost us 18
mllion bucks t do that, and you know, if this
application is denied, we're going to have to do
sonet hi ng al ong those |ines, but we do believe,
as | nentioned before, that there is -- we can
put those dollars to better use and consol i date
the inpatient care in Danbury, nodernize it,
attract psychiatrists who actually want to
exclusively potentially practice in the inpatient
environnent and offer a variety of specialties.
When the Community Heal th Needs Assessnent
came back and said, "Hey, listen, nental health
is at the top of the list; substance abuse is
right behind it," you know, that gave rise to the
dual - di agnoses | OP that, you know, this is a
strategy we have to enbark on right away because
it would serve that population, but I think the
nore providers we can attract, the nore slots we
wi |l have, the greater the access will be, and I
think that's fine, but again, to that anal ogy |

used before, that's putting a fence further and
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further upstream but | do believe if we are
going to intervene earlier and when these
stressors first appear, instead of letting
pati ents adopt mal adaptive behaviorals is in the
primary care office, at the first sign of sone
sort of psychosocial distress, we provide them
with instruction and counseling and copi ng
mechani snms to say, "This is how you swim"
because we all face these stressors.

Even in the school system | think we can
-- if those dollars are liberated to be spent
differently, is -- we can figure out when kids
are showi ng signs of distress and the school
psychol ogi st doesn't know what to do, we nake
our sel ves sonehow avai |l abl e, whet her through
tel epsychiatry or some programmatic
col l aboration, but I think -- and by the way, the
running two inpatient prograns at the sane tine,
there are ongoi ng operating | osses that we incur
every year. | would nuch prefer, if we can, to
take those dollars, put theminto one beautiful,
contenporary, larger, properly-staffed unit, and
put the remai nder of those funds back into the
communi ty, where | think we will save people from

the need to be admtted to an inpatient
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psychiatry unit.

MR. LAZARUS: All right, when you reference
the facility in Norwal k, you're tal king about the
hospi tal ?

DR. MURPHY: The inpatient psych unit, the
building that it sits in.

MR. LAZARUS: Ckay, all right, thank you

very nuch.
Thank you, Ms. Rival. [|I'mall set.
M5. RIVAL: | just had one ot her question

al ong that vein: How would patients be notified
of the new outpatient treatnent prograns? How
woul d t hey beconme aware of thenf

ATTORNEY JENSEN: Dr. Herrick will address
t hat .

M5. RIVAL: G eat.

DR. HERRICK: Well, | nean, part of it is
what we've al ready been doing. W have the
comuni ty stakehol ders. They know exactly what
our plans are. They're in full support of them
Those conversations happen on a regul ar basis, as
M. Cordeau iterated about his relationships with
the FQHCs, primary care offices.

So people are going to know and people are

going to know pretty quickly when this programis
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up and running. | think -- you know, one of the
things that | get on a regular basis is from
primary care physicians. They're going to want
to know this and they're going to be given this
i nformation imedi ately when it becones
avai |l abl e.

So we are going to -- | predict we are going
to be inundated with referrals.

M5. RIVAL: Thank you.

The next couple of questions | have relate
to cost. Wiy is there approximately up to a 35
percent increase in the cost of services,
I npatient services, between Norwal k and Danbury
Hospital? WII| patients that are transferred
from Norwal k to Danbury be responsible for this
I ncrease in service cost? And for reference, |
am | ooki ng at Page 29 and 30 of the Conpl eteness
Letter 1.

ATTORNEY JENSEN. That Page 29, 30, is that
t he Bates nunber at the bottonf

M5. RIVAL: This was not Bates-stanped. It
just has on the top left -- it's a Wrd docunent
that they submtted. It's the |last two pages of
t he docunent.

ATTORNEY JENSEN: |'mjust pulling that up.
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One nonent.

M5. RIVAL: Sure, take your tine.

ATTORNEY JENSEN. W have the page up.
Coul d you just repeat the question for us,
pl ease?

M5. RIVAL: Sure, absolutely.

Wiy is there an approximate up to a 35
percent increase in the cost of services between
Norwal k and Danbury Hospital and will patients
transferred from Norwal k to Danbury be
responsi ble for this increase in cost?

ATTORNEY JENSEN. Thank you. Just one
nmonent, pl ease.

MS. RIVAL: Sure.

ATTORNEY JENSEN: Hearing Oficer Novi, we
have soneone, Shannon Ritchie, fromour finance
group i s probably best equi pped to answer that
guesti on.

THE HEARING OFFICER. | will go ahead and
swear her in, then, and she can answer that.

ATTORNEY JENSEN. All right, thank you.

THE HEARI NG OFFICER.  Hello, Ms. Ritchie.
| f you could, please, just take your mask off to
say your nane.

M5. RITCHI E: | am Shannon Ritchie fromthe

79




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Nuvance finance team

THE HEARI NG OFFICER. Al right, if you
coul d, please, raise your right hand so | can
adm ni ster the oath.

Do you solemly swear or solemly and
sincerely affirm as the case may be, that the
testinony you' re about to provide will be the
truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth
so help you god or upon penalty of perjury?

M5. RIRTCHIE: | do.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Thank you. Go ahead.

M5. RTCHHE: So | think it's inportant to
note that the cost data that was provided in the
conpl et eness response is reflective of the
patient m x and the acuity of the patient on the
the unit.Wien we adjust that information to
reflect, you know, an average cost per day, what
we find is that the cost of the Danbury unit is
actually less -- less costly than that of
Nor wal k.

M5. RIVAL: Wuld you have any evidence to
support that since that was not provided to us?

M5. RRTCHHE: | do have that evidence, yeah.
We have not previously submtted it. | can tell

you: We have run those nunmbers and what | found

80




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

is for fiscal year '21, as for an exanple, the
cost of a self-paid patient on Norwal k Hospital
on a per-day basis conmes out to $1, 945 per day
and the equival ent cost of a self-pay patient at
Danbury Hospital would be $1,696 per day.

M5. RIVAL: kay.

MR. LAZARUS: Hearing Oficer, can we get
that as a late file?

THE HEARI NG OFFICER:  Yes, |I'mgoing to ask
for that because |"'mcurrently | ooking at Bates
Page 583 through 584 and that does not square
with the information provided there.

So | would also like you to explain any
di fferences within Bates Pages 583 through 584
with the information you are now providing. W
will mark that as a late file.

M5. RITCH E: Absolutely.

So the difference is that data that's
conpl eted on those Bates pages was reflective of
the cost per case, so over the entire |l ength of
t he adm ssion, and as we know, the acuity and
intensity of patients at Danbury and Norwal k was
different during those tinme periods. So what was
submtted was that the cost of the self-pay

patients at Norwal k Hospital was $9,205 in fiscal
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"21 over the cost -- over the length of the

adm ssi on; whereas that data point for Danbury
Hospital specific to self-pay patients over the
|l ength of their stay was one thousand -- for --
sorry, | want to make sure | have the reference
right. That piece of information, self-pay
pati ent was $11, 233.

So the information that | am sharing now is
adjusted for a daily cost, cost per day.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER.  Ckay, so that wll
be -- we will be requesting that and any
expl anations of differences in nunbers as a late
file.

M5. RITCH E: Absolutely.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER°  Thank you.

M5. RIVAL: Thank you.

Next, could you describe the referral
process between inpatient psychiatric services
and out patient psychiatric services?

THE HEARI NG OFFICER: | think we m ssed a
guestion, actually.

M5. RIVAL: You're right, I'msorry.

THE HEARI NG OFFICER°  No. 10 was m ssed. |If
we coul d go back and cover that one?

M5. RIVAL: Absolutely.
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Specific to behavioral healthcare, please,
di scuss the charity care program and the
community benefit program and this refers to
Exhi bit A, Page 36, No. 25.

ATTORNEY JENSEN:. Just one nonent, please.
Thank you.

M5. RIVAL: Sure.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Just to clarify, it's
Bat es Page 45.

ATTORNEY JENSEN. Ms. Rival, Jen Zupcoe is
going to speak to that.

Hearing O ficer Novi, can we have her sworn
in, as well?

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER° O cour se.

Hello, ma'am |If you could, state your
name, spelling your |ast name, and your job title
for the record.

M5. ZUPCOE: Sure. |It's Jennifer Zupcoe,
Z-u-p-c-0-e, vice-president of financial
operations and anal yti cs.

THE HEARI NG OFFICER. Al right, if you
coul d, please, raise your right hand?

Do you solemly swear or solemly and
sincerely affirm as the case may be, that the

testinony you are about to provide will be the
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truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth
so help you god or upon penalty of perjury?

M5. ZUPCOE: Yes, | do.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER°  Thank you. Go ahead
and put your hand down.

Go ahead.

M5. ZUPCOE: So related to our charity care
policy, that charity care policy is a Nuvance
Health charity care policy. It applies to al
patients, not just behavioral health.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Coul d you expl ain nore
about that? You did say that you had a policy.
|"mlooking to find out nore about what that
policy is. It is nentioned, but it says, "It has
a general financial assistance policy, which wll
continually utilize the benefits of
uni nsur ed/ underi nsured indi viduals to enabl e
access to nedically-necessary care w thout regard
for cost."

What does that nean?

M5. ZUPCOE: Yes, so, as you're aware, SO
hospitals all have charity care policies that we
follow very specifically. That is applied
consi stently, you know, across our patient

popul ation to ensure that we are not obviously
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chargi ng or seeking rei nbursenent in excess from
those patients that qualify.

We follow the 501R I RS guidelines, also, in
terms of how we end up ultimately billing for
services. So, overall, those policies would be
applicable to patient popul ation who are
eligible. W share those charity care policies
wth the Ofice of Healthcare Strategy, as well,
on an annual basis.

ATTORNEY JENSEN: Just for reference, that
was included as Attachment E, | believe, to our
application.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER  Ckay.

ATTORNEY JENSEN: Wiich is Bates No. 57.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER: 527, Thank you.

M5, RIVAL: kay, next, sonme questions that
i nvol ve access.

Coul d you, please, describe the referral
process between inpatient psychiatric services
and out patient psychiatric services?

ATTORNEY JENSEN. Thank you, Dr. Herrick
wi || address that.

M5. RIVAL: Thank you.

DR. HERRICK: So each inpatient unit has a

dedi cated |icensed clinical social worker who
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accessing a variety of resources that are

avail able fromthe inpatient unit to the

out patient services. Qobviously, it depends on
the patient. Patients that have a provider
already in the community may be referred back if
t hey needed nore intensive |evel of care, they're
referred to an Intensive Qutpatient Programin
the community.

Then, once that is secured, we try and get
patients seen within five business days of their
di scharge, and fromthe standpoint of having
access to outpatient care, that is our goal, and
that's typically what happens.

Now, when Covid occured, every, every
out pati ent system was overwhel med, and so, trying
to access an outpatient appointnment during Covid
in the last year has been chall enging, at best,

I ncl udi ng those patients with very rich insurance
pl ans, and sonetines it's upwards of two weeks
that we're not able to secure an appoi ntnent for
a patient who is about to be discharged.

So that's really put a |ot of pressure on
the hospitals, and we've kept patients |onger, or
actually, our length of stay has increased in the

past year, | think, primarily as a result of |ack
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of access.

M5. RIVAL: Thank you.

MR. LAZARUS: M. Rival, one second.

| just want to go back and follow up on the
questi on you had about the charity care and
community benefits. | know we tal ked about the
charity care.

Regardi ng the comunity benefits, can the
Applicants talk a little bit about what the
comunity benefits have been, say, for exanple,
in the last year or so in the Norwal k Community
related to behavioral health specifically?

DR. HERRICK: Well, before -- | nean, |
think the question has nmultiple answers, but |
t hi nk one of the biggest conmunity benefits that
Norwal k Hospital has provided is the Conmunity
Care Team and this focuses on the highest-risk
patients in our community who typically have
three problens: They have a Substance Use
Di sorder, they have a psychiatric disorder, and
they have a major nedical condition, and as a
result of that, they often seek their care in
energency roons primarily, and those patients are
provi ded the opportunity to sign on with a

Community Care Teamand it's a whole |ist of
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resources in the community that conmes together on
a weekly basis and neets and di scusses what the
patients needs are.

Largely, there are social determ nants of
heal th, whether it be housing, access to
heal t hcare, nedical care, psychiatric care,
substance abuse care, whatever resources are
avai l able that the community has access to are
offered to the patient, including even case
managenent services where they will physically
help the patient get to their appointnents on
tinme.

So that's, | think, just one aspect of the
question you asked in terns of how we address
comrmunity benefit.

MR. LAZARUS: For the Community Care Team
is there sone sort of docunentation you m ght be
able to provide us that tal ks about what its
function is and what's the nake-up of the
Community Care Teanf

DR. HERRICK: Sure. W can get that to you.
| don't knowif it was included in that -- in the
docunent ati on, but yeah, absolutely, we can get
it to you.

MR. LAZARUS: Thank you.
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DR. HERRI CK: Norwal k want to expand into
New York, as well.

MR. LAZARUS: Yes, anything you can provide
to docunent that and provide sonme expl anation
with that, that woul d be hel pful.

THE HEARING OFFICER: Al right, | wll
order that as a second late file would be
informati on on the Community Care Team

MR. LAZARUS: Thank you, Ms. Rival. [|'mal
set. Back to you.

M5. RIVAL: G eat.

The first conpl eteness response shows a
table on Page 7 with the average daily census for
the inpatient psychiatric units at both Norwal k
and Danbury for the past five fiscal years.

What are your expansion plans for the
Danbury facility that will accomodate all of the
Norwal k patients?

ATTORNEY JENSEN: Dr. Herrick will address
t hat .

M5. RIVAL: Thank you.

DR. HERRICK: So |I'm |l ooking at Page 7 of 30
that include sone denographi cs and nunbers, but
hi storically, between the two units, the average

daily census has been running in the lowto
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m d-20s, and the plan is that we will have a
34-bed unit and that will include probably 12
doubl es and -- and singles, and the pl anni ng,
really, it involved both what we could do for the
Nor wal k Communi ty based on the historical nunbers
as well as expanding bed capacity, as well, for
the network in general, and in addition, it

| everaged our experience for Covid so that we can
operate in tines of a pandemc. Single beds and
-- neet the needs of the community with just
converting everything to single, as well as the
opportunity to expand and turn the single beds
into double beds if we need to, if we exceed
capacity. So it offers us a great deal of
flexibility in our ability to nanage patients.

Al so, the way the unit will be configured is
to potentially create areas of specialization so
that patients with a particular condition can be
separ ated sonmewhat from other patients in order
to inprove care. So it's a very thoughtful
design that includes a |ot of possible
considerations for the future that we can adapt
to.

M5. RIVAL: Thank you.

Page 672 of Dr. Charles Herrick's prefile
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testinmony notes that one of the strategies for
staff inprovenent in Nuvance's -- is Nuvance's
psychiatric residency program Has this strategy
been significantly tested or used at any of the
ot her Nuvance facilities?

DR. HERRI CK: Well, our Nuvance psychiatric
resi dency programis rather unique to the
net wor k, whereas nost of the residency prograns
are specific to a particular hospital. CQur
program crosses the network and our residents are
pl aced in several hospitals, both on the New York
and Connecticut side, including Sharon, Danbury
and Norwal k.

Now, we haven't yet -- we haven't yet
graduated a class. W don't graduate our first
class until '24, but we anticipate that, in
general, nost residency training prograns are
able to retain about 40 percent of their
graduates. If we even retain 25 percent of our
graduates, we will have considered it an enornous
success because we are a designated professional
shortage area in nental health in both Danbury
and Norwal k.

In addition, we are partnering with a

federally-qualified health agency in Danbury that
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Is starting a residency training program So we
are collaborating with them and we' re hopef ul
that they will have four residents per year, as
well. So we're very positive about our ability
to staff our plans, both in the Qutpatient

| ntensi ve Qut patient and inpatient setting.

M5. RIVAL: Do you have any indicators that
you can draw fromthe first graduating cl ass of
20247

DR. HERRICK: So "indicators" in terns of
just conversations with themindividually in
terns of what they want to do in -- |'mnot sure

| understand the question about "indicators."

THE HEARI NG OFFICER. | can rephrase for
you.

M5. RIVAL: Thank you.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Just as a generality,
do you have any -- what -- even if it's

anecdotal, any evidence that the first graduating

class may neet that 25 percent maintain -- that
stay with the system

DR. HERRICK: Well, one of the things that
we' ve enphasized in recruiting candidates is a
real commtnent to community psychiatry and to

t he geographical area. So we actually are quite
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selective in the candi dates that we want, and we
| ook for whether they grew up in the area,

whet her they have famly in the area, in sone
way, how are they commtted to the -- of the
west ern Connecticut area, when we choose these
peopl e.

So I'mvery confident these are -- these are
candi dates who are commtted to the western
Connecticut area and want to stay.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER  Ckay.

Ms. Rival, any foll owup questions?

M5. RIVAL: Nope, thank you.

Page 782 of Stephen Merz's prefile testinony
speaks to the | ack of accessible conmunity
provi ders of outpatient care and the effect on
t he energency departnent and i npatient services.
How wi || this proposal inprove access to
communi ty providers?

ATTORNEY JENSEN. Stephen Merz w |l address
that. Thank you.

MR MERZ: Well, first off, the anbul atory
program expansion that's proposed in the
certificate of need application will be comunity
prograns and community providers, although

hospital -based. So one way is to obviously add
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to the portfolio of comunity-based services
directly through the creation and expansi on of
t hose prograns.

The second part is that in -- when -- by
establ i shing an intensive outpatient |evel of
care, there is an increased |ikelihood that
comrunity providers will be able to accept
pati ents because they have been -- they have been
st epped-down and they are stable in a community
outpatient setting, so they're nore likely to be
accepted into the practice or the practices that
exi st.

| think the third thing is that Norwal k
Hospital already has a -- a rich set of
out pati ent and anbul atory behavi oral heal t hcare
prograns, sone supported by DVHAS, the Depart nent
of Mental Health and Addiction Services of the
state that are provided in the |ocal community,
and by having the Intensive Qutpatient Prograns
and the other outpatient progranms in Norwal k
Hospital, that because it's basically going to
enrich the fabric of conmmunity providers by
servi ng Norwal k.

THE HEARI NG OFFICER: | have a foll ow up

guestion to that.
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How wi Il | you find these community providers
and what efforts will you have to get nore
community providers for the patients that cone
out of your -- your IOPs and through your ED?

ATTORNEY JENSEN: Dr. Herrick will speak to
t hat .

DR. HERRICK: So, first of all, we have a
dedi cated recruitnent teamthat is always out
there attending conferences, soliciting interest,
and al ways outreaching to find qualified staff
for the public things that we have.

So, we have that, but nore inportantly, as |
nmenti oned previously about our psychiatry
residency program | think this network has
really |l earned that the best way to
recruit/retain staff is internally. So we have
really pushed hard to establish educati onal
prograns in a variety of areas including social
wor k, PAs, APRNs, undergraduate nedi ca
education. The departnent of psychiatry al one
has five nedical schools that we are a clinica
cl erkship for.

So, historically, we have not been as big on
education, but with the network and our

under st andi ng of staff shortages across all
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areas, not just behaviorial health, we recognize
t hat providi ng an educational foundation
internally is the key to being able to recruit
and retain qualified staff.

So we are very optimstic. W partnered
with many of the schools in the surrounding area,
i ncludi ng Sacred Heart University.

So we feel very strongly that we'll be able
to staff to our needs

M5. RIVAL: The next question | have speaks
to transportation.

There are 43 m | es between Norwal k Hospital
and Danbury Hospital. How w Il patients be
transported between the two facilities?

ATTORNEY JENSEN: Thank you. M. Cordeau
will speak to that.

M5. RIVAL: Thank you.

MR. CORDEAU. Hell o.

Transportation between Norwal k and Danbury
woul d occur if a patient required an inpatient
| evel of care. Because it's a higher |evel of
care, those patients would be transferred via
anbul ance.

M5. RIVAL: Ckay, what happens when a

Norwal k area patient is discharged fromthe
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Danbury inpatient unit? How do they get hone?

MR. CORDEAU:. Yeah, so, fromthe tinme of
adm ssion, case managers work with both patients
to famlies on an appropriate discharge plan that
I ncl udes transportation.

So there are various ways that our case
managenent team does that. One would be public
transportati on, which happens to be free, between
Danbury and Norwal k currently. The other is
famly, and then, lastly, if that is not
avai l able and all those options are exhausted, we
provide a transportati on voucher and pay for the
transport for that patient to be transferred back
to their caregiver safely.

M5. RIVAL: Gkay, and you nentioned the case
manager, but how will the transfer centers
coordi nate these services?

MR. CORDEAU: Well, from an adm ssion
perspective, from Norwal k to Danbury, if that's
t he question, so we -- our psychiatrists at both
Norwal k and Danbury have admtting privileges to
both, so we're not transferring ED to ED. So, if
Dr. Herrick, for instance, deens that | needed an
I npatient bed, then he can call -- well, he can

admt nme directly to a Danbury bed. He -- you
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know, he's the attendi ng physician doi ng that
adm ssion. So that transportation is arranged
per the ED. That patient goes directly to the
i npatient unit at Danbury Hospital.

THE HEARI NG OFFICER: | have a foll ow up
gquestion to this.

Norwal k -- Norwal k's Wheel Transit Hub to
Danbury Hospital is currently two hours and 22
mnutes. |If a-- if a patient whose famly is in
Norwal k wanted to visit themin Danbury, it would
take them al nost five hours roundtrip to travel

to and from Danbury.

Is there any sort of -- how would a famly
menber actively participate in a -- in a
patient's -- in patient rehab in -- or inpatient

treatment if they could not get there within two
hour s?

MR. CORDEAU. Yeah, I'mnot famliar with
that reference.

ATTORNEY JENSEN. Hearing Oficer Novi, are
you referring to a particular reference in the
application?

THE HEARING OFFICER  No, no, it's -- it's
quite a drive. | nean, even Google -- if you

were to drive, it would take you al nbst an hour
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to get there. |If you didn't have transportation,
it could be quite likely, especially, you know,
on a snow day or sonething, for sonebody w thout
transportati on and sonebody who may be coul d not
afford to have their own transportation, how
woul d you help famly nenbers actively
participate in inpatient treatnment at the Danbury
Hospi tal from Norwal k?

MR. CORDEAU. Ckay, so, based on the
informati on provided here, it's approximately a
43-mnute ride, 22.4r mles fromNorwalk to
Danbury on Googl e Maps.

So there's two public transportation
options. Certainly, by train, probably Iess
i deal , and by bus, publicly-available schedul es
i ndicate that the travel tinme is approximtely an
hour, and the bus schedules, | believe, are
attached in our application, and if that's a
m sstatenent, we can provide them

Dr. Herrick is going to comment.

DR. HERRI CK: You know, famly neetings
have -- have been a critical aspect of providing
qual ity behavioral healthcare at the inpatient
setting. So we are exquisitely sensitive to the

fact that they have to travel and we will do
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everything in our power to ensure they get out
there in a tinely manner, including vouchers, if
we need to do that, but nore inportantly, one of
the | essons that we | earned that Dr. Mirphy
nmentioned earlier is using technol ogy, and so
during Covid, we actually conducted famly
nmeetings via Zoomlike we are doing right now,
and we found it an incredibly effective, and we
continue to provide that service to famlies and
routinely run famly neetings using Zoom
servi ces, and you know, the feedback from
famlies has been largely positive.

So, you know between our efforts to support
themin getting up there physically and
| everagi ng technol ogy, we do have an opportunity
toreally build out a very nice (unintelligible)
t el epsych programon the unit.

So we're -- we're very optimstic that this
Is not going to be any sort of barrier to having
an effective famly neeting for discharge
pl anni ng and regul ar routine care.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER.  Ckay.

M5. RIVAL: Thank you.

And the | ast few questions that | have refer

to quality.
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If you could, please, describe any care
coordi nation services to ensure patients remain
connected to services fromintake to discharge
wi thin and anong the facilities?

DR. HERRI CK: Again, you know, it's
Interesting that one of the things that we found
when we had originally -- for exanple, with
Danbury and I OPs, so what we found was that when
patients had the opportunity to visit the I10P
before di scharge, our rates of Connect-to-Care
I ncreased dramatically.

W | earned fromthat that by having a face
to a nane is a very powerful opportunity for
patients to feel connected and to want to show up
for those appointnents. So, again, our
opportunity this time is to | everage technol ogy
in order to put a face with the nane so that we
can ensure there's Connect-to-Care in a tinely
manner .

Secondly, by having access, obviously, if
there's an appoi ntnment a week away, it's |ess
likely that a patient is going to show up for
their appointnent then if their appointnent is a
day away or two days away. So | think by having

greater access as well as |everaging technol ogy,
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we're very -- we're very positive that this
Connect-to-Care is really going to inprove. |It's
sonething that the entire state has been
struggling wth.

In fact, Beacon OQptions, which is a Medicaid
heal t hcare provider, has found that that is a
very inportant factor. |In nost hospitals,
Connect-to-Care is about a nonth. So we're
hoping to -- and we historically have been better
than that. W want to -- that's really, | think,
the single-nost inportant quality netric for
behavi oral health we can nonitor.

M5. RIVAL: Thank you.

Page 637 of the prefile responses by
Dr. Murphy states that the intent of the proposa
Is to becone a regional focal point for nental
health treatnment and that quality will be
enhanced by Nuvance's network-w de performance
standards and care coordination efforts.

Coul d you descri be these standards and how
quality is neasured?

ATTORNEY JENSEN. Was that for Dr. Murphy or
for --

DR. HERRICK: So, | nmean, we have a nunber

of netrics. First and forenost, as | had
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menti oned as Connect-to-Care and | think that, as
| said, is the single-nost inportant quality of
nmetric available, but also, we do | ook at
variations in care across physicians as well as
bet ween hospitals. W look at |length of stay.
W | ook at discharge planning. W look at famly
nmeetings in order to ensure that the el ements of
care are maintai ned throughout this system and
that's -- you know, when Dr. Murphy wites about
that by consolidating inpatient services under
one roof, we have a nuch better ability to ensure
that there's a standardi zational quality across
provi ders than between what is (unintelligible)
hospi t al s.

So that's one of the major reasons for
consol idating inpatient care, is to inprove that
quality.

M5. RIVAL: Excuse ne.

DR. HERRI CK: Gesundhei t.

M5. RIVAL: Thank you.

DR. HERRICK: -- to inprove that quality.

So those are sone of the neasures, and you
know, in behavioral health, you know, ultinmately,
the single biggest quality neasure, obviously,

we' ve been seeing across the country are suicide
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rates, and our hope is that, through these
processes, because the studi es have denonstrated
access to care really is the biggest player in
reducing suicide rates, that that is going to be
the single nost inportant factor in hel ping our
communi ty.

THE HEARI NG OFFICER:  To fol l ow up on your
di scharge clinic, would you tell us a little bit
about what discharge from Danbury Hospital to an
| OP in Norwal k m ght | ook |ike?

DR. HERRI CK:  Sure.

So all of our clinical social workers,
whet her they work in Norwal k or they work in
Danbury, have access to the sane resources, and
our physicians, because we have a single
el ectroni c nedical record across, the hospitals
have access to both inpatient and out patient
records, we can -- we can task one another.
We're able to immedi ately obtain an appoi nt nent
for our patients and we know each ot her
personal ly and professionally, and so it just
noves the entire process of discharging a
patient, whether they're in Danbury or Norwal k,
to the outpatient services in Norwal k.

M5. RIVAL: And ny final question: \Wat if
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a patient of the energency departnent does not
want to go to Danbury and wants to remain in the
Norwal k Community? How woul d you address that

si tuation?

DR. HERRICK: So we address it every day, in
fact, and we always give the patients choice.
Where woul d you like to go? And we give them
options, and you know, as | nentioned earlier,
there are a nunber of hospitals in the
surroundi ng area that, sonetines, they prefer to
go to, and sonetines we have no choi ce because
either there are no beds available, or if they're
an adol escent, we have to find an adol escent
facility.

So we're not going to stop doing that just
because we have this plan in place.

M5. RIVAL: That concludes ny questi ons.

Hearing O ficer Novi or M. Lazarus, | don't
know i f you have any additional ?

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER. Steve, do you have
any? | have one, but --

MR. LAZARUS: |I'mall set. Go ahead.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER.  Ckay, ny -- ny final
question is: Wiy does noving froman inpatient

to outpatient-focused care inprove access to
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| ow-i ncone nenbers or the indigent popul ati on of
Nor wal k?

DR HERRICK: | think it's not just a matter
of expandi ng the nunber of services that we offer
in the outpatient side, including the Intensive
Qut patient Prograns, but one of the things that
we haven't addressed up to this point is we're
al so planning on expandi ng out pati ent services,
general outpatient services, and because we're a
clinic, we take all insurances, and one of the
chal l enges that | think many of the
DIVHAS- sponsor ed out patient clinics have struggled
with recently have been staffing shortages as
wel |l as increased volunes. So we are going to
accept those patients. W have every intention
of accepting any patient regardl ess of the
I nsurance plan and getting themin in a tinely
manner, evaluating them determ ning what | evel
of care they need, and providing treatnent to
t hem

So, you know, we're -- we renmain dedicated
to treating the underserved, and | think that's
sonething that is inportant to enphasi ze, that
there's no one in the comunity, or very few

people in the community, who accept Medicaid and
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fewer and fewer people in the conmunity are even
accepting commercial insurance because they don't

have to, and if they do accept a commerci al

payer, it's only because it's -- it pays well and

it's adm ni strativel y-easy, perhaps. That's
created a trenmendous burden on patients in terns
of gaining access. So, as a result, they often
cone to the energency room They're stignmatized
in the energency room and they end up on an
inpatient unit, even if it wasn't necessarily an
appropriate level of care, but it's the best
| evel of care available to themat that point in
time. Qur hope is to avoid that so that these
Medi caid patients can be treated wth respect in
in an outpatient setting in the community they
desire.

THE HEARI NG OFFICER. Al right, thank you

very nuch.

Al right, that is it for the questions from

OHS. At this point, | will ask your attorney if

he has any foll ow up questions based on the

questions that we posed to the Applicants?
ATTORNEY JENSEN:. Thank you, Hearing Oficer

Novi. No further questions.

THE HEARI NG OFFICER:  All right, so, at this
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point, we are -- we are set for the norning

section. W wll hold closing argunent and
comrents after the public comments -- sorry, we
will do -- closing argunents will be heard after

public coment. Sign-up starts at 2:00 p. m
Public comrent will start at 3:00 p.m, if there
is any, and then, after that, and if we don't
have any, we will nove to closing argunents at
that time. If we do have them we'll hear those
first, then go to closing argunents.

It is now 11:39 am and we wll go to a
break. | wll check back at 2:00 to see if
public coment has started. Oherw se, we wll
begin at 3:00 p.m.

Thank you, everybody, and have a nice break.

ATTORNEY JENSEN:. Thank you.

(Recess.)

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER°  Hel | o, everybody, |
just want to rem nd everybody -- wel cone back.
W will be having public sign-up from2:00 to
3:00 p.m and public comments from-- at -- begin
at 3:00 p.m. W will call the names of those

who have signed up to speak in the order in which
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t hey have regqi stered.

W would like to remind everybody that if we
have any | arge anmount of people, | amallowed to
limt your participation to three m nutes;
however, let's see how many people we have first.

Al so, | do strongly encourage everybody
listening to submt witten conmments to CHS by
email or by mail no later than one week, that's
seven cal endar days, fromtoday. Qur contact
information is on the Website and on the public
i nformati on sheet, which was shown at the
begi nning of the hearing and again, ny -- making
public coments, and as stated previously in this
recording, you are -- you're speaking today is
either verbally without canera or wwth a canera
is consent to being recorded. So your commons
will be recorded and contained within our --
within our transcripts.

Al right, and with that, | wll go ahead
and al | ow anybody who needs to register for
public comment to register with Maya Capozzi.

She will be keeping track. She will be keeping a
list of individuals who have submtted their
nanmes and then she will give that to ne when she

i s done.
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So we wll reconvene sat 3:00 p.m for
public comments. At that tinme -- if you would
like to speak at that tine, please, nake sure you
have registered prior to that.

Any ot her comments fromthe attorneys or the
anal ysts?

ATTORNEY JENSEN. No, thank you.

THE HEARING OFFICER:. Al right, and | see
nothing from Steve. Al right everybody, well

be -- reconvene at 3:00 p.m . Thank you.

(Recess.)

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER.  As you were just
I nformed by the Zoom -- by the Zoom voice, we are
being -- we are recording these -- this hearing
and your remaining in this hearing is your
consent to being recorded. |If you have any
I ssues of being recorded, you may now | eave the
hearing at this tine.

Al right, welconme back. For those of you
just joining us, this is the second portion of
today's hearing concerning CON application filed
by the Norwal k Hospital Association d/b/a Norwal k
Hospi tal, Docket No. 22-32513CON -- CON. W
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have -- we had the technical portion this
nmorning. We will be calling the nanes of those
who signed up to speak in the order in which they
were registered. Afterwards, | wll ask if
there's anyone el se present who wi shes to be

hear d.

Speaking time is typically limted to three
m nutes. Since there are fewregistered, | wll
all ow you to go beyond that. However, | do ask
that you keep your comrents fairly brief in
nat ure.

Additionally, we strongly encourage you and
anyone else listening to submt witten comments
to OHS by e-mail or mail no later than one week,
that's seven days, fromtoday, in which that
woul d be Decenber 21st. Qur contact information
Is on our Website and on the public information
sheet in which you were -- or sorry, on the
hearing slide, which we provided at the begi nning
of the hearing. Thank you for taking the tinme to
be here today and for your cooperation.

We are ready to hear statenents fromthe
public.

Ms. Capozzi fromour office has been kind

enough to keep a |ist of individuals who have
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submtted their nanes, so | may need her
assi stance with this.
Anyone speaking, |I'll remnd you to turn on

your video and to turn your video and m crophone

on.
M5. CAPQZZI: You have to go away now.
THE HEARI NG OFFICER. Al right, the
Applicants wll have an opportunity to respond to

your comments and your witten subm ssion in
witing. Gven the nature of your subm ssion
and -- sorry, and we'll have a chance to respond
to your -- to your submissions in witing.

At the point, M. Capozzi, the first person,
pl ease?

M5. CAPQZzZI: D ane Cece.

THE HEARI NG OFFICER  Hello, Ms. Cece. |If
you coul d, please, unnute yourself and turn on
your canera, if possible.

M5. CECE: (Good afternoon.

THE HEARI NG OFFICER  Hello, if you could,
pl ease, state your nane for the record, please.

M5. CECE: Ckay, ny nane is Diane Cece,
C-e-c-e, and it's A nstead Place in Norwalk,
Connecti cut .

Ms. Capozzi, it would be Cece or Cece in
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Italy, so that was close, thank you

|"m-- thank you, nenbers of the board. [|'m

alittle bit nore used to speaking at public
hearings within my own conmunity, so |'ma bit
nervous. | hope you bear with ne. If I'm
breaki ng any rules, just junp in and stop ne
her e.

And | wll say that | read through 99
percent of the docunents associated with this
application, and I am worki ng today, but |
followed as nuch as | could of the norning
session to hear the Applicants, but subsequently
had to take a whol e bunch of kind of pick and
scratch notes. So I did ask before and | am goi ng
to follow up, | believe, with a witten comrent.

' mnot sure how many people there are here
to speak that are just regular residents. |'m
not representing any organi zation or group. |I'm
just here as a resident of Norwal k and | want ed
to open up by saying that | suspect if there's
not a whole ot of folks, that it may be due to
what | consider a severe |ack of public notice
about this application. 1n general, | think
Nuvance or Norwal k Hospital had only posted the

bare m ni mum which was a small, you know,
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two-font |legal notice a year or so ago, and al so,
when OHS had published for the public hearing
recently, the legal notice, | brought this to the
attention, | think, to one of your attorneys,

that that notice only describes the proposal as a
term nation of an inpatient service, and there's
not hing in that docunent that would | ead anyone
in Norwal k to know that this is related to

psychi atric and behavioral and nental health, and
| think there's a disservice and | hope that can
be addressed in the future.

| wanted to speak to you today because what
| have read of this, and | know about it, and
after listening to the testinony, |I'm speaking to
you today in opposition of granting this
application for a whole host of reasons. 1|'|
rattle these off as quickly as I can, and if you
could, give ne a warning here on the tine.

No. 1, | believe that this application
really serves only to benefit Nuvance and Norwal k
Hospital. | don't see any benefit to our
community, and contrary, | believe it provides an
extraordi nary burden on the patients who are
served by -- in inpatient services, their

famlies, their caregivers, and their current
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pr of essi onal and social workers who are within
Nor wal K.
| nmean, it's easy for Nuvance to say, "It's

just up the road a piece in Danbury," but to one
of your Conm ssioner's points, that woul d be 45
to 60-m nute commute via car and as nuch as two
to two-and-a-half hours versus other types of
transit, and | don't see -- | think that they
shoul d provide a great benefit to the residents
and |'mnot seeing that here.

You al so heard them spoke(sic) about and in
their docunent, they refer the IOP, Intensive
Qutpatient Services, that this would then
actually increase while decreasing the inpatient
beds, and | don't see that's being
mut ual | y-exclusive. |'mnot seeing anything or
readi ng anythi ng where | understand where they
couldn't nake an effort along with the comunity
to have a massive increase in [OP wthin the
comuni ty and communi ty-based services and still
mai ntain the | evel of inpatient beds that they
have, honestly, if not even increase them

They tal k about the ability to safeguard
pl aces here and the | ack of services and |I'm not

really clear on the distinction of what Danbury
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woul d offer, and if why there's going to be
additional community services, that couldn't go
hands-i n-hand with the beds.

When they tal k about noving these services,
in the sane breath, they also tal k about | ow
utilization and shortage of staff, and in ny
mnd, if the utilizationis that low, | think
they said seven daily beds, daily census, if |I'm
reading that correctly and if it is that | ow,
then why it is a burden on Nuvance to keep that
service, increase the staff, which, in fact, they
said they're spendi ng an extraordi nary anount of
noney on in terns of psychiatric interns and
addi tional staff.

Sol -- I"mjust not, you know, getting that
connect there. The -- | believe that one of your
staff asked a question about the 35 percent
i ncrease in cost in Danbury versus Norwal k
Hospital, and the | ady who answered that, |I'm not
clear on that answer. | hope that you'll go back
and | ook at the additional docunents that you
asked her to send because she was conparing
sonething called the daily cost versus what the
average day woul d be, and in that long-term

average day nunber, it was significantly higher
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t han what Norwal k Hospital would bear -- Norwal k
Hospital woul d charge and then a patient woul d be
responsi bl e for.

The -- in ternms of being able to -- | think
they tal ked to you about doi ng sone investnent
pods that will be in the energency room and
havi ng them be sonet hing that woul d be of nore
confort and privacy in the future. Again, |
don't think that's nutual |l y-exclusive, the in-bed
services, and they said, though, that the
facility is over 80 years old and needs
noder ni zati on and aesthetics and it woul d cost
them $18 million in costs, and quite sinply, |
have no synpathy for that as a resident here when
we have been deluged with publicity and marketing
and public relations materials on Norwal k
Hospi tal about to spend $250 to $300 mllion on a
massi ve expansi on of a new w ng.

You al so asked a question on how the
communi ty engagenent information was gat hered and
consi dered and they spoke to you about key
st akehol ders, clergy, Norwal k Police Departnent,
Mayor Rilling, the schools, et cetera, but |
woul d say I'ma very engaged citizen in Norwal k

and | woul d know not hing about this unless |'m
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one of the three kind of losers in our town that
read | egal notices every single day. | would
have no way of knowi ng that and | suspect that
our community at |arge or residents know nothing
about it, either.

The federal support that they nentioned that
was supported by Senator Bl unmenthal and Murphy,
the two point mllion, | think, was sonething
that was already in the works regardless of this,
so |'"'mnot sure why they're linking that to a
deci sion to nove the services.

| do want to know, with the | ack of
comruni cation so far, how the community woul d be

made aware shoul d you approve these changes.

And | know that I'mover ny tine and | -- so
| just want to say, for those reasons, |'m--
after reading everything and |listening today, |'m

gl ad you're keeping this hearing open because
what's happened nowis | feel |ike | have even
nore questions than answers than | did before and
so -- and all the questions that you asked were
just so relevant and | just think asked in a
manner that |ooks |like you're trying to protect
our comunity - both communities, actually - and

| want to be -- because | was working, | wanted,
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you know, to be able to have an opportunity to
actually replay this entire session and then |
hope to be able to submt sone comments to you in
witing because as soon as | hang up here, I'm
going to think of the five other things | really
wanted you all to know and consider, and | thank
you for your time. | know | went over. |
appreciate it.

THE HEARI NG OFFICER: Al right, thank you
Thank you very nuch. | will go ahead and ask you
to renmute yourself, M. Cece.

Ms. Capozzi, the second person?

M5. CAPQZZI: | think it's Richard
Mai ber ger.

THE HEARI NG OFFICER: Al right, M.

Mai berger, if you could, go ahead and unnute
yoursel f and turn your canera on and then state
your name and address for the record, please.

MR. MAIBERGER Hi, ny nane is Richard
Mai berger and | ama retired psychiatrist.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER: (Okay, go ahead with
your statenent.

MR. MAI BERGER: | was a director of
I npatient psychiatry at Norwal k Hospital from --

for nost of nmy career. | was chairman of the
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departnent from 2003 to 2007.

| would like to, first of all, support the
expansi on of outpatient services that is
anticipated as a terrific idea for our patients.

| want to say that the closure of the
psychiatric unit, currently called CP-3 is a
great loss to our conmunity. | agree wth what
Di ane said, as there's been very little publicity
about the closure of the unit. There's been
publicity about the expansion of both outpatient
services. |'m opposed for many reasons, but
we -- the distance, | think, that it would
require to get to Danbury Hospital for patients,
for their |loved ones, and for their |oved one's
participation in therapeutic activities is great
and would, | think, inhibit care.

Thi s says not hing about the fact that, very
often, our patients are waiting in the energency
departnent for transfer to another facility,
whet her it be Danbury or otherw se, and even
t hough they're inproving the conditions there,
there still is tinme alone, usually on constant
observation with a sitter, and it's 24 hours a
day and four walls, and even with the addition of

behavi oral therapists, | don't think that that is
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anywhere near as ideal, to be honest with you, on
the inpatient unit, and -- given the nore
I ntensi ve care.

The -- they tal ked about the addition of
tel epsychiatry and | think tel epsychiatry has
been terrific and is a conveni ence, but it does
not measure up to one-to-one personal care.

As far as, you know, the idea of
Connect-to-Care that was nentioned, | think that
Is extrenely inportant as one of the nost
I nportant things that happens on the inpatient
unit, is that patients cone in and becone exposed
to and becone aware of the possibility of
continuing their care as outpatients, which is so
cruci al because so many of them-- so many of the
patients have denial and resistance to getting
further care. At that tine in CP-3, particularly
in those early days, are so inportant to achieve
t hat .

Al so, in making those outpatient plans,
they need to connect with people. W had people
that woul d cone that were case nmanagers, there
wer e peopl e who woul d provi de social support,
peopl e that could provide support of housing,

case managenent. Al of that was so crucial and
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t hose people would conme to the unit and neet with
patients and that was very useful.

Let me just nmake a few comments of things
that | heard this norning.

I npatient treatnent, as | just said, is far
superior on one-to-one interaction in a bay in
t he energency depart nment.

The other thing that's so crucial is that
the patients need to want to pursue care and they
often don't cone to the -- they don't cone into
the outpatient clinic |ooking for care. They are
in crisis and they cone to the energency
departnent because they're in crisis and that's
when they -- you know, they have the opportunity
to begin -- begin to get care, not everybody, but
a lot of patients cone that way.

They nentioned the patients that want to go
to Silver HIl or St. Vincent's in Wstport or
Yale, and that's true, and people want to nake
that choice, but it's usually the nore affl uent
anong us that want to nake that choice. You
know, people would conme to CP-3 sonetines that
were affluent and they would | eave. They would
want to | eave and go to Silver HlIl, not because,

| think, the unit was tired, and -- but because
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they were exposed to patients that nade them very
unconfortable, and | think that's why they woul d
want to | eave nore than -- nore than the physical
surroundi ngs.

Al so, patients are admtted to the inpatient
unit fromoutpatient services. Qur outpatient
services at Norwal k Hospital, they just do not --
the condition deteriorated and they needed to
cone in as inpatients. So, even though we are
providing nore outpatient services, it doesn't
precl ude them from bei ng rehospitalized.

Adol escent care has always been limted and
a lot of that has to do with the fact that it was
very difficult to -- to find a child psychiatri st
that woul d work at the conmmunity level. They
generally wanted to work in the nmental service or
at a specific child psychiatry clinic or a
hospital or adol escent clinic (unintelligible).

There was a comment about groups. | just
want to say that groups are wonderful, but not
because they're cheap. There's a trenendous
anount of care provided in groups. It's
terrific.

My experience was that discharge fromthe

ener gency departnent was based not so rmuch on
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whet her there was an outpatient slot avail abl e,
but based on safety, whether they consider it's
safe to leave. It wasn't so nuch as we were
waiting for an outpatient slot.

Most of our patients were referred that we
had during the tine that I was there working with
peopl e who had chronic ill nesses or suffered
dysphoric rel ati onships, were feeling
sel f-destructive, or had acute psychotic
i1l nesses and needed to be hospitalized for those
reasons. Then, when we wanted to di scharge them
we always had the issue of where would they woul d
go, and there are very few nental health workers,
psychiatrists, psychol ogists, social workers in
the community who woul d take insurance. They
usual ly worked for the service. W depended on
our outpatient clinic to pick up these patients,
and we took care of patients of all degrees of
severity.

| was -- | was encouraged to hear that --
about the residency program which | heard about
before, and | would think that, in the future,
particularly if the -- if they continue the
I npatient service, they would be able to staff a

|l ot of that inpatient service with -- with those
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psychiatric residents that are com ng through
this new program

Unfortunately, when they announced that they
were closing the inpatient unit about a year ago,
| would say probably half the staff left, you
know, because they were concerned about their
jobs, so then that didn't help.

The census was lowered from-- it was
runni ng at about thirteen and it was |owered to
seven because of the staffing issues after that
occur ed.

There were a lots of references to finances
and the cost of a newunit. | would hope that --
that if the unit closed, that that savings would
be put towards the psychiatric care and well
beyond probably what the cost of what the new
out patient services woul d be.

So | guess what | want to say is it's a
loss. It would be a loss to our comunity of
Norwal k. It would be a | oss to our community of
psychiatric patients, many of whom are poor and
di sabl ed by their psychiatric illness. |
encourage you not to allow the term nation of
these services and not to take away their and our

psychiatric unit, which has been serving the
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Norwal k Community for so |ong.

Thank you.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER: Al right, thank you
Dr. Muiberger. You can go ahead and renute
yourself and turn off your canera, if you would
l'i ke.

At this point, I'mgoing to go ahead and go
over the late files and then we'll nove on to
cl osing argunents and statenents fromthe
Appl i cant's attorney.

Steve, would you |like to read a list of the
docunents submtted for late file?

MR. LAZARUS: Yes, give ne one second.

So | have -- ny notes, two itens for |ate
file. The first one is the cost analysis and
for -- that was strictly cited for Pages 583 and
584, so we're going to conpare the costs related
to the 35 percent of what we had di scussed.

Along with that, the second late file | have
is the information to the provided on the
Community Care Teans. W're |ooking for what is
it, what's its make-up, its m ssion, that type of
i nformation, every detail that you can provide on
that woul d be appreciated, but those are the two

|ate files | have |i sted.
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THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:. kay, thank you very
much, M. Lazarus.

I"'mgoing to issue an order that those itens
listed by OHS staff -- I'mordering that those be
produced as late files by the Applicant and that
they -- Attorney Jensen, what would be an
acceptable tinme to get those in? | know we're
comng up to holidays, so | want to give you sone
tine.

ATTORNEY JENSEN: Would the end of the first
week of January be accept abl e?

THE HEARI NG OFFICER:.  That's fine, as well.
That should give you enough tine to also get in
by that date any replies to any -- any public
comments that were filed in the seven days.

ATTORNEY JENSEN: Understood. That's
January 6th, thank you.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Yeah, sorry, | was
| ooking at the wong calendar. The 7th was
| ast -- was |ast year, but yes, January 6th is
Friday, so we'll go with that date.

ATTORNEY JENSEN:. Ckay, thank you.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:.  Ckay, and I'mgoing to
have Ms. Rival, if you could, nenorialize that

order in a letter, thank you very mnuch.
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At this point, we'll go ahead and nove to
cl osing argunents or a statenent fromthe
Applicant's attorney.

Attorney Jensen, if you would like to make a
cl osing statenment or respond to any of the
remar ks?

ATTORNEY JENSEN:. Yes, thank you, Hearing
O ficer Novi and OHS staff. W appreciate the
time today. W appreciate the public coments
that you were submtted.

The testinony today and the evidence
submtted establishes three facts: No. 1, the
standard for providing quality behavi oral
heal t hcare has evolved and there is a conpelling
public need to provide specialized care to
adol escents an adults in the community.

No. 2, the current behavioral healthcare
offerings in the service area around Norwal k are
not equi pped to neet this public need.

Currently, many of the |ocal outpatient providers
are largely unwilling to accept insurance and
those that do have significant wait tines to see
patients, |eaving nost of the vulnerable -- the
nost vul nerabl e untreated. |Instead, energency

departnents have been forced to shoulder this
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burden, which creates backl ogs and i nconsi stent
access to care for patients in true energencies.

No. 3, Norwal k Hospital's inpatient
psychiatric unit is understaffed and
underutilized and is not positioned to address
this conpelling public need, particularly with
respect to adol escents.

M. Lazarus earlier asked a key question:
Has Norwal k Hospi tal considered expandi ng
outpatient services in the way that we descri bed
and al so just keeping the inpatient unit? The
answer is that maintaining that unit inits
current formis not sufficient and does not
address this crisis involving adol escents. As we
di scussed, the inpatient unit currently does not
-- is not licensed to treat adol escents.

Further, it requires mllions of dollars in
renovations even just to maintain the status quo.
Now, in |ight of those facts, Norwal k
Hospital faces a critical decision. Does it pour
nmoney into maintaining that said status quo or
does it evolve its behaviorial healthcare nodel

to neet this public need.
Through this application process, Norwal k

Hospital has laid out a three-pronged approach
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for evolving its behaviorial healthcare services
consi sting of outpatient prograns, including ones
focused on specialized patient populations I|ike
adol escents or individuals with dual diagnoses;
Two, enhancing the capabilities of its energency
departnment the effectively manage patients
presenting in crisis due to behavioral health
conditions, and three, relocating patients that
require hospitalization to the patients in the
nost severe need of treatnent to Danbury
Hospital, where a planned center of excellence is
going to be constructed. This plan provides
better care to patients at a | ower cost.
Further, when paired with Nuvance Health's
residency program it presents a trenendous
opportunity to address the shortage of qualified
nmental health professionals in the area.

| want to briefly go through the different
statutory criteria that OHS considers in
review ng any application under the certificate
of need statute. First is the proposal
consistent wwth the Statew de Heal t hcare
Facilities and Services Plan? Here, the answer
Is yes, in that it seeks to expand access to

| oner-cost outpatient services for all comunity
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nmenbers. |t increases early intervention
treatnment to reduce the incidents of
hi gher-acuity psychiatric incidents and
deconpensation. It |owers the cost of care by
reduci ng hi gher-cost inpatient stays, via
preventative and early intervention efforts in
the outpatient setting and by better managi ng
enmergency and crisis situations in the energency
departnent, and finally, it avoids the
duplication of services by relocating
underutilized inpatient services to Danbury
Hospital, all consider -- all consistent with the
Statewi de Healthcare Facilities and Services
Pl an.

Subsection 3 of the statute, whether there's
a clear public need for the services proposed by
the Applicant. Now, here, because this is
actually a proposed expansi on of services and not
a nere termnation, the factor is satisfied.
There is a clear public need for the expanded
servi ces proposed due to the i nadequate access to
out patient services present in the comunity. As
Wi t nesses today have testified, Norwalk is a
federal |l y-recogni zed HPSA nental health shortage

region and this proposal addresses that need
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t hrough the creation of Intensive Qutpatient
Progranms, 1OPs, that will accept patients
regardl ess of their ability to pay.

Next, the proposal has a positive inpact on
the financial strength of the healthcare system
inthis state in that the proposal is designed to
| oner the cost of healthcare by providing earlier
interventions to limt crisis conditions.

The proposal is also financially-feasible
for the hospital, itself, as Norwalk is stenm ng
ongoi ng operating | osses, and nore inportantly,
avoi ding significant capital expenditures
necessary to renovate an underutilized facility
wi th declining demand.

The proposal will inprove quality
accessibility and cost-effectiveness of
heal t hcare delivery by shifting away from
hi gh-cost crisis interventions in the ED and
I npatient settings and extend care in outpatient
centers in the community at a | ower cost.

Subsection 5 five of the statute, whether
the proposal will provide quality accessibility
and cost-effectiveness of healthcare delivery in
the area, including for Medicaid recipients and

I ndi gent persons. That principle is at the core

132




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

of this proposal, an approach being advocated for
by Norwal k Hospital, but I'll take those one at a
tinme.

First, quality, the proposal inproves
quality of care throughout this spectrum of
behavi ori al heal thcare through the devel opnent of
| nt ensi ve Qut patient Prograns focused on treating
speci al i zed patient popul ations |i ke adol escents,
as mentioned. It nmakes care nore accessible and
reduces stignmatization frominpatient adm ssion
in an institutional hospital setting.

Now, as Dr. Murphy testified, these prograns
can teach people to swm not just to save them
fromdrowning. That's better care and that's
what we're they're trying to achi eve here.

Next, enhancenents to the energency
departnents will provide i nmedi ate benefits to
patients in crisis and the exi stence of these
| OPs that | just discussed provide a nuch-needed
mechanismto safely discharge patients fromthe
enmer gency departnents.

I npatient quality wll inprove, as well, as
t he pl anned renovations at Danbury Hospital's
I npatient psychiatric unit is going to be

devel oped as a nodern center of excell ence.
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Next, accessibility, this proposal inproves
accessibility by providing care in the
comruni ties where patients live. On patients
requiring inpatient adm ssion, they can be
admtted directly to Danbury Hospital and
transported wi thout cost to the patient.

Cost-effectiveness, as discussed, providing
outpatient care in the community as a | ower
acuity and a | ower cost point benefits both
pati ents and payers.

Subsection 6 of the statute gets to the
Appl i cant's past and proposed provision of
heal t hcare services to the rel evant patient
popul ati ons, and the pair are m xed, again,

i ncl udi ng access by Medicaid recipients and
I ndi gent persons.

As di scussed, Norwal k Hospital has
historically served a | arge popul ati on of nedi cal
and i ndi gent persons and the proposal to expand
out patient services expressly commts the
hospital to continuing to provide those services
to all persons, regardless of their ability to
pay.

Next, Norwal k Hospital has identified the

popul ation that will benefit fromthe proposed
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expansi on of services and denonstrated the need
for those services anong the Norwal k popul ati on.

Next, the inpatient -- getting to the
utilization rate, which we discussed, the
I npatient psychiatric unit has been underutilized
for years in Norwal k Hospital and the avail able
data indicates that this trend will only continue
goi ng forward.

By relocating inpatient services to Danbury
Hospital, Norwal k is also avoiding duplication of
servi ces.

And finally, Section 10 of the statute | ooks
for an explanation for reduced access to services
for Medicaid persons, Medicaid recipients, or
I ndi gent persons. As discussed here, there is no
reduction in services to Medicaid recipients or
I ndi gent persons. Those services are actually
goi ng to be expanded.

So, to conclude, the goal of this proposal
Is to provide the right care to patients in the
right place. A systemthat relies on the
energency departnent and inpatient adm ssions to
psychiatric units is not sustainable and is not
consistent with evol ved standards of behaviori al

heal thcare. Norwal k Hospital's plan is a result
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of a careful analysis and is calibrated to
maxi m ze avail abl e resources to provide the

hi ghest quality of care to the people that need
It the nost.

The proposal has the support of the
community for a reason because it best serves the
community. For these reasons, Norwal k Hospital
respectfully submts that a certificate of need
application should be approved.

Thank you all for your tine.

THE HEARI NG OFFICER: Al right, thank you
Att orney Jensen.

Il would like to thank everybody who attended

this hearing today. This hearing -- it is now
3:35 p.m and | will be adjourning this hearing,
but the record will remain open until closed by

OHS after receiving all of the late file exhibits
fromthe Applicant, which, again, you have a --

t hose are due by January 6th, the cl ose of

busi ness.

Again, | would like to thank everybody for
hel ping today and for staying for the entire
hearing. This hearing is now closed -- or sorry,
the portion of this hearing is now cl osed and |

wll close the record once all of our -- once al
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of our exhibits are returned.

Thank you, everybody, for attending and have
a nice day. Good night.

ATTORNEY JENSEN:. Thank you.

(Concl uded.)

137




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

CERTI FI CATE

| hereby certify that the foregoing 138 pages
are a conplete and accurate transcription to the

best of ny ability of the Hearing in the matter of

Docket No. 20-32515-CON hel d on Decenber 14th, 2022.

L

Melissa Zanfir, Transcri ber

Dat e: March 29t h, 2023

138




	Original ASCII
	AMICUS file


�0001

                     .

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

                               HEARING IN THE MATTER OF

     

                               DOCKET NO. 20-32515-CON

     

                                   NORWALK HOSPITAL

     

                                       HELD ON

     

                                 DECEMBER 14TH, 2022

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

�0002

 01                 THE HEARING OFFICER.  All right, hello, as

 02            everybody was just informed, we are now going to

 03            begin this hearing.  It is now 2:00 a.m..  My

 04            name is Hearing Officer Novi.  Good morning,

 05            everybody.

 06                 The Norwalk Hospital Association d/b/a

 07            Norwalk Hospital, the Applicants in this matter,

 08            seek a certificate of need for the termination of

 09            inpatient psychiatric unit services to

 10            Connecticut General Statutes 19A-638(a)5.

 11            Specifically, Norwalk Hospital proposes to

 12            terminate inpatient psychiatric unit services.

 13                 Throughout this proceeding, I will be

 14            interchangeably referring to Norwalk Hospital

 15            Association as Norwalk Hospital for brevity

 16            purposes.

 17                 Today is December 14th, 2022.  My name is

 18            Alicia Novi.  Kimberly Martone, the executive

 19            director of OHS designated me to serve as as

 20            hearing officer for this matter, to rule on all

 21            motions and recommend findings of fact and

 22            conclusions of law upon completion of the

 23            hearing.

 24                 Section 149 of the Public Act No. 21-2, as

 25            amended by Public Act No. 22-3, authorizes an
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 01            agency to hold a public hearing by means of

 02            electronic equipment.  In accordance with this

 03            legislation, any person who participates orally

 04            in an electronic meeting shall make a good-faith

 05            effort to state your name and title at the onset

 06            of each occasion, that such person participates

 07            orally during the uninterrupted dialogue or

 08            series of questions and answers.

 09                 We will ask all members of the public to

 10            mute the device that they are using to access the

 11            hearing and silence any additional devices that

 12            are around them.

 13                 This public hearing is held pursuant to

 14            Connecticut General Statutes Section 19A-639(a)2

 15            of the General Statutes and provides that HSP may

 16            hold a public hearing with respect to CON

 17            application submitted under Chapter 368Z,

 18            although this will be a -- although this being a

 19            discretionary hearing that is not governed by

 20            contested case provisions found under Chapter 54

 21            of the General Statutes, also known as the

 22            Connecticut Administrative Procedure Act or UAPA,

 23            and the regulations of the Connecticut agencies

 24            are Sections 19A9 through 24, and the matter in

 25            which OHS will conduct these hearings will be
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 01            guided by these statutes and regulations.

 02                 The Office of Health Strategy staff is here

 03            to assist me in gathering facts related to this

 04            application and will be asking the Applicant

 05            witnesses questions.  I'm going to ask each staff

 06            person assisting with questions today to identify

 07            themselves with their name, spelling of their

 08            last name, and OHS title.

 09                 At this point, we'll start with Mr. Lazarus.

 10                 MR. LAZARUS:  Good morning, Steven Lazarus.

 11            I'm the supervisor of the certificate of need

 12            program, and my last name is spelled

 13            L-a-z-a-r-u-s.

 14                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.

 15                 MS. RIVAL:   Jessica Rival, last name is

 16            spelled R-i-v, as in Victor, a-l, and I'm a

 17            healthcare analyst.

 18                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, also

 19            present is Maya Capozzi, staff member for our

 20            agency, who is assisting with the hearing

 21            logistics and will gather the names for public

 22            comment.

 23                 The certificate of need process is a

 24            regulatory process, and as such, the highest

 25            level of respect will be accorded to the
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 01            Applicant, members of the public, and our staff.

 02            Our priority is the integrity and transparency of

 03            the process.  Accordingly, decorum will be

 04            maintained by all present during these

 05            proceedings.

 06                 This hearing will be transcribed and

 07            recorded and the video will be made available on

 08            the OHS Website and its YouTube account.

 09                 All documents related to this hearing that

 10            have been or will be submitted to the Office of

 11            Health Strategy are available for review through

 12            our certificate of need or CON portal, which is

 13            accessible on the Office of Health Strategy's CON

 14            web page.

 15                 In making my decision, I will consider and

 16            make written findings in accordance with Section

 17            19A-639 of the Connecticut General Statutes.

 18                 Lastly, as Zoom informed us prior to the

 19            start of this meeting, sorry, I wish to point out

 20            that by appearing on camera in this virtual

 21            hearing, you are consenting to being filmed.  If

 22            you wish to revoke your request, please, do so at

 23            this time.

 24                 Okay, so we'll move on from there.

 25                 The CON portal contains the prehearing table
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 01            of record of this case.  At the time of its

 02            filing on Tuesday, exhibits were identified in

 03            the table from A to N.

 04                 The Applicant is here by notice and I'll

 05            take administrative notice of the following

 06            documents:  The Statewide Healthcare Facilities

 07            and Services Plan, The Facility and Services

 08            Inventory, OHS Acute-care hospital discharge

 09            database, and the all-payer claims data --

 10            all-player claims database claims data.

 11                 I may also take administrative notice of the

 12            hospital reporting system, HRS, financial and

 13            utilization data, and also prior OHS decisions,

 14            agreed settlements, and determinations that may

 15            be relevant to this matter.

 16                 Will the Counsel for the Applicants, please,

 17            identify yourself for the -- please, unmute

 18            yourself and then identify yourself for the

 19            record?

 20                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Good morning, Hearing

 21            Officer Novi.  My name is Ben Jensen,

 22            J-e-n-s-e-n, from Robinson & Cole representing

 23            the Applicant, Norwalk Hospital.

 24                 With me, also, is Attorney Lisa Boyle and

 25            Conor Duffy.
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 01                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay, Attorney Jensen,

 02            will you taking -- will I be directing all

 03            questions to you?

 04                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Yes, please.

 05                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, thank you.

 06                 All right, in addition to the exhibits

 07            listed in the table of record, a public comment

 08            found may be added and updated from time to time.

 09                 Attorney Jensen, do you have any additional

 10            exhibits you wish to enter at this time?

 11                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Not at this time, thank

 12            you.

 13                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, we'll

 14            proceed in the order established in the agenda

 15            for today's hearing.

 16                  I would like to advise the Applicants that

 17            we may ask questions related to your application

 18            that you feel have already been addressed.  We

 19            will do this for the purpose of ensuring that the

 20            public has knowledge of your proposal and for the

 21            purpose of clarification.  I want to reassure you

 22            that we have reviewed your application, the

 23            completeness responses and the prefiled

 24            testimony, and I will do so again many times

 25            before issuing a decision.
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 01                 As this hearing is being held virtually, we

 02            ask that all participants, to the extent

 03            possible, should enable the use of video cameras

 04            when testifying or commenting during proceedings.

 05            All participants should mute their devices and

 06            disable their cameras when we go off record or

 07            take a break.

 08                 Please, be advised that, although we try to

 09            shut off the recording -- the hearing recording

 10            during breaks, it may continue.  If the recording

 11            is on, any audio or video not disabled will be

 12            accessible to all participants in the hearing.

 13                 Public comment taken during the hearing will

 14            likely go in order established by OHS during

 15            during the regulation registration process.

 16            However, I may allow public officials to testify

 17            out of order.  I or OHS staff will call each

 18            individual by name when it is his or her time to

 19            speak.  Registration for public comment will take

 20            place at 2:00 p.m. and is scheduled to start at

 21            3:00 p.m..  If the technical portion of this

 22            hearing has not been completed by 3:00 p.m.,

 23            public comment may be postponed until the

 24            technical portion is complete.

 25                 The Applicant's witnesses must be available
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 01            after public comment as OHS may have follow-up

 02            questions after public comment.

 03                 All right, so, with this portion, we will go

 04            to the Applicant.

 05                 Attorney Jensen, would you like to make an

 06            opening statement?

 07                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  I would, but briefly,

 08            before, Hearing Officer Novi, there are two quick

 09            issues I wanted to address, housekeeping items.

 10                 One, in the table of record, I believe

 11            Exhibit N, refers to Applicant's response to

 12            prefile and issues.  That was actually submitted

 13            on December 8th, 2022, which was our deadline.

 14            It's listed as December 9th in the table of

 15            record.  Just for the record, I want to make sure

 16            that was clear, that that was timely submitted on

 17            December 8th.

 18                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay, I do note that I

 19            did receive a copy on December 8th.  I believe

 20            that was when the -- let me just ask Ms. Rival:

 21            Did you check to make sure it was uploaded on the

 22            9th.

 23                 MS. RIVAL:  No, I did not.

 24                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay, all right, we

 25            will adjust the date on Exhibit N so that it

�0010

 01            reads the 8th.

 02                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you.

 03                 The only other item I wanted to address, it

 04            sounds like, from your introduction, that the

 05            public comment sign-up will begin at 2:00 and the

 06            public comment will begin at 3:00.  I think one

 07            of the notices references a 1:00 sign-up and a

 08            2:00 public comment, so I just wanted

 09            confirmation on that.

 10                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  It will be 2:00 and

 11            3:00.  I believe -- I'm looking at the hearing

 12            agenda that I issued yesterday and it does have

 13            comment public sign-ups starting ago 2:00 p.m.

 14            and public comment at 3:00 p.m., so we will go by

 15            the agenda that came out yesterday.

 16                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you.

 17                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay, with that, would

 18            you like to go into your opening statement?

 19                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Yes, please, and good

 20            morning, Hearing Officer Novi and members of the

 21            OHS staff.  On behalf of Norwalk Hospital, thank

 22            you for the opportunity to present today in

 23            support of the hospital's CON application.

 24                 This application is about Norwalk Hospital's

 25            and its parent, Nuvance Health's, overall goal
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 01            for evolving its behavioral healthcare model to

 02            increase access to much-needed outpatient care

 03            for community members in the service area.

 04                 While technically designated as a

 05            termination of its inpatient psychiatric unit,

 06            this application is really about expanding, not

 07            limiting the available behavioral healthcare

 08            options to those patients.

 09                 Today, we intend to present testimony from

 10            four witnesses who will explain in greater detail

 11            the hospital's assessment of its historical and

 12            current model for delivery of behavioral

 13            healthcare and the hospital's plan to reallocate

 14            resources from underutilized inpatient services

 15            in order to increase access for community members

 16            in outpatient settings.

 17                 Dr. John Murphy president of Nuvance Health,

 18            will testify from a system-wide perspective about

 19            the opportunity that Nuvance sees to reinvest in

 20            the community and expand its outpatient

 21            behavioral care offerings.

 22                 Dr, Murphy will also share Nuvance's plan

 23            for developing a modern center of excellence for

 24            inpatient psychiatric care at Danbury Hospital

 25            that will ensure that patients in the need of
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 01            hospitalization will continue to have access to

 02            top-quality resources.

 03                 Peter Cordeau, president of Norwalk

 04            Hospital, will then testify about the hospital,

 05            itself, and its role in the community.  In

 06            particular, Mr. Cordeau's testimony will address

 07            the growing demand for outpatient behavioral

 08            health treatment and how the current offerings in

 09            Fairfield County are often limited to only those

 10            able and willing to pay in cash, thus depriving a

 11            significant portion of the service area for

 12            much-needed treatment.

 13                 Mr. Cordeau will further testify concerning

 14            the existing status of Norwalk Hospital's

 15            inpatient psychiatric unit, which has been

 16            underutilized and understaffed for years.  Those

 17            issues cannot be remedied without significant

 18            capital improvements that would affect Norwalk

 19            Hospital's ability to invest in other programs

 20            that would provide greater access to care and

 21            value to the community.

 22                 Next, Dr. Charles Herrick will tell you

 23            about Norwalk Hospital's assessment of its

 24            historical and current model for delivery of

 25            behavioral healthcare and its determination that

�0013

 01            a new approach is needed to meet the public need

 02            for outpatient behavioral health services.  He

 03            will also explain the various projects underway

 04            at the hospital to address those concerns,

 05            including the development of Intensive Outpatient

 06            Services, or IOPs, focused on specialized patient

 07            populations as well as plan enhancements to the

 08            Norwalk Hospital Emergency Department, including

 09            specialized bays for treatment of patients

 10            presenting in crisis.

 11                 Finally, you will hear from Stephen Merz, a

 12            healthcare adviser, that has worked with Norwalk

 13            Hospital and Nuvance Health to develop its

 14            long-term strategic plan around behavioral

 15            services.  Mr. Merz will address from an industry

 16            perspective how the standard of care for health

 17            systems providing behavioral healthcare has

 18            evolved and how historical practices of relying

 19            on inpatient hospitalization and treatment in the

 20            emergency department, leading to suboptimal care

 21            and higher costs.

 22                 The testimony from these witnesses and the

 23            factual evidence presented with the application

 24            demonstrates that Norwalk Hospital's application

 25            is driven by an increasing patient access to
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 01            quality behavioral healthcare and is entirely

 02            consistent with OHS's mission.  After this

 03            evidence is fully submitted and our witness --

 04            and our witnesses address any questions OHS staff

 05            may have, we respectfully submit that OHS's

 06            statutory criteria have been met and the

 07            application should be granted.

 08                 Thank you.

 09                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, thank you,

 10            Attorney Jensen.

 11                 At this point, would you, please, identify

 12            all individuals by name and title who are going

 13            to -- I know you did that in your opening, but

 14            will you do that again?  Will you identify all

 15            individuals by name and title who are going to

 16            testify on behalf of the application, and if they

 17            are not in the office or in the room with you, if

 18            you could have them turn on their cameras and

 19            unmute themselves.

 20                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Sure.  All four are here

 21            in the room with me.  I'll have to allow them to

 22            take my seat.  Do you want each one to come up as

 23            I introduce them or should I do introductions for

 24            all four?

 25                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  You could do

�0015

 01            introductions.  You could just state their names

 02            and then they can come up and state their name

 03            and title, as well, while I swear them in.

 04                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Okay, the first witness is

 05            Dr. John Murphy, president and chief executive

 06            officer of of Nuvance Health.

 07                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Oh, I -- I'm sorry,

 08            Attorney Jensen, do you want to just state their

 09            names first and then I'll have them each come up?

 10            We'll just make it easier for you.  I do

 11            apologize.

 12                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  No problem.

 13                 After Dr. Murphy, the next witness is Peter

 14            Cordeau, president of Norwalk Hospital.

 15                 Next will be Dr. Charles Herrick, chair of

 16            the department of psychiatry at Nuvance Health.

 17                 Finally, Stephen Merz, chief operating

 18            officer of Shepherd Prep Solutions.  He has also

 19            advised Nuvance Health on long-term strategy

 20            around delivery of behaviorial healthcare

 21            services.

 22                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, thank you.

 23            If you want to go ahead and exit the camera,

 24            we'll have Dr. John Murphy come and state his

 25            name.  I will swear him in.
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 01                 DR. MURPHY:  Good morning.

 02                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Good morning,

 03            Dr. Murphy.  If you could, please, raise your

 04            right hand so I could swear you in?

 05                 Actually, if you will just state your name

 06            for the record so that we know you are who you

 07            say you are.

 08                 DR. MURPHY:  Yeah, my name is John Murphy.

 09                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, do you

 10            solemnly swear or solemnly and sincerely affirm,

 11            as the case may be, that the testimony you are

 12            about to provide will be the truth, the whole

 13            truth, and nothing but the truth, so help you god

 14            or upon penalty of perjury?

 15                 DR. MURPHY:  I do.

 16                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you.

 17                 Okay, go ahead, I will have the next person

 18            come in.

 19                 Hello, if you could, state name for the

 20            record, please.

 21                 MR. CORDEAU:  Yes, my name is Peter Cordeau.

 22            I am president of Norwalk Hospital.

 23                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you.

 24                 Do you solemnly swear or solemnly and

 25            sincerely affirm, as the case may be, that the
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 01            testimony you are about to provide will be the

 02            truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the

 03            truth, so help you god or upon penalty of

 04            perjury?

 05                 MR. CORDEAU:  I do.

 06                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you.  All right.

 07                 DR. HERRICK:  Good morning, Charles Herrick,

 08            chair of Nuvance Health Psychiatry.

 09                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, if you

 10            could, please, raise your right hand so I can

 11            administer the oath?

 12                 Do you solemnly swear or solemnly and

 13            sincerely affirm, as the case may be, that the

 14            testimony you are about to provide will be the

 15            truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the

 16            truth, so help you god or upon penalty of

 17            perjury?

 18                 DR. HERRICK:  I do.

 19                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you.

 20                 And we'll go to the last one.

 21                 MR. MERZ:  Good morning, my name is Stephen

 22            Merz, chief operating officer of Shepherd Prep

 23            Solutions and advisor to Nuvance Health.

 24                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, if you

 25            could, please, raise your right hand so I can
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 01            administer the oath?

 02                 Do you solemnly swear or solemnly and

 03            sincerely affirm, as the case may be, that the

 04            testimony you are about to provide will be the

 05            truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the

 06            truth, so help you god or upon penalty of

 07            perjury?

 08                 MR. MERZ:  I do.

 09                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you.

 10                 All right, now that we have everybody sworn

 11            in, I would like to remind all witnesses that

 12            when you give your testimony, please, make sure

 13            to state your full name and adopt any written

 14            testimony that you have submitted on record prior

 15            to testifying.

 16                 The Applicants may now proceed with their

 17            testimony.  I'll ask that all witnesses define

 18            any acronyms for the benefit of the public and

 19            clarity of the record that they use, okay?

 20                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you.

 21                 We first call Dr. John Murphy.

 22                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Good morning,

 23            Dr. Murphy.

 24                 DR. MURPHY:  Good morning, Hearing Officer

 25            Novi and the staff of the Office of Health
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 01            Strategy.  Thank you very much for the

 02            opportunity to testify today.  My name is John

 03            Murphy, again, J-o-h-n, M-u-r-p-h-y.  I'm the

 04            president and chief executive officer of Nuvance

 05            Health and of the Applicant in this matter,

 06            Norwalk Hospital.  I'm also a licensed physician.

 07            I'm board-certified by the American Board of

 08            Psychiatry and Neurology.

 09                 I think my training is relevant in this

 10            matter given that, as part of my training, I did

 11            significant clinical rotation in psychiatry and

 12            had to pass an exam, a written examination of

 13            that for my boards.

 14                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you, Dr. Murphy,

 15            can I interrupt for a quick second?  Do you adopt

 16            your previously-submitted testimony?

 17                 DR. MURPHY:  Yes, I do adopt my prefile

 18            testimony.

 19                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you.  Go ahead.

 20                 DR. MURPHY:  Sure.

 21                 Essentially, what I would like to do is

 22            describe for you and your staff the vision that

 23            the organization has as it relates to behavioral

 24            health.  I don't think it's a surprise to anyone

 25            that the need for behavioral health services has
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 01            groan exponentially over the past couple of years

 02            and I think the pandemic has certainly

 03            intensified that, and we feel it's incumbent upon

 04            us to offer an integrated system of care that

 05            provides a greater emphasis on outpatient access

 06            and outpatient strategies as opposed to the

 07            current focus, which I think is more tilted

 08            towards provision of inpatient care.

 09                 Ultimately, I think that the vision that

 10            we're proposing here and this particular

 11            application does promote improved access.  I do

 12            firmly believe that it will improve the quality

 13            of care that we provide in that it will provide

 14            closer to the onset of the issues, and

 15            ultimately, it will provide that care in an

 16            environment of lower cost.

 17                 Here at Norwalk Hospital, and I think this

 18            is true about many inpatient units, the unit,

 19            itself, is tired, it's outdated, it's

 20            underutilized.  In addition to that, if you were

 21            to walk through this emergency department, or

 22            most emergency departments, they're packed, and

 23            they are often packed with patients who do have

 24            behaviorial health issues.  Some, actually, don't

 25            belong in the ED, but because outpatient access
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 01            is so limited, they don't know where else to go.

 02                 So, typically, the ED can be overloaded, the

 03            length of stay is much longer than it could be,

 04            and it is -- it can be a chaotic environment and

 05            I think the model that we are proposing is really

 06            trying to address that in that we get patients

 07            the care that they need before they get to the ED

 08            or before they have to be admitted to the

 09            inpatient unit.

 10                 Oftentimes, I think those admissions are

 11            regrettable in that if care had been provided

 12            earlier, perhaps, they might have been avoided.

 13            So I firmly believe that this model will provide

 14            patients with care much earlier in the onset of

 15            whatever it may be, even if it's simply anxiety

 16            or depression or an addiction or suicidal

 17            ideations.  This model allows us to provide them

 18            care much sooner before they have to wait and get

 19            frustrated and ultimately go to the ED in crisis.

 20            We believe that if we can provide effective care

 21            in an outpatient environment by individuals who

 22            are particularly-specialized in the provision of

 23            outpatient care, again, the quality will be

 24            better, the cost will be less, and certainly,

 25            access will be greatly improved.
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 01                 So, in some respects, I realize that the

 02            official language in the application is a

 03            termination of services and I understand why we

 04            had to use that, but perhaps a more apt

 05            description is, honestly, it's a relocation of

 06            services.  We don't for a moment believe that

 07            inpatient care is unnecessary in this community,

 08            when, in fact, we believe that, you know, in --

 09            we're all where resources are finite.  We want to

 10            be as efficient as we can be in the application

 11            and utilization of those resources.  We think the

 12            consolidation of the inpatient environment is

 13            actually a smart strategy, and the money that is

 14            saved -- for instance, we -- if we were the

 15            modernize the inpatient unit here at Norwalk,

 16            that would cost us in the neighborhood of $18

 17            million.

 18                 We already have a plan to modernize and if

 19            this application is approved, expands the

 20            inpatient unit at Danbury.  We believe that, one,

 21            essentially, co-located unit in Danbury will

 22            provide actually better inpatient care to the

 23            residents of the Norwalk Community, while at the

 24            same time, the money that would otherwise have

 25            been spent on modernizing the inpatient unit will
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 01            be better spent by redirecting those funds to the

 02            outpatient services that we have described, and

 03            essentially, I think those dollars would be

 04            repurposed in a number of ways, the first of

 05            which is we need more providers of behavioral

 06            health services, not only licensed psychiatrists,

 07            but also other -- other therapists, other

 08            psychologists, other licensed clinical social

 09            workers, et cetera, and in addition, we believe

 10            that if we can design programs like the Intensive

 11            Outpatient Programs, the IOPs, which we have

 12            every intention of doing, particularly for those

 13            who have dual diagnoses, a mental health

 14            diagnosis as well as substance abuse, and

 15            adolescents, which are -- the need there has

 16            exploded, that we can actually provide better

 17            care in those programs in the outpatient

 18            environment, and as I said, doing it in a much

 19            more cost-effective, convenient, and private

 20            environment than in the middle of a chaotic

 21            emergency department.

 22                 And as you know, we don't have an adolescent

 23            unit here on the inpatient side.

 24                 So we believe that taking advantage of those

 25            finite resources and redeploying them in terms of
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 01            getting more providers, creating the IOPs, but in

 02            addition, we want to improve the ED experience

 03            and environment here at Norwalk for those

 04            patients who do, in fact, have a crisis.  Then,

 05            you know, you will spend a lot of time in crisis

 06            intervention situations and we believe that

 07            Norwalk ought to have secure, private treatment

 08            bays for patients with mental health needs who

 09            sometimes will be in the ED longer than somebody

 10            who's coming in with chest pain, of abdominal

 11            pain, and that we want them to be safe

 12            environments, and we will build units that are,

 13            in fact, safe and ligature-free, but also, that

 14            it offers a degree of privacy.  These patients

 15            are in crisis and we don't want them traipsing

 16            around the ED if they have to use the bathroom,

 17            and we have built that into the design of the

 18            programs.  We want to build, actually, six ED

 19            treatment bays for the adult and two for

 20            adolescents.

 21                 But then, importantly, in addition to the

 22            construction and provision of outpatient

 23            services, the modernization of the emergency

 24            department, we really do think that a larger,

 25            more contemporary, more aesthetically-pleasing
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 01            inpatient facility in Danbury is also -- will be

 02            a major asset for patients in the Norwalk

 03            Community who can be effectively and easily

 04            transferred, if necessary, up to the Danbury area

 05            that will be appropriately-staffed.  I think it's

 06            easier to staff one more than two units, and I

 07            think we will also be able to attract more

 08            specialized providers who actually want to

 09            provide inpatient care.

 10                 Then, lastly, I would like you to look at

 11            the proposal in the context of Nuvance Health as

 12            a system of care as opposed to this merely being

 13            an outpost standalone system for behaviorial

 14            healthcare services in the Norwalk community.

 15                 Nuvance Health has started a psychiatry

 16            residency program.  I think we take eight

 17            residents a year.  It started a couple of years

 18            ago.  The -- I think it's terrific.  I firmly

 19            believe that having residency programs does, in

 20            fact, improve the clinical care that we provide.

 21            It also certainly improves access, and we will

 22            have the third-year residents do rotations,

 23            again, if this is all approved in the outpatient

 24            environment down here.  I also think staff enjoys

 25            having residency programs and the turnover rates
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 01            will decrease.

 02                 The second component of the system of care

 03            that Nuvance Health provides here that I think is

 04            worth mentioning is the technology solutions that

 05            we can provide.  The pandemic has taught us, as

 06            you know, how to use telehealth much more

 07            effectively and some of the barriers that existed

 08            prior to the pandemic have now disappeared.

 09                 So we would very much want to apply fellow

 10            psychiatry solutions to this plan of care where

 11            we would allow a rapid and effective

 12            communications, not only from the outpatient

 13            environment to the ED, from the ED to the

 14            inpatient unit, but also from Norwalk to Danbury.

 15            So, if we think that the use and the

 16            sophistication of some of the technologies that

 17            we can apply will greatly enhance the program.

 18                 And then the last comment I would make is

 19            that, and I'm sure you all realize this, but the

 20            country needs solutions like this.  As I sit here

 21            on the tenth anniversary of the Sandy Hook

 22            tragedy, we know the cost that society bears by

 23            inadequate access to mental health services,

 24            particularly amongst young people.

 25                 The state and its policies certainly support
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 01            and underscore the need for these sorts of

 02            contemporary programs.  The federal government

 03            has recognized this.  As a matter of fact,

 04            Senator Blumenthal earmarked a couple of million

 05            dollars for the construction of these outpatient

 06            programs.

 07                 So I think this is the right program for

 08            today.  I think It's well-thought out and it will

 09            ultimately serve the community of Norwalk very

 10            well, and I would ask that you approve this

 11            application.

 12                 So thank you very much for your time.

 13                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, thank you

 14            very much, Dr. Murphy.

 15                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you, and next,

 16            you'll hear from Peter Cordeau, president of

 17            Norwalk Hospital.

 18                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you.

 19                 Hello, Mr. Cordeau.  If you could, please,

 20            state your name and state whether you accept

 21            your -- whether you adopt any written testimony

 22            that was previously submitted, and I just want to

 23            remind you that if you have any acronyms, to,

 24            please, define them for the benefit of everyone

 25            anyone listening in.
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 01                 MR. CORDEAU:  Peter Cordeau, C-o-r-d-e-a-u,

 02            and I adopt my prefile testimony.

 03                 Good morning, Hearing Officer Novi and the

 04            staff of the Office of Health Strategy.  Thank

 05            you for the opportunity to testify today.

 06                 As I stated, my name is Peter Cordeau and I

 07            am the president of Norwalk Hospital and the

 08            Applicant in this matter.  I've also been a

 09            registered nurse since 1987 and have served in a

 10            variety of roles throughout my career, including

 11            as a bedside nurse, a supervisor, a manager, a

 12            director, a chief nursing officer, and a

 13            president, and I would like to talk about the

 14            needs to modernize the provision of care here in

 15            Norwalk.

 16                 Norwalk Hospital is and will continue to be

 17            an essential provider of health services for the

 18            greater Norwalk Community.  However, we've

 19            historically focused behavioral healthcare

 20            efforts on delivering inpatient care and treating

 21            patients in crisis out of our emergency

 22            department.

 23                 As mentioned in our application, our unit

 24            census consistently is below the number of

 25            available beds.  However, we still see patients
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 01            stuck in our ED without safe treatment options

 02            for discharge into the community, which leads to

 03            more patients institutionalized, more reliance on

 04            facility care versus ambulatory care.

 05                 We've reviewed the specific needs and

 06            requests of our patient populations and

 07            determined that our historical approach is no

 08            longer the best way for the hospital to serve its

 09            community.  I am intimately involved in the

 10            community.  I sit on the board of the Chamber of

 11            Commerce.  I have quarterly meetings with the

 12            Norwalk Police Department who just actually hired

 13            a social worker to a bed within their PD.  I have

 14            bi-weekly meetings with the health department.  I

 15            have worked on creating a paid internship program

 16            with Norwalk Public Schools, the superintendent

 17            of schools, The Carver Center, Brien McMahon High

 18            School in order to give access to the underserved

 19            children in the Norwalk Community and provide a

 20            glimpse of what providing healthcare and what a

 21            hospital does.

 22                 I also work with the Norwalk Community

 23            Center, which is an FQHC, Federally-Qualified

 24            Health Clinic, that is right down the street in

 25            Norwalk, and our medical residents provide free
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 01            clinic care at the Norwalk Community Center, and

 02            we also have a pharmacy embedded in the Norwalk

 03            Community Center.

 04                 I work with Americares free clinics in

 05            Norwalk and also created a joint grant with the

 06            Norwalk Community College to provide continuing

 07            education for nurses who have received their

 08            associates degrees so they can receive a

 09            bachelors degree paid for by Norwalk Hospital and

 10            Norwalk Community College.

 11                 Our facility is aging.  It requires

 12            significant capital investment, as Dr. Murphy

 13            mentioned, resources that we believe can more

 14            effectively be deployed towards an expansion of

 15            access to services that greater meet the need of

 16            our community.

 17                 So I sit here today to propose to expand

 18            access to essential behaviorial health services

 19            bu focusing on patient in the community where

 20            they live versus in crisis in our ED.  This means

 21            expanding our programs and services, recruiting

 22            new outpatient providers, and establishing

 23            specialized outpatient programs while ensuring to

 24            continue access to inpatient care through our

 25            affiliate, Danbury Hospital, in a to-be-expanded
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 01            state-of-the-art unit, or at a facility of the

 02            patient's choice, because, certainly, there is

 03            patient choice in the determination of where they

 04            want to go for inpatient care.

 05                 You might ask about the ED, then.  Then what

 06            happens to the ED?  What happens when a patient

 07            shows up in crisis in our ED?  Well, we have

 08            certainly thought of that in the planning.  We're

 09            strengthening our crisis safeguards in our ED.

 10            ED Dr. Murphy mentioned about the behavioral

 11            health safe ligature-free beds that we will have

 12            in our ED.  Those plans have been submitted to

 13            DPH and we are awaiting approval before we

 14            commence construction on that once those plans

 15            are approved.  This will allow us to treat

 16            patients in the ED and then access to those

 17            outpatient facilities will allow us to safely

 18            discharge patients in our community.

 19                 So what are the benefits of this proposal?

 20            Delivery of patient care where those services are

 21            needed in the community, creating those safe beds

 22            for patients in crisis in the ED, opening a

 23            brand-new, beautiful $15,000 square-foot

 24            outpatient facility that is scheduled to open in

 25            January of '23 that will have IOPs, which stand
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 01            for Intensive Outpatient Services, to treat both

 02            adults and adolescent, and I think it's very

 03            important, as Dr. Murphy mentioned, we don't have

 04            an inpatient adolescent unit.  So the benefit of

 05            this proposal, to be able to provide services to

 06            adolescents can't be expressed enough.  As

 07            adolescents sit in our ED, the reason they are

 08            sitting in ore EDs is the lack of services to

 09            connect those patients safely and for us to

 10            safely discharge patients in our community.

 11                 Certainly, this is proposal is based on

 12            expanding access, specifically for our

 13            underserved populations, Medicaid, indigent,

 14            undocumented, by ensuring access regardless of

 15            their ability to pay.  This will result in

 16            reduced wait times, greater provider

 17            availability, paired with reduced reliance on the

 18            ED for crisis management, which is a higher cost

 19            to the patient, the families, and the healthcare

 20            system.

 21                 We also have resources embedded in our

 22            primary care offices to provide behavioral health

 23            services at that point of service if we identify

 24            someone has a behavioral health need.

 25                 This proposal, as Dr. Murphy mentioned,
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 01            comes with a lot of community support, support

 02            from medical and state levels, Senator Murphy,

 03            Blumenthal, Representative Jim Himes, with the

 04            earmark that Dr. Murphy had mentioned as well as

 05            recent initiatives in Norwalk to reduce the

 06            stigma towards behavioral health treatment and to

 07            increase awareness.

 08                 As I previously mentioned, I am very active

 09            in the Norwalk community, including the school

 10            system, work force development, local Chamber of

 11            Commerce, and I received significant support from

 12            community and state coalitions for this proposal

 13            and our attempts to expand access and programs in

 14            the Norwalk area.

 15                 So I urge you to approve this and I believe

 16            this is the best -- we'll provide the best access

 17            and the best outcomes for the Community of

 18            Norwalk.

 19                 Thank you.

 20                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you very much.

 21                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you, Hearing Officer

 22            Novi.  The next presenter will be Dr. Charles

 23            Herrick.

 24                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Good morning, Dr.

 25            Herrick.  If you could, please, state your name
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 01            and begin by stating whether you adopt your

 02            prefile testimony.

 03                 DR. HERRICK:  Certainly, my name is Charles

 04            Herrick, H-e-r-r-i-c-k, and I do adopt my

 05            pretrial testimony.

 06                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.

 07                 DR. HERRICK:  Good morning, Hearing Officer

 08            Novi and the rest of your staff.

 09                 I -- instead of reiterating much of what

 10            Peter Cordeau and John Murphy have told you, I

 11            want to give you some background as a community

 12            hospital psychiatrist because I think that can

 13            shed some light and understanding of why this

 14            project I think is so critical.

 15                 So I've been a psychiatrist for 30 years.

 16            I've been a community hospital psychiatrist for

 17            Danbury for the last going on 25 years, and in --

 18            historically, community hospitals have focused

 19            primarily on acute care.  They've treated

 20            patients in the emergency room, they treated

 21            patients on the inpatient setting, and they've

 22            let the community essentially care for the

 23            patients in an outpatient setting, and it worked

 24            very well for many, many years, but with the

 25            rising demand for psychiatric services,
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 01            particularly in the last 10 years, and then the

 02            escalation with Covid, the demand has just

 03            dramatically increased, and as a result, many

 04            providers who historically have given back to the

 05            community, they were in the community and they

 06            provided care for patients in the community, have

 07            become so swamped, that they don't have to work

 08            with insurance companies.  They don't have to

 09            work with hospitals anymore and they can

 10            basically decide on their own which patients they

 11            elect to treat and which patients they don't, and

 12            so, as a result of that, our hospitals have

 13            become inundated with patients for acute care

 14            when they could have been managed more

 15            effectively on an outpatient basis had they had

 16            the access to outpatient services.

 17                 So this really represents the radical change

 18            for community hospitals insofar as they are now

 19            recognizing the fact that, hey, we've got to get

 20            into the business of caring for patients in the

 21            outpatient setting, and we've also got to make

 22            sure that patients from all insurance

 23            backgrounds, regardless of what insurance they

 24            take, that we will accept them and we will care

 25            for them, and this is really critical for the
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 01            future of psychiatry because access to care is

 02            the single biggest predictor in terms of reducing

 03            suicide rates, particularly what we call

 04            Connect-to-Care, from inpatient settings to IOP,

 05            intensive outpatient settings to regular

 06            outpatient settings.  So having a whole continuum

 07            of care that you have some degree of control over

 08            and you're able to manage effectively will

 09            improve outcomes, I think, quite dramatically.

 10                 Additionally, I think access improves

 11            through -- so, right now, what we struggle with

 12            primarily are the length of time patients are

 13            stuck in the emergency rooms because of lack of

 14            ability to access outpatient care or intensive

 15            outpatient care or even inpatient care, and then,

 16            when they get to the inpatient unit, we have

 17            discharge planning challenges that we struggle

 18            with and we're getting pressure from insurance

 19            companies, hey, this patient is stable.  They

 20            need to be discharged, but we have a commitment

 21            to these patients for a safe discharge plan, but

 22            many times, we can't find that safe discharge

 23            plan for them because we don't have access to

 24            outpatient services.  With this plan, hopefully,

 25            and I think -- I believe this will improve
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 01            dramatically in our community so that we can

 02            provide that kind of care that currently is

 03            lacking in our community.  So that's really one

 04            of the major reasons why we're emphasizing this

 05            plan.

 06                 Now, the inpatient services, while, again,

 07            as they -- as they reported, it's a closure of

 08            the services in Norwalk.  It's an expansion of

 09            services for the Norwalk Community because

 10            currently, the average volumes in Norwalk are

 11            around seven or eight patients, and historically,

 12            for the past 15 years, it's hovered around nine

 13            or ten because patients can access other

 14            hospitals in the service area and they often

 15            volunteer to do that, and we have to honor their

 16            choice.  So they go to Silver Hill, they go to

 17            Hall-Brooke, which are freestanding psychiatric

 18            hospitals in the community.  They can go to

 19            Stamford.  They can go to Bridgeport.  Many ask

 20            to go to Yale and a lot of it has to do with the

 21            environment of care, and by putting all of our

 22            resources into Danbury and expanding an inpatient

 23            setting, one of the challenges that all of our

 24            units face is providing a comfortable environment

 25            because we don't acknowledge -- we, ourselves,
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 01            know that the environment that we surround

 02            ourselves in has a huge impact on our emotional

 03            well-being.  We somehow neglect that because

 04            we're focused primarily on safety on the

 05            inpatient setting, right?

 06                 Consolidating our resources in the inpatient

 07            setting, what we're table to do now is provide

 08            not only a safe environment, but a warm and

 09            comfortable setting that will go miles for

 10            improving the emotional well-being of the

 11            patients we care for.

 12                 In addition, it becomes attractive to staff,

 13            because as we know, there's been a dramatic

 14            decrease in hospital-based staff, and a lot of it

 15            can be attributed not just to the overwhelming

 16            volumes, but also the environment of care, and by

 17            improving the environment of care, people want to

 18            come and work here.  So we have that available to

 19            us now by -- by following through with this plan.

 20                 And then, finally, in terms of staffing,

 21            what happened in Covid is a lot of people said,

 22            "I'm done with working in the hospital.  I don't

 23            want to work in the hospital," and so many of

 24            them transitioned to outpatient care, and even

 25            with that, surprisingly, access to care has
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 01            continued to be a problem.  We want to leverage

 02            technology to allow staff to be able to work in a

 03            hybrid model that would make it more attractive

 04            for people to come here, and more importantly, we

 05            want to leverage our educational program because

 06            we want to build the next generation of

 07            psychiatrists and social workers.

 08                 So we have a very extensive educational

 09            program that includes graduate medical education,

 10            undergraduate medical education, education for

 11            licensed social workers, education for nurse

 12            practitioners, and by, you know, allocating our

 13            resources appropriately, we're able to provide

 14            all of that to create the next generation of

 15            behavioral health staff who want to work for us,

 16            who want to be here because they see the

 17            commitment we have towards behavioral health.

 18                 So that's pretty much what I have to say at

 19            this point.

 20                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, thank you

 21            very much, Dr. Herrick.

 22                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you, Hearing Officer

 23            Novi.  Next, Stephen Merz.  Thank you.

 24                 MR. MERZ:  Good morning, Hearing Officer

 25            Novi.  Yes.
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 01                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  If you could, state

 02            your name for the record and state whether you

 03            adopt your prefile testimony before you begin.

 04                 MR. MERZ:  Sure.

 05                 Good morning.  My name is Stephen Merz,

 06            S-t-e-p-h-e-n, M-e-r-z.  I'm chief operating

 07            officer of Shepherd Prep Solutions and I adopt my

 08            prefile testimony.

 09                 THE HEARING OFFICER:

 10                 MR. MERZ:  I'm going to speak this morning

 11            in follow-up to the testimony provided regarding

 12            some of the state and regional factors that are

 13            substantially impacting the  behaviorial

 14            healthcare industry and how this CON application

 15            materially addresses several of the undermet

 16            needs that have been identified in the

 17            application.

 18                 I have significant experience in the State

 19            of Connecticut, regionally, and nationally,

 20            having served in a variety of leadership roles

 21            both in Connecticut over the last three decades,

 22            as well as in other organizations.  The

 23            organization I work with now is the largest

 24            not-for-profit behaviorial healthcare system,

 25            which is based in Baltimore, Maryland and I spent
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 01            a significant amount of time with organizations

 02            throughout the country that are understanding

 03            their needs and how they are responding to the

 04            significant lack of resources for behaviorial

 05            healthcare.

 06                 Significantly, Nuvance Health has spent

 07            significant energy and time in planning at the

 08            very deliberate strategy to improve access

 09            throughout the Nuvance Health network.  As part

 10            of that planning, they're addressing some of the

 11            system changes that have happened in our industry

 12            as it has evolved.

 13                 One of the major changes is how the industry

 14            is tackling patients who are in behavioral

 15            crisis,  The former system that Dr. Herrick

 16            mentioned of community hospitals relying on an

 17            outpatient network that was informally organized

 18            is no longer sufficient.  Patients are

 19            increasingly needing to find care and in an

 20            absence of organized patient care network, they

 21            often in crisis and in the worst time of their

 22            care process, overly rely on emergency

 23            departments and for-care settings, and care teams

 24            at emergency departments are often left with very

 25            few choices for which to refer those patients,
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 01            and then, typically, admit them to inpatient

 02            levels of care, when, typically, the patient may

 03            not need that level of care, but that is the only

 04            level of care that's available in the community

 05            for which patients can be treated in a safe

 06            manner.

 07                 As a result, healthcare systems are breaking

 08            down throughout the country, being overwhelmed,

 09            as Dr. Murphy said, with tremendous volumes in

 10            their emergency departments.  Nuvance Health,

 11            through this application with Norwalk Hospital,

 12            is taking a bold step and a very innovative step

 13            by expanding its access to outpatient services to

 14            address this undermet need.  Systems are looking

 15            to find a more cost-effective way to provide

 16            care, including using their precious staff more

 17            effectively.  Many systems are doing this by

 18            investing in ambulatory levels of care.

 19                 Why do you need to do that?  As Dr. Herrick

 20            noted, outpatient care is essential to avoid

 21            people from having to go to a higher level of

 22            crisis care that can be provided by

 23            psychologists, social workers, psychiatrists in

 24            the community.  Also, clinic services, which are

 25            currently provided by Norwalk Hospital, can be
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 01            expanded as they have continued to grow at

 02            Norwalk Hospital over these last several years.

 03            Specialized outpatient treatment, including

 04            Intensive Outpatient Services or IOP, are really

 05            important.  Let me just pause on that a little

 06            bit and describe that.

 07                 For those who are not aware of what an IOP

 08            is, it is basically a structured day treatment

 09            program in an outpatient basis, which is more

 10            structured than a traditional outpatient practice

 11            where you will schedule an appointment with a

 12            social worker or a doctor.  This is a defined

 13            program led by a psychiatrist, founded by a care

 14            team which distinct care points and management of

 15            care for a patient in an organized fashion in the

 16            outpatient community.  When under the care of an

 17            outpatient team, you're less likely, the data

 18            tells us, to seek inpatient hospitalization.  You

 19            are also able to have a network for which you can

 20            avoid access to emergency departments by having

 21            the care team in place.  Hospitals and health

 22            care systems have also relied on Intensive

 23            Outpatient Programs as appropriate and safe

 24            discharge settings and step-down settings for

 25            patients who are discharged from a hospital,
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 01            often lessening the length of stay for patients

 02            on an patient unit.  This care is also much more

 03            cost-effective, while an inpatient level of care

 04            can cost thousands of dollars a day.  An IOP

 05            level of care can cost nearly hundreds of dollars

 06            a day, often $200 to $300 a day on average

 07            nationally, saving the healthcare system

 08            tremendous money.

 09                 Lastly, in terms of staffing, an Intensive

 10            Outpatient Program can take care of more people

 11            with less caregivers by employing group therapy

 12            approaches.  Care teams in the outpatient basis

 13            can serve more people with less care team

 14            members, which makes it a very effective way to

 15            grow care.  That's why the federal government

 16            continues to support this level of care in the

 17            current health systems to develop this resource.

 18                 Nuvance Health, in carefully studying the

 19            needs of the Norwalk market, quickly identified a

 20            lack of care currently in the community, largely

 21            driven by a lack of access to insurance and a

 22            lack of access to outpatient care.

 23                 Through the dual diagnosis population are

 24            those co-occurring with mental health and

 25            Substance Use Disorder.  Adults with those
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 01            conditions without private -- the ability to pay

 02            for their care with a check, and having managed

 03            care coverage or the commercial insurance, often

 04            are lacking coverage.  So Nuvance had identified

 05            that and is growing that with this program.

 06                 In addition, as noted before, adolescents

 07            are just a tremendously-growing population

 08            nationally with need for this care and this

 09            application makes tremendous enhancements in that

 10            care by offering IOP level of care and with the

 11            ability to accept insurance.  So families with an

 12            adolescent that need care now will have a place

 13            to go in the Norwalk community.

 14                 Further, Norwalk is recognized in this

 15            community as a health professional shortage area

 16            designation.  That means that it's a federal

 17            designation applied to a community in which

 18            there's not enough providers in that community to

 19            serve the needs by the ratios that the federal

 20            governments uses, HRSA.  As a mental healthcare

 21            shortage region, this informs the community and

 22            the planning as part of the reason that state and

 23            federal lawmakers supported funding in this

 24            federal earmark to grow this program as they had

 25            identified this need and has Peter had noted in
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 01            his testimony.

 02                 The status quo at Norwalk Hospital is

 03            underperforming in addressing some of these

 04            needs.  The inpatient census has been low and

 05            trending lower, which is very difficult to

 06            provide state-of-the-art care in that type of

 07            care model, where it's difficult to support all

 08            their resources required upon an inpatient unit,

 09            and through the reconfiguration with Danbury

 10            Hospital, a much more supportive, caring

 11            environment can be provided with more robust

 12            supports to provide a better patient care

 13            experience.

 14                 The investments in the emergency department

 15            can substantially improve the patients in crisis.

 16            By creating the specialized treatment pods in the

 17            emergency department, Norwalk Hospital gives a

 18            chance for a patient to stabilize in their

 19            crisis, to assess where they are, the care team

 20            can observe what's happening with the patient.

 21            That will provide increased likelihood that that

 22            patient will not just simply be admitted to a

 23            hospital, but instead, can stabilize and go to an

 24            outpatient level of care and avoid that

 25            hospitalization, which is very expensive and ties
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 01            up those beds for people who really need them.

 02                 So dedication of these outpatient services

 03            will add substantially the care needs and the

 04            community, bring care that doesn't exist to the

 05            community, and the treatment of adolescents and

 06            those with Substance Use Disorders and mental

 07            healthcare conditions, and provide a very

 08            supportive inpatient unit at Danbury Hospital

 09            that is more patients and family-centered focus.

 10                 In addition, I believe that this is

 11            consistent with the national trends.  There

 12            simply is significant need in our ambulatory

 13            space since the 1970s, when the idea of

 14            deinstitutionalization came about, and the idea

 15            of decreasing beds and increasing community

 16            resources, the concept is great, but the

 17            application of it is often very difficult, and

 18            Nuvance Health at Norwalk Hospital's application

 19            is making a great move by expanding these levels

 20            of care and providing these necessary services.

 21                 Thank you.

 22                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you very much.

 23                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you, Hearing Officer

 24            Novi.

 25                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you, Hearing Officer
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 01            Novi.  That concludes the testimony of the

 02            witnesses for Norwalk Hospital.

 03                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay, at this point,

 04            do you have any questions for your own witnesses

 05            before we take a quick break and have OHS get

 06            their questions together?

 07                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  No questions.

 08                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay, so I would like

 09            to propose a quick break before we -- I think

 10            we're going to have a little bit of a -- some

 11            reconfiguration to do just to make sure we can

 12            see who we're asking questions to because we have

 13            one camera.  So I'm going to take --

 14                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  I don't have any -- if the

 15            questions want to be directed to me, I'm happy to

 16            bring up the right person to answer the

 17            questions.  However you want to proceed, that's

 18            fine.

 19                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay, let's take a

 20            quick break so that OHS can get their questions

 21            together and then we will come back.

 22                 Steve and Jessica, do you think we need 10

 23            minutes or how long do you think we --

 24                 MR. LAZARUS:  15 to 20 minutes would be --

 25                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  15 to 20, okay.
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 01                 Okay, so why don't we come back at -- let's

 02            come back at 10:15.  It is now 9:59.  We will

 03            take a 15-minute break.  If we are a little

 04            later, I do apologize, but we will be back as

 05            promptly as possible, okay?  So we will take a

 06            break until 10:15 at this time.

 07                 Thank you.

 08  

 09                           (Recess.)

 10  

 11                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, as you were

 12            all just -- you all should have just been

 13            informed, we are recording this hearing and by --

 14            and by remaining in this hearing, you are

 15            consenting to being recorded.  If you choose to

 16            not be recorded, you can leave the hearing at

 17            this time.

 18                 All right, now that we have -- nobody has

 19            left, we will go ahead and begin with the second

 20            portion of our evidence, which is questioning by

 21            OHS.

 22                 At this point, I will ask Attorney Jensen if

 23            all of his witnesses are still present?

 24                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  We are just waiting on one

 25            more.  He should be back in just one moment,
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 01            please.

 02                 Thank you.

 03                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  No problem.

 04                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you, Hearing Officer

 05            Novi.  Everyone is present.

 06                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, great.

 07                 So, now that everybody is back, I will turn

 08            the questioning over to Mr. Lazarus and Ms.

 09            Rival.

 10                 MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.

 11                 Good morning, everyone.  I just have a

 12            series of questions to ask.  You know, please,

 13            feel free to determine who the correct person is

 14            to address the question.  I'll leave that up to

 15            your discretion.

 16                 And I would like to start with:  If you

 17            could, discuss the community needs assessment

 18            that influenced the decision to close Norwalk's

 19            inpatient psychiatric unit and refer inpatient

 20            services to Danbury Hospital while increasing

 21            Intensive Outpatient Services and emergency room

 22            services.

 23                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Dr. Murphy will take the

 24            first stab at your question.  Thank you.

 25                 DR. MURPHY:  Good morning.  I'll take a stab
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 01            at your question, if I could, Jessica.

 02                 The top priority in the Community Health

 03            Needs Assessment is, in fact, the mental health

 04            needs of the community.  I think, second, was, if

 05            memory serves me, was the burden of addiction and

 06            substance abuse, and those two have largely

 07            topped the -- the ballistics in every health

 08            community assessment, and really, that's what

 09            we're trying to respond to, is everybody feels

 10            this burden, you know, and as I mentioned

 11            earlier, I think, you know, our strategy is

 12            really designed to -- how do we get to it, to

 13            address those issues earlier because by the time

 14            they are distressed enough or the issue is severe

 15            enough that an inpatient stay is required, while

 16            we very much understand that, you know, that's

 17            our obligation to provide that inpatient

 18            environment, and we will.

 19                 You know, my sense is the community expects

 20            us to try to intervene earlier, and I think that

 21            if they could have, simply, in the Norwalk

 22            Community, let's say, local access that's

 23            relatively prompt as opposed to immediate access

 24            to an inpatient care, and you could choose one of

 25            those, they would much prefer, I think, greater
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 01            access.  The way I look at it, just to put it in

 02            perspective, if you could, is I think that

 03            particularly younger people, you know, if you

 04            look at the data now, I think it's -- it's 30

 05            percent of adolescents are experiencing

 06            significant mental health issues largely around

 07            anxiety and depression.  9 percent have committed

 08            or have considered suicide, and that, we have to

 09            figure out how, when stress arises in their lives

 10            -- you know, the inpatient units are expensive.

 11            They're dated and they are an intense environment

 12            where you basically -- I think you revive people.

 13            If you look at it as if this is a -- this is a

 14            river that people have fallen into, what we're

 15            doing is we've got lifeguards on duty, we're

 16            pulling them out of the water, that they are near

 17            drowning, and we are bringing them back with a

 18            great -- great expense, great teams, and we are

 19            basically saving their lives.

 20                 I think if you look at this -- this river,

 21            if you will, of -- of grief and stress and the

 22            various challenges we all face, I think that when

 23            you think about how this notion of people

 24            drowning, we've got to build some fences, and I

 25            think that the IOPs, for instance, and some of
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 01            these outpatient clinics are those fences to keep

 02            people from falling in that river, but more

 03            importantly, I think that, as we look further

 04            upstream and recognize that, sooner or later, we

 05            all fall in that river, that we need to teach

 06            people how to swim, and that's going to save more

 07            lives and that's where I'd rather spend the

 08            money, is teaching people to swim, which means

 09            that, whether it's in the school system or in the

 10            primary care offices where we imbed behavioral

 11            health consultants, at the first symptom, through

 12            training and education, how to properly question

 13            somebody to see, is there, perhaps, an early

 14            issue with substance abuse, is there anxiety and

 15            depression, and how you ask it in a way that

 16            doesn't stigmatize them.  I think those are the

 17            swimming lessons.  That's where we need to spend

 18            the money instead of waiting for them to drown or

 19            nearly drown and pull them out.

 20                 So I think if you ask the community of

 21            Norwalk what is it you want, they want -- they

 22            should learn how to swim so that they don't end

 23            up needing to be resuscitated six months down the

 24            line when they're in acute distress, but that's a

 25            long answer to your simple question, and I think
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 01            the simple question is:  Mental health needs are

 02            at the top of the Community Health Needs

 03            Assessment and I think our interpretation of that

 04            is:  The earlier the intervention, the better.

 05                 MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.

 06                 On Page 636 of Dr. Murphy's testimony,

 07            Dr. Murphy mentions federal support for the

 08            proposal.

 09                 Could you, please, describe this federal

 10            support and how it was obtained?

 11                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Yes, Dr. Murphy will

 12            address that.

 13                 DR. MURPHY:  Yes, Dr. Murphy can.

 14                 That was an earmark.  I forget the

 15            particular Senate bill that was passed.  It was

 16            one of the ones that was passed within the last

 17            12 months, and both Senator Blumenthal and Murphy

 18            awarded us, Norwalk Hospital, $2.15 million in

 19            federal funds and it was largely to support the

 20            provision of the outpatient behavioral health

 21            services.

 22                 MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.

 23                 Could you describe what expanded emergency

 24            room and crisis services would look like and

 25            compare that with the current services offered at
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 01            Norwalk Hospital?

 02                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Peter Cordeau will address

 03            that question.  Thank you.

 04                 MR. CORDEAU:  Hi, good morning.

 05                 MS. RIVAL:  Good morning.

 06                 MR. CORDEAU:  Currently, we have two rooms

 07            in our emergency department that are ligature

 08            risk-free and where we currently hold behavioral

 09            health patients.  The new model to address, and

 10            as I mentioned, the actual plans are with the DPH

 11            now for approval, will be to create six rooms

 12            that are ligature risk-free, two of which would

 13            be for adolescents, so we can separate out any

 14            adolescent behavioral health from adults in that

 15            area.

 16                 Something else we have in the ED is we have

 17            the ability, through a combination of in-person

 18            and telehealth on the overnight hours,

 19            24-hour/seven days a week access to a behavioral

 20            health provider, and that's really important.  As

 21            Dr. Murphy and others have mentioned, if you get

 22            the dual-diagnoses patients, and many come in

 23            under the influence, it is nice to be able to get

 24            an eval done when the patient is ready and it's

 25            an appropriate time for them to get an eval and
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 01            if they can go home or get to another level of

 02            care.

 03                 The other piece of this -- this unit is to

 04            have dedicated behavioral health staffing the

 05            unit.  Traditionally, in emergency departments,

 06            emergency department staff are caring for these

 07            patients in addition to the routine patient

 08            population, taking resources away from the other

 09            patients in the ED and often taking other

 10            ancillary staff away to sit one-on-one.  So it

 11            becomes a much more therapeutic environment with

 12            case managers, behavioral health nurses to be

 13            able to actually provide treatment versus just

 14            monitoring somebody in the ED until we can find

 15            appropriate, safe discharge plans for those

 16            patients, whether that's transfer to a

 17            higher-level of care or to an Intensive

 18            Outpatient Program.

 19                 MS. RIVAL:  Great, thank you.

 20                 What happens if an adolescent presents at

 21            the emergency department currently?

 22                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Dr. Herrick will address

 23            that.  Thank you.

 24                 MS. RIVAL:  This is a three-part question,

 25            just to give you a heads-up.

�0057

 01                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.

 02                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Stay close.

 03                 DR. HERRICK:  That question can be broken

 04            down into three parts, as well.

 05                 MS. RIVAL:  Great.

 06                 DR. HERRICK:  So patients come in to the

 07            emergency room and they are read and received by

 08            a triage nurse to determine, you know, what sorts

 09            of services they require, and if it's a

 10            psychiatric service that is required, then they

 11            are placed in one of the ligature-safe rooms and

 12            an ED doc then visits with the patient and

 13            medically clears the patient, speaks to the

 14            family briefly, and then drops a consult for a

 15            psychiatrist to see the patient.  The patient is

 16            seen by, first, a crisis intervention social

 17            worker who collects the information and then

 18            discusses it with a psychiatrist who then

 19            evaluates the patient, talks to the family,

 20            obtains collateral information, speaks to

 21            outpatient providers, makes a determination what

 22            is the best (unintelligible).

 23                 MS. RIVAL:  Great.

 24                 How would that change with the proposal?

 25                 DR. HERRICK:  So what would change with the
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 01            proposal is we would have greater staff access.

 02            We, in addition, would have more specialized

 03            care.  So, for example, they are seen primarily

 04            and managed primarily by the ED right now, and

 05            instead, what we would do is use behaviorial

 06            health-trained staff to care for and provide

 07            clearance of the patient in order to be evaluated

 08            for, you know, the next level of care.  So the

 09            staff would be more dedicated towards the

 10            behavioral health bay and then the environment of

 11            care would be less ED like and more, not only

 12            psych-safe, but also just a warmer, friendlier

 13            environment.

 14                 MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.

 15                 If there were patients that the emergency

 16            room space will allow for, where would they go?

 17                 DR. HERRICK:  Well, there's always overflow,

 18            but the plan, I think you know, when we -- when

 19            we evaluated the needs for the hospital, we

 20            determined that, really, the sweet spot was six

 21            beds and so we're not anticipating a lot of

 22            overflow as a result of this plan.

 23                 In addition, we will able to move patients

 24            out of the ED faster than previously because

 25            having Intensive Outpatient Services dedicated to
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 01            adolescent care will help with (unintelligible).

 02            So, instead of patients waiting in the ED until

 03            we can find an appointment for them in the

 04            community, we have the appointment for them.

 05                 So we're hoping through -- through expanding

 06            the number of beds and also reducing the time in

 07            which they're in the ED, that should safely care

 08            for or manage any overflow issues that we might

 09            anticipate

 10                 MS. RIVAL:  Okay, great, thank you.

 11                 On Page 656 of Mr. Cordeau's prefile

 12            testimony, it notes that there is a scarcity of

 13            psychiatric beds for adolescents and the proposal

 14            seeks to expands the availability of services to

 15            adolescents.

 16                 How does the proposal impact services for

 17            adolescents directly?

 18                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you, Mr. Cordeau

 19            will address that.

 20                 MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.

 21                 MR. CORDEAU:  Currently, Norwalk Hospital,

 22            and actually all the facilities within Nuvance,

 23            do not have inpatient adolescent beds.  So the

 24            ability to have an adolescent IOP dramatically

 25            changes the care that we could provide for
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 01            adolescents.

 02                 As Dr. Herrick was mentioning, you know,

 03            previously, with an adolescent, or currently,

 04            with an adolescent, in the absence of those

 05            Intensive Outpatient Programs, the ability for a

 06            safe discharge is really delayed significantly

 07            until there are openings, and currently, in

 08            our -- in our service area, we don't have an

 09            adolescent IOP.  So we see this as a great

 10            opportunity for adolescents, to be able to

 11            provide that service out of our ED, and then, you

 12            know, direct referral into our own program

 13            regardless of ability to pay, which is very

 14            important because that's another limiting factor

 15            currently in the market that we are in.

 16                 MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.

 17                 Could you describe what expanded Intensive

 18            Outpatient Services would look like and compare

 19            that with the current services at Norwalk

 20            Hospital?

 21                 MR. CORDEAU:  I'll take the first half and

 22            then I'll -- Dr. Herrick, do you want to take the

 23            whole thing?  Okay.

 24                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Just bear with us more one

 25            moment.
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 01                 MS. RIVAL:  Oh, take your time.  Thank you.

 02                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you.  Dr. Herrick

 03            will speak now.

 04                 DR. HERRICK:  So, currently, we have an

 05            adult Intensive Outpatient Program.  We do not

 06            have an adolescent Intensive Outpatient Program.

 07            We do not have a dual-diagnoses Intensive

 08            Outpatient Program.  Our plan is to institute

 09            both of those Intensive Outpatient Programs.

 10                 MS. RIVAL:  Okay, so would there be a total

 11            of two Intensive Outpatient Programs?

 12                 MR. CORDEAU:  Three, there would continue to

 13            be the adult psychiatric IOP, and then, in

 14            addition to that, there would be the

 15            dual-diagnoses and the adolescent.

 16                 MS. RIVAL:  Okay.

 17                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  I'm going to jump in.

 18            I have a quick question.

 19                 Does the adult IOP program exist currently?

 20                 MR. CORDEAU:  Yes.

 21                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Can you give us a

 22            little bit of information on that program?

 23                 MR. CORDEAU:  So Intensive Outpatient

 24            Programs operate about three days a week, three

 25            to four hours a day, and it includes both group
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 01            and individual therapy and medication management,

 02            and it takes referrals from the community as a

 03            preventative measure towards hospitalization and

 04            also acts as a step-down from our inpatient unit

 05            when patients are ready to be discharged, and so

 06            it's providing that service currently.

 07                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay, and I have one

 08            follow-up question on that:  Do you have a

 09            difficult time finding people to staff your

 10            current IOP?

 11                 MR. CORDEAU:  So, yeah, I mean, we've been

 12            challenged across the system in finding staff for

 13            outpatient, inpatient, and you know, it's been

 14            driven primarily by the pandemic.  There was a

 15            lot of burn-out, particularly in the

 16            hospital-based staff, and many of them left.  I'm

 17            happy to say that we, with the expansion of both

 18            our training -- psychiatric training program and

 19            also training programs for licensed social

 20            workers, and in additional, the staff who left

 21            for telepsychiatry want to come back.

 22                 So we're in the process of recruiting and

 23            employing more staff.

 24                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay, thank you.

 25            Sorry, Ms. Rival.  I just wanted to grab those
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 01            questions.

 02                 MS. RIVAL:  No problem.

 03                 I did have one additional question:  About

 04            how many slots are there for patients in each of

 05            the IOP programs?

 06                 MR. CORDEAU:  So, again, that's a

 07            staffing-driven measure because the Joint

 08            Commission requires -- or Medicare requires a --

 09            a maximum number for -- for staff.  So,

 10            currently, we are -- I believe the plan is for 12

 11            patients with the idea of expanding it to 16 per

 12            IOP.

 13                 MS. RIVAL:  Okay, great, thank you.

 14                 Page 14 of the application notes that

 15            sustained low utilization of inpatient

 16            psychiatric services at Norwalk Hospital and

 17            ongoing staffing challenges for behavioral health

 18            clinicians and support staff.

 19                 Please, discuss where staff -- where the

 20            staff who did not want to relocate to Danbury

 21            were offered alternatives.

 22                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Peter Cordeau will address

 23            that.

 24                 MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.

 25                 MR. CORDEAU:  So I've been I've been present
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 01            here since January of '19, and even at that time,

 02            you know, the census was capped at about 13 then.

 03            You know, you know over the years, it continues

 04            to dwindle.  At the time -- at the time or in an

 05            attempt to keep staff, we've covered retention

 06            bonuses to maintain staff here at the hospital.

 07            We also have agency nurses, and all -- actually,

 08            at the time of the application, all employees

 09            were given the opportunity to, you know, apply

 10            for any and all positions.  Geography plays a big

 11            role in that.  We didn't lose any from a

 12            resignation perspective in that case, and

 13            actually have just re-upped a retention bonus for

 14            the current staff there on the unit today.  We

 15            didn't re-up that today; meaning they already

 16            have a -- you know, the next series of retention

 17            commitments from the -- from the hospital

 18                 MS. RIVAL:  And how do you plan to staff the

 19            new emergency department with the additional

 20            positions?

 21                 MR. CORDEAU:  You know, great question.

 22                 Our plan would be, ideally, to, if approved,

 23            have the inpatient staff that is currently here

 24            relocate down to the ED to provide those services

 25            in the ED proper, and then recruit any additional

�0065

 01            roles that we would deem necessary.  In -- you

 02            know, in a holding, for extended holds,

 03            certainly, the nurse/patient ratio is going to be

 04            less need than in an acute setting.  So it

 05            certainly is going to depend on the acuity of the

 06            patient, but our goal would be to retain the

 07            staff that is currently here and just redeploy

 08            them to a behavioral health suite in the ED.

 09                 MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.

 10                 Page 14 of the application reads, "New

 11            outpatient and emergency programs will enable

 12            earlier intervention and increase the access to

 13            treatment in a lower-acuity and lower-cost

 14            outpatient setting for residents of the service

 15            area.

 16                 How will you be able to intervene earlier

 17            with the proposed new outpatient program?

 18                 MR. CORDEAU:  I could start with that or

 19            Steve or Chuck?

 20                 Well, I think, as mentioned in my statements

 21            and others, we could intervene earlier because

 22            the program actually exists, right?  So -- so, by

 23            having access to two additional programs,

 24            dual-diagnoses and adolescent, we'll have the

 25            ability to refer directly out of the ED.

�0066

 01                 Some of the congestion -- a lot of

 02            congestion is due to a lack of services available

 03            for us to refer our patients to, primarily due to

 04            insurance reasons, no ability to pay, et cetera.

 05            So I really do believe that that is -- I do

 06            believe that that is really the primary reason

 07            for our ability to have access.

 08                 The other piece of this is in conjunction

 09            with the school systems and others, we have the

 10            ability to -- so, for instance, yesterday -- we

 11            are looking to work with the local community and

 12            the systems to provide those services and the

 13            referrals, et cetera.

 14                 So it doesn't have to be directed out of the

 15            ED.  It could be directed out of our primary care

 16            offices, referrals from the community, and having

 17            that access will certainly provide a much greater

 18            early upstream intervention.

 19                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  I think Steve Murphy is

 20            going to speak to that, as well, please.

 21                 MR. MERZ:  I'm just going to add on to what

 22            Peter had shared.

 23                 In addition, Norwalk Hospital undertook a

 24            systematic way through a logging process of all

 25            the calls and inquiries that were coming in to
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 01            the local community and identified that community

 02            members seeking care were calling the Intensive

 03            Outpatient Services, seeking treatment for levels

 04            of care as an alternative to -- if their

 05            situation escalated, to emergency departments and

 06            higher levels of care.

 07                 So there were -- as identified in the

 08            certificate of need, the log indicated there were

 09            hundreds of calls coming in for levels of care

 10            that were not available.  The conclusion that we

 11            reached and the planning process was that folks

 12            that were not able to get access to care when

 13            they needed it because the outpatient care wasn't

 14            available, were left with very little choice in

 15            the community and those would result in the

 16            hospitalizations and the use of emergency

 17            department that we were trying to avoid in this

 18            application.

 19                 MR. LAZARUS:  This is Steve Lazarus.  I just

 20            have a follow-up question to that.

 21                 You talked about a planning aspect for this

 22            proposal.  How is the -- other than those phone

 23            calls and inquiries, how is the Norwalk community

 24            engaged as part of this process?

 25                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  I think Peter Cordeau
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 01            could speak to the community aspect of it.

 02                 MR. LAZARUS:  Thank you.

 03                 MR. CORDEAU:  Hello, again.

 04                 We did interview stakeholders, whether it

 05            was clergy, the folks from Americares, the

 06            federally-qualified health clinic, the schools.

 07            We also have a Community Care Team and a group of

 08            community participants that participate in the

 09            Community Care Team and the planning as it

 10            relates to the Community Health Needs Assessment.

 11            So we solicit the input from all of those sources

 12            as we proposed this plan, and if memory serves me

 13            correctly, some letters of support came directly

 14            from those groups regarding the plan, including

 15            conversations with the PD and the mayor's office,

 16            also.

 17                 MR. LAZARUS:  Was this part of a study for

 18            looking at all behavioral health access or

 19            services in the Norwalk community, itself, or was

 20            this more of regional approach?

 21                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Do you want that?

 22                 MR. CORDEAU:  I'm going to pass it over to

 23            Steve Merz.

 24                 MR. MERZ:  With respect to the Community

 25            Care Team process that Peter noted, that's been
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 01            an ongoing effort.  Norwalk Hospital is among the

 02            first hospitals in the State of Connecticut to

 03            launch that process, which would involve these

 04            community stakeholders in an effort to provide a

 05            more meaningful and coordinated care approach to

 06            individuals who otherwise would more frequently

 07            than not utilize the emergency department as

 08            their primary access point.

 09                 So that effort was focused out of Norwalk

 10            Hospital and basically grew to include the

 11            broader Norwalk community.  At a broader level,

 12            the planning for this certificate of need

 13            approach was based on a regional approach based

 14            on Nuvance Health's behavioral healthcare network

 15            and trying to leverage the resources of entire

 16            health system.  As Dr. Murphy noted, having an

 17            integrated healthcare system afforded the system

 18            the opportunity to look at behavioral healthcare,

 19            potentially more strategically how to invest the

 20            resources in the most impactful ways.

 21                 MR. LAZARUS:  Was there sort of a study or a

 22            report that was recommended by this community

 23            cares team's partnership?

 24                 MR. MERZ:  I'm not aware of a specific study

 25            that was requested.
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 01                 The information that was outlined in this

 02            certificate of need involves studies from various

 03            sources, including a national resource known as

 04            SG-2 that provides predictive studies of

 05            particular volumes.  That study, for example,

 06            identified that the volume of need and outpatient

 07            services was four times greater than the growth

 08            rates anticipated in inpatient.  So the team

 09            thought that's what -- a very needful area for

 10            investment.

 11                 The community also identifies key

 12            stakeholders.  The City of Norwalk would place an

 13            initiative focused on mental healthcare.  There

 14            was the previous involvement that Dr. Murphy

 15            noted of a federal and state legislative support.

 16            There's a clear need in the community for this

 17            and that drove a lot of the strategic priority

 18            decision-making.

 19                 MR. LAZARUS:  Okay, how is this -- these --

 20            all this information communicated by the team?

 21            You know, was it some sort of a written document?

 22            Was it, you know, just word-of-mouth?  Was it --

 23            I'm just trying to understand that.  How was that

 24            information gathered and reviewed?

 25                 MR. MERZ:  The Community Care Teams are an
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 01            ongoing process with regular meetings among the

 02            key stakeholders that Peter mentioned.  I think,

 03            in addition, there were some stakeholder meetings

 04            with some of those leaders where this planning

 05            process was more deliberately communicated for

 06            the purposes of receiving feedback.  The

 07            individuals involved in that involved the leaders

 08            in the emergency department, the Community Care

 09            Team, as well as some of the community government

 10            relations leaders for Nuvance Health.

 11                 MR. LAZARUS:  Were there any minutes from

 12            these meetings or any kind of documentation?

 13                 MR. MERZ:  I'm not aware of any specific

 14            sets of minutes; however, I know that reports on

 15            those meetings were shared orally in our

 16            strategic planning process meetings.

 17                 MR. CORDEAU:  Steve, I think I can add one

 18            more thing.

 19                 Hi, Peter Cordeau again.

 20                 This proposal also was vetted and approved

 21            by the Norwalk Hospital board that's represented

 22            by every town in our service area.  So, as the

 23            plan was shared, the information from SG-2 was

 24            shared as well as stakeholders in the community,

 25            whether it's the federally-qualified health
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 01            clinic, Americares, and those local needs were

 02            shared.  That proposal was approved unanimously

 03            by the Norwalk Board to move forward, and there

 04            are minutes to that meeting.

 05                 MR. LAZARUS:  Okay, yeah, and so the SG-2

 06            probably provides some sort of a report that was

 07            used to -- that was shared with the board.  I

 08            guess -- which is more reasonable, of course.  I

 09            just wondered, with all these activity and --

 10            related to local access, was there any sort of

 11            local report that was put together by this local

 12            cares team, which it doesn't appear to be?

 13                 MR. CORDEAU:  I don't have the answer to

 14            that --

 15                 MR. LAZARUS:  Okay.

 16                 MR. CORDEAU:  -- currently.  Dr. Herrick,

 17            you know, perhaps will want to talk about the

 18            patient migration to Danbury to you just as

 19            Steve --

 20                 DR. HERRICK:  So, you know, I think there

 21            are were a variety of sources that came into

 22            making this decision and those sources included

 23            tapping into the community, just asking them

 24            questions as well as utilizing SG-2 -- SG-2 data.

 25            So it was -- it was really more of an outreach as
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 01            well as personal kind of experiences.  You know,

 02            we have the deflection log.  We have a variety of

 03            services in Danbury that patients were accessing

 04            from Norwalk and the surrounding community of

 05            Norwalk.  I, personally -- just by way of

 06            example, I have an outpatient practice in Danbury

 07            and I routinely get patients coming up from the

 08            Norwalk area because they cannot find anyone in

 09            that community who will accept their insurance,

 10            but Danbury has a number of providers who do

 11            accept insurance.

 12                 So it's inclusive of a lot of pieces of

 13            information, both in terms of sophisticated

 14            studies as well as anecdotal information from

 15            psychiatrists, from the community, from primary

 16            care.  I can't tell you how many calls I get

 17            regularly from primary care because they can't

 18            find -- they can't find access for their patients

 19            who have behavioral health problems.  This is one

 20            of the reasons why we have a primary behavioral

 21            clinician in the primary care offices.

 22                 MR. LAZARUS:  Was an alternative -- other

 23            alternatives considered to this, at least

 24            initially, such as increasing IOPs while

 25            maintaining the inpatient to see the effects of
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 01            that on the inpatient service, as we talked

 02            about, you know teaching the community to swim?

 03                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Yeah, one second.

 04                 Would you repeat question for the witness,

 05            please?

 06                 MR. LAZARUS:  I just wondered if there were

 07            any alternatives to this approach such as

 08            increasing local IOP services prior to

 09            terminating access for inpatient services to the

 10            local Norwalk community?

 11                 DR. MURPHY:  Sure, and again, this is John

 12            Murphy.  I think, actually, for the past couple

 13            of years, that that is the line of thinking that

 14            we pursued, particularly since it was -- you

 15            know, we merged with Norwalk Hospital, as you

 16            know, several years ago.  We weren't anxious to

 17            do any closures or relocations too soon after

 18            that merger largely because I think that the

 19            community was sensitive about what's going to

 20            happen now?

 21                 So we have been trying to run both programs

 22            simultaneously.  We have been paying, you know,

 23            for staffing at both programs, but then we

 24            confront the reality that the facility, itself,

 25            at least in Norwalk, is over 80 years old.  I've

�0075

 01            walked through it.  I've talked to the docs.

 02            It's -- I've seen patients there.  It's tired.

 03            It needs -- it needs to be modernized.  It needs

 04            a contemporary and attractive aesthetic.  I think

 05            patients deserve that and it would cost us 18

 06            million bucks t do that, and you know, if this

 07            application is denied, we're going to have to do

 08            something along those lines, but we do believe,

 09            as I mentioned before, that there is -- we can

 10            put those dollars to better use and consolidate

 11            the inpatient care in Danbury, modernize it,

 12            attract psychiatrists who actually want to

 13            exclusively potentially practice in the inpatient

 14            environment and offer a variety of specialties.

 15                 When the Community Health Needs Assessment

 16            came back and said, "Hey, listen, mental health

 17            is at the top of the list; substance abuse is

 18            right behind it," you know, that gave rise to the

 19            dual-diagnoses IOP that, you know, this is a

 20            strategy we have to embark on right away because

 21            it would serve that population, but I think the

 22            more providers we can attract, the more slots we

 23            will have, the greater the access will be, and I

 24            think that's fine, but again, to that analogy I

 25            used before, that's putting a fence further and
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 01            further upstream, but I do believe if we are

 02            going to intervene earlier and when these

 03            stressors first appear, instead of letting

 04            patients adopt maladaptive behaviorals is in the

 05            primary care office, at the first sign of some

 06            sort of psychosocial distress, we provide them

 07            with instruction and counseling and coping

 08            mechanisms to say, "This is how you swim,"

 09            because we all face these stressors.

 10                 Even in the school system, I think we can

 11            -- if those dollars are liberated to be spent

 12            differently, is -- we can figure out when kids

 13            are showing signs of distress and the school

 14            psychologist doesn't know what to do, we make

 15            ourselves somehow available, whether through

 16            telepsychiatry or some programmatic

 17            collaboration, but I think -- and by the way, the

 18            running two inpatient programs at the same time,

 19            there are ongoing operating losses that we incur

 20            every year.  I would much prefer, if we can, to

 21            take those dollars, put them into one beautiful,

 22            contemporary, larger, properly-staffed unit, and

 23            put the remainder of those funds back into the

 24            community, where I think we will save people from

 25            the need to be admitted to an inpatient
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 01            psychiatry unit.

 02                 MR. LAZARUS:  All right, when you reference

 03            the facility in Norwalk, you're talking about the

 04            hospital?

 05                 DR. MURPHY:  The inpatient psych unit, the

 06            building that it sits in.

 07                 MR. LAZARUS:  Okay, all right, thank you

 08            very much.

 09                 Thank you, Ms. Rival.  I'm all set.

 10                 MS. RIVAL:  I just had one other question

 11            along that vein:  How would patients be notified

 12            of the new outpatient treatment programs?  How

 13            would they become aware of them?

 14                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Dr. Herrick will address

 15            that.

 16                 MS. RIVAL:  Great.

 17                 DR. HERRICK:  Well, I mean, part of it is

 18            what we've already been doing.  We have the

 19            community stakeholders.  They know exactly what

 20            our plans are.  They're in full support of them.

 21            Those conversations happen on a regular basis, as

 22            Mr. Cordeau iterated about his relationships with

 23            the FQHCs, primary care offices.

 24                 So people are going to know and people are

 25            going to know pretty quickly when this program is
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 01            up and running.  I think -- you know, one of the

 02            things that I get on a regular basis is from

 03            primary care physicians.  They're going to want

 04            to know this and they're going to be given this

 05            information immediately when it becomes

 06            available.

 07                 So we are going to -- I predict we are going

 08            to be inundated with referrals.

 09                 MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.

 10                 The next couple of questions I have relate

 11            to cost.  Why is there approximately up to a 35

 12            percent increase in the cost of services,

 13            inpatient services, between Norwalk and Danbury

 14            Hospital?  Will patients that are transferred

 15            from Norwalk to Danbury be responsible for this

 16            increase in service cost?  And for reference, I

 17            am looking at Page 29 and 30 of the Completeness

 18            Letter 1.

 19                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  That Page 29, 30, is that

 20            the Bates number at the bottom?

 21                 MS. RIVAL:  This was not Bates-stamped.  It

 22            just has on the top left -- it's a Word document

 23            that they submitted.  It's the last two pages of

 24            the document.

 25                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  I'm just pulling that up.
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 01            One moment.

 02                 MS. RIVAL:  Sure, take your time.

 03                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  We have the page up.

 04            Could you just repeat the question for us,

 05            please?

 06                 MS. RIVAL:  Sure, absolutely.

 07                 Why is there an approximate up to a 35

 08            percent increase in the cost of services between

 09            Norwalk and Danbury Hospital and will patients

 10            transferred from Norwalk to Danbury be

 11            responsible for this increase in cost?

 12                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you.  Just one

 13            moment, please.

 14                 MS. RIVAL:  Sure.

 15                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Hearing Officer Novi, we

 16            have someone, Shannon Ritchie, from our finance

 17            group is probably best equipped to answer that

 18            question.

 19                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  I will go ahead and

 20            swear her in, then, and she can answer that.

 21                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  All right, thank you.

 22                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Hello, Ms. Ritchie.

 23            If you could, please, just take your mask off to

 24            say your name.

 25                 MS. RITCHIE:  I am Shannon Ritchie from the
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 01            Nuvance finance team.

 02                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, if you

 03            could, please, raise your right hand so I can

 04            administer the oath.

 05                 Do you solemnly swear or solemnly and

 06            sincerely affirm, as the case may be, that the

 07            testimony you're about to provide will be the

 08            truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth

 09            so help you god or upon penalty of perjury?

 10                 MS. RITCHIE:  I do.

 11                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you.  Go ahead.

 12                 MS. RITCHIE:  So I think it's important to

 13            note that the cost data that was provided in the

 14            completeness response is reflective of the

 15            patient mix and the acuity of the patient on the

 16            the unit.When we adjust that information to

 17            reflect, you know, an average cost per day, what

 18            we find is that the cost of the Danbury unit is

 19            actually less -- less costly than that of

 20            Norwalk.

 21                 MS. RIVAL:  Would you have any evidence to

 22            support that since that was not provided to us?

 23                 MS. RITCHIE:  I do have that evidence, yeah.

 24            We have not previously submitted it.  I can tell

 25            you:  We have run those numbers and what I found
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 01            is for fiscal year '21, as for an example, the

 02            cost of a self-paid patient on Norwalk Hospital

 03            on a per-day basis comes out to $1,945 per day

 04            and the equivalent cost of a self-pay patient at

 05            Danbury Hospital would be $1,696 per day.

 06                 MS. RIVAL:  Okay.

 07                 MR. LAZARUS:  Hearing Officer, can we get

 08            that as a late file?

 09                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Yes, I'm going to ask

 10            for that because I'm currently looking at Bates

 11            Page 583 through 584 and that does not square

 12            with the information provided there.

 13                 So I would also like you to explain any

 14            differences within Bates Pages 583 through 584

 15            with the information you are now providing.  We

 16            will mark that as a late file.

 17                 MS. RITCHIE:  Absolutely.

 18                 So the difference is that data that's

 19            completed on those Bates pages was reflective of

 20            the cost per case, so over the entire length of

 21            the admission, and as we know, the acuity and

 22            intensity of patients at Danbury and Norwalk was

 23            different during those time periods.  So what was

 24            submitted was that the cost of the self-pay

 25            patients at Norwalk Hospital was $9,205 in fiscal
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 01            '21 over the cost -- over the length of the

 02            admission; whereas that data point for Danbury

 03            Hospital specific to self-pay patients over the

 04            length of their stay was one thousand -- for --

 05            sorry, I want to make sure I have the reference

 06            right.  That piece of information, self-pay

 07            patient was $11,233.

 08                 So the information that I am sharing now is

 09            adjusted for a daily cost, cost per day.

 10                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay, so that will

 11            be -- we will be requesting that and any

 12            explanations of differences in numbers as a late

 13            file.

 14                 MS. RITCHIE:  Absolutely.

 15                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you.

 16                 MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.

 17                 Next, could you describe the referral

 18            process between inpatient psychiatric services

 19            and outpatient psychiatric services?

 20                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  I think we missed a

 21            question, actually.

 22                 MS. RIVAL:  You're right, I'm sorry.

 23                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  No. 10 was missed.  If

 24            we could go back and cover that one?

 25                 MS. RIVAL:  Absolutely.
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 01                 Specific to behavioral healthcare, please,

 02            discuss the charity care program and the

 03            community benefit program, and this refers to

 04            Exhibit A, Page 36, No. 25.

 05                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Just one moment, please.

 06            Thank you.

 07                 MS. RIVAL:  Sure.

 08                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Just to clarify, it's

 09            Bates Page 45.

 10                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Ms. Rival, Jen Zupcoe is

 11            going to speak to that.

 12                 Hearing Officer Novi, can we have her sworn

 13            in, as well?

 14                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Of course.

 15                 Hello, ma'am.  If you could, state your

 16            name, spelling your last name, and your job title

 17            for the record.

 18                 MS. ZUPCOE:  Sure.  It's Jennifer Zupcoe,

 19            Z-u-p-c-o-e, vice-president of financial

 20            operations and analytics.

 21                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, if you

 22            could, please, raise your right hand?

 23                 Do you solemnly swear or solemnly and

 24            sincerely affirm, as the case may be, that the

 25            testimony you are about to provide will be the
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 01            truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth

 02            so help you god or upon penalty of perjury?

 03                 MS. ZUPCOE:  Yes, I do.

 04                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you.  Go ahead

 05            and put your hand down.

 06                 Go ahead.

 07                 MS. ZUPCOE:  So related to our charity care

 08            policy, that charity care policy is a Nuvance

 09            Health charity care policy.  It applies to all

 10            patients, not just behavioral health.

 11                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Could you explain more

 12            about that?  You did say that you had a policy.

 13            I'm looking to find out more about what that

 14            policy is.  It is mentioned, but it says, "It has

 15            a general financial assistance policy, which will

 16            continually utilize the benefits of

 17            uninsured/underinsured individuals to enable

 18            access to medically-necessary care without regard

 19            for cost."

 20                 What does that mean?

 21                 MS. ZUPCOE:  Yes, so, as you're aware, so

 22            hospitals all have charity care policies that we

 23            follow very specifically.  That is applied

 24            consistently, you know, across our patient

 25            population to ensure that we are not obviously
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 01            charging or seeking reimbursement in excess from

 02            those patients that qualify.

 03                 We follow the 501R IRS guidelines, also, in

 04            terms of how we end up ultimately billing for

 05            services.  So, overall, those policies would be

 06            applicable to patient population who are

 07            eligible.  We share those charity care policies

 08            with the Office of Healthcare Strategy, as well,

 09            on an annual basis.

 10                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Just for reference, that

 11            was included as Attachment E, I believe, to our

 12            application.

 13                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.

 14                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Which is Bates No. 57.

 15                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  527, Thank you.

 16                 MS, RIVAL:  Okay, next, some questions that

 17            involve access.

 18                 Could you, please, describe the referral

 19            process between inpatient psychiatric services

 20            and outpatient psychiatric services?

 21                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you, Dr. Herrick

 22            will address that.

 23                 MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.

 24                 DR. HERRICK:  So each inpatient unit has a

 25            dedicated licensed clinical social worker who
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 01            accessing a variety of resources that are

 02            available from the inpatient unit to the

 03            outpatient services.  Obviously, it depends on

 04            the patient.  Patients that have a provider

 05            already in the community may be referred back if

 06            they needed more intensive level of care, they're

 07            referred to an Intensive Outpatient Program in

 08            the community.

 09                 Then, once that is secured, we try and get

 10            patients seen within five business days of their

 11            discharge, and from the standpoint of having

 12            access to outpatient care, that is our goal, and

 13            that's typically what happens.

 14                 Now, when Covid occured, every, every

 15            outpatient system was overwhelmed, and so, trying

 16            to access an outpatient appointment during Covid

 17            in the last year has been challenging, at best,

 18            including those patients with very rich insurance

 19            plans, and sometimes it's upwards of two weeks

 20            that we're not able to secure an appointment for

 21            a patient who is about to be discharged.

 22                 So that's really put a lot of pressure on

 23            the hospitals, and we've kept patients longer, or

 24            actually, our length of stay has increased in the

 25            past year, I think, primarily as a result of lack
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 01            of access.

 02                 MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.

 03                 MR. LAZARUS:  Ms. Rival, one second.

 04                 I just want to go back and follow-up on the

 05            question you had about the charity care and

 06            community benefits.  I know we talked about the

 07            charity care.

 08                 Regarding the community benefits, can the

 09            Applicants talk a little bit about what the

 10            community benefits have been, say, for example,

 11            in the last year or so in the Norwalk Community

 12            related to behavioral health specifically?

 13                 DR. HERRICK:  Well, before -- I mean, I

 14            think the question has multiple answers, but I

 15            think one of the biggest community benefits that

 16            Norwalk Hospital has provided is the Community

 17            Care Team, and this focuses on the highest-risk

 18            patients in our community who typically have

 19            three problems:  They have a Substance Use

 20            Disorder, they have a psychiatric disorder, and

 21            they have a major medical condition, and as a

 22            result of that, they often seek their care in

 23            emergency rooms primarily, and those patients are

 24            provided the opportunity to sign on with a

 25            Community Care Team and it's a whole list of
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 01            resources in the community that comes together on

 02            a weekly basis and meets and discusses what the

 03            patients needs are.

 04                 Largely, there are social determinants of

 05            health, whether it be housing, access to

 06            healthcare, medical care, psychiatric care,

 07            substance abuse care, whatever resources are

 08            available that the community has access to are

 09            offered to the patient, including even case

 10            management services where they will physically

 11            help the patient get to their appointments on

 12            time.

 13                 So that's, I think, just one aspect of the

 14            question you asked in terms of how we address

 15            community benefit.

 16                 MR. LAZARUS:  For the Community Care Team,

 17            is there some sort of documentation you might be

 18            able to provide us that talks about what its

 19            function is and what's the make-up of the

 20            Community Care Team?

 21                 DR. HERRICK:  Sure.  We can get that to you.

 22            I don't know if it was included in that -- in the

 23            documentation, but yeah, absolutely, we can get

 24            it to you.

 25                 MR. LAZARUS:  Thank you.
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 01                 DR. HERRICK:  Norwalk want to expand into

 02            New York, as well.

 03                 MR. LAZARUS:  Yes, anything you can provide

 04            to document that and provide some explanation

 05            with that, that would be helpful.

 06                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, I will

 07            order that as a second late file would be

 08            information on the Community Care Team.

 09                 MR. LAZARUS:  Thank you, Ms. Rival.  I'm all

 10            set.  Back to you.

 11                 MS. RIVAL:  Great.

 12                 The first completeness response shows a

 13            table on Page 7 with the average daily census for

 14            the inpatient psychiatric units at both Norwalk

 15            and Danbury for the past five fiscal years.

 16                 What are your expansion plans for the

 17            Danbury facility that will accommodate all of the

 18            Norwalk patients?

 19                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Dr. Herrick will address

 20            that.

 21                 MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.

 22                 DR. HERRICK:  So I'm looking at Page 7 of 30

 23            that include some demographics and numbers, but

 24            historically, between the two units, the average

 25            daily census has been running in the low to
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 01            mid-20s, and the plan is that we will have a

 02            34-bed unit and that will include probably 12

 03            doubles and -- and singles, and the planning,

 04            really, it involved both what we could do for the

 05            Norwalk Community based on the historical numbers

 06            as well as expanding bed capacity, as well, for

 07            the network in general, and in addition, it

 08            leveraged our experience for Covid so that we can

 09            operate in times of a pandemic.  Single beds and

 10            -- meet the needs of the community with just

 11            converting everything to single, as well as the

 12            opportunity to expand and turn the single beds

 13            into double beds if we need to, if we exceed

 14            capacity.  So it offers us a great deal of

 15            flexibility in our ability to manage patients.

 16                 Also, the way the unit will be configured is

 17            to potentially create areas of specialization so

 18            that patients with a particular condition can be

 19            separated somewhat from other patients in order

 20            to improve care.  So it's a very thoughtful

 21            design that includes a lot of possible

 22            considerations for the future that we can adapt

 23            to.

 24                 MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.

 25                 Page 672 of Dr. Charles Herrick's prefile
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 01            testimony notes that one of the strategies for

 02            staff improvement in Nuvance's -- is Nuvance's

 03            psychiatric residency program.  Has this strategy

 04            been significantly tested or used at any of the

 05            other Nuvance facilities?

 06                 DR. HERRICK:  Well, our Nuvance psychiatric

 07            residency program is rather unique to the

 08            network, whereas most of the residency programs

 09            are specific to a particular hospital.  Our

 10            program crosses the network and our residents are

 11            placed in several hospitals, both on the New York

 12            and Connecticut side, including Sharon, Danbury

 13            and Norwalk.

 14                 Now, we haven't yet -- we haven't yet

 15            graduated a class.  We don't graduate our first

 16            class until '24, but we anticipate that, in

 17            general, most residency training programs are

 18            able to retain about 40 percent of their

 19            graduates.  If we even retain 25 percent of our

 20            graduates, we will have considered it an enormous

 21            success because we are a designated professional

 22            shortage area in mental health in both Danbury

 23            and Norwalk.

 24                 In addition, we are partnering with a

 25            federally-qualified health agency in Danbury that
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 01            is starting a residency training program.  So we

 02            are collaborating with them and we're hopeful

 03            that they will have four residents per year, as

 04            well.  So we're very positive about our ability

 05            to staff our plans, both in the Outpatient

 06            Intensive Outpatient and inpatient setting.

 07                 MS. RIVAL:  Do you have any indicators that

 08            you can draw from the first graduating class of

 09            2024?

 10                 DR. HERRICK:  So "indicators" in terms of

 11            just conversations with them individually in

 12            terms of what they want to do in -- I'm not sure

 13            I understand the question about "indicators."

 14                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  I can rephrase for

 15            you.

 16                 MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.

 17                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Just as a generality,

 18            do you have any -- what -- even if it's

 19            anecdotal, any evidence that the first graduating

 20            class may meet that 25 percent maintain -- that

 21            stay with the system.

 22                 DR. HERRICK:  Well, one of the things that

 23            we've emphasized in recruiting candidates is a

 24            real commitment to community psychiatry and to

 25            the geographical area.  So we actually are quite
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 01            selective in the candidates that we want, and we

 02            look for whether they grew up in the area,

 03            whether they have family in the area, in some

 04            way, how are they committed to the -- of the

 05            western Connecticut area, when we choose these

 06            people.

 07                 So I'm very confident these are -- these are

 08            candidates who are committed to the western

 09            Connecticut area and want to stay.

 10                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.

 11                 Ms. Rival, any follow-up questions?

 12                 MS. RIVAL:  Nope, thank you.

 13                 Page 782 of Stephen Merz's prefile testimony

 14            speaks to the lack of accessible community

 15            providers of outpatient care and the effect on

 16            the emergency department and inpatient services.

 17            How will this proposal improve access to

 18            community providers?

 19                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Stephen Merz will address

 20            that.  Thank you.

 21                 MR. MERZ:  Well, first off, the ambulatory

 22            program expansion that's proposed in the

 23            certificate of need application will be community

 24            programs and community providers, although

 25            hospital-based.  So one way is to obviously add
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 01            to the portfolio of community-based services

 02            directly through the creation and expansion of

 03            those programs.

 04                 The second part is that in -- when -- by

 05            establishing an intensive outpatient level of

 06            care, there is an increased likelihood that

 07            community providers will be able to accept

 08            patients because they have been -- they have been

 09            stepped-down and they are stable in a community

 10            outpatient setting, so they're more likely to be

 11            accepted into the practice or the practices that

 12            exist.

 13                 I think the third thing is that Norwalk

 14            Hospital already has a -- a rich set of

 15            outpatient and ambulatory behavioral healthcare

 16            programs, some supported by DMHAS, the Department

 17            of Mental Health and Addiction Services of the

 18            state that are provided in the local community,

 19            and by having the Intensive Outpatient Programs

 20            and the other outpatient programs in Norwalk

 21            Hospital, that because it's basically going to

 22            enrich the fabric of community providers by

 23            serving Norwalk.

 24                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  I have a follow-up

 25            question to that.
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 01                 How will you find these community providers

 02            and what efforts will you have to get more

 03            community providers for the patients that come

 04            out of your -- your IOPs and through your ED?

 05                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Dr. Herrick will speak to

 06            that.

 07                 DR. HERRICK:  So, first of all, we have a

 08            dedicated recruitment team that is always out

 09            there attending conferences, soliciting interest,

 10            and always outreaching to find qualified staff

 11            for the public things that we have.

 12                 So, we have that, but more importantly, as I

 13            mentioned previously about our psychiatry

 14            residency program, I think this network has

 15            really learned that the best way to

 16            recruit/retain staff is internally.  So we have

 17            really pushed hard to establish educational

 18            programs in a variety of areas including social

 19            work, PAs, APRNs, undergraduate medical

 20            education.  The department of psychiatry alone

 21            has five medical schools that we are a clinical

 22            clerkship for.

 23                 So, historically, we have not been as big on

 24            education, but with the network and our

 25            understanding of staff shortages across all
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 01            areas, not just behaviorial health, we recognize

 02            that providing an educational foundation

 03            internally is the key to being able to recruit

 04            and retain qualified staff.

 05                 So we are very optimistic.  We partnered

 06            with many of the schools in the surrounding area,

 07            including Sacred Heart University.

 08                 So we feel very strongly that we'll be able

 09            to staff to our needs

 10                 MS. RIVAL:  The next question I have speaks

 11            to transportation.

 12                 There are 43 miles between Norwalk Hospital

 13            and Danbury Hospital.  How will patients be

 14            transported between the two facilities?

 15                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you.  Mr. Cordeau

 16            will speak to that.

 17                 MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.

 18                 MR. CORDEAU:  Hello.

 19                 Transportation between Norwalk and Danbury

 20            would occur if a patient required an inpatient

 21            level of care.  Because it's a higher level of

 22            care, those patients would be transferred via

 23            ambulance.

 24                 MS. RIVAL:  Okay, what happens when a

 25            Norwalk area patient is discharged from the
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 01            Danbury inpatient unit?  How do they get home?

 02                 MR. CORDEAU:  Yeah, so, from the time of

 03            admission, case managers work with both patients

 04            to families on an appropriate discharge plan that

 05            includes transportation.

 06                 So there are various ways that our case

 07            management team does that.  One would be public

 08            transportation, which happens to be free, between

 09            Danbury and Norwalk currently.  The other is

 10            family, and then, lastly, if that is not

 11            available and all those options are exhausted, we

 12            provide a transportation voucher and pay for the

 13            transport for that patient to be transferred back

 14            to their caregiver safely.

 15                 MS. RIVAL:  Okay, and you mentioned the case

 16            manager, but how will the transfer centers

 17            coordinate these services?

 18                 MR. CORDEAU:  Well, from an admission

 19            perspective, from Norwalk to Danbury, if that's

 20            the question, so we -- our psychiatrists at both

 21            Norwalk and Danbury have admitting privileges to

 22            both, so we're not transferring ED to ED.  So, if

 23            Dr. Herrick, for instance, deems that I needed an

 24            inpatient bed, then he can call -- well, he can

 25            admit me directly to a Danbury bed.  He -- you
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 01            know, he's the attending physician doing that

 02            admission.  So that transportation is arranged

 03            per the ED.  That patient goes directly to the

 04            inpatient unit at Danbury Hospital.

 05                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  I have a follow-up

 06            question to this.

 07                 Norwalk -- Norwalk's Wheel Transit Hub to

 08            Danbury Hospital is currently two hours and 22

 09            minutes.  If a -- if a patient whose family is in

 10            Norwalk wanted to visit them in Danbury, it would

 11            take them almost five hours roundtrip to travel

 12            to and from Danbury.

 13                 Is there any sort of -- how would a family

 14            member actively participate in a -- in a

 15            patient's -- in patient rehab in -- or inpatient

 16            treatment if they could not get there within two

 17            hours?

 18                 MR. CORDEAU:  Yeah, I'm not familiar with

 19            that reference.

 20                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Hearing Officer Novi, are

 21            you referring to a particular reference in the

 22            application?

 23                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  No, no, it's -- it's

 24            quite a drive.  I mean, even Google -- if you

 25            were to drive, it would take you almost an hour
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 01            to get there.  If you didn't have transportation,

 02            it could be quite likely, especially, you know,

 03            on a snow day or something, for somebody without

 04            transportation and somebody who may be could not

 05            afford to have their own transportation, how

 06            would you help family members actively

 07            participate in inpatient treatment at the Danbury

 08            Hospital from Norwalk?

 09                 MR. CORDEAU:  Okay, so, based on the

 10            information provided here, it's approximately a

 11            43-minute ride, 22.4r miles from Norwalk to

 12            Danbury on Google Maps.

 13                 So there's two public transportation

 14            options.  Certainly, by train, probably less

 15            ideal, and by bus, publicly-available schedules

 16            indicate that the travel time is approximately an

 17            hour, and the bus schedules, I believe, are

 18            attached in our application, and if that's a

 19            misstatement, we can provide them.

 20                 Dr. Herrick is going to comment.

 21                 DR. HERRICK:  You know, family meetings

 22            have -- have been a critical aspect of providing

 23            quality behavioral healthcare at the inpatient

 24            setting.  So we are exquisitely sensitive to the

 25            fact that they have to travel and we will do
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 01            everything in our power to ensure they get out

 02            there in a timely manner, including vouchers, if

 03            we need to do that, but more importantly, one of

 04            the lessons that we learned that Dr. Murphy

 05            mentioned earlier is using technology, and so

 06            during Covid, we actually conducted family

 07            meetings via Zoom like we are doing right now,

 08            and we found it an incredibly effective, and we

 09            continue to provide that service to families and

 10            routinely run family meetings using Zoom

 11            services, and you know, the feedback from

 12            families has been largely positive.

 13                 So, you know between our efforts to support

 14            them in getting up there physically and

 15            leveraging technology, we do have an opportunity

 16            to really build out a very nice (unintelligible)

 17            telepsych program on the unit.

 18                 So we're -- we're very optimistic that this

 19            is not going to be any sort of barrier to having

 20            an effective family meeting for discharge

 21            planning and regular routine care.

 22                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.

 23                 MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.

 24                 And the last few questions that I have refer

 25            to quality.
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 01                 If you could, please, describe any care

 02            coordination services to ensure patients remain

 03            connected to services from intake to discharge

 04            within and among the facilities?

 05                 DR. HERRICK:  Again, you know, it's

 06            interesting that one of the things that we found

 07            when we had originally -- for example, with

 08            Danbury and IOPs, so what we found was that when

 09            patients had the opportunity to visit the IOP

 10            before discharge, our rates of Connect-to-Care

 11            increased dramatically.

 12                 We learned from that that by having a face

 13            to a name is a very powerful opportunity for

 14            patients to feel connected and to want to show up

 15            for those appointments.  So, again, our

 16            opportunity this time is to leverage technology

 17            in order to put a face with the name so that we

 18            can ensure there's Connect-to-Care in a timely

 19            manner.

 20                 Secondly, by having access, obviously, if

 21            there's an appointment a week away, it's less

 22            likely that a patient is going to show up for

 23            their appointment then if their appointment is a

 24            day away or two days away.  So I think by having

 25            greater access as well as leveraging technology,
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 01            we're very -- we're very positive that this

 02            Connect-to-Care is really going to improve.  It's

 03            something that the entire state has been

 04            struggling with.

 05                 In fact, Beacon Options, which is a Medicaid

 06            healthcare provider, has found that that is a

 07            very important factor.  In most hospitals,

 08            Connect-to-Care is about a month.  So we're

 09            hoping to -- and we historically have been better

 10            than that.  We want to -- that's really, I think,

 11            the single-most important quality metric for

 12            behavioral health we can monitor.

 13                 MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.

 14                 Page 637 of the prefile responses by

 15            Dr. Murphy states that the intent of the proposal

 16            is to become a regional focal point for mental

 17            health treatment and that quality will be

 18            enhanced by Nuvance's network-wide performance

 19            standards and care coordination efforts.

 20                 Could you describe these standards and how

 21            quality is measured?

 22                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Was that for Dr. Murphy or

 23            for --

 24                 DR. HERRICK:  So, I mean, we have a number

 25            of metrics.  First and foremost, as I had
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 01            mentioned as Connect-to-Care and I think that, as

 02            I said, is the single-most important quality of

 03            metric available, but also, we do look at

 04            variations in care across physicians as well as

 05            between hospitals.  We look at length of stay.

 06            We look at discharge planning.  We look at family

 07            meetings in order to ensure that the elements of

 08            care are maintained throughout this system, and

 09            that's -- you know, when Dr. Murphy writes about

 10            that by consolidating inpatient services under

 11            one roof, we have a much better ability to ensure

 12            that there's a standardizational quality across

 13            providers than between what is (unintelligible)

 14            hospitals.

 15                 So that's one of the major reasons for

 16            consolidating inpatient care, is to improve that

 17            quality.

 18                 MS. RIVAL:  Excuse me.

 19                 DR. HERRICK:  Gesundheit.

 20                 MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.

 21                 DR. HERRICK:  -- to improve that quality.

 22                 So those are some of the measures, and you

 23            know, in behavioral health, you know, ultimately,

 24            the single biggest quality measure, obviously,

 25            we've been seeing across the country are suicide
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 01            rates, and our hope is that, through these

 02            processes, because the studies have demonstrated

 03            access to care really is the biggest player in

 04            reducing suicide rates, that that is going to be

 05            the single most important factor in helping our

 06            community.

 07                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  To follow up on your

 08            discharge clinic, would you tell us a little bit

 09            about what discharge from Danbury Hospital to an

 10            IOP in Norwalk might look like?

 11                 DR. HERRICK:  Sure.

 12                 So all of our clinical social workers,

 13            whether they work in Norwalk or they work in

 14            Danbury, have access to the same resources, and

 15            our physicians, because we have a single

 16            electronic medical record across, the hospitals

 17            have access to both inpatient and outpatient

 18            records, we can -- we can task one another.

 19            We're able to immediately obtain an appointment

 20            for our patients and we know each other

 21            personally and professionally, and so it just

 22            moves the entire process of discharging a

 23            patient, whether they're in Danbury or Norwalk,

 24            to the outpatient services in Norwalk.

 25                 MS. RIVAL:  And my final question:  What if

�0105

 01            a patient of the emergency department does not

 02            want to go to Danbury and wants to remain in the

 03            Norwalk Community?  How would you address that

 04            situation?

 05                 DR. HERRICK:  So we address it every day, in

 06            fact, and we always give the patients choice.

 07            Where would you like to go?  And we give them

 08            options, and you know, as I mentioned earlier,

 09            there are a number of hospitals in the

 10            surrounding area that, sometimes, they prefer to

 11            go to, and sometimes we have no choice because

 12            either there are no beds available, or if they're

 13            an adolescent, we have to find an adolescent

 14            facility.

 15                 So we're not going to stop doing that just

 16            because we have this plan in place.

 17                 MS. RIVAL:  That concludes my questions.

 18                 Hearing Officer Novi or Mr. Lazarus, I don't

 19            know if you have any additional?

 20                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Steve, do you have

 21            any?  I have one, but --

 22                 MR. LAZARUS:  I'm all set.  Go ahead.

 23                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay, my -- my final

 24            question is:  Why does moving from an inpatient

 25            to outpatient-focused care improve access to
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 01            low-income members or the indigent population of

 02            Norwalk?

 03                 DR. HERRICK:  I think it's not just a matter

 04            of expanding the number of services that we offer

 05            in the outpatient side, including the Intensive

 06            Outpatient Programs, but one of the things that

 07            we haven't addressed up to this point is we're

 08            also planning on expanding outpatient services,

 09            general outpatient services, and because we're a

 10            clinic, we take all insurances, and one of the

 11            challenges that I think many of the

 12            DMHAS-sponsored outpatient clinics have struggled

 13            with recently have been staffing shortages as

 14            well as increased volumes.  So we are going to

 15            accept those patients.  We have every intention

 16            of accepting any patient regardless of the

 17            insurance plan and getting them in in a timely

 18            manner, evaluating them, determining what level

 19            of care they need, and providing treatment to

 20            them.

 21                 So, you know, we're -- we remain dedicated

 22            to treating the underserved, and I think that's

 23            something that is important to emphasize, that

 24            there's no one in the community, or very few

 25            people in the community, who accept Medicaid and
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 01            fewer and fewer people in the community are even

 02            accepting commercial insurance because they don't

 03            have to, and if they do accept a commercial

 04            payer, it's only because it's -- it pays well and

 05            it's administratively-easy, perhaps.  That's

 06            created a tremendous burden on patients in terms

 07            of gaining access.  So, as a result, they often

 08            come to the emergency room.  They're stigmatized

 09            in the emergency room, and they end up on an

 10            inpatient unit, even if it wasn't necessarily an

 11            appropriate level of care, but it's the best

 12            level of care available to them at that point in

 13            time.  Our hope is to avoid that so that these

 14            Medicaid patients can be treated with respect in

 15            in an outpatient setting in the community they

 16            desire.

 17                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, thank you

 18            very much.

 19                 All right, that is it for the questions from

 20            OHS.  At this point, I will ask your attorney if

 21            he has any follow-up questions based on the

 22            questions that we posed to the Applicants?

 23                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you, Hearing Officer

 24            Novi.  No further questions.

 25                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, so, at this
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 01            point, we are -- we are set for the morning

 02            section.  We will hold closing argument and

 03            comments after the public comments -- sorry, we

 04            will do -- closing arguments will be heard after

 05            public comment.  Sign-up starts at 2:00 p.m.

 06            Public comment will start at 3:00 p.m., if there

 07            is any, and then, after that, and if we don't

 08            have any, we will move to closing arguments at

 09            that time.  If we do have them, we'll hear those

 10            first, then go to closing arguments.

 11                 It is now 11:39 a.m. and we will go to a

 12            break.  I will check back at 2:00 to see if

 13            public comment has started.  Otherwise, we will

 14            begin at 3:00 p.m..

 15                 Thank you, everybody, and have a nice break.

 16                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you.

 17  

 18                           (Recess.)

 19  

 20                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Hello, everybody, I

 21            just want to remind everybody -- welcome back.

 22            We will be having public sign-up from 2:00 to

 23            3:00 p.m. and public comments from -- at -- begin

 24            at 3:00 p.m..  We will call the names of those

 25            who have signed up to speak in the order in which
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 01            they have registered.

 02                 We would like to remind everybody that if we

 03            have any large amount of people, I am allowed to

 04            limit your participation to three minutes;

 05            however, let's see how many people we have first.

 06                 Also, I do strongly encourage everybody

 07            listening to submit written comments to OHS by

 08            email or by mail no later than one week, that's

 09            seven calendar days, from today.  Our contact

 10            information is on the Website and on the public

 11            information sheet, which was shown at the

 12            beginning of the hearing and again, my -- making

 13            public comments, and as stated previously in this

 14            recording, you are -- you're speaking today is

 15            either verbally without camera or with a camera

 16            is consent to being recorded.  So your commons

 17            will be recorded and contained within our --

 18            within our transcripts.

 19                 All right, and with that, I will go ahead

 20            and allow anybody who needs to register for

 21            public comment to register with Maya Capozzi.

 22            She will be keeping track.  She will be keeping a

 23            list of individuals who have submitted their

 24            names and then she will give that to me when she

 25            is done.
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 01                 So we will reconvene sat 3:00 p.m. for

 02            public comments.  At that time -- if you would

 03            like to speak at that time, please, make sure you

 04            have registered prior to that.

 05                 Any other comments from the attorneys or the

 06            analysts?

 07                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  No, thank you.

 08                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, and I see

 09            nothing from Steve.  All right everybody, well

 10            be -- reconvene at 3:00 p.m..  Thank you.

 11  

 12                                  (Recess.)

 13  

 14                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  As you were just

 15            informed by the Zoom -- by the Zoom voice, we are

 16            being -- we are recording these -- this hearing

 17            and your remaining in this hearing is your

 18            consent to being recorded.  If you have any

 19            issues of being recorded, you may now leave the

 20            hearing at this time.

 21                 All right, welcome back.  For those of you

 22            just joining us, this is the second portion of

 23            today's hearing concerning CON application filed

 24            by the Norwalk Hospital Association d/b/a Norwalk

 25            Hospital, Docket No. 22-32513CON -- CON.  We

�0111

 01            have -- we had the technical portion this

 02            morning.  We will be calling the names of those

 03            who signed up to speak in the order in which they

 04            were registered.  Afterwards, I will ask if

 05            there's anyone else present who wishes to be

 06            heard.

 07                 Speaking time is typically limited to three

 08            minutes.  Since there are few registered, I will

 09            allow you to go beyond that.  However, I do ask

 10            that you keep your comments fairly brief in

 11            nature.

 12                 Additionally, we strongly encourage you and

 13            anyone else listening to submit written comments

 14            to OHS by e-mail or mail no later than one week,

 15            that's seven days, from today, in which that

 16            would be December 21st.  Our contact information

 17            is on our Website and on the public information

 18            sheet in which you were -- or sorry, on the

 19            hearing slide, which we provided at the beginning

 20            of the hearing.  Thank you for taking the time to

 21            be here today and for your cooperation.

 22                 We are ready to hear statements from the

 23            public.

 24                 Ms. Capozzi from our office has been kind

 25            enough to keep a list of individuals who have

�0112

 01            submitted their names, so I may need her

 02            assistance with this.

 03                 Anyone speaking, I'll remind you to turn on

 04            your video and to turn your video and microphone

 05            on.

 06                 MS. CAPOZZI:  You have to go away now.

 07                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, the

 08            Applicants will have an opportunity to respond to

 09            your comments and your written submission in

 10            writing.  Given the nature of your submission

 11            and -- sorry, and we'll have a chance to respond

 12            to your -- to your submissions in writing.

 13                 At the point, Ms. Capozzi, the first person,

 14            please?

 15                 MS. CAPOZZI:  Diane Cece.

 16                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Hello, Ms. Cece.  If

 17            you could, please, unmute yourself and turn on

 18            your camera, if possible.

 19                 MS. CECE:  Good afternoon.

 20                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Hello, if you could,

 21            please, state your name for the record, please.

 22                 MS. CECE:  Okay, my name is Diane Cece,

 23            C-e-c-e, and it's Olmstead Place in Norwalk,

 24            Connecticut.

 25                 Ms. Capozzi, it would be Cece or Cece in
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 01            Italy, so that was close, thank you.

 02                 I'm -- thank you, members of the board.  I'm

 03            a little bit more used to speaking at public

 04            hearings within my own community, so I'm a bit

 05            nervous.  I hope you bear with me.  If I'm

 06            breaking any rules, just jump in and stop me

 07            here.

 08                 And I will say that I read through 99

 09            percent of the documents associated with this

 10            application, and I am working today, but I

 11            followed as much as I could of the morning

 12            session to hear the Applicants, but subsequently

 13            had to take a whole bunch of kind of pick and

 14            scratch notes. So I did ask before and I am going

 15            to follow up, I believe, with a written comment.

 16                 I'm not sure how many people there are here

 17            to speak that are just regular residents.  I'm

 18            not representing any organization or group.  I'm

 19            just here as a resident of Norwalk and I wanted

 20            to open up by saying that I suspect if there's

 21            not a whole lot of folks, that it may be due to

 22            what I consider a severe lack of public notice

 23            about this application.  In general, I think

 24            Nuvance or Norwalk Hospital had only posted the

 25            bare minimum, which was a small, you know,
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 01            two-font legal notice a year or so ago, and also,

 02            when OHS had published for the public hearing

 03            recently, the legal notice, I brought this to the

 04            attention, I think, to one of your attorneys,

 05            that that notice only describes the proposal as a

 06            termination of an inpatient service, and there's

 07            nothing in that document that would lead anyone

 08            in Norwalk to know that this is related to

 09            psychiatric and behavioral and mental health, and

 10            I think there's a disservice and I hope that can

 11            be addressed in the future.

 12                 I wanted to speak to you today because what

 13            I have read of this, and I know about it, and

 14            after listening to the testimony, I'm speaking to

 15            you today in opposition of granting this

 16            application for a whole host of reasons.  I'll

 17            rattle these off as quickly as I can, and if you

 18            could, give me a warning here on the time.

 19                 No. 1, I believe that this application

 20            really serves only to benefit Nuvance and Norwalk

 21            Hospital.  I don't see any benefit to our

 22            community, and contrary, I believe it provides an

 23            extraordinary burden on the patients who are

 24            served by -- in inpatient services, their

 25            families, their caregivers, and their current
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 01            professional and social workers who are within

 02            Norwalk.

 03                 I mean, it's easy for Nuvance to say, "It's

 04            just up the road a piece in Danbury," but to one

 05            of your Commissioner's points, that would be 45

 06            to 60-minute commute via car and as much as two

 07            to two-and-a-half hours versus other types of

 08            transit, and I don't see -- I think that they

 09            should provide a great benefit to the residents

 10            and I'm not seeing that here.

 11                 You also heard them spoke(sic) about and in

 12            their document, they refer the IOP, Intensive

 13            Outpatient Services, that this would then

 14            actually increase while decreasing the inpatient

 15            beds, and I don't see that's being

 16            mutually-exclusive.  I'm not seeing anything or

 17            reading anything where I understand where they

 18            couldn't make an effort along with the community

 19            to have a massive increase in IOP within the

 20            community and community-based services and still

 21            maintain the level of inpatient beds that they

 22            have, honestly, if not even increase them.

 23                 They talk about the ability to safeguard

 24            places here and the lack of services and I'm not

 25            really clear on the distinction of what Danbury
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 01            would offer, and if why there's going to be

 02            additional community services, that couldn't go

 03            hands-in-hand with the beds.

 04                 When they talk about moving these services,

 05            in the same breath, they also talk about low

 06            utilization and shortage of staff, and in my

 07            mind, if the utilization is that low, I think

 08            they said seven daily beds, daily census, if I'm

 09            reading that correctly and if it is that low,

 10            then why it is a burden on Nuvance to keep that

 11            service, increase the staff, which, in fact, they

 12            said they're spending an extraordinary amount of

 13            money on in terms of psychiatric interns and

 14            additional staff.

 15                 So I -- I'm just not, you know, getting that

 16            connect there.  The -- I believe that one of your

 17            staff asked a question about the 35 percent

 18            increase in cost in Danbury versus Norwalk

 19            Hospital, and the lady who answered that, I'm not

 20            clear on that answer.  I hope that you'll go back

 21            and look at the additional documents that you

 22            asked her to send because she was comparing

 23            something called the daily cost versus what the

 24            average day would be, and in that long-term

 25            average day number, it was significantly higher
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 01            than what Norwalk Hospital would bear -- Norwalk

 02            Hospital would charge and then a patient would be

 03            responsible for.

 04                 The -- in terms of being able to -- I think

 05            they talked to you about doing some investment

 06            pods that will be in the emergency room and

 07            having them be something that would be of more

 08            comfort and privacy in the future.  Again, I

 09            don't think that's mutually-exclusive, the in-bed

 10            services, and they said, though, that the

 11            facility is over 80 years old and needs

 12            modernization and aesthetics and it would cost

 13            them $18 million in costs, and quite simply, I

 14            have no sympathy for that as a resident here when

 15            we have been deluged with publicity and marketing

 16            and public relations materials on Norwalk

 17            Hospital about to spend $250 to $300 million on a

 18            massive expansion of a new wing.

 19                 You also asked a question on how the

 20            community engagement information was gathered and

 21            considered and they spoke to you about key

 22            stakeholders, clergy, Norwalk Police Department,

 23            Mayor Rilling, the schools, et cetera, but I

 24            would say I'm a very engaged citizen in Norwalk

 25            and I would know nothing about this unless I'm
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 01            one of the three kind of losers in our town that

 02            read legal notices every single day.  I would

 03            have no way of knowing that and I suspect that

 04            our community at large or residents know nothing

 05            about it, either.

 06                 The federal support that they mentioned that

 07            was supported by Senator Blumenthal and Murphy,

 08            the two point million, I think, was something

 09            that was already in the works regardless of this,

 10            so I'm not sure why they're linking that to a

 11            decision to move the services.

 12                 I do want to know, with the lack of

 13            communication so far, how the community would be

 14            made aware should you approve these changes.

 15                 And I know that I'm over my time and I -- so

 16            I just want to say, for those reasons, I'm --

 17            after reading everything and listening today, I'm

 18            glad you're keeping this hearing open because

 19            what's happened now is I feel like I have even

 20            more questions than answers than I did before and

 21            so -- and all the questions that you asked were

 22            just so relevant and I just think asked in a

 23            manner that looks like you're trying to protect

 24            our community - both communities, actually - and

 25            I want to be -- because I was working, I wanted,
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 01            you know, to be able to have an opportunity to

 02            actually replay this entire session and then I

 03            hope to be able to submit some comments to you in

 04            writing because as soon as I hang up here, I'm

 05            going to think of the five other things I really

 06            wanted you all to know and consider, and I thank

 07            you for your time.  I know I went over.  I

 08            appreciate it.

 09                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, thank you.

 10            Thank you very much.  I will go ahead and ask you

 11            to remute yourself, Ms. Cece.

 12                 Ms. Capozzi, the second person?

 13                 MS. CAPOZZI:  I think it's Richard

 14            Maiberger.

 15                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, Mr.

 16            Maiberger, if you could, go ahead and unmute

 17            yourself and turn your camera on and then state

 18            your name and address for the record, please.

 19                 MR. MAIBERGER:  Hi, my name is Richard

 20            Maiberger and I am a retired psychiatrist.

 21                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay, go ahead with

 22            your statement.

 23                 MR. MAIBERGER:  I was a director of

 24            inpatient psychiatry at Norwalk Hospital from --

 25            for most of my career.  I was chairman of the
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 01            department from 2003 to 2007.

 02                 I would like to, first of all, support the

 03            expansion of outpatient services that is

 04            anticipated as a terrific idea for our patients.

 05                 I want to say that the closure of the

 06            psychiatric unit, currently called CP-3 is a

 07            great loss to our community.  I agree with what

 08            Diane said, as there's been very little publicity

 09            about the closure of the unit.  There's been

 10            publicity about the expansion of both outpatient

 11            services.  I'm opposed for many reasons, but

 12            we -- the distance, I think, that it would

 13            require to get to Danbury Hospital for patients,

 14            for their loved ones, and for their loved one's

 15            participation in therapeutic activities is great

 16            and would, I think, inhibit care.

 17                 This says nothing about the fact that, very

 18            often, our patients are waiting in the emergency

 19            department for transfer to another facility,

 20            whether it be Danbury or otherwise, and even

 21            though they're improving the conditions there,

 22            there still is time alone, usually on constant

 23            observation with a sitter, and it's 24 hours a

 24            day and four walls, and even with the addition of

 25            behavioral therapists, I don't think that that is
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 01            anywhere near as ideal, to be honest with you, on

 02            the inpatient unit, and -- given the more

 03            intensive care.

 04                 The -- they talked about the addition of

 05            telepsychiatry and I think telepsychiatry has

 06            been terrific and is a convenience, but it does

 07            not measure up to one-to-one personal care.

 08                 As far as, you know, the idea of

 09            Connect-to-Care that was mentioned, I think that

 10            is extremely important as one of the most

 11            important things that happens on the inpatient

 12            unit, is that patients come in and become exposed

 13            to and become aware of the possibility of

 14            continuing their care as outpatients, which is so

 15            crucial because so many of them -- so many of the

 16            patients have denial and resistance to getting

 17            further care.  At that time in CP-3, particularly

 18            in those early days, are so important to achieve

 19            that.

 20                  Also, in making those outpatient plans,

 21            they need to connect with people.  We had people

 22            that would come that were case managers, there

 23            were people who would provide social support,

 24            people that could provide support of housing,

 25            case management.  All of that was so crucial and

�0122

 01            those people would come to the unit and meet with

 02            patients and that was very useful.

 03                 Let me just make a few comments of things

 04            that I heard this morning.

 05                 Inpatient treatment, as I just said, is far

 06            superior on one-to-one interaction in a bay in

 07            the emergency department.

 08                 The other thing that's so crucial is that

 09            the patients need to want to pursue care and they

 10            often don't come to the -- they don't come into

 11            the outpatient clinic looking for care.  They are

 12            in crisis and they come to the emergency

 13            department because they're in crisis and that's

 14            when they -- you know, they have the opportunity

 15            to begin -- begin to get care, not everybody, but

 16            a lot of patients come that way.

 17                 They mentioned the patients that want to go

 18            to Silver Hill or St. Vincent's in Westport or

 19            Yale, and that's true, and people want to make

 20            that choice, but it's usually the more affluent

 21            among us that want to make that choice.  You

 22            know, people would come to CP-3 sometimes that

 23            were affluent and they would leave.  They would

 24            want to leave and go to Silver Hill, not because,

 25            I think, the unit was tired, and -- but because
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 01            they were exposed to patients that made them very

 02            uncomfortable, and I think that's why they would

 03            want to leave more than -- more than the physical

 04            surroundings.

 05                 Also, patients are admitted to the inpatient

 06            unit from outpatient services.  Our outpatient

 07            services at Norwalk Hospital, they just do not --

 08            the condition deteriorated and they needed to

 09            come in as inpatients.  So, even though we are

 10            providing more outpatient services, it doesn't

 11            preclude them from being rehospitalized.

 12                 Adolescent care has always been limited and

 13            a lot of that has to do with the fact that it was

 14            very difficult to -- to find a child psychiatrist

 15            that would work at the community level.  They

 16            generally wanted to work in the mental service or

 17            at a specific child psychiatry clinic or a

 18            hospital or adolescent clinic (unintelligible).

 19                 There was a comment about groups.  I just

 20            want to say that groups are wonderful, but not

 21            because they're cheap.  There's a tremendous

 22            amount of care provided in groups.  It's

 23            terrific.

 24                 My experience was that discharge from the

 25            emergency department was based not so much on
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 01            whether there was an outpatient slot available,

 02            but based on safety, whether they consider it's

 03            safe to leave.  It wasn't so much as we were

 04            waiting for an outpatient slot.

 05                 Most of our patients were referred that we

 06            had during the time that I was there working with

 07            people who had chronic illnesses or suffered

 08            dysphoric relationships, were feeling

 09            self-destructive, or had acute psychotic

 10            illnesses and needed to be hospitalized for those

 11            reasons.  Then, when we wanted to discharge them,

 12            we always had the issue of where would they would

 13            go, and there are very few mental health workers,

 14            psychiatrists, psychologists, social workers in

 15            the community who would take insurance.  They

 16            usually worked for the service.  We depended on

 17            our outpatient clinic to pick up these patients,

 18            and we took care of patients of all degrees of

 19            severity.

 20                 I was -- I was encouraged to hear that --

 21            about the residency program, which I heard about

 22            before, and I would think that, in the future,

 23            particularly if the -- if they continue the

 24            inpatient service, they would be able to staff a

 25            lot of that inpatient service with -- with those
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 01            psychiatric residents that are coming through

 02            this new program.

 03                 Unfortunately, when they announced that they

 04            were closing the inpatient unit about a year ago,

 05            I would say probably half the staff left, you

 06            know, because they were concerned about their

 07            jobs, so then that didn't help.

 08                 The census was lowered from -- it was

 09            running at about thirteen and it was lowered to

 10            seven because of the staffing issues after that

 11            occured.

 12                 There were a lots of references to finances

 13            and the cost of a new unit.  I would hope that --

 14            that if the unit closed, that that savings would

 15            be put towards the psychiatric care and well

 16            beyond probably what the cost of what the new

 17            outpatient services would be.

 18                 So I guess what I want to say is it's a

 19            loss.  It would be a loss to our community of

 20            Norwalk.  It would be a loss to our community of

 21            psychiatric patients, many of whom are poor and

 22            disabled by their psychiatric illness.  I

 23            encourage you not to allow the termination of

 24            these services and not to take away their and our

 25            psychiatric unit, which has been serving the
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 01            Norwalk Community for so long.

 02                 Thank you.

 03                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, thank you,

 04            Dr. Maiberger.  You can go ahead and remute

 05            yourself and turn off your camera, if you would

 06            like.

 07                 At this point, I'm going to go ahead and go

 08            over the late files and then we'll move on to

 09            closing arguments and statements from the

 10            Applicant's attorney.

 11                 Steve, would you like to read a list of the

 12            documents submitted for late file?

 13                 MR. LAZARUS:  Yes, give me one second.

 14                 So I have -- my notes, two items for late

 15            file.  The first one is the cost analysis and

 16            for -- that was strictly cited for Pages 583 and

 17            584, so we're going to compare the costs related

 18            to the 35 percent of what we had discussed.

 19                 Along with that, the second late file I have

 20            is the information to the provided on the

 21            Community Care Teams.  We're looking for what is

 22            it, what's its make-up, its mission, that type of

 23            information, every detail that you can provide on

 24            that would be appreciated, but those are the two

 25            late files I have listed.
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 01                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay, thank you very

 02            much, Mr. Lazarus.

 03                 I'm going to issue an order that those items

 04            listed by OHS staff -- I'm ordering that those be

 05            produced as late files by the Applicant and that

 06            they -- Attorney Jensen, what would be an

 07            acceptable time to get those in?  I know we're

 08            coming up to holidays, so I want to give you some

 09            time.

 10                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Would the end of the first

 11            week of January be acceptable?

 12                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  That's fine, as well.

 13            That should give you enough time to also get in

 14            by that date any replies to any -- any public

 15            comments that were filed in the seven days.

 16                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Understood.  That's

 17            January 6th, thank you.

 18                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Yeah, sorry, I was

 19            looking at the wrong calendar.  The 7th was

 20            last -- was last year, but yes, January 6th is

 21            Friday, so we'll go with that date.

 22                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Okay, thank you.

 23                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay, and I'm going to

 24            have Ms. Rival, if you could, memorialize that

 25            order in a letter, thank you very much.

�0128

 01                 At this point, we'll go ahead and move to

 02            closing arguments or a statement from the

 03            Applicant's attorney.

 04                 Attorney Jensen, if you would like to make a

 05            closing statement or respond to any of the

 06            remarks?

 07                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Yes, thank you, Hearing

 08            Officer Novi and OHS staff.  We appreciate the

 09            time today.  We appreciate the public comments

 10            that you were submitted.

 11                 The testimony today and the evidence

 12            submitted establishes three facts:  No. 1, the

 13            standard for providing quality behavioral

 14            healthcare has evolved and there is a compelling

 15            public need to provide specialized care to

 16            adolescents an adults in the community.

 17                 No. 2, the current behavioral healthcare

 18            offerings in the service area around Norwalk are

 19            not equipped to meet this public need.

 20            Currently, many of the local outpatient providers

 21            are largely unwilling to accept insurance and

 22            those that do have significant wait times to see

 23            patients, leaving most of the vulnerable -- the

 24            most vulnerable untreated.  Instead, emergency

 25            departments have been forced to shoulder this
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 01            burden, which creates backlogs and inconsistent

 02            access to care for patients in true emergencies.

 03                 No. 3, Norwalk Hospital's inpatient

 04            psychiatric unit is understaffed and

 05            underutilized and is not positioned to address

 06            this compelling public need, particularly with

 07            respect to adolescents.

 08                 Mr. Lazarus earlier asked a key question:

 09            Has Norwalk Hospital considered expanding

 10            outpatient services in the way that we described

 11            and also just keeping the inpatient unit?  The

 12            answer is that maintaining that unit in its

 13            current form is not sufficient and does not

 14            address this crisis involving adolescents.  As we

 15            discussed, the inpatient unit currently does not

 16            -- is not licensed to treat adolescents.

 17            Further, it requires millions of dollars in

 18            renovations even just to maintain the status quo.

 19                 Now, in light of those facts, Norwalk

 20            Hospital faces a critical decision.  Does it pour

 21            money into maintaining that said status quo or

 22            does it evolve its behaviorial healthcare model

 23            to meet this public need.

 24                 Through this application process, Norwalk

 25            Hospital has laid out a three-pronged approach
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 01            for evolving its behaviorial healthcare services

 02            consisting of outpatient programs, including ones

 03            focused on specialized patient populations like

 04            adolescents or individuals with dual diagnoses;

 05            Two, enhancing the capabilities of its emergency

 06            department the effectively manage patients

 07            presenting in crisis due to behavioral health

 08            conditions, and three, relocating patients that

 09            require hospitalization to the patients in the

 10            most severe need of treatment to Danbury

 11            Hospital, where a planned center of excellence is

 12            going to be constructed.  This plan provides

 13            better care to patients at a lower cost.

 14            Further, when paired with Nuvance Health's

 15            residency program, it presents a tremendous

 16            opportunity to address the shortage of qualified

 17            mental health professionals in the area.

 18                 I want to briefly go through the different

 19            statutory criteria that OHS considers in

 20            reviewing any application under the certificate

 21            of need statute.  First is the proposal

 22            consistent with the Statewide Healthcare

 23            Facilities and Services Plan?  Here, the answer

 24            is yes, in that it seeks to expand access to

 25            lower-cost outpatient services for all community
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 01            members.  It increases early intervention

 02            treatment to reduce the incidents of

 03            higher-acuity psychiatric incidents and

 04            decompensation.  It lowers the cost of care by

 05            reducing higher-cost inpatient stays, via

 06            preventative and early intervention efforts in

 07            the outpatient setting and by better managing

 08            emergency and crisis situations in the emergency

 09            department, and finally, it avoids the

 10            duplication of services by relocating

 11            underutilized inpatient services to Danbury

 12            Hospital, all consider -- all consistent with the

 13            Statewide Healthcare Facilities and Services

 14            Plan.

 15                 Subsection 3 of the statute, whether there's

 16            a clear public need for the services proposed by

 17            the Applicant.  Now, here, because this is

 18            actually a proposed expansion of services and not

 19            a mere termination, the factor is satisfied.

 20            There is a clear public need for the expanded

 21            services proposed due to the inadequate access to

 22            outpatient services present in the community.  As

 23            witnesses today have testified, Norwalk is a

 24            federally-recognized HPSA mental health shortage

 25            region and this proposal addresses that need
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 01            through the creation of Intensive Outpatient

 02            Programs, IOPs, that will accept patients

 03            regardless of their ability to pay.

 04                 Next, the proposal has a positive impact on

 05            the financial strength of the healthcare system

 06            in this state in that the proposal is designed to

 07            lower the cost of healthcare by providing earlier

 08            interventions to limit crisis conditions.

 09                 The proposal is also financially-feasible

 10            for the hospital, itself, as Norwalk is stemming

 11            ongoing operating losses, and more importantly,

 12            avoiding significant capital expenditures

 13            necessary to renovate an underutilized facility

 14            with declining demand.

 15                 The proposal will improve quality

 16            accessibility and cost-effectiveness of

 17            healthcare delivery by shifting away from

 18            high-cost crisis interventions in the ED and

 19            inpatient settings and extend care in outpatient

 20            centers in the community at a lower cost.

 21                 Subsection 5 five of the statute, whether

 22            the proposal will provide quality accessibility

 23            and cost-effectiveness of healthcare delivery in

 24            the area, including for Medicaid recipients and

 25            indigent persons.  That principle is at the core
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 01            of this proposal, an approach being advocated for

 02            by Norwalk Hospital, but I'll take those one at a

 03            time.

 04                 First, quality, the proposal improves

 05            quality of care throughout this spectrum of

 06            behaviorial healthcare through the development of

 07            Intensive Outpatient Programs focused on treating

 08            specialized patient populations like adolescents,

 09            as mentioned.  It makes care more accessible and

 10            reduces stigmatization from inpatient admission

 11            in an institutional hospital setting.

 12                 Now, as Dr. Murphy testified, these programs

 13            can teach people to swim, not just to save them

 14            from drowning.  That's better care and that's

 15            what we're they're trying to achieve here.

 16                 Next, enhancements to the emergency

 17            departments will provide immediate benefits to

 18            patients in crisis and the existence of these

 19            IOPs that I just discussed provide a much-needed

 20            mechanism to safely discharge patients from the

 21            emergency departments.

 22                 Inpatient quality will improve, as well, as

 23            the planned renovations at Danbury Hospital's

 24            inpatient psychiatric unit is going to be

 25            developed as a modern center of excellence.
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 01                 Next, accessibility, this proposal improves

 02            accessibility by providing care in the

 03            communities where patients live.  On patients

 04            requiring inpatient admission, they can be

 05            admitted directly to Danbury Hospital and

 06            transported without cost to the patient.

 07                 Cost-effectiveness, as discussed, providing

 08            outpatient care in the community as a lower

 09            acuity and a lower cost point benefits both

 10            patients and payers.

 11                 Subsection 6 of the statute gets to the

 12            Applicant's past and proposed provision of

 13            healthcare services to the relevant patient

 14            populations, and the pair are mixed, again,

 15            including access by Medicaid recipients and

 16            indigent persons.

 17                 As discussed, Norwalk Hospital has

 18            historically served a large population of medical

 19            and indigent persons and the proposal to expand

 20            outpatient services expressly commits the

 21            hospital to continuing to provide those services

 22            to all persons, regardless of their ability to

 23            pay.

 24                 Next, Norwalk Hospital has identified the

 25            population that will benefit from the proposed
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 01            expansion of services and demonstrated the need

 02            for those services among the Norwalk population.

 03                 Next, the inpatient -- getting to the

 04            utilization rate, which we discussed, the

 05            inpatient psychiatric unit has been underutilized

 06            for years in Norwalk Hospital and the available

 07            data indicates that this trend will only continue

 08            going forward.

 09                 By relocating inpatient services to Danbury

 10            Hospital, Norwalk is also avoiding duplication of

 11            services.

 12                 And finally, Section 10 of the statute looks

 13            for an explanation for reduced access to services

 14            for Medicaid persons, Medicaid recipients, or

 15            indigent persons.  As discussed here, there is no

 16            reduction in services to Medicaid recipients or

 17            indigent persons.  Those services are actually

 18            going to be expanded.

 19                 So, to conclude, the goal of this proposal

 20            is to provide the right care to patients in the

 21            right place.  A system that relies on the

 22            emergency department and inpatient admissions to

 23            psychiatric units is not sustainable and is not

 24            consistent with evolved standards of behaviorial

 25            healthcare.  Norwalk Hospital's plan is a result
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 01            of a careful analysis and is calibrated to

 02            maximize available resources to provide the

 03            highest quality of care to the people that need

 04            it the most.

 05                 The proposal has the support of the

 06            community for a reason because it best serves the

 07            community.  For these reasons, Norwalk Hospital

 08            respectfully submits that a certificate of need

 09            application should be approved.

 10                 Thank you all for your time.

 11                 THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, thank you,

 12            Attorney Jensen.

 13                 I would like to thank everybody who attended

 14            this hearing today.  This hearing -- it is now

 15            3:35 p.m. and I will be adjourning this hearing,

 16            but the record will remain open until closed by

 17            OHS after receiving all of the late file exhibits

 18            from the Applicant, which, again, you have a --

 19            those are due by January 6th, the close of

 20            business.

 21                 Again, I would like to thank everybody for

 22            helping today and for staying for the entire

 23            hearing.  This hearing is now closed -- or sorry,

 24            the portion of this hearing is now closed and I

 25            will close the record once all of our -- once all
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 01            of our exhibits are returned.

 02                 Thank you, everybody, for attending and have

 03            a nice day.  Good night.

 04                 ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you.

 05  

 06                         (Concluded.)

 07  
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             1                   THE HEARING OFFICER.  All right, hello, as 



             2              everybody was just informed, we are now going to 



             3              begin this hearing.  It is now 2:00 a.m..  My 



             4              name is Hearing Officer Novi.  Good morning, 



             5              everybody.  



             6                   The Norwalk Hospital Association d/b/a 



             7              Norwalk Hospital, the Applicants in this matter, 



             8              seek a certificate of need for the termination of 



             9              inpatient psychiatric unit services to 



            10              Connecticut General Statutes 19A-638(a)5.  



            11              Specifically, Norwalk Hospital proposes to 



            12              terminate inpatient psychiatric unit services.  



            13                   Throughout this proceeding, I will be 



            14              interchangeably referring to Norwalk Hospital 



            15              Association as Norwalk Hospital for brevity 



            16              purposes.



            17                   Today is December 14th, 2022.  My name is 



            18              Alicia Novi.  Kimberly Martone, the executive 



            19              director of OHS designated me to serve as as 



            20              hearing officer for this matter, to rule on all 



            21              motions and recommend findings of fact and 



            22              conclusions of law upon completion of the 



            23              hearing.  



            24                   Section 149 of the Public Act No. 21-2, as 



            25              amended by Public Act No. 22-3, authorizes an 
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             1              agency to hold a public hearing by means of 



             2              electronic equipment.  In accordance with this 



             3              legislation, any person who participates orally 



             4              in an electronic meeting shall make a good-faith 



             5              effort to state your name and title at the onset 



             6              of each occasion, that such person participates 



             7              orally during the uninterrupted dialogue or 



             8              series of questions and answers.  



             9                   We will ask all members of the public to 



            10              mute the device that they are using to access the 



            11              hearing and silence any additional devices that 



            12              are around them.  



            13                   This public hearing is held pursuant to 



            14              Connecticut General Statutes Section 19A-639(a)2 



            15              of the General Statutes and provides that HSP may 



            16              hold a public hearing with respect to CON 



            17              application submitted under Chapter 368Z, 



            18              although this will be a -- although this being a 



            19              discretionary hearing that is not governed by 



            20              contested case provisions found under Chapter 54 



            21              of the General Statutes, also known as the 



            22              Connecticut Administrative Procedure Act or UAPA, 



            23              and the regulations of the Connecticut agencies 



            24              are Sections 19A9 through 24, and the matter in 



            25              which OHS will conduct these hearings will be 
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             1              guided by these statutes and regulations.



             2                   The Office of Health Strategy staff is here 



             3              to assist me in gathering facts related to this 



             4              application and will be asking the Applicant 



             5              witnesses questions.  I'm going to ask each staff 



             6              person assisting with questions today to identify 



             7              themselves with their name, spelling of their 



             8              last name, and OHS title.  



             9                   At this point, we'll start with Mr. Lazarus.



            10                   MR. LAZARUS:  Good morning, Steven Lazarus.  



            11              I'm the supervisor of the certificate of need 



            12              program, and my last name is spelled 



            13              L-a-z-a-r-u-s.



            14                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.



            15                   MS. RIVAL:   Jessica Rival, last name is 



            16              spelled R-i-v, as in Victor, a-l, and I'm a 



            17              healthcare analyst.



            18                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, also 



            19              present is Maya Capozzi, staff member for our 



            20              agency, who is assisting with the hearing 



            21              logistics and will gather the names for public 



            22              comment.  



            23                   The certificate of need process is a 



            24              regulatory process, and as such, the highest 



            25              level of respect will be accorded to the 
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             1              Applicant, members of the public, and our staff.  



             2              Our priority is the integrity and transparency of 



             3              the process.  Accordingly, decorum will be 



             4              maintained by all present during these 



             5              proceedings.  



             6                   This hearing will be transcribed and 



             7              recorded and the video will be made available on 



             8              the OHS Website and its YouTube account.  



             9                   All documents related to this hearing that 



            10              have been or will be submitted to the Office of 



            11              Health Strategy are available for review through 



            12              our certificate of need or CON portal, which is 



            13              accessible on the Office of Health Strategy's CON 



            14              web page.  



            15                   In making my decision, I will consider and 



            16              make written findings in accordance with Section 



            17              19A-639 of the Connecticut General Statutes.  



            18                   Lastly, as Zoom informed us prior to the 



            19              start of this meeting, sorry, I wish to point out 



            20              that by appearing on camera in this virtual 



            21              hearing, you are consenting to being filmed.  If 



            22              you wish to revoke your request, please, do so at 



            23              this time.  



            24                   Okay, so we'll move on from there.  



            25                   The CON portal contains the prehearing table 
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             1              of record of this case.  At the time of its 



             2              filing on Tuesday, exhibits were identified in 



             3              the table from A to N.  



             4                   The Applicant is here by notice and I'll 



             5              take administrative notice of the following 



             6              documents:  The Statewide Healthcare Facilities 



             7              and Services Plan, The Facility and Services 



             8              Inventory, OHS Acute-care hospital discharge 



             9              database, and the all-payer claims data -- 



            10              all-player claims database claims data.  



            11                   I may also take administrative notice of the 



            12              hospital reporting system, HRS, financial and 



            13              utilization data, and also prior OHS decisions, 



            14              agreed settlements, and determinations that may 



            15              be relevant to this matter.



            16                   Will the Counsel for the Applicants, please, 



            17              identify yourself for the -- please, unmute 



            18              yourself and then identify yourself for the 



            19              record?



            20                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Good morning, Hearing 



            21              Officer Novi.  My name is Ben Jensen, 



            22              J-e-n-s-e-n, from Robinson & Cole representing 



            23              the Applicant, Norwalk Hospital.



            24                   With me, also, is Attorney Lisa Boyle and 



            25              Conor Duffy.
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             1                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay, Attorney Jensen, 



             2              will you taking -- will I be directing all 



             3              questions to you?



             4                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Yes, please.



             5                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, thank you.  



             6                   All right, in addition to the exhibits 



             7              listed in the table of record, a public comment 



             8              found may be added and updated from time to time.



             9                   Attorney Jensen, do you have any additional 



            10              exhibits you wish to enter at this time?



            11                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Not at this time, thank 



            12              you.



            13                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, we'll 



            14              proceed in the order established in the agenda 



            15              for today's hearing.



            16                    I would like to advise the Applicants that 



            17              we may ask questions related to your application 



            18              that you feel have already been addressed.  We 



            19              will do this for the purpose of ensuring that the 



            20              public has knowledge of your proposal and for the 



            21              purpose of clarification.  I want to reassure you 



            22              that we have reviewed your application, the 



            23              completeness responses and the prefiled 



            24              testimony, and I will do so again many times 



            25              before issuing a decision.
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             1                   As this hearing is being held virtually, we 



             2              ask that all participants, to the extent 



             3              possible, should enable the use of video cameras 



             4              when testifying or commenting during proceedings.  



             5              All participants should mute their devices and 



             6              disable their cameras when we go off record or 



             7              take a break.  



             8                   Please, be advised that, although we try to 



             9              shut off the recording -- the hearing recording 



            10              during breaks, it may continue.  If the recording 



            11              is on, any audio or video not disabled will be 



            12              accessible to all participants in the hearing.  



            13                   Public comment taken during the hearing will 



            14              likely go in order established by OHS during 



            15              during the regulation registration process.  



            16              However, I may allow public officials to testify 



            17              out of order.  I or OHS staff will call each 



            18              individual by name when it is his or her time to 



            19              speak.  Registration for public comment will take 



            20              place at 2:00 p.m. and is scheduled to start at 



            21              3:00 p.m..  If the technical portion of this 



            22              hearing has not been completed by 3:00 p.m., 



            23              public comment may be postponed until the 



            24              technical portion is complete.  



            25                   The Applicant's witnesses must be available 
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             1              after public comment as OHS may have follow-up 



             2              questions after public comment.



             3                   All right, so, with this portion, we will go 



             4              to the Applicant.  



             5                   Attorney Jensen, would you like to make an 



             6              opening statement?



             7                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  I would, but briefly, 



             8              before, Hearing Officer Novi, there are two quick 



             9              issues I wanted to address, housekeeping items.  



            10                   One, in the table of record, I believe 



            11              Exhibit N, refers to Applicant's response to 



            12              prefile and issues.  That was actually submitted 



            13              on December 8th, 2022, which was our deadline.  



            14              It's listed as December 9th in the table of 



            15              record.  Just for the record, I want to make sure 



            16              that was clear, that that was timely submitted on 



            17              December 8th.  



            18                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay, I do note that I 



            19              did receive a copy on December 8th.  I believe 



            20              that was when the -- let me just ask Ms. Rival:  



            21              Did you check to make sure it was uploaded on the 



            22              9th.



            23                   MS. RIVAL:  No, I did not.



            24                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay, all right, we 



            25              will adjust the date on Exhibit N so that it 
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             1              reads the 8th.  



             2                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you.



             3                   The only other item I wanted to address, it 



             4              sounds like, from your introduction, that the 



             5              public comment sign-up will begin at 2:00 and the 



             6              public comment will begin at 3:00.  I think one 



             7              of the notices references a 1:00 sign-up and a 



             8              2:00 public comment, so I just wanted 



             9              confirmation on that.



            10                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  It will be 2:00 and 



            11              3:00.  I believe -- I'm looking at the hearing 



            12              agenda that I issued yesterday and it does have 



            13              comment public sign-ups starting ago 2:00 p.m. 



            14              and public comment at 3:00 p.m., so we will go by 



            15              the agenda that came out yesterday.



            16                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you.  



            17                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay, with that, would 



            18              you like to go into your opening statement?



            19                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Yes, please, and good 



            20              morning, Hearing Officer Novi and members of the 



            21              OHS staff.  On behalf of Norwalk Hospital, thank 



            22              you for the opportunity to present today in 



            23              support of the hospital's CON application.



            24                   This application is about Norwalk Hospital's 



            25              and its parent, Nuvance Health's, overall goal 
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             1              for evolving its behavioral healthcare model to 



             2              increase access to much-needed outpatient care 



             3              for community members in the service area.  



             4                   While technically designated as a 



             5              termination of its inpatient psychiatric unit, 



             6              this application is really about expanding, not 



             7              limiting the available behavioral healthcare 



             8              options to those patients.  



             9                   Today, we intend to present testimony from 



            10              four witnesses who will explain in greater detail 



            11              the hospital's assessment of its historical and 



            12              current model for delivery of behavioral 



            13              healthcare and the hospital's plan to reallocate 



            14              resources from underutilized inpatient services 



            15              in order to increase access for community members 



            16              in outpatient settings.  



            17                   Dr. John Murphy president of Nuvance Health, 



            18              will testify from a system-wide perspective about 



            19              the opportunity that Nuvance sees to reinvest in 



            20              the community and expand its outpatient 



            21              behavioral care offerings.  



            22                   Dr, Murphy will also share Nuvance's plan 



            23              for developing a modern center of excellence for 



            24              inpatient psychiatric care at Danbury Hospital 



            25              that will ensure that patients in the need of 
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             1              hospitalization will continue to have access to 



             2              top-quality resources.  



             3                   Peter Cordeau, president of Norwalk 



             4              Hospital, will then testify about the hospital, 



             5              itself, and its role in the community.  In 



             6              particular, Mr. Cordeau's testimony will address 



             7              the growing demand for outpatient behavioral 



             8              health treatment and how the current offerings in 



             9              Fairfield County are often limited to only those 



            10              able and willing to pay in cash, thus depriving a 



            11              significant portion of the service area for 



            12              much-needed treatment.  



            13                   Mr. Cordeau will further testify concerning 



            14              the existing status of Norwalk Hospital's 



            15              inpatient psychiatric unit, which has been 



            16              underutilized and understaffed for years.  Those 



            17              issues cannot be remedied without significant 



            18              capital improvements that would affect Norwalk 



            19              Hospital's ability to invest in other programs 



            20              that would provide greater access to care and 



            21              value to the community.  



            22                   Next, Dr. Charles Herrick will tell you 



            23              about Norwalk Hospital's assessment of its 



            24              historical and current model for delivery of 



            25              behavioral healthcare and its determination that 
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             1              a new approach is needed to meet the public need 



             2              for outpatient behavioral health services.  He 



             3              will also explain the various projects underway 



             4              at the hospital to address those concerns, 



             5              including the development of Intensive Outpatient 



             6              Services, or IOPs, focused on specialized patient 



             7              populations as well as plan enhancements to the 



             8              Norwalk Hospital Emergency Department, including 



             9              specialized bays for treatment of patients 



            10              presenting in crisis.  



            11                   Finally, you will hear from Stephen Merz, a 



            12              healthcare adviser, that has worked with Norwalk 



            13              Hospital and Nuvance Health to develop its 



            14              long-term strategic plan around behavioral 



            15              services.  Mr. Merz will address from an industry 



            16              perspective how the standard of care for health 



            17              systems providing behavioral healthcare has 



            18              evolved and how historical practices of relying 



            19              on inpatient hospitalization and treatment in the 



            20              emergency department, leading to suboptimal care 



            21              and higher costs.  



            22                   The testimony from these witnesses and the 



            23              factual evidence presented with the application 



            24              demonstrates that Norwalk Hospital's application 



            25              is driven by an increasing patient access to 
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             1              quality behavioral healthcare and is entirely 



             2              consistent with OHS's mission.  After this 



             3              evidence is fully submitted and our witness -- 



             4              and our witnesses address any questions OHS staff 



             5              may have, we respectfully submit that OHS's 



             6              statutory criteria have been met and the 



             7              application should be granted.



             8                   Thank you.



             9                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, thank you, 



            10              Attorney Jensen.  



            11                   At this point, would you, please, identify 



            12              all individuals by name and title who are going 



            13              to -- I know you did that in your opening, but 



            14              will you do that again?  Will you identify all 



            15              individuals by name and title who are going to 



            16              testify on behalf of the application, and if they 



            17              are not in the office or in the room with you, if 



            18              you could have them turn on their cameras and 



            19              unmute themselves.



            20                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Sure.  All four are here 



            21              in the room with me.  I'll have to allow them to 



            22              take my seat.  Do you want each one to come up as 



            23              I introduce them or should I do introductions for 



            24              all four?



            25                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  You could do 
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             1              introductions.  You could just state their names 



             2              and then they can come up and state their name 



             3              and title, as well, while I swear them in.



             4                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Okay, the first witness is 



             5              Dr. John Murphy, president and chief executive 



             6              officer of of Nuvance Health.  



             7                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Oh, I -- I'm sorry, 



             8              Attorney Jensen, do you want to just state their 



             9              names first and then I'll have them each come up?  



            10              We'll just make it easier for you.  I do 



            11              apologize.



            12                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  No problem.  



            13                   After Dr. Murphy, the next witness is Peter 



            14              Cordeau, president of Norwalk Hospital.  



            15                   Next will be Dr. Charles Herrick, chair of 



            16              the department of psychiatry at Nuvance Health.  



            17                   Finally, Stephen Merz, chief operating 



            18              officer of Shepherd Prep Solutions.  He has also 



            19              advised Nuvance Health on long-term strategy 



            20              around delivery of behaviorial healthcare 



            21              services.



            22                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, thank you.  



            23              If you want to go ahead and exit the camera, 



            24              we'll have Dr. John Murphy come and state his 



            25              name.  I will swear him in.
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             1                   DR. MURPHY:  Good morning.



             2                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Good morning, 



             3              Dr. Murphy.  If you could, please, raise your 



             4              right hand so I could swear you in?  



             5                   Actually, if you will just state your name 



             6              for the record so that we know you are who you 



             7              say you are.



             8                   DR. MURPHY:  Yeah, my name is John Murphy.



             9                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, do you 



            10              solemnly swear or solemnly and sincerely affirm, 



            11              as the case may be, that the testimony you are 



            12              about to provide will be the truth, the whole 



            13              truth, and nothing but the truth, so help you god 



            14              or upon penalty of perjury?



            15                   DR. MURPHY:  I do.



            16                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you.  



            17                   Okay, go ahead, I will have the next person 



            18              come in.



            19                   Hello, if you could, state name for the 



            20              record, please.



            21                   MR. CORDEAU:  Yes, my name is Peter Cordeau.  



            22              I am president of Norwalk Hospital.



            23                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you.



            24                   Do you solemnly swear or solemnly and 



            25              sincerely affirm, as the case may be, that the 
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             1              testimony you are about to provide will be the 



             2              truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the 



             3              truth, so help you god or upon penalty of 



             4              perjury?



             5                   MR. CORDEAU:  I do.



             6                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you.  All right.



             7                   DR. HERRICK:  Good morning, Charles Herrick, 



             8              chair of Nuvance Health Psychiatry.



             9                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, if you 



            10              could, please, raise your right hand so I can 



            11              administer the oath?



            12                   Do you solemnly swear or solemnly and 



            13              sincerely affirm, as the case may be, that the 



            14              testimony you are about to provide will be the 



            15              truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the 



            16              truth, so help you god or upon penalty of 



            17              perjury?



            18                   DR. HERRICK:  I do.



            19                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you.  



            20                   And we'll go to the last one.  



            21                   MR. MERZ:  Good morning, my name is Stephen 



            22              Merz, chief operating officer of Shepherd Prep 



            23              Solutions and advisor to Nuvance Health.



            24                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, if you 



            25              could, please, raise your right hand so I can 
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             1              administer the oath?



             2                   Do you solemnly swear or solemnly and 



             3              sincerely affirm, as the case may be, that the 



             4              testimony you are about to provide will be the 



             5              truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the 



             6              truth, so help you god or upon penalty of 



             7              perjury?



             8                   MR. MERZ:  I do.



             9                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you.



            10                   All right, now that we have everybody sworn 



            11              in, I would like to remind all witnesses that 



            12              when you give your testimony, please, make sure 



            13              to state your full name and adopt any written 



            14              testimony that you have submitted on record prior 



            15              to testifying.  



            16                   The Applicants may now proceed with their 



            17              testimony.  I'll ask that all witnesses define 



            18              any acronyms for the benefit of the public and 



            19              clarity of the record that they use, okay?



            20                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you.



            21                   We first call Dr. John Murphy. 



            22                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Good morning, 



            23              Dr. Murphy.



            24                   DR. MURPHY:  Good morning, Hearing Officer 



            25              Novi and the staff of the Office of Health 
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             1              Strategy.  Thank you very much for the 



             2              opportunity to testify today.  My name is John 



             3              Murphy, again, J-o-h-n, M-u-r-p-h-y.  I'm the 



             4              president and chief executive officer of Nuvance 



             5              Health and of the Applicant in this matter, 



             6              Norwalk Hospital.  I'm also a licensed physician.  



             7              I'm board-certified by the American Board of 



             8              Psychiatry and Neurology.  



             9                   I think my training is relevant in this 



            10              matter given that, as part of my training, I did 



            11              significant clinical rotation in psychiatry and 



            12              had to pass an exam, a written examination of 



            13              that for my boards.



            14                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you, Dr. Murphy, 



            15              can I interrupt for a quick second?  Do you adopt 



            16              your previously-submitted testimony?



            17                   DR. MURPHY:  Yes, I do adopt my prefile 



            18              testimony.



            19                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you.  Go ahead.



            20                   DR. MURPHY:  Sure.



            21                   Essentially, what I would like to do is 



            22              describe for you and your staff the vision that 



            23              the organization has as it relates to behavioral 



            24              health.  I don't think it's a surprise to anyone 



            25              that the need for behavioral health services has 
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             1              groan exponentially over the past couple of years 



             2              and I think the pandemic has certainly 



             3              intensified that, and we feel it's incumbent upon 



             4              us to offer an integrated system of care that 



             5              provides a greater emphasis on outpatient access 



             6              and outpatient strategies as opposed to the 



             7              current focus, which I think is more tilted 



             8              towards provision of inpatient care.  



             9                   Ultimately, I think that the vision that 



            10              we're proposing here and this particular 



            11              application does promote improved access.  I do 



            12              firmly believe that it will improve the quality 



            13              of care that we provide in that it will provide 



            14              closer to the onset of the issues, and 



            15              ultimately, it will provide that care in an 



            16              environment of lower cost.  



            17                   Here at Norwalk Hospital, and I think this 



            18              is true about many inpatient units, the unit, 



            19              itself, is tired, it's outdated, it's 



            20              underutilized.  In addition to that, if you were 



            21              to walk through this emergency department, or 



            22              most emergency departments, they're packed, and 



            23              they are often packed with patients who do have 



            24              behaviorial health issues.  Some, actually, don't 



            25              belong in the ED, but because outpatient access 
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             1              is so limited, they don't know where else to go.  



             2                   So, typically, the ED can be overloaded, the 



             3              length of stay is much longer than it could be, 



             4              and it is -- it can be a chaotic environment and 



             5              I think the model that we are proposing is really 



             6              trying to address that in that we get patients 



             7              the care that they need before they get to the ED 



             8              or before they have to be admitted to the 



             9              inpatient unit.  



            10                   Oftentimes, I think those admissions are 



            11              regrettable in that if care had been provided 



            12              earlier, perhaps, they might have been avoided.  



            13              So I firmly believe that this model will provide 



            14              patients with care much earlier in the onset of 



            15              whatever it may be, even if it's simply anxiety 



            16              or depression or an addiction or suicidal 



            17              ideations.  This model allows us to provide them 



            18              care much sooner before they have to wait and get 



            19              frustrated and ultimately go to the ED in crisis.  



            20              We believe that if we can provide effective care 



            21              in an outpatient environment by individuals who 



            22              are particularly-specialized in the provision of 



            23              outpatient care, again, the quality will be 



            24              better, the cost will be less, and certainly, 



            25              access will be greatly improved.  
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             1                   So, in some respects, I realize that the 



             2              official language in the application is a 



             3              termination of services and I understand why we 



             4              had to use that, but perhaps a more apt 



             5              description is, honestly, it's a relocation of 



             6              services.  We don't for a moment believe that 



             7              inpatient care is unnecessary in this community, 



             8              when, in fact, we believe that, you know, in -- 



             9              we're all where resources are finite.  We want to 



            10              be as efficient as we can be in the application 



            11              and utilization of those resources.  We think the 



            12              consolidation of the inpatient environment is 



            13              actually a smart strategy, and the money that is 



            14              saved -- for instance, we -- if we were the 



            15              modernize the inpatient unit here at Norwalk, 



            16              that would cost us in the neighborhood of $18 



            17              million.  



            18                   We already have a plan to modernize and if 



            19              this application is approved, expands the 



            20              inpatient unit at Danbury.  We believe that, one, 



            21              essentially, co-located unit in Danbury will 



            22              provide actually better inpatient care to the 



            23              residents of the Norwalk Community, while at the 



            24              same time, the money that would otherwise have 



            25              been spent on modernizing the inpatient unit will 













�







                                                                            23





             1              be better spent by redirecting those funds to the 



             2              outpatient services that we have described, and 



             3              essentially, I think those dollars would be 



             4              repurposed in a number of ways, the first of 



             5              which is we need more providers of behavioral 



             6              health services, not only licensed psychiatrists, 



             7              but also other -- other therapists, other 



             8              psychologists, other licensed clinical social 



             9              workers, et cetera, and in addition, we believe 



            10              that if we can design programs like the Intensive 



            11              Outpatient Programs, the IOPs, which we have 



            12              every intention of doing, particularly for those 



            13              who have dual diagnoses, a mental health 



            14              diagnosis as well as substance abuse, and 



            15              adolescents, which are -- the need there has 



            16              exploded, that we can actually provide better 



            17              care in those programs in the outpatient 



            18              environment, and as I said, doing it in a much 



            19              more cost-effective, convenient, and private 



            20              environment than in the middle of a chaotic 



            21              emergency department.



            22                   And as you know, we don't have an adolescent 



            23              unit here on the inpatient side.  



            24                   So we believe that taking advantage of those 



            25              finite resources and redeploying them in terms of 
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             1              getting more providers, creating the IOPs, but in 



             2              addition, we want to improve the ED experience 



             3              and environment here at Norwalk for those 



             4              patients who do, in fact, have a crisis.  Then, 



             5              you know, you will spend a lot of time in crisis 



             6              intervention situations and we believe that 



             7              Norwalk ought to have secure, private treatment 



             8              bays for patients with mental health needs who 



             9              sometimes will be in the ED longer than somebody 



            10              who's coming in with chest pain, of abdominal 



            11              pain, and that we want them to be safe 



            12              environments, and we will build units that are, 



            13              in fact, safe and ligature-free, but also, that 



            14              it offers a degree of privacy.  These patients 



            15              are in crisis and we don't want them traipsing 



            16              around the ED if they have to use the bathroom, 



            17              and we have built that into the design of the 



            18              programs.  We want to build, actually, six ED 



            19              treatment bays for the adult and two for 



            20              adolescents.



            21                   But then, importantly, in addition to the 



            22              construction and provision of outpatient 



            23              services, the modernization of the emergency 



            24              department, we really do think that a larger, 



            25              more contemporary, more aesthetically-pleasing 
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             1              inpatient facility in Danbury is also -- will be 



             2              a major asset for patients in the Norwalk 



             3              Community who can be effectively and easily 



             4              transferred, if necessary, up to the Danbury area 



             5              that will be appropriately-staffed.  I think it's 



             6              easier to staff one more than two units, and I 



             7              think we will also be able to attract more 



             8              specialized providers who actually want to 



             9              provide inpatient care.  



            10                   Then, lastly, I would like you to look at 



            11              the proposal in the context of Nuvance Health as 



            12              a system of care as opposed to this merely being 



            13              an outpost standalone system for behaviorial 



            14              healthcare services in the Norwalk community.



            15                   Nuvance Health has started a psychiatry 



            16              residency program.  I think we take eight 



            17              residents a year.  It started a couple of years 



            18              ago.  The -- I think it's terrific.  I firmly 



            19              believe that having residency programs does, in 



            20              fact, improve the clinical care that we provide.  



            21              It also certainly improves access, and we will 



            22              have the third-year residents do rotations, 



            23              again, if this is all approved in the outpatient 



            24              environment down here.  I also think staff enjoys 



            25              having residency programs and the turnover rates 
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             1              will decrease.  



             2                   The second component of the system of care 



             3              that Nuvance Health provides here that I think is 



             4              worth mentioning is the technology solutions that 



             5              we can provide.  The pandemic has taught us, as 



             6              you know, how to use telehealth much more 



             7              effectively and some of the barriers that existed 



             8              prior to the pandemic have now disappeared.  



             9                   So we would very much want to apply fellow 



            10              psychiatry solutions to this plan of care where 



            11              we would allow a rapid and effective 



            12              communications, not only from the outpatient 



            13              environment to the ED, from the ED to the 



            14              inpatient unit, but also from Norwalk to Danbury.  



            15              So, if we think that the use and the 



            16              sophistication of some of the technologies that 



            17              we can apply will greatly enhance the program.



            18                   And then the last comment I would make is 



            19              that, and I'm sure you all realize this, but the 



            20              country needs solutions like this.  As I sit here 



            21              on the tenth anniversary of the Sandy Hook 



            22              tragedy, we know the cost that society bears by 



            23              inadequate access to mental health services, 



            24              particularly amongst young people.  



            25                   The state and its policies certainly support 
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             1              and underscore the need for these sorts of 



             2              contemporary programs.  The federal government 



             3              has recognized this.  As a matter of fact, 



             4              Senator Blumenthal earmarked a couple of million 



             5              dollars for the construction of these outpatient 



             6              programs.  



             7                   So I think this is the right program for 



             8              today.  I think It's well-thought out and it will 



             9              ultimately serve the community of Norwalk very 



            10              well, and I would ask that you approve this 



            11              application.



            12                   So thank you very much for your time.



            13                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, thank you 



            14              very much, Dr. Murphy.



            15                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you, and next, 



            16              you'll hear from Peter Cordeau, president of 



            17              Norwalk Hospital.



            18                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you.  



            19                   Hello, Mr. Cordeau.  If you could, please, 



            20              state your name and state whether you accept 



            21              your -- whether you adopt any written testimony 



            22              that was previously submitted, and I just want to 



            23              remind you that if you have any acronyms, to, 



            24              please, define them for the benefit of everyone 



            25              anyone listening in.
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             1                   MR. CORDEAU:  Peter Cordeau, C-o-r-d-e-a-u, 



             2              and I adopt my prefile testimony.  



             3                   Good morning, Hearing Officer Novi and the 



             4              staff of the Office of Health Strategy.  Thank 



             5              you for the opportunity to testify today.  



             6                   As I stated, my name is Peter Cordeau and I 



             7              am the president of Norwalk Hospital and the 



             8              Applicant in this matter.  I've also been a 



             9              registered nurse since 1987 and have served in a 



            10              variety of roles throughout my career, including 



            11              as a bedside nurse, a supervisor, a manager, a 



            12              director, a chief nursing officer, and a 



            13              president, and I would like to talk about the 



            14              needs to modernize the provision of care here in 



            15              Norwalk.  



            16                   Norwalk Hospital is and will continue to be 



            17              an essential provider of health services for the 



            18              greater Norwalk Community.  However, we've 



            19              historically focused behavioral healthcare 



            20              efforts on delivering inpatient care and treating 



            21              patients in crisis out of our emergency 



            22              department.  



            23                   As mentioned in our application, our unit 



            24              census consistently is below the number of 



            25              available beds.  However, we still see patients 
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             1              stuck in our ED without safe treatment options 



             2              for discharge into the community, which leads to 



             3              more patients institutionalized, more reliance on  



             4              facility care versus ambulatory care.  



             5                   We've reviewed the specific needs and 



             6              requests of our patient populations and 



             7              determined that our historical approach is no 



             8              longer the best way for the hospital to serve its 



             9              community.  I am intimately involved in the 



            10              community.  I sit on the board of the Chamber of 



            11              Commerce.  I have quarterly meetings with the 



            12              Norwalk Police Department who just actually hired 



            13              a social worker to a bed within their PD.  I have 



            14              bi-weekly meetings with the health department.  I 



            15              have worked on creating a paid internship program 



            16              with Norwalk Public Schools, the superintendent 



            17              of schools, The Carver Center, Brien McMahon High 



            18              School in order to give access to the underserved 



            19              children in the Norwalk Community and provide a 



            20              glimpse of what providing healthcare and what a 



            21              hospital does.  



            22                   I also work with the Norwalk Community 



            23              Center, which is an FQHC, Federally-Qualified 



            24              Health Clinic, that is right down the street in 



            25              Norwalk, and our medical residents provide free 
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             1              clinic care at the Norwalk Community Center, and 



             2              we also have a pharmacy embedded in the Norwalk 



             3              Community Center.  



             4                   I work with Americares free clinics in 



             5              Norwalk and also created a joint grant with the 



             6              Norwalk Community College to provide continuing 



             7              education for nurses who have received their 



             8              associates degrees so they can receive a 



             9              bachelors degree paid for by Norwalk Hospital and 



            10              Norwalk Community College.  



            11                   Our facility is aging.  It requires 



            12              significant capital investment, as Dr. Murphy 



            13              mentioned, resources that we believe can more 



            14              effectively be deployed towards an expansion of 



            15              access to services that greater meet the need of 



            16              our community.  



            17                   So I sit here today to propose to expand 



            18              access to essential behaviorial health services 



            19              bu focusing on patient in the community where 



            20              they live versus in crisis in our ED.  This means 



            21              expanding our programs and services, recruiting 



            22              new outpatient providers, and establishing 



            23              specialized outpatient programs while ensuring to 



            24              continue access to inpatient care through our 



            25              affiliate, Danbury Hospital, in a to-be-expanded 
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             1              state-of-the-art unit, or at a facility of the 



             2              patient's choice, because, certainly, there is 



             3              patient choice in the determination of where they 



             4              want to go for inpatient care.  



             5                   You might ask about the ED, then.  Then what 



             6              happens to the ED?  What happens when a patient 



             7              shows up in crisis in our ED?  Well, we have 



             8              certainly thought of that in the planning.  We're 



             9              strengthening our crisis safeguards in our ED.  



            10              ED Dr. Murphy mentioned about the behavioral 



            11              health safe ligature-free beds that we will have 



            12              in our ED.  Those plans have been submitted to 



            13              DPH and we are awaiting approval before we 



            14              commence construction on that once those plans 



            15              are approved.  This will allow us to treat 



            16              patients in the ED and then access to those 



            17              outpatient facilities will allow us to safely 



            18              discharge patients in our community.  



            19                   So what are the benefits of this proposal?  



            20              Delivery of patient care where those services are 



            21              needed in the community, creating those safe beds 



            22              for patients in crisis in the ED, opening a 



            23              brand-new, beautiful $15,000 square-foot 



            24              outpatient facility that is scheduled to open in 



            25              January of '23 that will have IOPs, which stand 
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             1              for Intensive Outpatient Services, to treat both 



             2              adults and adolescent, and I think it's very 



             3              important, as Dr. Murphy mentioned, we don't have 



             4              an inpatient adolescent unit.  So the benefit of 



             5              this proposal, to be able to provide services to 



             6              adolescents can't be expressed enough.  As 



             7              adolescents sit in our ED, the reason they are 



             8              sitting in ore EDs is the lack of services to 



             9              connect those patients safely and for us to 



            10              safely discharge patients in our community.  



            11                   Certainly, this is proposal is based on 



            12              expanding access, specifically for our 



            13              underserved populations, Medicaid, indigent, 



            14              undocumented, by ensuring access regardless of 



            15              their ability to pay.  This will result in 



            16              reduced wait times, greater provider 



            17              availability, paired with reduced reliance on the 



            18              ED for crisis management, which is a higher cost 



            19              to the patient, the families, and the healthcare 



            20              system.  



            21                   We also have resources embedded in our 



            22              primary care offices to provide behavioral health 



            23              services at that point of service if we identify 



            24              someone has a behavioral health need.  



            25                   This proposal, as Dr. Murphy mentioned, 
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             1              comes with a lot of community support, support 



             2              from medical and state levels, Senator Murphy, 



             3              Blumenthal, Representative Jim Himes, with the 



             4              earmark that Dr. Murphy had mentioned as well as 



             5              recent initiatives in Norwalk to reduce the 



             6              stigma towards behavioral health treatment and to 



             7              increase awareness. 



             8                   As I previously mentioned, I am very active 



             9              in the Norwalk community, including the school 



            10              system, work force development, local Chamber of 



            11              Commerce, and I received significant support from 



            12              community and state coalitions for this proposal 



            13              and our attempts to expand access and programs in 



            14              the Norwalk area.  



            15                   So I urge you to approve this and I believe 



            16              this is the best -- we'll provide the best access 



            17              and the best outcomes for the Community of 



            18              Norwalk.



            19                   Thank you.  



            20                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you very much.



            21                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you, Hearing Officer 



            22              Novi.  The next presenter will be Dr. Charles 



            23              Herrick.



            24                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Good morning, Dr. 



            25              Herrick.  If you could, please, state your name 
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             1              and begin by stating whether you adopt your 



             2              prefile testimony.



             3                   DR. HERRICK:  Certainly, my name is Charles 



             4              Herrick, H-e-r-r-i-c-k, and I do adopt my 



             5              pretrial testimony.



             6                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.



             7                   DR. HERRICK:  Good morning, Hearing Officer 



             8              Novi and the rest of your staff.  



             9                   I -- instead of reiterating much of what 



            10              Peter Cordeau and John Murphy have told you, I 



            11              want to give you some background as a community 



            12              hospital psychiatrist because I think that can 



            13              shed some light and understanding of why this 



            14              project I think is so critical.  



            15                   So I've been a psychiatrist for 30 years.  



            16              I've been a community hospital psychiatrist for 



            17              Danbury for the last going on 25 years, and in --



            18              historically, community hospitals have focused 



            19              primarily on acute care.  They've treated 



            20              patients in the emergency room, they treated 



            21              patients on the inpatient setting, and they've 



            22              let the community essentially care for the 



            23              patients in an outpatient setting, and it worked 



            24              very well for many, many years, but with the 



            25              rising demand for psychiatric services, 
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             1              particularly in the last 10 years, and then the 



             2              escalation with Covid, the demand has just 



             3              dramatically increased, and as a result, many 



             4              providers who historically have given back to the 



             5              community, they were in the community and they 



             6              provided care for patients in the community, have 



             7              become so swamped, that they don't have to work 



             8              with insurance companies.  They don't have to 



             9              work with hospitals anymore and they can 



            10              basically decide on their own which patients they 



            11              elect to treat and which patients they don't, and 



            12              so, as a result of that, our hospitals have 



            13              become inundated with patients for acute care 



            14              when they could have been managed more 



            15              effectively on an outpatient basis had they had 



            16              the access to outpatient services.



            17                   So this really represents the radical change 



            18              for community hospitals insofar as they are now 



            19              recognizing the fact that, hey, we've got to get 



            20              into the business of caring for patients in the 



            21              outpatient setting, and we've also got to make 



            22              sure that patients from all insurance 



            23              backgrounds, regardless of what insurance they 



            24              take, that we will accept them and we will care 



            25              for them, and this is really critical for the 
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             1              future of psychiatry because access to care is 



             2              the single biggest predictor in terms of reducing 



             3              suicide rates, particularly what we call 



             4              Connect-to-Care, from inpatient settings to IOP, 



             5              intensive outpatient settings to regular 



             6              outpatient settings.  So having a whole continuum 



             7              of care that you have some degree of control over 



             8              and you're able to manage effectively will 



             9              improve outcomes, I think, quite dramatically.  



            10                   Additionally, I think access improves 



            11              through -- so, right now, what we struggle with 



            12              primarily are the length of time patients are 



            13              stuck in the emergency rooms because of lack of 



            14              ability to access outpatient care or intensive 



            15              outpatient care or even inpatient care, and then, 



            16              when they get to the inpatient unit, we have 



            17              discharge planning challenges that we struggle 



            18              with and we're getting pressure from insurance 



            19              companies, hey, this patient is stable.  They 



            20              need to be discharged, but we have a commitment 



            21              to these patients for a safe discharge plan, but 



            22              many times, we can't find that safe discharge 



            23              plan for them because we don't have access to 



            24              outpatient services.  With this plan, hopefully, 



            25              and I think -- I believe this will improve 
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             1              dramatically in our community so that we can 



             2              provide that kind of care that currently is 



             3              lacking in our community.  So that's really one 



             4              of the major reasons why we're emphasizing this 



             5              plan.  



             6                   Now, the inpatient services, while, again, 



             7              as they -- as they reported, it's a closure of 



             8              the services in Norwalk.  It's an expansion of 



             9              services for the Norwalk Community because 



            10              currently, the average volumes in Norwalk are 



            11              around seven or eight patients, and historically, 



            12              for the past 15 years, it's hovered around nine 



            13              or ten because patients can access other 



            14              hospitals in the service area and they often 



            15              volunteer to do that, and we have to honor their 



            16              choice.  So they go to Silver Hill, they go to 



            17              Hall-Brooke, which are freestanding psychiatric 



            18              hospitals in the community.  They can go to 



            19              Stamford.  They can go to Bridgeport.  Many ask 



            20              to go to Yale and a lot of it has to do with the 



            21              environment of care, and by putting all of our 



            22              resources into Danbury and expanding an inpatient 



            23              setting, one of the challenges that all of our 



            24              units face is providing a comfortable environment 



            25              because we don't acknowledge -- we, ourselves, 
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             1              know that the environment that we surround 



             2              ourselves in has a huge impact on our emotional 



             3              well-being.  We somehow neglect that because 



             4              we're focused primarily on safety on the 



             5              inpatient setting, right?  



             6                   Consolidating our resources in the inpatient 



             7              setting, what we're table to do now is provide 



             8              not only a safe environment, but a warm and 



             9              comfortable setting that will go miles for 



            10              improving the emotional well-being of the 



            11              patients we care for.  



            12                   In addition, it becomes attractive to staff, 



            13              because as we know, there's been a dramatic 



            14              decrease in hospital-based staff, and a lot of it 



            15              can be attributed not just to the overwhelming 



            16              volumes, but also the environment of care, and by 



            17              improving the environment of care, people want to 



            18              come and work here.  So we have that available to 



            19              us now by -- by following through with this plan.  



            20                   And then, finally, in terms of staffing, 



            21              what happened in Covid is a lot of people said, 



            22              "I'm done with working in the hospital.  I don't 



            23              want to work in the hospital," and so many of 



            24              them transitioned to outpatient care, and even 



            25              with that, surprisingly, access to care has 
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             1              continued to be a problem.  We want to leverage 



             2              technology to allow staff to be able to work in a 



             3              hybrid model that would make it more attractive 



             4              for people to come here, and more importantly, we 



             5              want to leverage our educational program because 



             6              we want to build the next generation of 



             7              psychiatrists and social workers.  



             8                   So we have a very extensive educational 



             9              program that includes graduate medical education, 



            10              undergraduate medical education, education for 



            11              licensed social workers, education for nurse 



            12              practitioners, and by, you know, allocating our 



            13              resources appropriately, we're able to provide 



            14              all of that to create the next generation of 



            15              behavioral health staff who want to work for us, 



            16              who want to be here because they see the 



            17              commitment we have towards behavioral health.  



            18                   So that's pretty much what I have to say at 



            19              this point.



            20                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, thank you 



            21              very much, Dr. Herrick.



            22                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you, Hearing Officer 



            23              Novi.  Next, Stephen Merz.  Thank you.



            24                   MR. MERZ:  Good morning, Hearing Officer 



            25              Novi.  Yes.
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             1                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  If you could, state 



             2              your name for the record and state whether you 



             3              adopt your prefile testimony before you begin.



             4                   MR. MERZ:  Sure. 



             5                   Good morning.  My name is Stephen Merz, 



             6              S-t-e-p-h-e-n, M-e-r-z.  I'm chief operating 



             7              officer of Shepherd Prep Solutions and I adopt my 



             8              prefile testimony.



             9                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  



            10                   MR. MERZ:  I'm going to speak this morning 



            11              in follow-up to the testimony provided regarding 



            12              some of the state and regional factors that are 



            13              substantially impacting the  behaviorial 



            14              healthcare industry and how this CON application 



            15              materially addresses several of the undermet 



            16              needs that have been identified in the 



            17              application.  



            18                   I have significant experience in the State 



            19              of Connecticut, regionally, and nationally, 



            20              having served in a variety of leadership roles 



            21              both in Connecticut over the last three decades, 



            22              as well as in other organizations.  The 



            23              organization I work with now is the largest 



            24              not-for-profit behaviorial healthcare system, 



            25              which is based in Baltimore, Maryland and I spent 
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             1              a significant amount of time with organizations 



             2              throughout the country that are understanding 



             3              their needs and how they are responding to the 



             4              significant lack of resources for behaviorial 



             5              healthcare.  



             6                   Significantly, Nuvance Health has spent 



             7              significant energy and time in planning at the 



             8              very deliberate strategy to improve access 



             9              throughout the Nuvance Health network.  As part 



            10              of that planning, they're addressing some of the 



            11              system changes that have happened in our industry 



            12              as it has evolved.  



            13                   One of the major changes is how the industry 



            14              is tackling patients who are in behavioral 



            15              crisis,  The former system that Dr. Herrick 



            16              mentioned of community hospitals relying on an 



            17              outpatient network that was informally organized 



            18              is no longer sufficient.  Patients are 



            19              increasingly needing to find care and in an 



            20              absence of organized patient care network, they 



            21              often in crisis and in the worst time of their 



            22              care process, overly rely on emergency 



            23              departments and for-care settings, and care teams 



            24              at emergency departments are often left with very 



            25              few choices for which to refer those patients, 
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             1              and then, typically, admit them to inpatient 



             2              levels of care, when, typically, the patient may 



             3              not need that level of care, but that is the only 



             4              level of care that's available in the community 



             5              for which patients can be treated in a safe 



             6              manner.  



             7                   As a result, healthcare systems are breaking 



             8              down throughout the country, being overwhelmed, 



             9              as Dr. Murphy said, with tremendous volumes in 



            10              their emergency departments.  Nuvance Health, 



            11              through this application with Norwalk Hospital, 



            12              is taking a bold step and a very innovative step 



            13              by expanding its access to outpatient services to 



            14              address this undermet need.  Systems are looking 



            15              to find a more cost-effective way to provide 



            16              care, including using their precious staff more 



            17              effectively.  Many systems are doing this by 



            18              investing in ambulatory levels of care.  



            19                   Why do you need to do that?  As Dr. Herrick 



            20              noted, outpatient care is essential to avoid 



            21              people from having to go to a higher level of 



            22              crisis care that can be provided by 



            23              psychologists, social workers, psychiatrists in 



            24              the community.  Also, clinic services, which are 



            25              currently provided by Norwalk Hospital, can be 
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             1              expanded as they have continued to grow at 



             2              Norwalk Hospital over these last several years.  



             3              Specialized outpatient treatment, including 



             4              Intensive Outpatient Services or IOP, are really 



             5              important.  Let me just pause on that a little 



             6              bit and describe that.  



             7                   For those who are not aware of what an IOP 



             8              is, it is basically a structured day treatment 



             9              program in an outpatient basis, which is more 



            10              structured than a traditional outpatient practice 



            11              where you will schedule an appointment with a 



            12              social worker or a doctor.  This is a defined 



            13              program led by a psychiatrist, founded by a care 



            14              team which distinct care points and management of 



            15              care for a patient in an organized fashion in the 



            16              outpatient community.  When under the care of an 



            17              outpatient team, you're less likely, the data 



            18              tells us, to seek inpatient hospitalization.  You 



            19              are also able to have a network for which you can 



            20              avoid access to emergency departments by having 



            21              the care team in place.  Hospitals and health 



            22              care systems have also relied on Intensive 



            23              Outpatient Programs as appropriate and safe 



            24              discharge settings and step-down settings for 



            25              patients who are discharged from a hospital, 
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             1              often lessening the length of stay for patients 



             2              on an patient unit.  This care is also much more 



             3              cost-effective, while an inpatient level of care 



             4              can cost thousands of dollars a day.  An IOP 



             5              level of care can cost nearly hundreds of dollars 



             6              a day, often $200 to $300 a day on average 



             7              nationally, saving the healthcare system 



             8              tremendous money.



             9                   Lastly, in terms of staffing, an Intensive 



            10              Outpatient Program can take care of more people 



            11              with less caregivers by employing group therapy 



            12              approaches.  Care teams in the outpatient basis 



            13              can serve more people with less care team 



            14              members, which makes it a very effective way to 



            15              grow care.  That's why the federal government 



            16              continues to support this level of care in the 



            17              current health systems to develop this resource.  



            18                   Nuvance Health, in carefully studying the 



            19              needs of the Norwalk market, quickly identified a 



            20              lack of care currently in the community, largely 



            21              driven by a lack of access to insurance and a 



            22              lack of access to outpatient care.  



            23                   Through the dual diagnosis population are 



            24              those co-occurring with mental health and 



            25              Substance Use Disorder.  Adults with those 
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             1              conditions without private -- the ability to pay 



             2              for their care with a check, and having managed 



             3              care coverage or the commercial insurance, often 



             4              are lacking coverage.  So Nuvance had identified 



             5              that and is growing that with this program.  



             6                   In addition, as noted before, adolescents 



             7              are just a tremendously-growing population 



             8              nationally with need for this care and this 



             9              application makes tremendous enhancements in that 



            10              care by offering IOP level of care and with the 



            11              ability to accept insurance.  So families with an 



            12              adolescent that need care now will have a place 



            13              to go in the Norwalk community.  



            14                   Further, Norwalk is recognized in this 



            15              community as a health professional shortage area 



            16              designation.  That means that it's a federal 



            17              designation applied to a community in which 



            18              there's not enough providers in that community to 



            19              serve the needs by the ratios that the federal 



            20              governments uses, HRSA.  As a mental healthcare 



            21              shortage region, this informs the community and 



            22              the planning as part of the reason that state and 



            23              federal lawmakers supported funding in this 



            24              federal earmark to grow this program as they had 



            25              identified this need and has Peter had noted in 
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             1              his testimony.  



             2                   The status quo at Norwalk Hospital is 



             3              underperforming in addressing some of these 



             4              needs.  The inpatient census has been low and 



             5              trending lower, which is very difficult to 



             6              provide state-of-the-art care in that type of 



             7              care model, where it's difficult to support all 



             8              their resources required upon an inpatient unit, 



             9              and through the reconfiguration with Danbury 



            10              Hospital, a much more supportive, caring 



            11              environment can be provided with more robust 



            12              supports to provide a better patient care 



            13              experience.



            14                   The investments in the emergency department 



            15              can substantially improve the patients in crisis.  



            16              By creating the specialized treatment pods in the 



            17              emergency department, Norwalk Hospital gives a 



            18              chance for a patient to stabilize in their 



            19              crisis, to assess where they are, the care team 



            20              can observe what's happening with the patient.  



            21              That will provide increased likelihood that that 



            22              patient will not just simply be admitted to a 



            23              hospital, but instead, can stabilize and go to an 



            24              outpatient level of care and avoid that 



            25              hospitalization, which is very expensive and ties 
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             1              up those beds for people who really need them.  



             2                   So dedication of these outpatient services 



             3              will add substantially the care needs and the 



             4              community, bring care that doesn't exist to the 



             5              community, and the treatment of adolescents and 



             6              those with Substance Use Disorders and mental 



             7              healthcare conditions, and provide a very 



             8              supportive inpatient unit at Danbury Hospital 



             9              that is more patients and family-centered focus.  



            10                   In addition, I believe that this is 



            11              consistent with the national trends.  There 



            12              simply is significant need in our ambulatory 



            13              space since the 1970s, when the idea of 



            14              deinstitutionalization came about, and the idea 



            15              of decreasing beds and increasing community 



            16              resources, the concept is great, but the 



            17              application of it is often very difficult, and 



            18              Nuvance Health at Norwalk Hospital's application 



            19              is making a great move by expanding these levels 



            20              of care and providing these necessary services.  



            21                   Thank you.  



            22                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you very much.



            23                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you, Hearing Officer 



            24              Novi.  



            25                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you, Hearing Officer 
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             1              Novi.  That concludes the testimony of the 



             2              witnesses for Norwalk Hospital.



             3                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay, at this point, 



             4              do you have any questions for your own witnesses 



             5              before we take a quick break and have OHS get 



             6              their questions together?



             7                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  No questions.



             8                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay, so I would like 



             9              to propose a quick break before we -- I think 



            10              we're going to have a little bit of a -- some 



            11              reconfiguration to do just to make sure we can 



            12              see who we're asking questions to because we have 



            13              one camera.  So I'm going to take --



            14                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  I don't have any -- if the 



            15              questions want to be directed to me, I'm happy to 



            16              bring up the right person to answer the 



            17              questions.  However you want to proceed, that's 



            18              fine.



            19                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay, let's take a 



            20              quick break so that OHS can get their questions 



            21              together and then we will come back.  



            22                   Steve and Jessica, do you think we need 10 



            23              minutes or how long do you think we --



            24                   MR. LAZARUS:  15 to 20 minutes would be --



            25                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  15 to 20, okay. 
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             1                   Okay, so why don't we come back at -- let's 



             2              come back at 10:15.  It is now 9:59.  We will 



             3              take a 15-minute break.  If we are a little 



             4              later, I do apologize, but we will be back as 



             5              promptly as possible, okay?  So we will take a 



             6              break until 10:15 at this time.



             7                   Thank you.



             8                   



             9                             (Recess.)



            10                                  



            11                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, as you were 



            12              all just -- you all should have just been 



            13              informed, we are recording this hearing and by -- 



            14              and by remaining in this hearing, you are 



            15              consenting to being recorded.  If you choose to 



            16              not be recorded, you can leave the hearing at 



            17              this time.  



            18                   All right, now that we have -- nobody has 



            19              left, we will go ahead and begin with the second 



            20              portion of our evidence, which is questioning by 



            21              OHS.  



            22                   At this point, I will ask Attorney Jensen if 



            23              all of his witnesses are still present?



            24                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  We are just waiting on one 



            25              more.  He should be back in just one moment, 
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             1              please.



             2                   Thank you.



             3                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  No problem.



             4                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you, Hearing Officer 



             5              Novi.  Everyone is present.



             6                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, great.



             7                   So, now that everybody is back, I will turn 



             8              the questioning over to Mr. Lazarus and Ms. 



             9              Rival.



            10                   MS. RIVAL:  Thank you. 



            11                   Good morning, everyone.  I just have a 



            12              series of questions to ask.  You know, please, 



            13              feel free to determine who the correct person is 



            14              to address the question.  I'll leave that up to 



            15              your discretion.  



            16                   And I would like to start with:  If you 



            17              could, discuss the community needs assessment 



            18              that influenced the decision to close Norwalk's 



            19              inpatient psychiatric unit and refer inpatient 



            20              services to Danbury Hospital while increasing 



            21              Intensive Outpatient Services and emergency room 



            22              services.



            23                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Dr. Murphy will take the 



            24              first stab at your question.  Thank you.



            25                   DR. MURPHY:  Good morning.  I'll take a stab 
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             1              at your question, if I could, Jessica.  



             2                   The top priority in the Community Health 



             3              Needs Assessment is, in fact, the mental health 



             4              needs of the community.  I think, second, was, if 



             5              memory serves me, was the burden of addiction and 



             6              substance abuse, and those two have largely 



             7              topped the -- the ballistics in every health 



             8              community assessment, and really, that's what 



             9              we're trying to respond to, is everybody feels 



            10              this burden, you know, and as I mentioned 



            11              earlier, I think, you know, our strategy is 



            12              really designed to -- how do we get to it, to 



            13              address those issues earlier because by the time 



            14              they are distressed enough or the issue is severe 



            15              enough that an inpatient stay is required, while 



            16              we very much understand that, you know, that's 



            17              our obligation to provide that inpatient 



            18              environment, and we will.  



            19                   You know, my sense is the community expects 



            20              us to try to intervene earlier, and I think that 



            21              if they could have, simply, in the Norwalk 



            22              Community, let's say, local access that's 



            23              relatively prompt as opposed to immediate access 



            24              to an inpatient care, and you could choose one of 



            25              those, they would much prefer, I think, greater 
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             1              access.  The way I look at it, just to put it in 



             2              perspective, if you could, is I think that 



             3              particularly younger people, you know, if you 



             4              look at the data now, I think it's -- it's 30 



             5              percent of adolescents are experiencing 



             6              significant mental health issues largely around 



             7              anxiety and depression.  9 percent have committed 



             8              or have considered suicide, and that, we have to 



             9              figure out how, when stress arises in their lives 



            10              -- you know, the inpatient units are expensive.  



            11              They're dated and they are an intense environment 



            12              where you basically -- I think you revive people.  



            13              If you look at it as if this is a -- this is a 



            14              river that people have fallen into, what we're 



            15              doing is we've got lifeguards on duty, we're 



            16              pulling them out of the water, that they are near 



            17              drowning, and we are bringing them back with a 



            18              great -- great expense, great teams, and we are 



            19              basically saving their lives.  



            20                   I think if you look at this -- this river, 



            21              if you will, of -- of grief and stress and the 



            22              various challenges we all face, I think that when 



            23              you think about how this notion of people 



            24              drowning, we've got to build some fences, and I 



            25              think that the IOPs, for instance, and some of 
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             1              these outpatient clinics are those fences to keep 



             2              people from falling in that river, but more 



             3              importantly, I think that, as we look further 



             4              upstream and recognize that, sooner or later, we 



             5              all fall in that river, that we need to teach 



             6              people how to swim, and that's going to save more 



             7              lives and that's where I'd rather spend the 



             8              money, is teaching people to swim, which means 



             9              that, whether it's in the school system or in the 



            10              primary care offices where we imbed behavioral 



            11              health consultants, at the first symptom, through 



            12              training and education, how to properly question 



            13              somebody to see, is there, perhaps, an early 



            14              issue with substance abuse, is there anxiety and 



            15              depression, and how you ask it in a way that 



            16              doesn't stigmatize them.  I think those are the 



            17              swimming lessons.  That's where we need to spend 



            18              the money instead of waiting for them to drown or 



            19              nearly drown and pull them out.  



            20                   So I think if you ask the community of 



            21              Norwalk what is it you want, they want -- they 



            22              should learn how to swim so that they don't end 



            23              up needing to be resuscitated six months down the 



            24              line when they're in acute distress, but that's a 



            25              long answer to your simple question, and I think 
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             1              the simple question is:  Mental health needs are 



             2              at the top of the Community Health Needs 



             3              Assessment and I think our interpretation of that 



             4              is:  The earlier the intervention, the better.



             5                   MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.  



             6                   On Page 636 of Dr. Murphy's testimony, 



             7              Dr. Murphy mentions federal support for the 



             8              proposal.  



             9                   Could you, please, describe this federal 



            10              support and how it was obtained?



            11                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Yes, Dr. Murphy will 



            12              address that.



            13                   DR. MURPHY:  Yes, Dr. Murphy can.  



            14                   That was an earmark.  I forget the 



            15              particular Senate bill that was passed.  It was 



            16              one of the ones that was passed within the last 



            17              12 months, and both Senator Blumenthal and Murphy 



            18              awarded us, Norwalk Hospital, $2.15 million in 



            19              federal funds and it was largely to support the 



            20              provision of the outpatient behavioral health 



            21              services.



            22                   MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.  



            23                   Could you describe what expanded emergency 



            24              room and crisis services would look like and 



            25              compare that with the current services offered at 
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             1              Norwalk Hospital?



             2                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Peter Cordeau will address 



             3              that question.  Thank you.



             4                   MR. CORDEAU:  Hi, good morning.



             5                   MS. RIVAL:  Good morning.



             6                   MR. CORDEAU:  Currently, we have two rooms 



             7              in our emergency department that are ligature 



             8              risk-free and where we currently hold behavioral 



             9              health patients.  The new model to address, and 



            10              as I mentioned, the actual plans are with the DPH 



            11              now for approval, will be to create six rooms 



            12              that are ligature risk-free, two of which would 



            13              be for adolescents, so we can separate out any 



            14              adolescent behavioral health from adults in that 



            15              area.  



            16                   Something else we have in the ED is we have 



            17              the ability, through a combination of in-person 



            18              and telehealth on the overnight hours, 



            19              24-hour/seven days a week access to a behavioral 



            20              health provider, and that's really important.  As 



            21              Dr. Murphy and others have mentioned, if you get 



            22              the dual-diagnoses patients, and many come in 



            23              under the influence, it is nice to be able to get 



            24              an eval done when the patient is ready and it's 



            25              an appropriate time for them to get an eval and 
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             1              if they can go home or get to another level of 



             2              care.  



             3                   The other piece of this -- this unit is to 



             4              have dedicated behavioral health staffing the 



             5              unit.  Traditionally, in emergency departments, 



             6              emergency department staff are caring for these 



             7              patients in addition to the routine patient 



             8              population, taking resources away from the other 



             9              patients in the ED and often taking other 



            10              ancillary staff away to sit one-on-one.  So it 



            11              becomes a much more therapeutic environment with 



            12              case managers, behavioral health nurses to be 



            13              able to actually provide treatment versus just 



            14              monitoring somebody in the ED until we can find 



            15              appropriate, safe discharge plans for those 



            16              patients, whether that's transfer to a 



            17              higher-level of care or to an Intensive 



            18              Outpatient Program.



            19                   MS. RIVAL:  Great, thank you.  



            20                   What happens if an adolescent presents at 



            21              the emergency department currently?



            22                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Dr. Herrick will address 



            23              that.  Thank you.



            24                   MS. RIVAL:  This is a three-part question, 



            25              just to give you a heads-up.
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             1                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.



             2                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Stay close.



             3                   DR. HERRICK:  That question can be broken 



             4              down into three parts, as well.



             5                   MS. RIVAL:  Great.



             6                   DR. HERRICK:  So patients come in to the 



             7              emergency room and they are read and received by 



             8              a triage nurse to determine, you know, what sorts 



             9              of services they require, and if it's a 



            10              psychiatric service that is required, then they 



            11              are placed in one of the ligature-safe rooms and 



            12              an ED doc then visits with the patient and 



            13              medically clears the patient, speaks to the 



            14              family briefly, and then drops a consult for a 



            15              psychiatrist to see the patient.  The patient is 



            16              seen by, first, a crisis intervention social 



            17              worker who collects the information and then 



            18              discusses it with a psychiatrist who then 



            19              evaluates the patient, talks to the family, 



            20              obtains collateral information, speaks to 



            21              outpatient providers, makes a determination what 



            22              is the best (unintelligible).



            23                   MS. RIVAL:  Great.



            24                   How would that change with the proposal?



            25                   DR. HERRICK:  So what would change with the 
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             1              proposal is we would have greater staff access.  



             2              We, in addition, would have more specialized 



             3              care.  So, for example, they are seen primarily 



             4              and managed primarily by the ED right now, and 



             5              instead, what we would do is use behaviorial 



             6              health-trained staff to care for and provide 



             7              clearance of the patient in order to be evaluated 



             8              for, you know, the next level of care.  So the 



             9              staff would be more dedicated towards the 



            10              behavioral health bay and then the environment of 



            11              care would be less ED like and more, not only 



            12              psych-safe, but also just a warmer, friendlier 



            13              environment.



            14                   MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.  



            15                   If there were patients that the emergency 



            16              room space will allow for, where would they go?



            17                   DR. HERRICK:  Well, there's always overflow, 



            18              but the plan, I think you know, when we -- when 



            19              we evaluated the needs for the hospital, we 



            20              determined that, really, the sweet spot was six 



            21              beds and so we're not anticipating a lot of 



            22              overflow as a result of this plan.  



            23                   In addition, we will able to move patients 



            24              out of the ED faster than previously because 



            25              having Intensive Outpatient Services dedicated to 
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             1              adolescent care will help with (unintelligible). 



             2              So, instead of patients waiting in the ED until 



             3              we can find an appointment for them in the 



             4              community, we have the appointment for them.  



             5                   So we're hoping through -- through expanding 



             6              the number of beds and also reducing the time in 



             7              which they're in the ED, that should safely care 



             8              for or manage any overflow issues that we might 



             9              anticipate



            10                   MS. RIVAL:  Okay, great, thank you.  



            11                   On Page 656 of Mr. Cordeau's prefile 



            12              testimony, it notes that there is a scarcity of 



            13              psychiatric beds for adolescents and the proposal 



            14              seeks to expands the availability of services to 



            15              adolescents.  



            16                   How does the proposal impact services for 



            17              adolescents directly?  



            18                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you, Mr. Cordeau 



            19              will address that.



            20                   MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.



            21                   MR. CORDEAU:  Currently, Norwalk Hospital, 



            22              and actually all the facilities within Nuvance, 



            23              do not have inpatient adolescent beds.  So the 



            24              ability to have an adolescent IOP dramatically 



            25              changes the care that we could provide for 
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             1              adolescents.  



             2                   As Dr. Herrick was mentioning, you know, 



             3              previously, with an adolescent, or currently, 



             4              with an adolescent, in the absence of those 



             5              Intensive Outpatient Programs, the ability for a 



             6              safe discharge is really delayed significantly 



             7              until there are openings, and currently, in 



             8              our -- in our service area, we don't have an 



             9              adolescent IOP.  So we see this as a great 



            10              opportunity for adolescents, to be able to 



            11              provide that service out of our ED, and then, you 



            12              know, direct referral into our own program 



            13              regardless of ability to pay, which is very 



            14              important because that's another limiting factor 



            15              currently in the market that we are in.



            16                   MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.  



            17                   Could you describe what expanded Intensive 



            18              Outpatient Services would look like and compare 



            19              that with the current services at Norwalk 



            20              Hospital?



            21                   MR. CORDEAU:  I'll take the first half and 



            22              then I'll -- Dr. Herrick, do you want to take the 



            23              whole thing?  Okay.



            24                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Just bear with us more one 



            25              moment.
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             1                   MS. RIVAL:  Oh, take your time.  Thank you.



             2                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you.  Dr. Herrick 



             3              will speak now.



             4                   DR. HERRICK:  So, currently, we have an 



             5              adult Intensive Outpatient Program.  We do not 



             6              have an adolescent Intensive Outpatient Program.  



             7              We do not have a dual-diagnoses Intensive 



             8              Outpatient Program.  Our plan is to institute 



             9              both of those Intensive Outpatient Programs.



            10                   MS. RIVAL:  Okay, so would there be a total 



            11              of two Intensive Outpatient Programs?



            12                   MR. CORDEAU:  Three, there would continue to 



            13              be the adult psychiatric IOP, and then, in 



            14              addition to that, there would be the 



            15              dual-diagnoses and the adolescent.



            16                   MS. RIVAL:  Okay.



            17                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  I'm going to jump in.  



            18              I have a quick question.



            19                   Does the adult IOP program exist currently?



            20                   MR. CORDEAU:  Yes.



            21                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Can you give us a 



            22              little bit of information on that program?



            23                   MR. CORDEAU:  So Intensive Outpatient 



            24              Programs operate about three days a week, three 



            25              to four hours a day, and it includes both group 
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             1              and individual therapy and medication management, 



             2              and it takes referrals from the community as a 



             3              preventative measure towards hospitalization and 



             4              also acts as a step-down from our inpatient unit 



             5              when patients are ready to be discharged, and so 



             6              it's providing that service currently.



             7                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay, and I have one 



             8              follow-up question on that:  Do you have a 



             9              difficult time finding people to staff your 



            10              current IOP?



            11                   MR. CORDEAU:  So, yeah, I mean, we've been 



            12              challenged across the system in finding staff for 



            13              outpatient, inpatient, and you know, it's been 



            14              driven primarily by the pandemic.  There was a 



            15              lot of burn-out, particularly in the 



            16              hospital-based staff, and many of them left.  I'm 



            17              happy to say that we, with the expansion of both 



            18              our training -- psychiatric training program and 



            19              also training programs for licensed social 



            20              workers, and in additional, the staff who left 



            21              for telepsychiatry want to come back.  



            22                   So we're in the process of recruiting and 



            23              employing more staff.



            24                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay, thank you.  



            25              Sorry, Ms. Rival.  I just wanted to grab those 
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             1              questions.



             2                   MS. RIVAL:  No problem.  



             3                   I did have one additional question:  About 



             4              how many slots are there for patients in each of 



             5              the IOP programs?



             6                   MR. CORDEAU:  So, again, that's a 



             7              staffing-driven measure because the Joint 



             8              Commission requires -- or Medicare requires a -- 



             9              a maximum number for -- for staff.  So, 



            10              currently, we are -- I believe the plan is for 12 



            11              patients with the idea of expanding it to 16 per 



            12              IOP.



            13                   MS. RIVAL:  Okay, great, thank you.  



            14                   Page 14 of the application notes that 



            15              sustained low utilization of inpatient 



            16              psychiatric services at Norwalk Hospital and 



            17              ongoing staffing challenges for behavioral health 



            18              clinicians and support staff.  



            19                   Please, discuss where staff -- where the 



            20              staff who did not want to relocate to Danbury 



            21              were offered alternatives.



            22                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Peter Cordeau will address 



            23              that.



            24                   MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.



            25                   MR. CORDEAU:  So I've been I've been present 
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             1              here since January of '19, and even at that time, 



             2              you know, the census was capped at about 13 then.   



             3              You know, you know over the years, it continues 



             4              to dwindle.  At the time -- at the time or in an 



             5              attempt to keep staff, we've covered retention 



             6              bonuses to maintain staff here at the hospital.  



             7              We also have agency nurses, and all -- actually, 



             8              at the time of the application, all employees 



             9              were given the opportunity to, you know, apply 



            10              for any and all positions.  Geography plays a big 



            11              role in that.  We didn't lose any from a 



            12              resignation perspective in that case, and 



            13              actually have just re-upped a retention bonus for 



            14              the current staff there on the unit today.  We 



            15              didn't re-up that today; meaning they already 



            16              have a -- you know, the next series of retention 



            17              commitments from the -- from the hospital



            18                   MS. RIVAL:  And how do you plan to staff the 



            19              new emergency department with the additional 



            20              positions?



            21                   MR. CORDEAU:  You know, great question.  



            22                   Our plan would be, ideally, to, if approved, 



            23              have the inpatient staff that is currently here 



            24              relocate down to the ED to provide those services 



            25              in the ED proper, and then recruit any additional 
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             1              roles that we would deem necessary.  In -- you 



             2              know, in a holding, for extended holds, 



             3              certainly, the nurse/patient ratio is going to be 



             4              less need than in an acute setting.  So it 



             5              certainly is going to depend on the acuity of the 



             6              patient, but our goal would be to retain the 



             7              staff that is currently here and just redeploy 



             8              them to a behavioral health suite in the ED.



             9                   MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.  



            10                   Page 14 of the application reads, "New 



            11              outpatient and emergency programs will enable 



            12              earlier intervention and increase the access to 



            13              treatment in a lower-acuity and lower-cost 



            14              outpatient setting for residents of the service 



            15              area.  



            16                   How will you be able to intervene earlier 



            17              with the proposed new outpatient program?



            18                   MR. CORDEAU:  I could start with that or 



            19              Steve or Chuck?  



            20                   Well, I think, as mentioned in my statements 



            21              and others, we could intervene earlier because 



            22              the program actually exists, right?  So -- so, by 



            23              having access to two additional programs, 



            24              dual-diagnoses and adolescent, we'll have the 



            25              ability to refer directly out of the ED.  
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             1                   Some of the congestion -- a lot of 



             2              congestion is due to a lack of services available 



             3              for us to refer our patients to, primarily due to 



             4              insurance reasons, no ability to pay, et cetera.  



             5              So I really do believe that that is -- I do 



             6              believe that that is really the primary reason 



             7              for our ability to have access.  



             8                   The other piece of this is in conjunction 



             9              with the school systems and others, we have the 



            10              ability to -- so, for instance, yesterday -- we 



            11              are looking to work with the local community and 



            12              the systems to provide those services and the 



            13              referrals, et cetera.  



            14                   So it doesn't have to be directed out of the 



            15              ED.  It could be directed out of our primary care 



            16              offices, referrals from the community, and having 



            17              that access will certainly provide a much greater 



            18              early upstream intervention.



            19                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  I think Steve Murphy is 



            20              going to speak to that, as well, please.



            21                   MR. MERZ:  I'm just going to add on to what 



            22              Peter had shared.



            23                   In addition, Norwalk Hospital undertook a 



            24              systematic way through a logging process of all 



            25              the calls and inquiries that were coming in to 
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             1              the local community and identified that community 



             2              members seeking care were calling the Intensive 



             3              Outpatient Services, seeking treatment for levels 



             4              of care as an alternative to -- if their 



             5              situation escalated, to emergency departments and 



             6              higher levels of care.  



             7                   So there were -- as identified in the 



             8              certificate of need, the log indicated there were 



             9              hundreds of calls coming in for levels of care 



            10              that were not available.  The conclusion that we 



            11              reached and the planning process was that folks 



            12              that were not able to get access to care when 



            13              they needed it because the outpatient care wasn't 



            14              available, were left with very little choice in 



            15              the community and those would result in the 



            16              hospitalizations and the use of emergency 



            17              department that we were trying to avoid in this 



            18              application.



            19                   MR. LAZARUS:  This is Steve Lazarus.  I just 



            20              have a follow-up question to that.  



            21                   You talked about a planning aspect for this 



            22              proposal.  How is the -- other than those phone 



            23              calls and inquiries, how is the Norwalk community 



            24              engaged as part of this process?



            25                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  I think Peter Cordeau 
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             1              could speak to the community aspect of it.



             2                   MR. LAZARUS:  Thank you.



             3                   MR. CORDEAU:  Hello, again.  



             4                   We did interview stakeholders, whether it 



             5              was clergy, the folks from Americares, the 



             6              federally-qualified health clinic, the schools.  



             7              We also have a Community Care Team and a group of 



             8              community participants that participate in the 



             9              Community Care Team and the planning as it 



            10              relates to the Community Health Needs Assessment.  



            11              So we solicit the input from all of those sources 



            12              as we proposed this plan, and if memory serves me 



            13              correctly, some letters of support came directly 



            14              from those groups regarding the plan, including 



            15              conversations with the PD and the mayor's office, 



            16              also.



            17                   MR. LAZARUS:  Was this part of a study for 



            18              looking at all behavioral health access or 



            19              services in the Norwalk community, itself, or was 



            20              this more of regional approach?



            21                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Do you want that?



            22                   MR. CORDEAU:  I'm going to pass it over to 



            23              Steve Merz.



            24                   MR. MERZ:  With respect to the Community 



            25              Care Team process that Peter noted, that's been 
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             1              an ongoing effort.  Norwalk Hospital is among the 



             2              first hospitals in the State of Connecticut to 



             3              launch that process, which would involve these 



             4              community stakeholders in an effort to provide a 



             5              more meaningful and coordinated care approach to 



             6              individuals who otherwise would more frequently 



             7              than not utilize the emergency department as 



             8              their primary access point.  



             9                   So that effort was focused out of Norwalk 



            10              Hospital and basically grew to include the 



            11              broader Norwalk community.  At a broader level, 



            12              the planning for this certificate of need 



            13              approach was based on a regional approach based 



            14              on Nuvance Health's behavioral healthcare network 



            15              and trying to leverage the resources of entire 



            16              health system.  As Dr. Murphy noted, having an 



            17              integrated healthcare system afforded the system 



            18              the opportunity to look at behavioral healthcare, 



            19              potentially more strategically how to invest the 



            20              resources in the most impactful ways.



            21                   MR. LAZARUS:  Was there sort of a study or a 



            22              report that was recommended by this community 



            23              cares team's partnership?



            24                   MR. MERZ:  I'm not aware of a specific study 



            25              that was requested.
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             1                   The information that was outlined in this 



             2              certificate of need involves studies from various 



             3              sources, including a national resource known as 



             4              SG-2 that provides predictive studies of 



             5              particular volumes.  That study, for example, 



             6              identified that the volume of need and outpatient 



             7              services was four times greater than the growth 



             8              rates anticipated in inpatient.  So the team 



             9              thought that's what -- a very needful area for 



            10              investment.  



            11                   The community also identifies key 



            12              stakeholders.  The City of Norwalk would place an 



            13              initiative focused on mental healthcare.  There 



            14              was the previous involvement that Dr. Murphy 



            15              noted of a federal and state legislative support.  



            16              There's a clear need in the community for this 



            17              and that drove a lot of the strategic priority 



            18              decision-making.



            19                   MR. LAZARUS:  Okay, how is this -- these -- 



            20              all this information communicated by the team?  



            21              You know, was it some sort of a written document?  



            22              Was it, you know, just word-of-mouth?  Was it -- 



            23              I'm just trying to understand that.  How was that 



            24              information gathered and reviewed?



            25                   MR. MERZ:  The Community Care Teams are an 
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             1              ongoing process with regular meetings among the 



             2              key stakeholders that Peter mentioned.  I think, 



             3              in addition, there were some stakeholder meetings 



             4              with some of those leaders where this planning 



             5              process was more deliberately communicated for 



             6              the purposes of receiving feedback.  The 



             7              individuals involved in that involved the leaders 



             8              in the emergency department, the Community Care 



             9              Team, as well as some of the community government 



            10              relations leaders for Nuvance Health.



            11                   MR. LAZARUS:  Were there any minutes from 



            12              these meetings or any kind of documentation?



            13                   MR. MERZ:  I'm not aware of any specific 



            14              sets of minutes; however, I know that reports on 



            15              those meetings were shared orally in our 



            16              strategic planning process meetings.



            17                   MR. CORDEAU:  Steve, I think I can add one 



            18              more thing.  



            19                   Hi, Peter Cordeau again.  



            20                   This proposal also was vetted and approved 



            21              by the Norwalk Hospital board that's represented 



            22              by every town in our service area.  So, as the 



            23              plan was shared, the information from SG-2 was 



            24              shared as well as stakeholders in the community, 



            25              whether it's the federally-qualified health 
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             1              clinic, Americares, and those local needs were 



             2              shared.  That proposal was approved unanimously 



             3              by the Norwalk Board to move forward, and there 



             4              are minutes to that meeting.



             5                   MR. LAZARUS:  Okay, yeah, and so the SG-2 



             6              probably provides some sort of a report that was 



             7              used to -- that was shared with the board.  I 



             8              guess -- which is more reasonable, of course.  I 



             9              just wondered, with all these activity and -- 



            10              related to local access, was there any sort of 



            11              local report that was put together by this local 



            12              cares team, which it doesn't appear to be?



            13                   MR. CORDEAU:  I don't have the answer to 



            14              that --



            15                   MR. LAZARUS:  Okay.



            16                   MR. CORDEAU:  -- currently.  Dr. Herrick, 



            17              you know, perhaps will want to talk about the 



            18              patient migration to Danbury to you just as 



            19              Steve --



            20                   DR. HERRICK:  So, you know, I think there 



            21              are were a variety of sources that came into 



            22              making this decision and those sources included 



            23              tapping into the community, just asking them 



            24              questions as well as utilizing SG-2 -- SG-2 data.  



            25              So it was -- it was really more of an outreach as 
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             1              well as personal kind of experiences.  You know, 



             2              we have the deflection log.  We have a variety of 



             3              services in Danbury that patients were accessing 



             4              from Norwalk and the surrounding community of 



             5              Norwalk.  I, personally -- just by way of 



             6              example, I have an outpatient practice in Danbury 



             7              and I routinely get patients coming up from the 



             8              Norwalk area because they cannot find anyone in 



             9              that community who will accept their insurance, 



            10              but Danbury has a number of providers who do 



            11              accept insurance.  



            12                   So it's inclusive of a lot of pieces of 



            13              information, both in terms of sophisticated 



            14              studies as well as anecdotal information from 



            15              psychiatrists, from the community, from primary 



            16              care.  I can't tell you how many calls I get 



            17              regularly from primary care because they can't 



            18              find -- they can't find access for their patients 



            19              who have behavioral health problems.  This is one 



            20              of the reasons why we have a primary behavioral 



            21              clinician in the primary care offices.



            22                   MR. LAZARUS:  Was an alternative -- other 



            23              alternatives considered to this, at least 



            24              initially, such as increasing IOPs while 



            25              maintaining the inpatient to see the effects of 
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             1              that on the inpatient service, as we talked 



             2              about, you know teaching the community to swim?



             3                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Yeah, one second.  



             4                   Would you repeat question for the witness, 



             5              please?



             6                   MR. LAZARUS:  I just wondered if there were 



             7              any alternatives to this approach such as 



             8              increasing local IOP services prior to 



             9              terminating access for inpatient services to the 



            10              local Norwalk community?



            11                   DR. MURPHY:  Sure, and again, this is John 



            12              Murphy.  I think, actually, for the past couple 



            13              of years, that that is the line of thinking that 



            14              we pursued, particularly since it was -- you 



            15              know, we merged with Norwalk Hospital, as you 



            16              know, several years ago.  We weren't anxious to 



            17              do any closures or relocations too soon after 



            18              that merger largely because I think that the 



            19              community was sensitive about what's going to 



            20              happen now?  



            21                   So we have been trying to run both programs 



            22              simultaneously.  We have been paying, you know, 



            23              for staffing at both programs, but then we 



            24              confront the reality that the facility, itself, 



            25              at least in Norwalk, is over 80 years old.  I've 













�







                                                                            75





             1              walked through it.  I've talked to the docs.  



             2              It's -- I've seen patients there.  It's tired.  



             3              It needs -- it needs to be modernized.  It needs 



             4              a contemporary and attractive aesthetic.  I think 



             5              patients deserve that and it would cost us 18 



             6              million bucks t do that, and you know, if this 



             7              application is denied, we're going to have to do 



             8              something along those lines, but we do believe, 



             9              as I mentioned before, that there is -- we can 



            10              put those dollars to better use and consolidate 



            11              the inpatient care in Danbury, modernize it, 



            12              attract psychiatrists who actually want to 



            13              exclusively potentially practice in the inpatient 



            14              environment and offer a variety of specialties.  



            15                   When the Community Health Needs Assessment 



            16              came back and said, "Hey, listen, mental health 



            17              is at the top of the list; substance abuse is 



            18              right behind it," you know, that gave rise to the 



            19              dual-diagnoses IOP that, you know, this is a 



            20              strategy we have to embark on right away because 



            21              it would serve that population, but I think the 



            22              more providers we can attract, the more slots we 



            23              will have, the greater the access will be, and I 



            24              think that's fine, but again, to that analogy I 



            25              used before, that's putting a fence further and 
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             1              further upstream, but I do believe if we are 



             2              going to intervene earlier and when these 



             3              stressors first appear, instead of letting 



             4              patients adopt maladaptive behaviorals is in the 



             5              primary care office, at the first sign of some 



             6              sort of psychosocial distress, we provide them 



             7              with instruction and counseling and coping 



             8              mechanisms to say, "This is how you swim," 



             9              because we all face these stressors.



            10                   Even in the school system, I think we can 



            11              -- if those dollars are liberated to be spent 



            12              differently, is -- we can figure out when kids 



            13              are showing signs of distress and the school 



            14              psychologist doesn't know what to do, we make 



            15              ourselves somehow available, whether through 



            16              telepsychiatry or some programmatic 



            17              collaboration, but I think -- and by the way, the 



            18              running two inpatient programs at the same time, 



            19              there are ongoing operating losses that we incur 



            20              every year.  I would much prefer, if we can, to 



            21              take those dollars, put them into one beautiful, 



            22              contemporary, larger, properly-staffed unit, and 



            23              put the remainder of those funds back into the 



            24              community, where I think we will save people from 



            25              the need to be admitted to an inpatient 
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             1              psychiatry unit.



             2                   MR. LAZARUS:  All right, when you reference 



             3              the facility in Norwalk, you're talking about the 



             4              hospital?



             5                   DR. MURPHY:  The inpatient psych unit, the 



             6              building that it sits in.



             7                   MR. LAZARUS:  Okay, all right, thank you 



             8              very much.



             9                   Thank you, Ms. Rival.  I'm all set.



            10                   MS. RIVAL:  I just had one other question 



            11              along that vein:  How would patients be notified 



            12              of the new outpatient treatment programs?  How 



            13              would they become aware of them?



            14                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Dr. Herrick will address 



            15              that.



            16                   MS. RIVAL:  Great.



            17                   DR. HERRICK:  Well, I mean, part of it is 



            18              what we've already been doing.  We have the 



            19              community stakeholders.  They know exactly what 



            20              our plans are.  They're in full support of them.  



            21              Those conversations happen on a regular basis, as 



            22              Mr. Cordeau iterated about his relationships with 



            23              the FQHCs, primary care offices.



            24                   So people are going to know and people are 



            25              going to know pretty quickly when this program is 
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             1              up and running.  I think -- you know, one of the 



             2              things that I get on a regular basis is from 



             3              primary care physicians.  They're going to want 



             4              to know this and they're going to be given this 



             5              information immediately when it becomes 



             6              available.  



             7                   So we are going to -- I predict we are going 



             8              to be inundated with referrals.



             9                   MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.  



            10                   The next couple of questions I have relate 



            11              to cost.  Why is there approximately up to a 35 



            12              percent increase in the cost of services, 



            13              inpatient services, between Norwalk and Danbury 



            14              Hospital?  Will patients that are transferred 



            15              from Norwalk to Danbury be responsible for this 



            16              increase in service cost?  And for reference, I 



            17              am looking at Page 29 and 30 of the Completeness 



            18              Letter 1.



            19                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  That Page 29, 30, is that 



            20              the Bates number at the bottom?



            21                   MS. RIVAL:  This was not Bates-stamped.  It 



            22              just has on the top left -- it's a Word document 



            23              that they submitted.  It's the last two pages of 



            24              the document.  



            25                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  I'm just pulling that up.  
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             1              One moment.



             2                   MS. RIVAL:  Sure, take your time.   



             3                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  We have the page up.  



             4              Could you just repeat the question for us, 



             5              please?



             6                   MS. RIVAL:  Sure, absolutely.  



             7                   Why is there an approximate up to a 35 



             8              percent increase in the cost of services between 



             9              Norwalk and Danbury Hospital and will patients 



            10              transferred from Norwalk to Danbury be 



            11              responsible for this increase in cost?



            12                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you.  Just one 



            13              moment, please.



            14                   MS. RIVAL:  Sure.



            15                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Hearing Officer Novi, we 



            16              have someone, Shannon Ritchie, from our finance 



            17              group is probably best equipped to answer that 



            18              question.



            19                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  I will go ahead and 



            20              swear her in, then, and she can answer that.



            21                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  All right, thank you.



            22                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Hello, Ms. Ritchie.  



            23              If you could, please, just take your mask off to 



            24              say your name.



            25                   MS. RITCHIE:  I am Shannon Ritchie from the 
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             1              Nuvance finance team.



             2                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, if you 



             3              could, please, raise your right hand so I can 



             4              administer the oath.



             5                   Do you solemnly swear or solemnly and 



             6              sincerely affirm, as the case may be, that the 



             7              testimony you're about to provide will be the 



             8              truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth 



             9              so help you god or upon penalty of perjury?



            10                   MS. RITCHIE:  I do.



            11                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you.  Go ahead.



            12                   MS. RITCHIE:  So I think it's important to 



            13              note that the cost data that was provided in the 



            14              completeness response is reflective of the 



            15              patient mix and the acuity of the patient on the 



            16              the unit.When we adjust that information to 



            17              reflect, you know, an average cost per day, what 



            18              we find is that the cost of the Danbury unit is 



            19              actually less -- less costly than that of 



            20              Norwalk.



            21                   MS. RIVAL:  Would you have any evidence to 



            22              support that since that was not provided to us?



            23                   MS. RITCHIE:  I do have that evidence, yeah.  



            24              We have not previously submitted it.  I can tell 



            25              you:  We have run those numbers and what I found 
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             1              is for fiscal year '21, as for an example, the 



             2              cost of a self-paid patient on Norwalk Hospital 



             3              on a per-day basis comes out to $1,945 per day 



             4              and the equivalent cost of a self-pay patient at 



             5              Danbury Hospital would be $1,696 per day.



             6                   MS. RIVAL:  Okay.



             7                   MR. LAZARUS:  Hearing Officer, can we get 



             8              that as a late file?



             9                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Yes, I'm going to ask 



            10              for that because I'm currently looking at Bates 



            11              Page 583 through 584 and that does not square 



            12              with the information provided there.  



            13                   So I would also like you to explain any 



            14              differences within Bates Pages 583 through 584 



            15              with the information you are now providing.  We 



            16              will mark that as a late file.



            17                   MS. RITCHIE:  Absolutely.  



            18                   So the difference is that data that's 



            19              completed on those Bates pages was reflective of 



            20              the cost per case, so over the entire length of 



            21              the admission, and as we know, the acuity and 



            22              intensity of patients at Danbury and Norwalk was 



            23              different during those time periods.  So what was 



            24              submitted was that the cost of the self-pay 



            25              patients at Norwalk Hospital was $9,205 in fiscal 
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             1              '21 over the cost -- over the length of the 



             2              admission; whereas that data point for Danbury 



             3              Hospital specific to self-pay patients over the 



             4              length of their stay was one thousand -- for -- 



             5              sorry, I want to make sure I have the reference 



             6              right.  That piece of information, self-pay 



             7              patient was $11,233.  



             8                   So the information that I am sharing now is 



             9              adjusted for a daily cost, cost per day.



            10                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay, so that will 



            11              be -- we will be requesting that and any 



            12              explanations of differences in numbers as a late 



            13              file.



            14                   MS. RITCHIE:  Absolutely.



            15                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you.



            16                   MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.  



            17                   Next, could you describe the referral 



            18              process between inpatient psychiatric services 



            19              and outpatient psychiatric services?  



            20                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  I think we missed a 



            21              question, actually.



            22                   MS. RIVAL:  You're right, I'm sorry.



            23                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  No. 10 was missed.  If 



            24              we could go back and cover that one?



            25                   MS. RIVAL:  Absolutely.
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             1                   Specific to behavioral healthcare, please, 



             2              discuss the charity care program and the 



             3              community benefit program, and this refers to 



             4              Exhibit A, Page 36, No. 25.



             5                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Just one moment, please.  



             6              Thank you.



             7                   MS. RIVAL:  Sure.



             8                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Just to clarify, it's 



             9              Bates Page 45.



            10                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Ms. Rival, Jen Zupcoe is 



            11              going to speak to that. 



            12                   Hearing Officer Novi, can we have her sworn 



            13              in, as well?



            14                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Of course.  



            15                   Hello, ma'am.  If you could, state your 



            16              name, spelling your last name, and your job title 



            17              for the record.



            18                   MS. ZUPCOE:  Sure.  It's Jennifer Zupcoe, 



            19              Z-u-p-c-o-e, vice-president of financial 



            20              operations and analytics.



            21                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, if you 



            22              could, please, raise your right hand?



            23                   Do you solemnly swear or solemnly and 



            24              sincerely affirm, as the case may be, that the 



            25              testimony you are about to provide will be the 
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             1              truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth 



             2              so help you god or upon penalty of perjury?



             3                   MS. ZUPCOE:  Yes, I do.



             4                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you.  Go ahead 



             5              and put your hand down.



             6                   Go ahead.



             7                   MS. ZUPCOE:  So related to our charity care 



             8              policy, that charity care policy is a Nuvance 



             9              Health charity care policy.  It applies to all 



            10              patients, not just behavioral health.



            11                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Could you explain more 



            12              about that?  You did say that you had a policy.  



            13              I'm looking to find out more about what that 



            14              policy is.  It is mentioned, but it says, "It has 



            15              a general financial assistance policy, which will 



            16              continually utilize the benefits of 



            17              uninsured/underinsured individuals to enable 



            18              access to medically-necessary care without regard 



            19              for cost."  



            20                   What does that mean?



            21                   MS. ZUPCOE:  Yes, so, as you're aware, so 



            22              hospitals all have charity care policies that we 



            23              follow very specifically.  That is applied 



            24              consistently, you know, across our patient 



            25              population to ensure that we are not obviously 
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             1              charging or seeking reimbursement in excess from 



             2              those patients that qualify.  



             3                   We follow the 501R IRS guidelines, also, in 



             4              terms of how we end up ultimately billing for 



             5              services.  So, overall, those policies would be 



             6              applicable to patient population who are 



             7              eligible.  We share those charity care policies 



             8              with the Office of Healthcare Strategy, as well, 



             9              on an annual basis.



            10                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Just for reference, that 



            11              was included as Attachment E, I believe, to our 



            12              application.



            13                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  



            14                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Which is Bates No. 57.



            15                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  527, Thank you.  



            16                   MS, RIVAL:  Okay, next, some questions that 



            17              involve access.  



            18                   Could you, please, describe the referral 



            19              process between inpatient psychiatric services 



            20              and outpatient psychiatric services?



            21                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you, Dr. Herrick 



            22              will address that.



            23                   MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.



            24                   DR. HERRICK:  So each inpatient unit has a 



            25              dedicated licensed clinical social worker who 
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             1              accessing a variety of resources that are 



             2              available from the inpatient unit to the 



             3              outpatient services.  Obviously, it depends on 



             4              the patient.  Patients that have a provider 



             5              already in the community may be referred back if 



             6              they needed more intensive level of care, they're 



             7              referred to an Intensive Outpatient Program in 



             8              the community.  



             9                   Then, once that is secured, we try and get 



            10              patients seen within five business days of their 



            11              discharge, and from the standpoint of having 



            12              access to outpatient care, that is our goal, and 



            13              that's typically what happens.  



            14                   Now, when Covid occured, every, every 



            15              outpatient system was overwhelmed, and so, trying 



            16              to access an outpatient appointment during Covid 



            17              in the last year has been challenging, at best, 



            18              including those patients with very rich insurance 



            19              plans, and sometimes it's upwards of two weeks 



            20              that we're not able to secure an appointment for 



            21              a patient who is about to be discharged.



            22                   So that's really put a lot of pressure on 



            23              the hospitals, and we've kept patients longer, or 



            24              actually, our length of stay has increased in the 



            25              past year, I think, primarily as a result of lack 
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             1              of access.



             2                   MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.



             3                   MR. LAZARUS:  Ms. Rival, one second.



             4                   I just want to go back and follow-up on the 



             5              question you had about the charity care and 



             6              community benefits.  I know we talked about the 



             7              charity care.



             8                   Regarding the community benefits, can the 



             9              Applicants talk a little bit about what the 



            10              community benefits have been, say, for example, 



            11              in the last year or so in the Norwalk Community 



            12              related to behavioral health specifically?



            13                   DR. HERRICK:  Well, before -- I mean, I 



            14              think the question has multiple answers, but I 



            15              think one of the biggest community benefits that 



            16              Norwalk Hospital has provided is the Community 



            17              Care Team, and this focuses on the highest-risk 



            18              patients in our community who typically have 



            19              three problems:  They have a Substance Use 



            20              Disorder, they have a psychiatric disorder, and 



            21              they have a major medical condition, and as a 



            22              result of that, they often seek their care in 



            23              emergency rooms primarily, and those patients are 



            24              provided the opportunity to sign on with a 



            25              Community Care Team and it's a whole list of 
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             1              resources in the community that comes together on 



             2              a weekly basis and meets and discusses what the 



             3              patients needs are.



             4                   Largely, there are social determinants of 



             5              health, whether it be housing, access to 



             6              healthcare, medical care, psychiatric care, 



             7              substance abuse care, whatever resources are 



             8              available that the community has access to are 



             9              offered to the patient, including even case 



            10              management services where they will physically 



            11              help the patient get to their appointments on 



            12              time.  



            13                   So that's, I think, just one aspect of the 



            14              question you asked in terms of how we address 



            15              community benefit.



            16                   MR. LAZARUS:  For the Community Care Team, 



            17              is there some sort of documentation you might be 



            18              able to provide us that talks about what its 



            19              function is and what's the make-up of the 



            20              Community Care Team?



            21                   DR. HERRICK:  Sure.  We can get that to you.  



            22              I don't know if it was included in that -- in the 



            23              documentation, but yeah, absolutely, we can get 



            24              it to you.



            25                   MR. LAZARUS:  Thank you.













�







                                                                            89





             1                   DR. HERRICK:  Norwalk want to expand into 



             2              New York, as well.



             3                   MR. LAZARUS:  Yes, anything you can provide 



             4              to document that and provide some explanation 



             5              with that, that would be helpful.



             6                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, I will 



             7              order that as a second late file would be 



             8              information on the Community Care Team.



             9                   MR. LAZARUS:  Thank you, Ms. Rival.  I'm all 



            10              set.  Back to you.



            11                   MS. RIVAL:  Great.



            12                   The first completeness response shows a 



            13              table on Page 7 with the average daily census for 



            14              the inpatient psychiatric units at both Norwalk 



            15              and Danbury for the past five fiscal years.  



            16                   What are your expansion plans for the 



            17              Danbury facility that will accommodate all of the 



            18              Norwalk patients?



            19                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Dr. Herrick will address 



            20              that.



            21                   MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.



            22                   DR. HERRICK:  So I'm looking at Page 7 of 30 



            23              that include some demographics and numbers, but 



            24              historically, between the two units, the average 



            25              daily census has been running in the low to 
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             1              mid-20s, and the plan is that we will have a 



             2              34-bed unit and that will include probably 12 



             3              doubles and -- and singles, and the planning, 



             4              really, it involved both what we could do for the 



             5              Norwalk Community based on the historical numbers 



             6              as well as expanding bed capacity, as well, for 



             7              the network in general, and in addition, it 



             8              leveraged our experience for Covid so that we can 



             9              operate in times of a pandemic.  Single beds and 



            10              -- meet the needs of the community with just 



            11              converting everything to single, as well as the 



            12              opportunity to expand and turn the single beds 



            13              into double beds if we need to, if we exceed 



            14              capacity.  So it offers us a great deal of 



            15              flexibility in our ability to manage patients.



            16                   Also, the way the unit will be configured is 



            17              to potentially create areas of specialization so 



            18              that patients with a particular condition can be 



            19              separated somewhat from other patients in order 



            20              to improve care.  So it's a very thoughtful 



            21              design that includes a lot of possible 



            22              considerations for the future that we can adapt 



            23              to.



            24                   MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.  



            25                   Page 672 of Dr. Charles Herrick's prefile 
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             1              testimony notes that one of the strategies for 



             2              staff improvement in Nuvance's -- is Nuvance's 



             3              psychiatric residency program.  Has this strategy 



             4              been significantly tested or used at any of the 



             5              other Nuvance facilities?



             6                   DR. HERRICK:  Well, our Nuvance psychiatric 



             7              residency program is rather unique to the 



             8              network, whereas most of the residency programs 



             9              are specific to a particular hospital.  Our 



            10              program crosses the network and our residents are 



            11              placed in several hospitals, both on the New York 



            12              and Connecticut side, including Sharon, Danbury 



            13              and Norwalk.  



            14                   Now, we haven't yet -- we haven't yet 



            15              graduated a class.  We don't graduate our first 



            16              class until '24, but we anticipate that, in 



            17              general, most residency training programs are 



            18              able to retain about 40 percent of their 



            19              graduates.  If we even retain 25 percent of our 



            20              graduates, we will have considered it an enormous 



            21              success because we are a designated professional 



            22              shortage area in mental health in both Danbury 



            23              and Norwalk.  



            24                   In addition, we are partnering with a 



            25              federally-qualified health agency in Danbury that 
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             1              is starting a residency training program.  So we 



             2              are collaborating with them and we're hopeful 



             3              that they will have four residents per year, as 



             4              well.  So we're very positive about our ability 



             5              to staff our plans, both in the Outpatient 



             6              Intensive Outpatient and inpatient setting.



             7                   MS. RIVAL:  Do you have any indicators that 



             8              you can draw from the first graduating class of 



             9              2024?



            10                   DR. HERRICK:  So "indicators" in terms of 



            11              just conversations with them individually in 



            12              terms of what they want to do in -- I'm not sure 



            13              I understand the question about "indicators."



            14                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  I can rephrase for 



            15              you.



            16                   MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.



            17                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Just as a generality, 



            18              do you have any -- what -- even if it's 



            19              anecdotal, any evidence that the first graduating 



            20              class may meet that 25 percent maintain -- that 



            21              stay with the system.



            22                   DR. HERRICK:  Well, one of the things that 



            23              we've emphasized in recruiting candidates is a 



            24              real commitment to community psychiatry and to 



            25              the geographical area.  So we actually are quite 
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             1              selective in the candidates that we want, and we 



             2              look for whether they grew up in the area, 



             3              whether they have family in the area, in some 



             4              way, how are they committed to the -- of the 



             5              western Connecticut area, when we choose these 



             6              people.  



             7                   So I'm very confident these are -- these are 



             8              candidates who are committed to the western 



             9              Connecticut area and want to stay.



            10                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  



            11                   Ms. Rival, any follow-up questions?



            12                   MS. RIVAL:  Nope, thank you.



            13                   Page 782 of Stephen Merz's prefile testimony 



            14              speaks to the lack of accessible community 



            15              providers of outpatient care and the effect on 



            16              the emergency department and inpatient services.  



            17              How will this proposal improve access to 



            18              community providers?



            19                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Stephen Merz will address 



            20              that.  Thank you.



            21                   MR. MERZ:  Well, first off, the ambulatory 



            22              program expansion that's proposed in the 



            23              certificate of need application will be community 



            24              programs and community providers, although 



            25              hospital-based.  So one way is to obviously add 













�







                                                                            94





             1              to the portfolio of community-based services 



             2              directly through the creation and expansion of 



             3              those programs.  



             4                   The second part is that in -- when -- by 



             5              establishing an intensive outpatient level of 



             6              care, there is an increased likelihood that 



             7              community providers will be able to accept 



             8              patients because they have been -- they have been 



             9              stepped-down and they are stable in a community 



            10              outpatient setting, so they're more likely to be 



            11              accepted into the practice or the practices that 



            12              exist.  



            13                   I think the third thing is that Norwalk 



            14              Hospital already has a -- a rich set of 



            15              outpatient and ambulatory behavioral healthcare 



            16              programs, some supported by DMHAS, the Department 



            17              of Mental Health and Addiction Services of the 



            18              state that are provided in the local community, 



            19              and by having the Intensive Outpatient Programs 



            20              and the other outpatient programs in Norwalk 



            21              Hospital, that because it's basically going to 



            22              enrich the fabric of community providers by 



            23              serving Norwalk.



            24                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  I have a follow-up 



            25              question to that.  
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             1                   How will you find these community providers 



             2              and what efforts will you have to get more 



             3              community providers for the patients that come 



             4              out of your -- your IOPs and through your ED?



             5                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Dr. Herrick will speak to 



             6              that.



             7                   DR. HERRICK:  So, first of all, we have a 



             8              dedicated recruitment team that is always out 



             9              there attending conferences, soliciting interest, 



            10              and always outreaching to find qualified staff 



            11              for the public things that we have.  



            12                   So, we have that, but more importantly, as I 



            13              mentioned previously about our psychiatry 



            14              residency program, I think this network has 



            15              really learned that the best way to 



            16              recruit/retain staff is internally.  So we have 



            17              really pushed hard to establish educational 



            18              programs in a variety of areas including social 



            19              work, PAs, APRNs, undergraduate medical 



            20              education.  The department of psychiatry alone 



            21              has five medical schools that we are a clinical 



            22              clerkship for.  



            23                   So, historically, we have not been as big on 



            24              education, but with the network and our 



            25              understanding of staff shortages across all 
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             1              areas, not just behaviorial health, we recognize 



             2              that providing an educational foundation 



             3              internally is the key to being able to recruit 



             4              and retain qualified staff.  



             5                   So we are very optimistic.  We partnered 



             6              with many of the schools in the surrounding area, 



             7              including Sacred Heart University.  



             8                   So we feel very strongly that we'll be able 



             9              to staff to our needs



            10                   MS. RIVAL:  The next question I have speaks 



            11              to transportation.  



            12                   There are 43 miles between Norwalk Hospital 



            13              and Danbury Hospital.  How will patients be 



            14              transported between the two facilities?



            15                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you.  Mr. Cordeau 



            16              will speak to that.



            17                   MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.



            18                   MR. CORDEAU:  Hello.



            19                   Transportation between Norwalk and Danbury 



            20              would occur if a patient required an inpatient 



            21              level of care.  Because it's a higher level of 



            22              care, those patients would be transferred via 



            23              ambulance.



            24                   MS. RIVAL:  Okay, what happens when a 



            25              Norwalk area patient is discharged from the 
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             1              Danbury inpatient unit?  How do they get home?



             2                   MR. CORDEAU:  Yeah, so, from the time of 



             3              admission, case managers work with both patients 



             4              to families on an appropriate discharge plan that 



             5              includes transportation.  



             6                   So there are various ways that our case 



             7              management team does that.  One would be public 



             8              transportation, which happens to be free, between 



             9              Danbury and Norwalk currently.  The other is 



            10              family, and then, lastly, if that is not 



            11              available and all those options are exhausted, we 



            12              provide a transportation voucher and pay for the 



            13              transport for that patient to be transferred back 



            14              to their caregiver safely.



            15                   MS. RIVAL:  Okay, and you mentioned the case 



            16              manager, but how will the transfer centers 



            17              coordinate these services?



            18                   MR. CORDEAU:  Well, from an admission 



            19              perspective, from Norwalk to Danbury, if that's 



            20              the question, so we -- our psychiatrists at both 



            21              Norwalk and Danbury have admitting privileges to 



            22              both, so we're not transferring ED to ED.  So, if 



            23              Dr. Herrick, for instance, deems that I needed an 



            24              inpatient bed, then he can call -- well, he can 



            25              admit me directly to a Danbury bed.  He -- you 
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             1              know, he's the attending physician doing that 



             2              admission.  So that transportation is arranged 



             3              per the ED.  That patient goes directly to the 



             4              inpatient unit at Danbury Hospital.



             5                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  I have a follow-up 



             6              question to this.  



             7                   Norwalk -- Norwalk's Wheel Transit Hub to 



             8              Danbury Hospital is currently two hours and 22 



             9              minutes.  If a -- if a patient whose family is in 



            10              Norwalk wanted to visit them in Danbury, it would 



            11              take them almost five hours roundtrip to travel 



            12              to and from Danbury.  



            13                   Is there any sort of -- how would a family 



            14              member actively participate in a -- in a 



            15              patient's -- in patient rehab in -- or inpatient 



            16              treatment if they could not get there within two 



            17              hours?



            18                   MR. CORDEAU:  Yeah, I'm not familiar with 



            19              that reference.



            20                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Hearing Officer Novi, are 



            21              you referring to a particular reference in the 



            22              application?



            23                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  No, no, it's -- it's 



            24              quite a drive.  I mean, even Google -- if you 



            25              were to drive, it would take you almost an hour 
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             1              to get there.  If you didn't have transportation, 



             2              it could be quite likely, especially, you know, 



             3              on a snow day or something, for somebody without 



             4              transportation and somebody who may be could not 



             5              afford to have their own transportation, how 



             6              would you help family members actively 



             7              participate in inpatient treatment at the Danbury 



             8              Hospital from Norwalk?



             9                   MR. CORDEAU:  Okay, so, based on the 



            10              information provided here, it's approximately a 



            11              43-minute ride, 22.4r miles from Norwalk to 



            12              Danbury on Google Maps.  



            13                   So there's two public transportation 



            14              options.  Certainly, by train, probably less 



            15              ideal, and by bus, publicly-available schedules 



            16              indicate that the travel time is approximately an 



            17              hour, and the bus schedules, I believe, are 



            18              attached in our application, and if that's a 



            19              misstatement, we can provide them.  



            20                   Dr. Herrick is going to comment.



            21                   DR. HERRICK:  You know, family meetings 



            22              have -- have been a critical aspect of providing 



            23              quality behavioral healthcare at the inpatient 



            24              setting.  So we are exquisitely sensitive to the 



            25              fact that they have to travel and we will do 
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             1              everything in our power to ensure they get out 



             2              there in a timely manner, including vouchers, if 



             3              we need to do that, but more importantly, one of 



             4              the lessons that we learned that Dr. Murphy 



             5              mentioned earlier is using technology, and so 



             6              during Covid, we actually conducted family 



             7              meetings via Zoom like we are doing right now, 



             8              and we found it an incredibly effective, and we 



             9              continue to provide that service to families and 



            10              routinely run family meetings using Zoom 



            11              services, and you know, the feedback from 



            12              families has been largely positive.  



            13                   So, you know between our efforts to support 



            14              them in getting up there physically and 



            15              leveraging technology, we do have an opportunity 



            16              to really build out a very nice (unintelligible) 



            17              telepsych program on the unit.



            18                   So we're -- we're very optimistic that this 



            19              is not going to be any sort of barrier to having 



            20              an effective family meeting for discharge 



            21              planning and regular routine care.



            22                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.



            23                   MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.



            24                   And the last few questions that I have refer 



            25              to quality.  
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             1                   If you could, please, describe any care 



             2              coordination services to ensure patients remain 



             3              connected to services from intake to discharge 



             4              within and among the facilities?



             5                   DR. HERRICK:  Again, you know, it's 



             6              interesting that one of the things that we found 



             7              when we had originally -- for example, with 



             8              Danbury and IOPs, so what we found was that when 



             9              patients had the opportunity to visit the IOP 



            10              before discharge, our rates of Connect-to-Care 



            11              increased dramatically.



            12                   We learned from that that by having a face 



            13              to a name is a very powerful opportunity for 



            14              patients to feel connected and to want to show up 



            15              for those appointments.  So, again, our 



            16              opportunity this time is to leverage technology 



            17              in order to put a face with the name so that we 



            18              can ensure there's Connect-to-Care in a timely 



            19              manner.  



            20                   Secondly, by having access, obviously, if 



            21              there's an appointment a week away, it's less 



            22              likely that a patient is going to show up for 



            23              their appointment then if their appointment is a 



            24              day away or two days away.  So I think by having 



            25              greater access as well as leveraging technology, 
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             1              we're very -- we're very positive that this 



             2              Connect-to-Care is really going to improve.  It's 



             3              something that the entire state has been 



             4              struggling with.  



             5                   In fact, Beacon Options, which is a Medicaid 



             6              healthcare provider, has found that that is a 



             7              very important factor.  In most hospitals, 



             8              Connect-to-Care is about a month.  So we're 



             9              hoping to -- and we historically have been better 



            10              than that.  We want to -- that's really, I think, 



            11              the single-most important quality metric for 



            12              behavioral health we can monitor.



            13                   MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.  



            14                   Page 637 of the prefile responses by 



            15              Dr. Murphy states that the intent of the proposal 



            16              is to become a regional focal point for mental 



            17              health treatment and that quality will be 



            18              enhanced by Nuvance's network-wide performance 



            19              standards and care coordination efforts.



            20                   Could you describe these standards and how 



            21              quality is measured?



            22                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Was that for Dr. Murphy or 



            23              for --



            24                   DR. HERRICK:  So, I mean, we have a number 



            25              of metrics.  First and foremost, as I had 
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             1              mentioned as Connect-to-Care and I think that, as 



             2              I said, is the single-most important quality of 



             3              metric available, but also, we do look at 



             4              variations in care across physicians as well as 



             5              between hospitals.  We look at length of stay.  



             6              We look at discharge planning.  We look at family 



             7              meetings in order to ensure that the elements of 



             8              care are maintained throughout this system, and 



             9              that's -- you know, when Dr. Murphy writes about 



            10              that by consolidating inpatient services under 



            11              one roof, we have a much better ability to ensure 



            12              that there's a standardizational quality across 



            13              providers than between what is (unintelligible) 



            14              hospitals.



            15                   So that's one of the major reasons for 



            16              consolidating inpatient care, is to improve that 



            17              quality.



            18                   MS. RIVAL:  Excuse me.



            19                   DR. HERRICK:  Gesundheit.



            20                   MS. RIVAL:  Thank you.



            21                   DR. HERRICK:  -- to improve that quality.  



            22                   So those are some of the measures, and you 



            23              know, in behavioral health, you know, ultimately, 



            24              the single biggest quality measure, obviously, 



            25              we've been seeing across the country are suicide 













�







                                                                           104





             1              rates, and our hope is that, through these 



             2              processes, because the studies have demonstrated 



             3              access to care really is the biggest player in 



             4              reducing suicide rates, that that is going to be 



             5              the single most important factor in helping our 



             6              community.



             7                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  To follow up on your 



             8              discharge clinic, would you tell us a little bit 



             9              about what discharge from Danbury Hospital to an 



            10              IOP in Norwalk might look like?



            11                   DR. HERRICK:  Sure.



            12                   So all of our clinical social workers, 



            13              whether they work in Norwalk or they work in 



            14              Danbury, have access to the same resources, and 



            15              our physicians, because we have a single 



            16              electronic medical record across, the hospitals 



            17              have access to both inpatient and outpatient 



            18              records, we can -- we can task one another.  



            19              We're able to immediately obtain an appointment 



            20              for our patients and we know each other 



            21              personally and professionally, and so it just 



            22              moves the entire process of discharging a 



            23              patient, whether they're in Danbury or Norwalk, 



            24              to the outpatient services in Norwalk.



            25                   MS. RIVAL:  And my final question:  What if 
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             1              a patient of the emergency department does not 



             2              want to go to Danbury and wants to remain in the 



             3              Norwalk Community?  How would you address that 



             4              situation?



             5                   DR. HERRICK:  So we address it every day, in 



             6              fact, and we always give the patients choice.  



             7              Where would you like to go?  And we give them 



             8              options, and you know, as I mentioned earlier, 



             9              there are a number of hospitals in the 



            10              surrounding area that, sometimes, they prefer to 



            11              go to, and sometimes we have no choice because 



            12              either there are no beds available, or if they're 



            13              an adolescent, we have to find an adolescent 



            14              facility.  



            15                   So we're not going to stop doing that just 



            16              because we have this plan in place.



            17                   MS. RIVAL:  That concludes my questions.



            18                   Hearing Officer Novi or Mr. Lazarus, I don't 



            19              know if you have any additional?  



            20                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Steve, do you have 



            21              any?  I have one, but --



            22                   MR. LAZARUS:  I'm all set.  Go ahead.



            23                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay, my -- my final 



            24              question is:  Why does moving from an inpatient 



            25              to outpatient-focused care improve access to 
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             1              low-income members or the indigent population of 



             2              Norwalk?



             3                   DR. HERRICK:  I think it's not just a matter 



             4              of expanding the number of services that we offer 



             5              in the outpatient side, including the Intensive 



             6              Outpatient Programs, but one of the things that 



             7              we haven't addressed up to this point is we're 



             8              also planning on expanding outpatient services, 



             9              general outpatient services, and because we're a 



            10              clinic, we take all insurances, and one of the 



            11              challenges that I think many of the 



            12              DMHAS-sponsored outpatient clinics have struggled 



            13              with recently have been staffing shortages as 



            14              well as increased volumes.  So we are going to 



            15              accept those patients.  We have every intention 



            16              of accepting any patient regardless of the 



            17              insurance plan and getting them in in a timely 



            18              manner, evaluating them, determining what level 



            19              of care they need, and providing treatment to 



            20              them.  



            21                   So, you know, we're -- we remain dedicated 



            22              to treating the underserved, and I think that's 



            23              something that is important to emphasize, that 



            24              there's no one in the community, or very few 



            25              people in the community, who accept Medicaid and 
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             1              fewer and fewer people in the community are even 



             2              accepting commercial insurance because they don't 



             3              have to, and if they do accept a commercial 



             4              payer, it's only because it's -- it pays well and 



             5              it's administratively-easy, perhaps.  That's 



             6              created a tremendous burden on patients in terms 



             7              of gaining access.  So, as a result, they often 



             8              come to the emergency room.  They're stigmatized 



             9              in the emergency room, and they end up on an 



            10              inpatient unit, even if it wasn't necessarily an 



            11              appropriate level of care, but it's the best 



            12              level of care available to them at that point in 



            13              time.  Our hope is to avoid that so that these 



            14              Medicaid patients can be treated with respect in 



            15              in an outpatient setting in the community they 



            16              desire.



            17                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, thank you 



            18              very much.  



            19                   All right, that is it for the questions from 



            20              OHS.  At this point, I will ask your attorney if 



            21              he has any follow-up questions based on the 



            22              questions that we posed to the Applicants?



            23                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you, Hearing Officer 



            24              Novi.  No further questions.  



            25                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, so, at this 
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             1              point, we are -- we are set for the morning 



             2              section.  We will hold closing argument and 



             3              comments after the public comments -- sorry, we 



             4              will do -- closing arguments will be heard after 



             5              public comment.  Sign-up starts at 2:00 p.m. 



             6              Public comment will start at 3:00 p.m., if there 



             7              is any, and then, after that, and if we don't 



             8              have any, we will move to closing arguments at 



             9              that time.  If we do have them, we'll hear those 



            10              first, then go to closing arguments.  



            11                   It is now 11:39 a.m. and we will go to a 



            12              break.  I will check back at 2:00 to see if 



            13              public comment has started.  Otherwise, we will 



            14              begin at 3:00 p.m..  



            15                   Thank you, everybody, and have a nice break.



            16                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you.



            17    



            18                             (Recess.)



            19    



            20                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Hello, everybody, I 



            21              just want to remind everybody -- welcome back.  



            22              We will be having public sign-up from 2:00 to 



            23              3:00 p.m. and public comments from -- at -- begin 



            24              at 3:00 p.m..  We will call the names of those 



            25              who have signed up to speak in the order in which 
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             1              they have registered.  



             2                   We would like to remind everybody that if we 



             3              have any large amount of people, I am allowed to 



             4              limit your participation to three minutes; 



             5              however, let's see how many people we have first.  



             6                   Also, I do strongly encourage everybody 



             7              listening to submit written comments to OHS by 



             8              email or by mail no later than one week, that's 



             9              seven calendar days, from today.  Our contact 



            10              information is on the Website and on the public 



            11              information sheet, which was shown at the 



            12              beginning of the hearing and again, my -- making 



            13              public comments, and as stated previously in this 



            14              recording, you are -- you're speaking today is 



            15              either verbally without camera or with a camera 



            16              is consent to being recorded.  So your commons 



            17              will be recorded and contained within our -- 



            18              within our transcripts.  



            19                   All right, and with that, I will go ahead 



            20              and allow anybody who needs to register for 



            21              public comment to register with Maya Capozzi.  



            22              She will be keeping track.  She will be keeping a 



            23              list of individuals who have submitted their 



            24              names and then she will give that to me when she 



            25              is done.  
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             1                   So we will reconvene sat 3:00 p.m. for 



             2              public comments.  At that time -- if you would 



             3              like to speak at that time, please, make sure you 



             4              have registered prior to that.



             5                   Any other comments from the attorneys or the 



             6              analysts?



             7                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  No, thank you.



             8                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, and I see 



             9              nothing from Steve.  All right everybody, well 



            10              be -- reconvene at 3:00 p.m..  Thank you.  



            11                   



            12                                    (Recess.)



            13                    



            14                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  As you were just 



            15              informed by the Zoom -- by the Zoom voice, we are 



            16              being -- we are recording these -- this hearing 



            17              and your remaining in this hearing is your 



            18              consent to being recorded.  If you have any 



            19              issues of being recorded, you may now leave the 



            20              hearing at this time.  



            21                   All right, welcome back.  For those of you 



            22              just joining us, this is the second portion of 



            23              today's hearing concerning CON application filed 



            24              by the Norwalk Hospital Association d/b/a Norwalk 



            25              Hospital, Docket No. 22-32513CON -- CON.  We 
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             1              have -- we had the technical portion this 



             2              morning.  We will be calling the names of those 



             3              who signed up to speak in the order in which they 



             4              were registered.  Afterwards, I will ask if 



             5              there's anyone else present who wishes to be 



             6              heard.



             7                   Speaking time is typically limited to three 



             8              minutes.  Since there are few registered, I will 



             9              allow you to go beyond that.  However, I do ask 



            10              that you keep your comments fairly brief in 



            11              nature.  



            12                   Additionally, we strongly encourage you and 



            13              anyone else listening to submit written comments 



            14              to OHS by e-mail or mail no later than one week, 



            15              that's seven days, from today, in which that 



            16              would be December 21st.  Our contact information 



            17              is on our Website and on the public information 



            18              sheet in which you were -- or sorry, on the 



            19              hearing slide, which we provided at the beginning 



            20              of the hearing.  Thank you for taking the time to 



            21              be here today and for your cooperation.  



            22                   We are ready to hear statements from the 



            23              public.  



            24                   Ms. Capozzi from our office has been kind 



            25              enough to keep a list of individuals who have 
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             1              submitted their names, so I may need her 



             2              assistance with this.  



             3                   Anyone speaking, I'll remind you to turn on 



             4              your video and to turn your video and microphone 



             5              on.



             6                   MS. CAPOZZI:  You have to go away now.



             7                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, the 



             8              Applicants will have an opportunity to respond to 



             9              your comments and your written submission in 



            10              writing.  Given the nature of your submission 



            11              and -- sorry, and we'll have a chance to respond 



            12              to your -- to your submissions in writing.  



            13                   At the point, Ms. Capozzi, the first person, 



            14              please?



            15                   MS. CAPOZZI:  Diane Cece.



            16                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Hello, Ms. Cece.  If 



            17              you could, please, unmute yourself and turn on 



            18              your camera, if possible.



            19                   MS. CECE:  Good afternoon.



            20                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Hello, if you could, 



            21              please, state your name for the record, please.



            22                   MS. CECE:  Okay, my name is Diane Cece, 



            23              C-e-c-e, and it's Olmstead Place in Norwalk, 



            24              Connecticut.  



            25                   Ms. Capozzi, it would be Cece or Cece in 
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             1              Italy, so that was close, thank you.  



             2                   I'm -- thank you, members of the board.  I'm 



             3              a little bit more used to speaking at public 



             4              hearings within my own community, so I'm a bit 



             5              nervous.  I hope you bear with me.  If I'm 



             6              breaking any rules, just jump in and stop me 



             7              here. 



             8                   And I will say that I read through 99 



             9              percent of the documents associated with this 



            10              application, and I am working today, but I 



            11              followed as much as I could of the morning 



            12              session to hear the Applicants, but subsequently 



            13              had to take a whole bunch of kind of pick and 



            14              scratch notes. So I did ask before and I am going 



            15              to follow up, I believe, with a written comment.  



            16                   I'm not sure how many people there are here 



            17              to speak that are just regular residents.  I'm 



            18              not representing any organization or group.  I'm 



            19              just here as a resident of Norwalk and I wanted 



            20              to open up by saying that I suspect if there's 



            21              not a whole lot of folks, that it may be due to 



            22              what I consider a severe lack of public notice 



            23              about this application.  In general, I think 



            24              Nuvance or Norwalk Hospital had only posted the 



            25              bare minimum, which was a small, you know, 
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             1              two-font legal notice a year or so ago, and also, 



             2              when OHS had published for the public hearing 



             3              recently, the legal notice, I brought this to the 



             4              attention, I think, to one of your attorneys, 



             5              that that notice only describes the proposal as a 



             6              termination of an inpatient service, and there's 



             7              nothing in that document that would lead anyone 



             8              in Norwalk to know that this is related to 



             9              psychiatric and behavioral and mental health, and 



            10              I think there's a disservice and I hope that can 



            11              be addressed in the future.  



            12                   I wanted to speak to you today because what 



            13              I have read of this, and I know about it, and 



            14              after listening to the testimony, I'm speaking to 



            15              you today in opposition of granting this 



            16              application for a whole host of reasons.  I'll 



            17              rattle these off as quickly as I can, and if you 



            18              could, give me a warning here on the time.  



            19                   No. 1, I believe that this application 



            20              really serves only to benefit Nuvance and Norwalk 



            21              Hospital.  I don't see any benefit to our 



            22              community, and contrary, I believe it provides an 



            23              extraordinary burden on the patients who are 



            24              served by -- in inpatient services, their 



            25              families, their caregivers, and their current 
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             1              professional and social workers who are within 



             2              Norwalk.  



             3                   I mean, it's easy for Nuvance to say, "It's 



             4              just up the road a piece in Danbury," but to one 



             5              of your Commissioner's points, that would be 45 



             6              to 60-minute commute via car and as much as two 



             7              to two-and-a-half hours versus other types of 



             8              transit, and I don't see -- I think that they 



             9              should provide a great benefit to the residents 



            10              and I'm not seeing that here.  



            11                   You also heard them spoke(sic) about and in 



            12              their document, they refer the IOP, Intensive 



            13              Outpatient Services, that this would then 



            14              actually increase while decreasing the inpatient 



            15              beds, and I don't see that's being 



            16              mutually-exclusive.  I'm not seeing anything or 



            17              reading anything where I understand where they 



            18              couldn't make an effort along with the community 



            19              to have a massive increase in IOP within the 



            20              community and community-based services and still 



            21              maintain the level of inpatient beds that they 



            22              have, honestly, if not even increase them.  



            23                   They talk about the ability to safeguard 



            24              places here and the lack of services and I'm not 



            25              really clear on the distinction of what Danbury 
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             1              would offer, and if why there's going to be 



             2              additional community services, that couldn't go 



             3              hands-in-hand with the beds.  



             4                   When they talk about moving these services, 



             5              in the same breath, they also talk about low 



             6              utilization and shortage of staff, and in my 



             7              mind, if the utilization is that low, I think 



             8              they said seven daily beds, daily census, if I'm 



             9              reading that correctly and if it is that low, 



            10              then why it is a burden on Nuvance to keep that 



            11              service, increase the staff, which, in fact, they 



            12              said they're spending an extraordinary amount of 



            13              money on in terms of psychiatric interns and 



            14              additional staff.



            15                   So I -- I'm just not, you know, getting that 



            16              connect there.  The -- I believe that one of your 



            17              staff asked a question about the 35 percent 



            18              increase in cost in Danbury versus Norwalk 



            19              Hospital, and the lady who answered that, I'm not 



            20              clear on that answer.  I hope that you'll go back 



            21              and look at the additional documents that you 



            22              asked her to send because she was comparing 



            23              something called the daily cost versus what the 



            24              average day would be, and in that long-term 



            25              average day number, it was significantly higher 
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             1              than what Norwalk Hospital would bear -- Norwalk 



             2              Hospital would charge and then a patient would be 



             3              responsible for.  



             4                   The -- in terms of being able to -- I think 



             5              they talked to you about doing some investment 



             6              pods that will be in the emergency room and 



             7              having them be something that would be of more 



             8              comfort and privacy in the future.  Again, I 



             9              don't think that's mutually-exclusive, the in-bed 



            10              services, and they said, though, that the 



            11              facility is over 80 years old and needs 



            12              modernization and aesthetics and it would cost 



            13              them $18 million in costs, and quite simply, I 



            14              have no sympathy for that as a resident here when 



            15              we have been deluged with publicity and marketing 



            16              and public relations materials on Norwalk 



            17              Hospital about to spend $250 to $300 million on a 



            18              massive expansion of a new wing.  



            19                   You also asked a question on how the 



            20              community engagement information was gathered and 



            21              considered and they spoke to you about key 



            22              stakeholders, clergy, Norwalk Police Department, 



            23              Mayor Rilling, the schools, et cetera, but I 



            24              would say I'm a very engaged citizen in Norwalk 



            25              and I would know nothing about this unless I'm 
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             1              one of the three kind of losers in our town that 



             2              read legal notices every single day.  I would 



             3              have no way of knowing that and I suspect that 



             4              our community at large or residents know nothing 



             5              about it, either.  



             6                   The federal support that they mentioned that 



             7              was supported by Senator Blumenthal and Murphy, 



             8              the two point million, I think, was something 



             9              that was already in the works regardless of this, 



            10              so I'm not sure why they're linking that to a 



            11              decision to move the services.  



            12                   I do want to know, with the lack of 



            13              communication so far, how the community would be 



            14              made aware should you approve these changes.  



            15                   And I know that I'm over my time and I -- so 



            16              I just want to say, for those reasons, I'm -- 



            17              after reading everything and listening today, I'm 



            18              glad you're keeping this hearing open because 



            19              what's happened now is I feel like I have even 



            20              more questions than answers than I did before and 



            21              so -- and all the questions that you asked were 



            22              just so relevant and I just think asked in a 



            23              manner that looks like you're trying to protect 



            24              our community - both communities, actually - and 



            25              I want to be -- because I was working, I wanted, 
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             1              you know, to be able to have an opportunity to 



             2              actually replay this entire session and then I 



             3              hope to be able to submit some comments to you in 



             4              writing because as soon as I hang up here, I'm 



             5              going to think of the five other things I really 



             6              wanted you all to know and consider, and I thank 



             7              you for your time.  I know I went over.  I 



             8              appreciate it.  



             9                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, thank you.  



            10              Thank you very much.  I will go ahead and ask you 



            11              to remute yourself, Ms. Cece.  



            12                   Ms. Capozzi, the second person?



            13                   MS. CAPOZZI:  I think it's Richard 



            14              Maiberger.



            15                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, Mr. 



            16              Maiberger, if you could, go ahead and unmute 



            17              yourself and turn your camera on and then state 



            18              your name and address for the record, please.



            19                   MR. MAIBERGER:  Hi, my name is Richard 



            20              Maiberger and I am a retired psychiatrist.



            21                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay, go ahead with 



            22              your statement.



            23                   MR. MAIBERGER:  I was a director of 



            24              inpatient psychiatry at Norwalk Hospital from -- 



            25              for most of my career.  I was chairman of the 
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             1              department from 2003 to 2007.  



             2                   I would like to, first of all, support the 



             3              expansion of outpatient services that is 



             4              anticipated as a terrific idea for our patients.  



             5                   I want to say that the closure of the 



             6              psychiatric unit, currently called CP-3 is a 



             7              great loss to our community.  I agree with what 



             8              Diane said, as there's been very little publicity 



             9              about the closure of the unit.  There's been 



            10              publicity about the expansion of both outpatient 



            11              services.  I'm opposed for many reasons, but 



            12              we -- the distance, I think, that it would 



            13              require to get to Danbury Hospital for patients, 



            14              for their loved ones, and for their loved one's 



            15              participation in therapeutic activities is great 



            16              and would, I think, inhibit care.  



            17                   This says nothing about the fact that, very 



            18              often, our patients are waiting in the emergency 



            19              department for transfer to another facility, 



            20              whether it be Danbury or otherwise, and even 



            21              though they're improving the conditions there, 



            22              there still is time alone, usually on constant 



            23              observation with a sitter, and it's 24 hours a 



            24              day and four walls, and even with the addition of 



            25              behavioral therapists, I don't think that that is 
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             1              anywhere near as ideal, to be honest with you, on 



             2              the inpatient unit, and -- given the more 



             3              intensive care.  



             4                   The -- they talked about the addition of 



             5              telepsychiatry and I think telepsychiatry has 



             6              been terrific and is a convenience, but it does 



             7              not measure up to one-to-one personal care.  



             8                   As far as, you know, the idea of 



             9              Connect-to-Care that was mentioned, I think that 



            10              is extremely important as one of the most 



            11              important things that happens on the inpatient 



            12              unit, is that patients come in and become exposed 



            13              to and become aware of the possibility of 



            14              continuing their care as outpatients, which is so 



            15              crucial because so many of them -- so many of the 



            16              patients have denial and resistance to getting 



            17              further care.  At that time in CP-3, particularly 



            18              in those early days, are so important to achieve 



            19              that. 



            20                    Also, in making those outpatient plans, 



            21              they need to connect with people.  We had people 



            22              that would come that were case managers, there 



            23              were people who would provide social support, 



            24              people that could provide support of housing, 



            25              case management.  All of that was so crucial and 
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             1              those people would come to the unit and meet with 



             2              patients and that was very useful.  



             3                   Let me just make a few comments of things 



             4              that I heard this morning.  



             5                   Inpatient treatment, as I just said, is far 



             6              superior on one-to-one interaction in a bay in 



             7              the emergency department.  



             8                   The other thing that's so crucial is that 



             9              the patients need to want to pursue care and they 



            10              often don't come to the -- they don't come into 



            11              the outpatient clinic looking for care.  They are 



            12              in crisis and they come to the emergency 



            13              department because they're in crisis and that's 



            14              when they -- you know, they have the opportunity 



            15              to begin -- begin to get care, not everybody, but 



            16              a lot of patients come that way.  



            17                   They mentioned the patients that want to go 



            18              to Silver Hill or St. Vincent's in Westport or 



            19              Yale, and that's true, and people want to make 



            20              that choice, but it's usually the more affluent 



            21              among us that want to make that choice.  You 



            22              know, people would come to CP-3 sometimes that 



            23              were affluent and they would leave.  They would 



            24              want to leave and go to Silver Hill, not because, 



            25              I think, the unit was tired, and -- but because 













�







                                                                           123





             1              they were exposed to patients that made them very 



             2              uncomfortable, and I think that's why they would 



             3              want to leave more than -- more than the physical 



             4              surroundings.  



             5                   Also, patients are admitted to the inpatient 



             6              unit from outpatient services.  Our outpatient 



             7              services at Norwalk Hospital, they just do not -- 



             8              the condition deteriorated and they needed to 



             9              come in as inpatients.  So, even though we are 



            10              providing more outpatient services, it doesn't 



            11              preclude them from being rehospitalized.



            12                   Adolescent care has always been limited and 



            13              a lot of that has to do with the fact that it was 



            14              very difficult to -- to find a child psychiatrist 



            15              that would work at the community level.  They 



            16              generally wanted to work in the mental service or 



            17              at a specific child psychiatry clinic or a 



            18              hospital or adolescent clinic (unintelligible).  



            19                   There was a comment about groups.  I just 



            20              want to say that groups are wonderful, but not 



            21              because they're cheap.  There's a tremendous 



            22              amount of care provided in groups.  It's 



            23              terrific.  



            24                   My experience was that discharge from the 



            25              emergency department was based not so much on 
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             1              whether there was an outpatient slot available, 



             2              but based on safety, whether they consider it's 



             3              safe to leave.  It wasn't so much as we were 



             4              waiting for an outpatient slot.  



             5                   Most of our patients were referred that we 



             6              had during the time that I was there working with 



             7              people who had chronic illnesses or suffered 



             8              dysphoric relationships, were feeling 



             9              self-destructive, or had acute psychotic 



            10              illnesses and needed to be hospitalized for those 



            11              reasons.  Then, when we wanted to discharge them, 



            12              we always had the issue of where would they would 



            13              go, and there are very few mental health workers, 



            14              psychiatrists, psychologists, social workers in 



            15              the community who would take insurance.  They 



            16              usually worked for the service.  We depended on 



            17              our outpatient clinic to pick up these patients, 



            18              and we took care of patients of all degrees of 



            19              severity.  



            20                   I was -- I was encouraged to hear that -- 



            21              about the residency program, which I heard about 



            22              before, and I would think that, in the future, 



            23              particularly if the -- if they continue the 



            24              inpatient service, they would be able to staff a 



            25              lot of that inpatient service with -- with those 
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             1              psychiatric residents that are coming through 



             2              this new program.  



             3                   Unfortunately, when they announced that they 



             4              were closing the inpatient unit about a year ago, 



             5              I would say probably half the staff left, you 



             6              know, because they were concerned about their 



             7              jobs, so then that didn't help.  



             8                   The census was lowered from -- it was 



             9              running at about thirteen and it was lowered to 



            10              seven because of the staffing issues after that 



            11              occured.  



            12                   There were a lots of references to finances 



            13              and the cost of a new unit.  I would hope that -- 



            14              that if the unit closed, that that savings would 



            15              be put towards the psychiatric care and well 



            16              beyond probably what the cost of what the new 



            17              outpatient services would be.  



            18                   So I guess what I want to say is it's a 



            19              loss.  It would be a loss to our community of 



            20              Norwalk.  It would be a loss to our community of 



            21              psychiatric patients, many of whom are poor and 



            22              disabled by their psychiatric illness.  I 



            23              encourage you not to allow the termination of 



            24              these services and not to take away their and our 



            25              psychiatric unit, which has been serving the 
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             1              Norwalk Community for so long.  



             2                   Thank you.



             3                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, thank you, 



             4              Dr. Maiberger.  You can go ahead and remute 



             5              yourself and turn off your camera, if you would 



             6              like.  



             7                   At this point, I'm going to go ahead and go 



             8              over the late files and then we'll move on to 



             9              closing arguments and statements from the 



            10              Applicant's attorney.  



            11                   Steve, would you like to read a list of the 



            12              documents submitted for late file?



            13                   MR. LAZARUS:  Yes, give me one second.  



            14                   So I have -- my notes, two items for late 



            15              file.  The first one is the cost analysis and 



            16              for -- that was strictly cited for Pages 583 and 



            17              584, so we're going to compare the costs related 



            18              to the 35 percent of what we had discussed.  



            19                   Along with that, the second late file I have 



            20              is the information to the provided on the 



            21              Community Care Teams.  We're looking for what is 



            22              it, what's its make-up, its mission, that type of 



            23              information, every detail that you can provide on 



            24              that would be appreciated, but those are the two 



            25              late files I have listed.
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             1                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay, thank you very 



             2              much, Mr. Lazarus. 



             3                   I'm going to issue an order that those items 



             4              listed by OHS staff -- I'm ordering that those be 



             5              produced as late files by the Applicant and that 



             6              they -- Attorney Jensen, what would be an 



             7              acceptable time to get those in?  I know we're 



             8              coming up to holidays, so I want to give you some 



             9              time.



            10                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Would the end of the first 



            11              week of January be acceptable?  



            12                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  That's fine, as well.  



            13              That should give you enough time to also get in 



            14              by that date any replies to any -- any public 



            15              comments that were filed in the seven days.



            16                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Understood.  That's 



            17              January 6th, thank you.  



            18                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Yeah, sorry, I was 



            19              looking at the wrong calendar.  The 7th was 



            20              last -- was last year, but yes, January 6th is 



            21              Friday, so we'll go with that date.



            22                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Okay, thank you.



            23                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay, and I'm going to 



            24              have Ms. Rival, if you could, memorialize that 



            25              order in a letter, thank you very much.
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             1                   At this point, we'll go ahead and move to 



             2              closing arguments or a statement from the 



             3              Applicant's attorney.  



             4                   Attorney Jensen, if you would like to make a 



             5              closing statement or respond to any of the 



             6              remarks?



             7                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Yes, thank you, Hearing 



             8              Officer Novi and OHS staff.  We appreciate the 



             9              time today.  We appreciate the public comments 



            10              that you were submitted.



            11                   The testimony today and the evidence 



            12              submitted establishes three facts:  No. 1, the 



            13              standard for providing quality behavioral 



            14              healthcare has evolved and there is a compelling 



            15              public need to provide specialized care to 



            16              adolescents an adults in the community.  



            17                   No. 2, the current behavioral healthcare 



            18              offerings in the service area around Norwalk are 



            19              not equipped to meet this public need.  



            20              Currently, many of the local outpatient providers 



            21              are largely unwilling to accept insurance and 



            22              those that do have significant wait times to see 



            23              patients, leaving most of the vulnerable -- the 



            24              most vulnerable untreated.  Instead, emergency 



            25              departments have been forced to shoulder this 
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             1              burden, which creates backlogs and inconsistent 



             2              access to care for patients in true emergencies.



             3                   No. 3, Norwalk Hospital's inpatient 



             4              psychiatric unit is understaffed and 



             5              underutilized and is not positioned to address 



             6              this compelling public need, particularly with 



             7              respect to adolescents.  



             8                   Mr. Lazarus earlier asked a key question:  



             9              Has Norwalk Hospital considered expanding 



            10              outpatient services in the way that we described 



            11              and also just keeping the inpatient unit?  The 



            12              answer is that maintaining that unit in its 



            13              current form is not sufficient and does not 



            14              address this crisis involving adolescents.  As we 



            15              discussed, the inpatient unit currently does not 



            16              -- is not licensed to treat adolescents.  



            17              Further, it requires millions of dollars in 



            18              renovations even just to maintain the status quo.  



            19                   Now, in light of those facts, Norwalk 



            20              Hospital faces a critical decision.  Does it pour 



            21              money into maintaining that said status quo or 



            22              does it evolve its behaviorial healthcare model 



            23              to meet this public need.



            24                   Through this application process, Norwalk 



            25              Hospital has laid out a three-pronged approach 
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             1              for evolving its behaviorial healthcare services 



             2              consisting of outpatient programs, including ones 



             3              focused on specialized patient populations like 



             4              adolescents or individuals with dual diagnoses; 



             5              Two, enhancing the capabilities of its emergency 



             6              department the effectively manage patients 



             7              presenting in crisis due to behavioral health 



             8              conditions, and three, relocating patients that 



             9              require hospitalization to the patients in the 



            10              most severe need of treatment to Danbury 



            11              Hospital, where a planned center of excellence is 



            12              going to be constructed.  This plan provides 



            13              better care to patients at a lower cost.  



            14              Further, when paired with Nuvance Health's 



            15              residency program, it presents a tremendous 



            16              opportunity to address the shortage of qualified 



            17              mental health professionals in the area.  



            18                   I want to briefly go through the different 



            19              statutory criteria that OHS considers in 



            20              reviewing any application under the certificate 



            21              of need statute.  First is the proposal 



            22              consistent with the Statewide Healthcare 



            23              Facilities and Services Plan?  Here, the answer 



            24              is yes, in that it seeks to expand access to 



            25              lower-cost outpatient services for all community 
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             1              members.  It increases early intervention 



             2              treatment to reduce the incidents of 



             3              higher-acuity psychiatric incidents and 



             4              decompensation.  It lowers the cost of care by 



             5              reducing higher-cost inpatient stays, via 



             6              preventative and early intervention efforts in 



             7              the outpatient setting and by better managing 



             8              emergency and crisis situations in the emergency 



             9              department, and finally, it avoids the 



            10              duplication of services by relocating 



            11              underutilized inpatient services to Danbury 



            12              Hospital, all consider -- all consistent with the 



            13              Statewide Healthcare Facilities and Services 



            14              Plan.  



            15                   Subsection 3 of the statute, whether there's 



            16              a clear public need for the services proposed by 



            17              the Applicant.  Now, here, because this is 



            18              actually a proposed expansion of services and not 



            19              a mere termination, the factor is satisfied.  



            20              There is a clear public need for the expanded 



            21              services proposed due to the inadequate access to 



            22              outpatient services present in the community.  As 



            23              witnesses today have testified, Norwalk is a 



            24              federally-recognized HPSA mental health shortage 



            25              region and this proposal addresses that need 
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             1              through the creation of Intensive Outpatient 



             2              Programs, IOPs, that will accept patients 



             3              regardless of their ability to pay.  



             4                   Next, the proposal has a positive impact on 



             5              the financial strength of the healthcare system 



             6              in this state in that the proposal is designed to 



             7              lower the cost of healthcare by providing earlier 



             8              interventions to limit crisis conditions.  



             9                   The proposal is also financially-feasible 



            10              for the hospital, itself, as Norwalk is stemming 



            11              ongoing operating losses, and more importantly, 



            12              avoiding significant capital expenditures 



            13              necessary to renovate an underutilized facility 



            14              with declining demand.  



            15                   The proposal will improve quality 



            16              accessibility and cost-effectiveness of 



            17              healthcare delivery by shifting away from 



            18              high-cost crisis interventions in the ED and 



            19              inpatient settings and extend care in outpatient 



            20              centers in the community at a lower cost.  



            21                   Subsection 5 five of the statute, whether 



            22              the proposal will provide quality accessibility 



            23              and cost-effectiveness of healthcare delivery in 



            24              the area, including for Medicaid recipients and 



            25              indigent persons.  That principle is at the core 
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             1              of this proposal, an approach being advocated for 



             2              by Norwalk Hospital, but I'll take those one at a 



             3              time.



             4                   First, quality, the proposal improves 



             5              quality of care throughout this spectrum of 



             6              behaviorial healthcare through the development of  



             7              Intensive Outpatient Programs focused on treating 



             8              specialized patient populations like adolescents, 



             9              as mentioned.  It makes care more accessible and 



            10              reduces stigmatization from inpatient admission 



            11              in an institutional hospital setting.  



            12                   Now, as Dr. Murphy testified, these programs 



            13              can teach people to swim, not just to save them 



            14              from drowning.  That's better care and that's 



            15              what we're they're trying to achieve here.  



            16                   Next, enhancements to the emergency 



            17              departments will provide immediate benefits to 



            18              patients in crisis and the existence of these 



            19              IOPs that I just discussed provide a much-needed 



            20              mechanism to safely discharge patients from the 



            21              emergency departments.  



            22                   Inpatient quality will improve, as well, as 



            23              the planned renovations at Danbury Hospital's 



            24              inpatient psychiatric unit is going to be 



            25              developed as a modern center of excellence.  
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             1                   Next, accessibility, this proposal improves 



             2              accessibility by providing care in the  



             3              communities where patients live.  On patients 



             4              requiring inpatient admission, they can be 



             5              admitted directly to Danbury Hospital and 



             6              transported without cost to the patient.  



             7                   Cost-effectiveness, as discussed, providing 



             8              outpatient care in the community as a lower 



             9              acuity and a lower cost point benefits both 



            10              patients and payers.  



            11                   Subsection 6 of the statute gets to the 



            12              Applicant's past and proposed provision of 



            13              healthcare services to the relevant patient 



            14              populations, and the pair are mixed, again, 



            15              including access by Medicaid recipients and 



            16              indigent persons.



            17                   As discussed, Norwalk Hospital has 



            18              historically served a large population of medical 



            19              and indigent persons and the proposal to expand 



            20              outpatient services expressly commits the 



            21              hospital to continuing to provide those services 



            22              to all persons, regardless of their ability to 



            23              pay.  



            24                   Next, Norwalk Hospital has identified the 



            25              population that will benefit from the proposed 
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             1              expansion of services and demonstrated the need 



             2              for those services among the Norwalk population.  



             3                   Next, the inpatient -- getting to the 



             4              utilization rate, which we discussed, the 



             5              inpatient psychiatric unit has been underutilized 



             6              for years in Norwalk Hospital and the available 



             7              data indicates that this trend will only continue 



             8              going forward.  



             9                   By relocating inpatient services to Danbury 



            10              Hospital, Norwalk is also avoiding duplication of 



            11              services.  



            12                   And finally, Section 10 of the statute looks 



            13              for an explanation for reduced access to services 



            14              for Medicaid persons, Medicaid recipients, or 



            15              indigent persons.  As discussed here, there is no 



            16              reduction in services to Medicaid recipients or 



            17              indigent persons.  Those services are actually 



            18              going to be expanded.  



            19                   So, to conclude, the goal of this proposal 



            20              is to provide the right care to patients in the 



            21              right place.  A system that relies on the 



            22              emergency department and inpatient admissions to 



            23              psychiatric units is not sustainable and is not 



            24              consistent with evolved standards of behaviorial 



            25              healthcare.  Norwalk Hospital's plan is a result 
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             1              of a careful analysis and is calibrated to 



             2              maximize available resources to provide the 



             3              highest quality of care to the people that need 



             4              it the most.  



             5                   The proposal has the support of the 



             6              community for a reason because it best serves the 



             7              community.  For these reasons, Norwalk Hospital 



             8              respectfully submits that a certificate of need 



             9              application should be approved.  



            10                   Thank you all for your time.



            11                   THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right, thank you, 



            12              Attorney Jensen.  



            13                   I would like to thank everybody who attended 



            14              this hearing today.  This hearing -- it is now 



            15              3:35 p.m. and I will be adjourning this hearing, 



            16              but the record will remain open until closed by 



            17              OHS after receiving all of the late file exhibits 



            18              from the Applicant, which, again, you have a -- 



            19              those are due by January 6th, the close of 



            20              business.



            21                   Again, I would like to thank everybody for 



            22              helping today and for staying for the entire 



            23              hearing.  This hearing is now closed -- or sorry, 



            24              the portion of this hearing is now closed and I 



            25              will close the record once all of our -- once all 
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             1              of our exhibits are returned.



             2                   Thank you, everybody, for attending and have 



             3              a nice day.  Good night.



             4                   ATTORNEY JENSEN:  Thank you.



             5                   



             6                           (Concluded.) 
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